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PREFACE

The work done by The Grafton Press, in its production of this much admired
volume of genealogical accuracy and completeness, reflects great credit upon
itself. Throughout its publication the wise business methods of Mr. F. H. Hitch-
cock and the mechanical ability of Mr. T. B. Hitchcock are shown.

Miss Elizabeth French, a careful and experienced genealogist, has revised and
edited the manuscript, advancing it into that order of perfect finish, which none
but an honest and conscientious professional could do.

Miss Emma E. Brigham, connected with the Boston office of The Grafton
Press, has shown, by her services, her knowledge of matters pertaining to genea-
logical publication.

My congratulations are extended to these faithful students and workers in
that they have brought out a genealogy worthy of their professions.

The compiler also desires to record his obligations to the numerous individuals
who have given gratuitous and valuable assistance in the preparation of this
genealogy, in addition to furnishing records of separate family lines; also to the
custodians of public records who have been helpful to him.

Miss Lucy Morris Chaffee, now Mrs. Lucius D. Alden, of Hampden, Mass.
(formerly South Wilbraham), wrote of the desires of her family for the publication
of a genealogy long before the idea had entered the mind of the compiler. A
quotation from a letter written a few weeks after the writer’s call upon Mr. Daniel
D. Chaffee, her father, a call made to substantiate the records he had secured
of his own immediate ancestors in previous years, is as follows:

“Father told Uncle Edwin Chaffee [residence, Providence, R. 1.] of your call
here and he adds in his late letter to father, ‘I hope that William Chaffee will
g(x;ooeed with the publication of our Genealogy.’ [Signed] Lucy M. Chaffee,

uth Wilbraham, Mass., October 27, 1865."”

The various copies which she made of church and town records and tomb-
stone inscriptions, besides visits to many who bore the surname, did much to
straighten out many tangled lineages of that section.

The compiler’s daughter, Bertha Eliza Chaffee, started quite early in her young
life to help her father in compiling this genealogy, and continued to do so for
several years until the illness came which eventusally resulted in her death. The
many articles of manuscript which she wrote have been much admired by the
editor and publishers as showing a clearness of chirography, as well as a careful
arrangement of the facts.

Mr. Floyd Mayham Grant of Schoharie, N. Y., to whom she was betrothed,
rendered assistance in this compilation, to within a short time of his death, which
took place four years before that of Miss Chaffee. Sadness and gloom settled
upon the work when both of these bright lights went out.

Mr. Noah Cummings of Schenevus, N.Y., a college chum of Mr. Grant, offered
his services at this time, and has, by his energy and faithfulness, rendered for the
last few years and up to the present time, invaluable assistance in compilation,
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and in many other ways has hastened the publication of this genealogical work.
Too much cannot be said of the kindly and efficient help given by Mr. Cummings,
and the writer’s wish for a long and happy life for this young civil engineer and
his youthful bride, is not out of place at this moment.

Mr. Edward J. Chaffee of New York City was interested in the work from its
start, and shared some of the early expenditures connected with it; besides making
abstract copies of deeds, etc., he has always been in close touch with the progress
of the undertaking.

Mr. Samuel Roscoe Chaffee, artist, of Providence, R. 1., made much research
in the old towns of Barrington, R. 1., Swansea, Rehoboth and Seekonk, Mass.,
and the two pictures illustrating the ancient family burial places are photographs
from the artist’s original water colors of these interesting spots. Mr. Chaffee
and his wife did much to assist the compiler in seeking for records in this part of
New England, where our earliest ancestors lived and died.

Mr. Jonathan F. Morris (deceased) formerly President of Charter Oak Bank,
Hartford, Conn., author of The Morris Register and a descendant of Sarah Chaffee
(238), gave many valuable suggestions regarding collateral lineage and genea-
logical procedure.

Mr. Andrew Jackson Chaphe of St. Louis, Mo., has been an enthusiastic sup-
porter of this undertaking from the time the subject was first presented to him.
He not only gave for the genealogy a complete account of his own life, together
with his portrait, but secured full lineages of his relatives with pictures of several
individuals. More than this, he increased his original subscription of eight copies
to five times that number, and in addition to this noble subscription, has made
several contributions, amounting to $160.00, making a grand total of $560.00.
Without this splendid recognition of the compiler’s effort, this genealogy would
be an unpublished manuscript. Mr. Chaphe has made it possible for this family
history to be published, and to him we all owe appreciative recognition of his
most generous gifts.

Mr. Peter Chaffee (from whom was received the Bible of our ancestor, Thomas
Chaffe), and his son Mr. N. O. Chaffee, both of East Woodstock, Conn., were very
helpful in collecting data from that section.

Mr. Asa Peck (deceased) the late owner of Thomas Chaffe’s ancient homestead
near Barrington Center, R. 1., extended his kind hospitality to the compiler,
enabling him to thoroughly examine this revered spot, so dear to all those who
claim descent from this emigrant ancestor. Mr. Peck’s kindness was further
shown in his presentation of several very old deeds, which will be found recorded
in this book.

Mr. Dan Chaffee, formerly of Westford, Conn., furnished some of the early
lineages of that vicinity, thus enabling the compiler to connect various lines.

Mr. J. D. Chaffee of Gilbertsville, N. Y., presented letters referring to the sur-
name received by him many years ago.

Mrs. Lucetta Davis (Chaffee) Howlett of Hampden, Mass., travelled to many
places in her old age, to secure and prove lineage.

Miss Hattie A. Chaffee of Minneapolis, Minn., was untiring in her zeal to gather
not only that which related to her noble ancestor, William Chaffee of Stony Point,
but used much effort to secure other lines.

Mrs. S. C. Snow with Mrs. Wheeler of Becket, Mass., traversed that part of
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Berkshire County, beside visiting several towns and burial places in the vicinity,
thereby securing much valuable information.

Mrs. Bayer, with her sister, Miss Mary J. Chaffee, of Binghamton, N. Y., showed
much interest in collecting lines of ancestry in adjacent towns.

Mr. Prentiss Chaffee and his nephew, Mr. Joseph C. Chaffee, both of Lee, Mass.,
did a great deal by correspondence and verbal communication to make clear
various tangled lines.

Mr. Brown Thurston of Portland, Me., author of The Thurston Genealogies,
made many valuable suggestions regarding the manner of compiling a genealogy.

David J. Chaffee, M. D., of Rochester, N. Y., an early subscriber, secured by
long and continued effort a great deal of valuable information which he cheerfully
contributed, with an interesting group picture of his near relatives.

Mrs. Lydia (Chaffee) Ormsbee and Mrs. Betsey Ormsbee (Chaffee) Armington,
both of Seekonk, Mass., were instrumental in collecting old family lines and prov-
ing them to be correct.

Reverend Anson Titus made many satisfactory copies of records in Pennsylvania
and the East.

Mrs. Almira (Chaffee) Thompson of Hampden, Mass., did much to secure in-
formation concerning family lines.

Mr. Clifford H. Chaffee of New York City, was much interested in securing
lineages and arranging them in a very satisfactory manner.

Mr. Lucian Sharpe of Providence, R. I., was much interested in the work of
genealogical research and contributed many early records of his Chaffee ancestors
in Woodstock, Conn., and their various descendants.

Mr. Royal Paine of Brooklyn, N. Y., gave many interesting articles concerning
early events in Windham County, Conn.

Mrs. J. E. Robinson of Taunton, Mass., in addition to abstract copies of deeds,
made many gratuitous researches.

Mr. Stephen F. Chaphe and daughter Finette of Cazenovia, N. Y., were able
to clearly define certain family lines for many generations back, which work they
did most willingly.

Mr. Joseph McClellan and Miss Bessie Flynn of Woodstock, Conn., made particu-
lar and satisfactory researches among early church records.

Mr. S. W. Knevals of Washington, D. C., assisted very much in securing Civil
War records.

Mr. Bertrand Chaffee of Springville, N. Y., took much pains to get early family
records and to copy those upon tombstones.

Mr. C. Frank Chaffee (deceased) of East Providence, R. I., sent copies of tomb-
stone records from one of the ancient Chaffee burial places, the old burying-ground
which in early days was in Rehoboth, later in Seekonk, Mass., and now in Rum-
ford village, East Providence, R. I.

Miss Nellie M. Chaffey of Eastport, Me., did much to secure valuable and in-
teresting matter concerning the emigration of her ancestor to America from Eng-
land.

Mr. George H. Whitaker of Westford, Conn., made many researches in and around
Ashford, Conn.

Reverend Edwin J. Chaffee of Potsdam, N. Y., found and connected many family
links.
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Miss Minnie A. Chaffee of Providence, R. 1., not only sent full and complete
data of her own family, but also valuable information from Pennsylvania and
the East.

Miss Belinda Chaffee, an aged lady in the Old Ladies’ Home, in Lowell, Mass.,
was able by correspondence to gain much information which she gladly contributed,
concerning the surname as found in various sections of Vermont.

Reverend R. G. Tilton of Rehoboth, Mass., sent many interesting items regarding
the name as found in that section.

The present Mr. Zechariah Chafee of Providence, R. 1., has done considerable
toward making his family lines clear and connected.

Mr. Eugene W. Chaffee of Moodus, Conn., has been an interested contributor
from the start of this project, doing all that was possible to make the genealogical
venture a success.

Mr. Guy Chaffee of Colorado was exceedingly interested and for several years
did much work by correspondence concerning various families bearing our sur-
name. He was anxious to see the book in print, but failed to realize his expecta-
tions. He died at an advanced age. Several of his immediate descendants have
continued to interest themselves in the subject which was so dear to him.

Mrs. Lovina Felton (Chaffee) Wheeler of Fairfax, Vt., secured complete lineages
of all the descendants of her grandfather up to date.

Mrs. Leonora (Chaffee) Kimball of Little March, Pa., Mr. Wolcott Chaffee of
Garrettsville, O., and Mr. George A. Chafee of Middletown, Conn., did much active
work in securing lineages.

Miss Ellen D. Larned, author of The History of Windham County, Conn., and
other historical publications, made researches in Thompson, Conn.

Mrs. Alvan Clark of Cambridgeport, Mass., whose husband and sons are widely
known as manufacturers of celebrated telescopes, sent much information con-
cerning her Chaffee relatives.

General Adna R. Chaffee has been an interested contributor from the begmnmg

Mr. James S. Chaffee of Amenia Union, N. Y., has not only been a contributor
of full and complete family lines, but is a libera.l subscriber to the book.

George D. Chafee of Shelbyville, Ill., was early interested in the work in all of
its detail and contributed much in the way of records, pictures and subscription.

Mr. and Mrs. C. M. Gillette of Washington, D. C., contributed much valuable
information, he sending copies of Revolutionary and early pension rolls, and
those of the late Spanish-American War, she contributing family lines.

The Reverend William Kyle Westwood Chafy of Rous Lench Court, Evesham,
England, became interested in the genealogical research of this family in that
country as early as 1884, and his belief that we are all of one common ancestor
prompted him to enter into a correspondence which was very interesting and
filled with valuable information and kindly suggestion, all being exceedingly
appreciated.

Reverend Canon H. Mayo of Sherborne, England, connected with the editorial
staff of Somerset and Dorset Notes and Queries, employed much effort in trying to
find the place and date of birth of the emigrant American ancestor, Thomas
Chaffe, and frequently inserted in his paper, free of cost, advertisements bearing
upon this query.

Reverend C. W. Penny, who in 1888 and 1889 was of Wellington College, West
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Wokingham, Berkshire, England, kindly sent a photograph of the church in
Chaffcombe, as it appeared after its restoration in 1859 by his father, then rector.
A reproduction of this picture appears in this book.

The compiler does not wish to forget the kindness shown by his wife, Eliza S.
(Platt) Chaffee, in that she willingly sacrificed many of her social hours for the
betterment of this book.

Mr. Isaac L. Hart, Mr. Henry B. Morehouse, Mr. Henry R. Soller, Mr. John A.
Breitweiser and Mr. John H. Troxell have cheerfully rendered assistance in various
details of the work.

The following custodians of early records gave willing assistance towards the
researches made in their various offices:

The Register of Deeds

The Recorder of Wills z Plymouth, Mass.
The Register of Deeds ‘ .

The Recorder of Wills Providence, R. I.
The Register of Deeds

The Recorder of Wills 2 Hartford, Conn.

Mr. James Edward Russell, Register of Deeds, Springfield, Mass.

Mr. John T. Hassam, connected with Suffolk Registry of Deeds, Boston, Mass.

Mr. Solon Carpenter, custodian of early land records of Rehoboth, Mass.

Mr. Harvey B. Wilder, Register of Deeds, Worcester, made clear several of the
early land transfers in Woodstock, before the town was in Connecticut.

Mr. Charles N. Marsh, Town Clerk of Hingham, Mass.

Mr. Lewis P. Loring, Town Clerk of Hull, Mass.

Mr. H. O. Wood, Town Clerk of Swansea, Mass.

Mr. William H. Luther, Town Clerk of Rehoboth, Mass.

Mr. Mark H. Wood, Town Clerk of Barrington, R. I.

Mr. Charles E. Stacy, Town Clerk, North Wilbraham, Mass.

Mr. Gifford, Town Clerk, East Woodstock, Conn.

Mr. Solomon Fuller, Town Clerk, Somers, Conn.

Mr. Fred. I. Lane, Town Clerk, Westminister, Vt.

Mr. David A. Baker, Town Clerk, Ashford, Conn., made many gratuitous searches
in his town records, besides making copies from all the tombstones found in the
burying ground in the town, as far as they bore a reference to the name of Chaffee.

The following libraries have rendered kindly assistance:

New England Historic-Genealogical Society, Boston, Mass.
Boston Public Library, Boston, Mass.

Astor Library, New York City.

Lenox Library, New York City.

New York Historical Society, New York City.

Bible Society, New York City.

Providence Public Library, Providence, R. I.

Connecticut Historical Society, Hartford, Conn.

The following offices have also lent their aid:
The Adjutant-General’s Office, Boston, Mass.
The Adjutant-General’s Office Providence, R. I.
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The Adjutant-General’s Office, Hartford, Conn.
The Adjutant-General’s Office, Montpelier, Vt.

The following newspapers have also assisted:
Boston Transcript, Boston, Mass.

Providence Journal, Providence, R. 1.
Putnam Patriot, Putnam, Conn.

Stafford Press, Stafford, Conn.

Mail and Express, New York City.
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INTRODUCTION

The pleasure of tracing long and circuitous lines of ancestry must be inborn.
The way to success in any undertaking is through love.

Just within the gateway of Laurel Hill Cemetery in the City of Philadelphia,
there stands, appropriately enclosed, cut from unblemished stone, a beautiful
representation of Love and Labor harmonized in the form of Old Mortality, with
mallet and chisel in hand trying to rescue from further obliteration the inscriptions
as found upon the old tombstones surrounding him.

Writers of family history differ but little as to the main reason for compiling
and publishing a genealogy. The nucleus is formed as soon as a desire prompts
the search for vital records concerning parents and grandparents, and the desire
grows to larger and nobler proportions as the members of these families interest
themselves in accumulating additional knowledge of their forefathers. Naturally,
all persons are desirous to know from what nation they sprang, and many letters
of inquiry bearing upon this subject have been received. Much interest has been
expressed in regard to war records concerning Revolutionary patriots, and those
who served in other wars.

Biography, with family characteristics, coats-of-arms, records from tombstones,
heirlooms and their interesting stories, have all tended to fascinate and make
pedigree history a work of cheerful labor, and the general wish that our surname
shall be preserved from oblivion has prompted the writing of this genealogy.

Acknowledging that a genealogy made up principally of vital statistics, i.e.,
marriages, births and deaths, is valuable, it is nevertheless certain that where
these facts are interspersed with biographical incident, the value of the work is
much enhanced ; therefore the compiler has made personal history a special feature
of this book.

The plan and scope of this book is devoted principally to the descendants of
Thomas Chaffe, but following them, there will be found many lineages and war
records of other American Chaffees, not known to have been connected with or
descendant from Thomas Chaffe, including an extensive biography of Mathew
Chaffe, a contemporary in America of this emigrant ancestor. There will also
be found much data relating to the name of Chaffe, as found upon record in England
from the earliest days, together with the origin of the name and lineages of English
and Canadian Chaffees.

The compiler is not responsible for any errors which may have occurred in
the spelling of Christian or surnames, nor for inaccuracies which may be found
in copies of official records or in the data furnished by the many descendants.
All the matter contributed has been carefully noted and scrupulously followed
in its varied detail. Where names or dates have not agreed, all have been given,
the second and following being given in parenthesis.

Each descendant of Thomas Chaffe, the Emigrant, has been given a number
in this volume, these following consecutively through the book. The sign +
precedes the numbers of all individuals whose complete record will be found in
the succeeding generation. Absence of this sign indicates that nothing further
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is known of that individual than there appears. Only such descendants as have
had children are carried forward to a succeeding generation; where the names of
a descendant’s children have not been sent, and no item of information regarding
them is known, beyond the fact that he or she has had children, the record is not
carried forward.

Great care has been taken in every case to spell the surname as the individual
spelled it. Where the spelling has been changed, the names of the children will
be given under the father’s record as he spelled it, but in the succeeding generation
each child’s name will be spelled as he himself chose to do. Where such children
are not carried forward, the changed spelling of the name follows the other, en-
closed in parenthesis.

The names in parenthesis following the name of the individual at the head of
each record, are those of that person’s ancestors of Chaffee descent, the superior
numbers indicating to which generation each belongs.

Where two Chaffee descendants have intermarried, the record will be found
under that of the male descendant, the female descendant’s line of Chaffee descent
and all information regarding her being there given.

The maiden names of married women and nicknames are given in parenthesis,
the latter names being quoted.

Since the numbering of this manuseript, additional information of descendants
has been received, necessitating the insertion of duplicate numbers designated
by letters, as, for example, 5099A, etc.
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THE CHAFFEE GENEALOGY
FIRST AND SECOND GENERATIONS

1 Thomas Chafle, the emigrant ancestor of nearly all who to-day bear this
surname under its varied forms of orthography, from Chafe to Chaffee, now resid-
ing in the United States and parts of Canada, came to New England, where in 1635
he owned land and was living in Hingham, Mass. The place and date of his birth,
his parentage, the time and place of his arrival and the name of the ship which bore
him from the Old World to the New, are at present unknown.

The first mention of him in the records is found in the Town Clerk’s office in
Hingham, under the date 1635:

“Given unto John Tucker by the town of Hingham for a4 planting lot six acres
of land lying upon the Worlds End Hill, bounded with the land of Thomas

Chaffe and the land of John Prince, Southward and wi.h the land of Ralph Wood-
ward, Northward, butting upon the Sea Eastward and Westward.”

This is not only the earliest mention of Thomas Chaffe, but also of the name
of Chaffe. How long Thomas Chaffe had owned this land when John Tucker re-
ceived his land, we do not know. Hingham was one of the oldest towns in the
Massachusetts Bay Colony. There were settlers there as early as 1633, at which
time it bore the name of “Bare Cove.” The General Court, on September 2, 1635,
changed the name to Hingham in deference to requests, no doubt made by those
early settlers, several of whom came from Hingham in the County of Norfolk,
England. Whether Thomas Chaffe was one of the earliest settlers of Hingham, we
do not know; the list of those who in 1635 owned land there does not give his name,
but the above extract from the records proves conclusively that at that time he
was a property owner, though the entry of his grant was not made until 1637,
when we find, under the heading ““ The severall parsells of land and meadow legally
given unto Thomas Chaffe by the towne of Hingham,” the following:

““Given unto Thomas Chaffe by the Towne for a planting lott seven acres of land
upon the worlds end hill bounded with the sea eastward and southward and with
the land of John Prince westward and with the land of John Tucker northward.”

Under the same date we find another entry :

“Given unto Thomas Chaffe all the salt marsh on the south side of straitts pond
for two acres and he is to have all the sd parsells of land to him and his heirs for

ever be they more or less as they were measured.”
“July 17th 1637 . . . Given unto Thomas Chaffe by the towne for a house

lott two acres of land Butting upon Batchellor street eastward bounded with the

land of William Ludkin southward.”
The small amount of land granted to Thomas Chaffe for his house or home lot,

proves that at this time he was unmarried, as it was the custom of those days to
grant small parcels of land to bachelors, as being sufficient for their needs. Bachelor
Street is now known as Main Street, and the original Chaffe home lot is about oppo-
site the old meeting-house.

One more piece of property was given in that year to Thomas Chaffe by

the town:

e e E—— - _ .
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2 THE CHAFFEE GENEALOGY

“Octobr 1637 . . . Given unto Thomas Chaffe by the Towne for a greatt
lott tenn acres of land lying upon the great playne on the second furlong to the
westward of the centre, bounded with the land of Ralph Smith southward and
with the Land of Thomas Turner northward. Butting upon the high wayes east-
ward and westward.”

Between the above date and April 9, 1642, nothing is found in the records re-
garding Thomas Chaffe and then his name appears in the records of Nantasket,
later called Hull, a town adjoining Hingham and situated on the point of a penin-
sula jutting out into Massachusetts Bay. Nantasket was an older town than Hing-
ham. The first building there was erected by the people of Plymouth on or before
1624 and used as a store house ‘‘ to accomodate their trade with the Massachusetts.”
In 1628 it bore about one-eighth part of the expenses of the Colonies. The records
of the Massachusetts Bay Colony state:

““By virtue of an order of Geunerall Court, wee whose names are under written,
comissioners for the laying out of a plantation at Nantasket, doe order and dispose
the same in manner following: first, Jerrimiah Bellamy, John Colljer, Nathanj:
Baker, Edmond Bosworth, .glohn Prince, Nathanj: Bosworth, E(iward Bunn,
Thomas Colljer, Richard Stubbs, Thomas Chaffey, William Kerly and John Stod-
der shallbe admitted as planters, and to take their house lotts for building of
houses in the valley betwixt the two hills next Pedocks Island, to the value of
two acres for each house, so that there may lie thirty-two lotts at least betwixt
the said two hills, the psons aboue to take all their lotts on one side of the said
valley, to begin at either end of that side, as they all shall thinke fitt by agreement,
or else p. lott, the said lots to be and to lye onely fiue rodds broade up against
the hill, weh they chuse, these persons to haue each two acers of medowe as they
shallbee hereafter signed, & also each of them to have four acres of planting land
at Peddock’s Iland, to bee laid out when the plantation shall be fuller; in the
meanetime, if have any need to glant, they may plant where they think fit: and
when it shalbe allotted and layd out in ppriety, those that have planted, if in
casting lotts they bee put from such lands as they haue planted, they are to bee
allowed for their labour they haue been at by those wch shall possesse their lotts
afterwards. The beaches and places on Nantaskott or any of the isleands that
may bee fitt for setting up of stages for fishing to be left free for such purpose
for these or any other persons that shall set on such a work, and the plantation to
be possessed & enjoyed by the persons aforesajd according to the order of Cor
above specifjed. Dated the 9th of ye 2d mo, 1642,

“NATHANAEL DUNCAN,

“WiLLIAM PARKS,

“ISRAEL STOUGHTON,

““JoHN GLOUER.”

On May 29, 1644, the name of the town was changed to that of Hull and in
July of that year a church was formed there. Governor Winthrop says, under
the date of July 15th, 1644:

“ Nantascott being formerly made a town, and having now twenty houses and
a minister, was by the last general court named Hull.”

In both Hingham and Hull Thomas Chaffe was a fisherman and farmer.

The name of his wife and the date and place of his marriage are unknown. He
was probably married in Hull, as the copious notes and manuseripts left by the
Reverend Peter Hobart, pastor of the church at Hingham from September, 1635,
until the date of his death in 1678, make no mention in any way of Thomas Chaffe,
his wife or children. The town records of Hull prior to 1657 have been lost; if
extant they would doubtless give us the desired information. It is probable that
the wife’s Christian name was Dorothy, as her sons both had daughters by that.
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name, which was not a name found in the families of their wives; in that day it
was the custom to name children for their grandparents, the cases where this was
not done being very exceptional.

A brief description of that part of Massachusetts where Thomas Chaffe first
made his home in the New World may be of interest. In 1627 Mr. Grus of Salem

wrote:

“The country is very beautiful. Open lands, mixed in goodly woods, and again
open plains, in some places five hundred acres, some more and some less. ..

ot much trouble to clear for the plough. The grass and weeds grow up to a
man’s face. In the low lands and by fresh rivers, there are large meadows without
a tree or bush.”

Morton, in speaking of the Indian custom of burning the grass and leaves,
wrote in 1632:

“The savages burn over the country, that it may not be overgrown with under-

wood. . . . It scorches the older trees and hinders their growth. The trees
grow here and there, as in English parks, and make the country very beautiful.”

Two years later Wood wrote:

“In many places divers acres are cleared, so that one may ride a hunting in
most places of the land. There is no underwood,—save in the swamps and low
grounds,—it being the custom of the Indians to burn the woods in November,
when the grass is withered and leaves dried. . . . There is good fodder in
the woods where the trees are thin; and in the spring grass grows rapidly on the
burnt land.”

It would seem that Thomas Chaffe and his fellow settlers did not have to cut
down the forest to clear the land before planting their crops, as did many of the
early New England settlers; they were fortunate in settling in a part of the country
where the ground was ready to receive the seed for their crops and where pasture
and mowing lands were plentiful.

The General Court of the Massachusetts Bay Colony was anxious to encourage
the fishing trade and Hull was especially enjoined to *endeavor the advancement
of fishing” as we see from the following entry in the records under the date of
May 26, 1647:

“There being now divers freemen and men of good ability in Hull, who may
comfortably carry on the affairs of the town, by the authority of this Court, to
order the prudential affairs of their town according to the course of other planta-
tions, provided that, according to the former orders of this Court, they endeavor
the advancement of fishing, and that such fishermen as are there already, and
others which shall come thither, may have all such reasonable priviledges and
incouragements as the place will afford and that such places as are fit for fisher-
men may be reserved for that purpose, and with this caution also, that William
Parks, Mr. Glover, and Mr. Duncan, or any two of them be appointed to see the
order of Court for advance of fishing duly observed.”

The next mention of Thomas Chaffe in the records of Hull is the following deed:

“The fourth day of February one thousand six hundred and ﬁftfy, Thomas
Chaffe of Hull doth acknowledge that he hath sould unto Thomas Gill, of Hingham,
to him and his heirs for ever his planting lott lying for eight acres upon pleasant
hill next unto Mr. Peter Hubberd on the west and Thomas Gill on the east and
it butts from sea to sea. Also four acres upon Squirill Hill, two acres of it was
formerly Thomas Lorings, the other two was Mr. William Waltons and it lyeth
next to Mr. Hubberd’s on the north and Joseph Andrews on the south.

““ Also half the meadow lying in Broad cove meadow which was formerly Mr.
William Walton's it lyeth for four-acres and it is next to the highway on the north
and Thomas Chubbuck on the south.
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‘‘Also a greate lott of tenn acres which was given to him by the Towne, all
"the above, sayd parsells of land and meadow the sayd Thomas Gill is to have
and to hold, to him and his heirs for ever from the 4 of February 1650.

“In witness whereof I the aforesayd Thomas Chaffe have set to my hand this
31st day of October 1670.

“Signed in Presence “Thomas Chaffe
of us his + marke.
“Joseph Chaffy

“Daniel Cushing

“Towne Clarke.”
[On record in Hingham, Mass.]

This deed though dated 1650, was not signed until 1670, and then in Hingham,
as it was witnessed by the town clerk of that place, so Thomas and his son Joseph
must have made a trip from Swansea, where they were then living, to Hingham
at this time.

The last mention of Thomas in Hull is as follows:

1657

“The Lands and tenements of Thomas Chaffe.

“First two home lotts containing fower Acres more or less as the were measured
lying north east and south west, John Loring one the south east. William Cham-
berlyne one the north west, the towne street on the south west and Duckelane
on the north est.

“More—one Lott of Meadow by Straights river Containing two acers more or
less as it was measured Lying north and south, the Straights river on the south,
the t Rockey necke on the north, the falls Creeke and Nicolas Bakers meadow
on the East, John Stones on the West.

“More—two small Lotts at Sagemore hill, Containing one acer and half more
or less as it was measured. Lying north west and south east. Henry Chamber-
lyne on the South West, Nicholas Baker on the North East, Samuel Ward &
Thomas Jones on the South East, and the high way on the north west.

“More—two small lotts at Strawberry hill, Containing one Acer and half more
or lesse as it was measured,v{iying north & south Richard Stubbes, on the East,
Benjamine Bosworth on the West, the steep banke on the south, and John Lobdell
and Benjamine Bosworth on the North.”

Between this date (1657) and May 30, 1660, Thomas Chaffe had moved from
Hull and had probably settled in Rehoboth, then in Plymouth Colony, as we find
by the following deed: '

“Know all men by these presents that I Thomas Chaffy some time of Hull in
the County of Suffolke for a Certajne Valuable Consideration to me in hand well
& truly pajd by Thomas Loring Senr of the Towne of Hull in New England afore-
sajd in the County of Suffolke wth wgh I doe acknowl myself fully Contented
& Sattisfied & doe hereby acquitt & dischardge the sajd Thomas Loring of Hull
aforesajd. Haue Given Graunted bargained Sold Aljened Enfeoffed & Con-
firmed and by these presents Doe Giue Graunt bargaine Sell aljene enfeoffe and
Confirme vnto the sajd Thomas Loring of the Towne of Hull his heires and As-
signes for euer all that my house houseing orchard & two home lotts lying in the
Towne of Hull aforesajd Contelgning fower acres more or lesse as they were meas-
ured lying North East & South west. John Loring on the South %Iast willjam
chamberlajne on the North west the Towne streete on the South west & Ducke
Lane on the North east wth my lott of meadow by Streights Riuer & my two
lotts at Sagamore hill and my two lotts at Strawbery hill as they stand recorded
to be butted & bounded in the Towne booke of Hull aforesajd except one Cowes
Comon formerly Sold to willjam Chamberlajne wth all my right Interest & privi-
ledges in all the Islands belonging to the Towne of Hull aforesajd except one the
Island Called Peddocks Island To Haue & to Hold the sajd houses lands meadow
& Comons so butting & bounded as aforesajd wth all & singular the appurtenances



7

This signature is attached to a deed which reads: “Thomas Chaffe of Wannamoisett in
the Government of New Plymouth, New England in America, Planter,” and {s dated the
**11th Day of April in the year ¢f Cur l.ord 1664."

e £

Signed in Boston between 1636 and 1654. (From * Winsor's Memorial History of Boston ')

Yignature of Thomas Chaffe, the immigrant ancestor, and of Mathew Chaffe (Page 573),
a contemporary.
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& priveledges thereto belonging vnto him the sajd Thomas Loring his heires &
Assignes for euer and to the only propper vse & behoofe of him the sajd Thomas
Loring of Hull his heires & Assignes for euer wth out the lett Suite trouble molesta-
tion Denjall or Contradiction of the sajd Thomas Chaffie my heires or Assignes
for euer & Doe by these presents Couenant & promise to warrant & defend the
same against all persons and persons whomsoeuer lawfully hauing Clajming or
Pretending to haue any estate right title Dowry or Interest of in or to the same
or any part or Parcell thereof in wittnes whereof the sajd Thomas Chaffy haue
herevnto Sett my hand and Seale this 30th of may in the yeare 1660.

“Signed Sealed and Deliuered his mrke

the sajd Tho. Loring being in THOMAS ] CHAFFYE
possession of the aboue

Graunted gremisses In

the presence o

Niecco Baker

John Blake.
‘“Boston may 30th 1660.
Thomas C{aﬁey ac-
knowledged this In-
strument to be his
act & deed before
me. Thomas Danforth.

“G%notred & Recorded 30th may

1

p Edw Rawson Recordr.”

In the foregoing deed Thomas “Chaffye” designates himself as ‘“some time of
Hull in the County of Suffolke” but does not say where he was then living. But
in the Proprietors’ Records of Rehoboth, Mass., we find that “Thomas Chafey "
was one of the Proprietors at least as early as December 25, 1660:

“‘An ment under ye hands of ten of the Proprietors in order to the settle-
ment of the Lands aforesaid.

“Dated December 25: 1660.

‘“Wee whose names are here under written the proprietors of those Lands
called and known by the name of Sawomes Lands doe unanimously and Joyntly
binde our selves and covenant to perform these peticulr.

‘1. That none of us shall at anytime Let or sell any of the said Lands to any
stranger that is not allready a proprietor with us without the Joynt Consent of
us all subscribed under our hands vidt, neither upland nor meadow.

“2. That Henry Smith of Rehoboth be the man to measure all Lands yt is
to be measured out and Appertainini unto any of us and that some two or thre
of our selves are to be preasant with him to see it done.

#3. That Thomas Willett by way of exchange is to have thirty Acres of up-
land measured out adjoyning unto the land of his formerly measured out by
William Carpenter having the Towne fence on the North side and the Land of
John Brown on the South Side and Mr. Willett doth Leave the home Lot formerly
Lay’d out for Elder Cushman in consideration of the same, being of the quantity
of thirty acres to Lye common Amongst us.

“JonN Brown, PerEr Hunr,

“TroMAS WILLET,
“STEPHEN PAINE,
“Joun PEck,
“JOHN ALLEN,

HENRY SMITH,
PHILLIP WALKER,
THOMAS CHAFEY,
SAMUEL NEWMAN.”

These records also contain a description of the boundaries of the land belonging
to various proprietors, that of “Thomas Chafey” being referred to thus:
‘10. One devition Layd out in the aforesaid home Lotts number Nine &



6 THE CHAFFEE GENEALOGY

Ten to Thomas Chafey, being ten Acres or thereabouts. Called Rice’s Neck,
bounded North by said Chafey’s home Lott, East the Meadow, South by Mr,
Allen’s Meadow, and West by Mr. Allens Land.” Thomas’s land is again referred
to as bounding the land of Nathaniell and Israell Peck on the North. This item
is signed by Joseph Chafey and seven others. [Ibid.] ,

The town of Rehoboth was originally called by the Indians and after them by
the English, “Seecunk” or “Seekonk.” In July, 1621, some of the Pilgrims
from the Plymouth settlement made a visit to the Indian Chief Massasoit, whose
domain was known as the Sowams country, of which Wannamoisett, where Thomas
Chaffe settled, formed a part. This was the first attempt made by the English
to explore the interior, and the spirit of westward emigration, so early shown by
them, has been dominant in their descendants ever since. As early as 1632,
the Plymouth settlers had a trading post at Sowams.

About 1635, William Blackstone, a nonconformist minister of England, who
had settled in Boston about 1625, left the home on Shawmut peninsula, Boston,
which he had reclaimed from the wilderness, and came to Seekonk five years
after the arrival in 1630 of Governor Winthrop and his colony in Boston. Black-
stone is said to have made the following characteristic speech:

“I came from England because I did not like the Lord-Bishops, but I cannot
join with you because I would not be under the Lord-Brethren.”

He settled in what is now Cumberland, R. 1., on the banks of the stream which
bears his name, and about three miles above Pawtucket, R. I. Another early
settler was Roger Williams, who being banished by the Court in Boston, left his
home in Salem about the middle of January, 1635-6, and settled for a few months
in Seekonk, thinking himself to be outside the jurisdiction of both the Plymouth
and the Massachusetts Bay Colonies. Governor Winslow of the Plymouth Colony
soon informed him that he had strayed into the edge of their bounds, and not
wishing to displease the Bay (the Court at Boston) advised him to move to the
other side of the river, which he did with five others, and upon landing called
the place Providence. The purchase of the land on which Rehoboth stands was
made of Massasoit in 1641 by John Brown and Edward Winslow of the Plymouth
Colony, authorized by the Court of that place to act for the early settlers, who
were from Thomas Chaffe’s old home, Hingham, and from Weymouth, Mass.
The purchase was according to the measurement of those times, “a tract eight
miles square,” and embraced what is now the towns of Rehoboth, Seekonk and
Pawtucket. December 29, 1645, a second purchase was made of the land called
by Indians and English alike ‘ Wannamoisett,” which forms a part of what is now
Swansea, Mass., and Barrington, R. I., and was the place where Thomas Chaffe
afterward settled. The third and last purchase was made after Thomas Chaffe
had become an inhabitant and proprietor there, April 8, 1661, and was called
“The North Purchase,” including the present towns of Attleboro, Mass., and
Cumberland, R. I. Ancient Seekonk, later called Rehoboth, was afterwards
subdivided as follows: In 1668 the southeast part of it was set off and called
Swansea, which in turn lost a portion of its land in 1717, when the town of Bar-
rington, Mass., was formed, and in 1790 another part, when Somerset was formed as
atown. In 1747 Barrington, a part of Swansea, now Warren, and Bristol were set
off from Massachusetts to Rhode Island; Barrington was united with the territory
taken from Swansea and called Warren, and the two towns formed Bristol County,
R. I, with Bristol the shire town. In 1770, Barrington, R. 1., was set off from
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Warren, with boundary line substantially as at the present time. In 1694, Reho-
both North Purchase was formed into the town of Attleboro, and this, in turn,
in 1746, lost what was then known as the ““ Gore,” the town of Cumberland, R. I.,
being formed. Ancient Rehoboth now remained intact until 1812, when its
western part became a separate town, taking the old Indian name of Seekonk.
In 1828, the northwest corner of Seekonk was formed into the town of Pawtucket,
Mass., and in 1861 the western portion became East Providence; at the same
time, the newly formed town and Pawtucket were ceded to the state of Rhode
Island, in exchange for Fall River, R. 1., which was annexed to Fall River, Mass.

The settlers from Hingham and Weymouth located in Seekonk in 1643, the lat-
ter including in their number Reverend Samuel Newman, and in 1645 the name
was changed at his request to Rehoboth, a scripture name; this first minister
of Rehoboth compiled the third Bible Concordance, which far surpassed the
other two. Three editions of it were published, the second having been revised
from the first, while the author was living in Rehoboth, where he died July 5, 1663.
His church was about five miles north of Thomas Chaffe’s house, and our worthy
ancestor doubtless profited by his sermons and sorrowed with his neighbors over
his death.

A few months after the sale of his property in Hull, having in the meantime
received land in the division of Rehoboth lands, Thomas Chaffe made his first
recorded purchase of land there of Stephen Paine, Sr., February 9, 1660:

‘‘ Prence Gour

“This 9th of the Eleaventh month, 1660. To All people to whom this prsent
writing shall come. Know Yea, that I, Stephen Paine sen’r of Rehobeth, for
mee, my heires execquitors and assigns for and inconsideration of fifty and three
pounds, to me in han% ayed, have given, granted bargained and sold unto Thomas
Chaffey late of Nantasket allies Hull, All my lands, meddows, comons, and com-
onages, which I bought of Resolved White of Scituate lying and being in aplace
called Sewaens except one parcel of Meddow which 1 excganged witi Obadiah
Bowine, the which parcel of meddow which I had of the aforesaid Obadiah. I
have bargained and sold unto the aforesaid Thomas Chaffey, within lien of that
which I exchanged for that that was Resolved White’s bearing date the third
of the second Month 1665(?], All of which prsells of lands and meddows comons
and comonages, I have sold and set over unto Thomas Chaffey and his heirs for-
ever; without any molestation or claim or claimes from mee my heires, execquitors
and assigns, or any other by my meanes. In witness heerof I have hereunto set
my hand the day and year above written.

Stephen Paine, and a seale
“Signed, sealed and delivered in the presence of
‘ Joseph Pecke
“Richard Bullock
“This deed was owned before me, this 4th day of January 1661.
“Witness my hand. Thomas Willett. ”

[Plymouth Colony Record of Deeds, Vol. III, p. 81.]

April 11, 1664, “Thomas Chaffe of Wanamoisett . . . planter” sold to
Captain Thomas Willett and James Brown one of the two lots he received in the
division of the home lots as before mentioned. This Captain Willett was an early
settler of Plymouth and one of the most eminent citizens of Rehoboth. He was
also the first Mayor of New York City, being elected to that office twice. The
deed in full is as follows:

‘A deed appointed to be recorded.
“To all Christian people to whom these prsents shall come. Thomas Chaffe
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of Wanamoisett in the Gourment of New Plymouth, in New England, in America,
planter, sendeth Greeting
Know Ye, that I the aforesaid Thomas Chaffe, have for a good and valuable
consideration to me in hand received and payed by Captain Thomas Willett and -
James Brown of Rehobeth, in the Gourment of said wherewith I the said Thomas
Chaffe doe acknowlidge myself sufficiently satisfyed, contented and fully payed,
and thereof and every pte and pcell thereof do exonnarate acquit and discharge
the aforesaid Captaine Thomas Willett and James Browne they theire heires,
execquitors and assigns forever by these prsents have freely and absolutely bar-
gained and sold enfeoffed and confirmed and by these prsents doe bargain, sell,
enfeoffe, and confirm from mee the said Thomas Chaffe and my heires to them
the said Capt. Thomas Willett and James Browne, they, theire heires and as-
signes forever, a pcell of upland, containing twenty and five acres, be it more or
lesse being the Ninth lot, which said land I had of the Towne of Rehobeth upon
eement in reference to the five Railed ffence being my whole pte of that land,

which said land being adjoyning to the land of Waunamoisett, being bounded
to the south the land of the aforesaid James Brown, to the North the Town Comon
to the West the land that was layed out to Mr. Stepen Paine; to the East the
land of henery Smith and Phillip Walte; and the said Capt. Thomas Willett and
James Browne, do engage to take of and free from the said Thomas Chaffe, and
his heires forever; alf ingagements or covenants in Reference to any fence or
fiences that doth or may belong unto the aforesaid land. To have and to hold
the aforesaid five and twenty acres of land, be it more or lesse, as theire owne
proper right to them and their heirs and assignes, forever, thereby due and of
right accustomed, and warranting the sale thereof against what people soever
from, by or under mee the aforesaid Thomas Chaffe, or by my right or title claim-
ing any right or title of or in the aforesaid prmises. And I the said Thomas Chaffe,
doe alsoe covenant promise and grant to, and with the afor said Capt. Thomas
Willett and James Browne that it shall be lawful for them or either of them to
record or enrowle these prsents or cause them to bee recorded or enrowled in the
Court att New Plymouth, or in any other place of Record provided according to
the usual maner of recording or enrowling deeds and evidences made and proved.
In witness whereof the saidgl‘homas Chafie have heerunto set my hand and seale
this Eleventh day of April in the year of our Lord God one thousand six hundred
sixty and foure.

““The Marke of + Thomas Chaffe and a seale

“ Signed sealed and delivered in the presence of us viz.

“John Allin

‘“ Peter Hunt ”’

[Plymouth Colony Records of Deeds, Vol. III, p. 15.]

When in 1668 Swansea was set off from Rehoboth, Thomas Chaffe’s home in
‘Wannamoisett became part of the new town, and he a citizen of it, though it is prob-
able that he also owned land which remained within the boundaries of the old
town, as in a deed dated 1675, which will be given later, he calls himself * of Reho-
both.” In 1669, he sold to Joseph Carpenter property on New Meadow Neck.

1670 Prence Gour

“This Indenture made the second day of the Second Month, commonly called
April in the year of our Lord according .to our English account, one thousand-
sixty and nine, between Thomas Chaffe of the township of Swansey, in the Colonie
of New Plymouth in New England, yeoman, of the one party, and Joseph Car-
penter of the township of Rehobeth in the Colonie aforesaid, yeoman, of the
other p’tf', Witnesseth: That the said Thomas Chaffe, for and in consideration
of the full sum of Twenty pounds sterling to him in hand payed by the said Joseph
Carpenter at or before the Ensealing of these presents, whereof and wherewith
hee acknowlidgeth himself fully satisfyed and payed, And thereof and of eve
Bte and psell, doth clearly acquit, exonnorate, and discharge the said Jose;K

arpenter, hee and Every of his heirs, execquitors and administrators and Every
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of them forever, hath given, granted, allianed, sold and confirmed, and by these
presents doth fully, clearly and absolutely give, grant, allien, sell and confirm
unto the said Joseph Carpenter. his heirs and assigns forever, all that his seaventen-
teenth pte or share of a neck of land situate lying and being within the Township
of Swansey aforesaid, commonly known and taken by the name of New Meddow
Necke with all and singular the Meddowes feedings, woods and underwoods, wayes,
Easements, profits, comodities, comon of pasture, and all appurtenances what-
soever to the same seaventeenth p’te or share of New Meaddow necke, or to any
p’te or precel of the prmises in any wise appertaining, and also all the Estate,
right, title, interest, use, possession, property, claim and demand whatsoever of
him the said Thomas Chafy, of, in or to the same or to any p’te or p’sell thereof.
“To have and to hold the said seaventeenth p’te or share of New Meddow with
all and sinﬁular the prmises heerby granted bargained and sold with theire and
every of theire rights, members and appurtenances whatsoever unto the said
Joseph Carpenter his heirs and assigns. To the only proper use, and behoof of,
the said Joseph Carpenter, his heirs and assigns forever; and the said Thomas
Chafy for himself his heirs, execquitors and administrators, doe covenant, promise,
grant and agree to and with the said Joseph Carpenter his and every of his heirs
and assignes and every of them by these presents in manner and form following.
(that is to say.) that he the said Thomas Chafy the said seaventeenth p’te or share
of New Meddow Necke, and all and sinﬁrlar the prmises before given granted
bargained and sold with every of their rights. members and appurtenances what-
soever, unto the said Joseph Carpenter and his heirs or assigns. To the only
roper use of the said Joeeﬂl Carpenter his heirs and assignes forever, against
Eim the said Thomas Chafy, his heirs and every person from by or under him them
or either or any of them. shall and will warrant and forever defend by these
presents, and that he the said Thomas Chafy, at the time of the ensealing and
delivery of these prsents hath full power, good right and lawful authoritie to
give, grant bargain and sell and convey the prmises with all and every of their
appurtenances to his own proper use and behoof forever; of the said Joseph Car-
penter, his heirs, assignes, and the said Joseph Carpenter his heires and assigns
and every of them shall and may by force and virtue of these prsents from time
to time and at all times hereafter, lawfully, quietly and ceably have, hold,
use, occupg,aﬁossess and enjoy the seaventeenth p’te or s of New Meddow
Necke, an singular the before Frantaed prmises with all theire appurtenances
to his own proper use and behoof forever without any lett, suite, trouble, denial
interruption or disturbance of the said Thomas Chafy his heires or assigns or any
other person or prson whatsoever they lawfully claiming by from or under him,
them or any of them or by his or their means aske, consent, interest privity, or
procurement, and that free and clear and freely and clearly acquitted, and dis-
charged, or other use from time to time, well and sufficiently sold and kept harm-
lessby the said Thomas Chafy, his heirs or execquitors or administrators of and
from all and all manor of former and other gifts, grants, bargaines and sales,
leases, mortgages, uses intails, titles, troubles, charges, demands and incumbrances
whatsoever, had, made, committed, suffered and don by the said Thomas Chafy,
his heirs or assigns or by any other prson or prsons whatsoever lawfully claimin
from by or under him, them or any of them or, from by or under his or any o
theire meanes acts, consent, title or interest privity or procurement, the late
purchase money payed to Uncomponen the Indian. by the approbation of Phillip
sachem, for the said premises onely excepted. In witness whereof I the said
Thomas Chafy have (rut to my hand and the day and yeare first above written.
“signed sealed and delivered ““The marke T of Thomas Chafy and a seale
with levey and seizen duly Executed
in the presence of viz:
“Nicholas Tanner
“John Martin
“Joseph Chafy
“This deed was acknowledged by Nicholas Tanner of Swansey, being the
lawful attorney of the aforesaid Thomas Chafy, as appeared by a letter of At~
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torney soe acknowledged the Eight day of June 1670. before me William
Bradford
assistant.’’

[Plymouth Colony Deeds, Vol. III, p. 174.]

During King Philip’s War Thomas Chaffe and his family as well as near neighbors
doubtless lived in “Chaffe’s Garrison,” a stone building which stood near his house.
During this time he bought of Francis Stevens of Rehoboth, his house, orchard
and house lot, containing about six acres of land and lying in Rehoboth; what
disposal he made of this property is not known, as no deed of sale is on record and
no mention of this property is made in his will.

“Winslow Gour
“This Indenture made the fifteenth day of September in the year of our Lord,
according to the English Account one thousand six hundred seventy five between
Francis Stevens of the township of Rehobeth in the Colonie of New Plymouth,
in New England, on the one part, and Thomas Chaffe, of Rehobeth aforesaid,
witnesseth that the said Francis Stevens for and in consideration of the full sum
of twenty pounds, to him in hand payed by the said Thomas Chaffe, at or before
the insealing of these presents, wherewith he acknowledgeth himself fully satisfied
contented and fully payed, and thereof and every pte and psell thereof doe fully
and clearly acquit, exonnarate and discharge the said Thomas Chaffe, his heirs,
executors, administrators, have given, ted, alienated, sold and confirmed,
and do by these presents fully clearly and absolutely give grant alien sell enfeoffe
and confirm unto the said Thomas Chaffe, his heirs and assigns forever, all that
my house, orchard and house lot, containing six acres, be it more or less situate
in the town of Rehobeth afore said, being bounded southerly with the house lot
of William Brown, Northerly and Westerly with the highway, Easterly with the
river, with all and singular privileges and the appurtenances thereunto appertain-
ing and belonging. To have and to hold the aforesaid dwelling house, orchard
and house lot, containing six acres, be it more or less, as before bounded with all
and singular the privileges therunto belonging unto the said Thomas Chaffey his
heirs and assigns forever. To the only prog;r use and behoof of the said Thomas
Chaffey, his heirs and assigns forever and that the said Thomas Chaffey, his heirs
and assigns, and every of them shall and may by force and vertue of these presents
from time to time and at all times hereafter, lawfully peaceably and quietly hold,
use , occupy, enjoy and possess the aforesaid premises without any lett suite,
trouble denyal or interruption of the said Francis Stevens his heirs or assigns or
any other prson or prsons what soever lawfully claiming from by or under him,
or by his meanes, act or consent, privitie or procurement otherwise from time to
time well and sufficiently kept harmless by the said Francis Stevens, his heirs,
Executors and administrators from all manor of former gifts, ts, bargains,
sales, leases, mortgages, intailes, titles, troubles, charges and demands whatso-
ever had, made committed or suffered to be don by the said Francis Stevens or
by his privity or procurement. In witness whereof the said Francis Stevens
hath set to his hand and seale the day and year above written.
“The mark is of Francis Stevens and a seal
‘“‘signed, sealed and delivered in the presence of us.
“William Carpenter.
“John Carpenter.

“This deed was acknowledged before mee.

James Brown, Assistant the twentyeth day

of September in the year 1675.”

[Plymouth Colony Records of Deeds, Vol. IV, p. 367.]
The following items are from the Proprietors’ Records of Ancient Swansea:

“Under the date ‘Desember 28, 1676’ there is record of an agreement in regard
to ‘Lands purchased of Asamequin and Wamsitto his sonne.’
“ ‘Imprimus.’ In regard to a record being kept,
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“2nd. In regard to lands deserted by the Indians.

“3rd. The necessity of choosing an attorney.

‘““4th. Possession.

“5th. Laying out and drawing lots for shares.

“6th. Rules governing division between meadows and upland ‘that there be

no controversy.’

“7th. Convenience of division.

“8th. Lands to be divided with all convenient .

““This was signed by James Brown, John Saffin, John Brown, Nathaniel Pain
Thonlllasp Cll:afey, Stephen Pain, John Allen, Peter Hunt, Stephen Pain, Jr. and
Israell Peck.”

Soon after, at a meeting, legally warned, of the Proprietors, a committee, con-
sisting of Mr. Stephen Pain or his son Nathaniel, Mr. John Allen, Captain John
Brown and John Saffin, was chosen to lay out lands, to mark out individual lines,
to lay out home lots on Swansey River, to lay out highways ‘“both publique and
privet,” to mark out bounds of meadows and uplands, to take a view of the lands,
consider the way ‘“ most beneficiall for the good of the whole and to bring in their
opinion and report to the company ” and to examine the book of records and see
that the lands are properly entered. The names signed are those of James Brown,
John Saffin, John Brown, Stephen Pain, Nathaniel Pain, John Allen, Thomas
Chafey, Peter Hunt, Stephen Pain, Jr., and Israel Peck.

‘“At a Generall meting of the proprietors on ye 11 of April 1679 it is mutually
concluded to draw lots for the devition of the t lots at popanomscut [Peebee’s
or Phebe’s Neck, afterwards Barrington] which accordingly was forthwith done,
beginning as aforesaid at the highway at the head of the home lots to be the first
in number which is.

“1. Leut. Peter Hunts

“2. Thomas Chafey

“3. John Allen

‘4, Natha: Peck

“5. Samll Newman

‘6. Stephen Pain

“7. John Safin & Est.

“8. James Brown & John Brown.

“ August 28, 1679, The Committee in the behalfe of the Proprietors met about
the Laying out of the house Lots at Poppanomscut and cast lotts for the said
Lands drawn by William Carpenter of Rehoboth whow was with Cap’t. John
Brown, Surveighor at which time it was agreed that Mr. John Allen should have
his house Lots at the head of his Marsh beyond the south line of the House Lots
whence the lots began and were numbered as folloeth.

“Mr. Samuel Newman }
‘““and partners.

“Leu. Peter Hunt. Mr. James Brown. :
“Mr. Stephen Pain. and John Brown.

“Mr. John Saffin. Capt. Willets heirs.

“Thomas Chafey. Israel Peck’s & partners.”

The above document was drawn after the death of Captain Thomas Willett
who died August 4, 1674, in the sixty-fourth year of his age.

At a meeting held March 16, 1679-80, an agreement was made in regard to
Paine lots, the repair of the ““generall fence,” the laying out of the “longe lots”
and also that no proprietor should sell or let to any person “not now a proprietor,”
without offering the same to the major part of the committee of proprietors at
the same price. Matters in regard to ‘‘ pasturing neck” and selling certain lands
were also taken up, the names signed being ‘“James Brown, John Saffin, John
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Peck, Thomas Chafey, Stephen Pain, John Allen, John Brown, Jonathan Bos-
worth, Sam: Newman, Natha. Pain, Samuell Walker.”

This is the last mention in the records of Thomas Chaffe during his life. Soon
after, July 25, 1680, he made his will which was exhibited “Sixt of March Anno
Domini 1683. [1682-3).”

WILL OF THOMAS CHAFFE

“In the name of God Amen,

“I Thomas Chaffee of Swansie in ye Colony of New Plymouth, in New England,
being of great age, yet in my perfect memory and good understanding, make
this my last Will and Testament. First I commit my soul to God in Jesus Christ
my Redeemer and my body unto ye grave.

“Item, I give unto my Eldest son Nathaniel my homelott, bein%twenty-ﬁve
acres the which I purchased of Capt. Thomas Willett and James Brown sen'r.
gentt. as also my right in ye commonlott, it beicna:gl ye twelfth lot,—ten acres of
meadow lying and being at a place commonly called the long beach, and four
acres of mes.cfow lying and being at ye mouth of ye River on ye great Neck com-
monly called Mount Hope Neck.

“Item, I give unto my son Joseph all ye rest of my lands, meadows, orchards,
gardens, dwelling house, barn, out houses as also my living stock, neat cattle
sheep, horse kine, Swine, poltery and thirty five acres of land lately purc|
upon ye neck commonly called Phebes Neck, with all other my privileges that
I now have or hereafter may have in ye aforesaid Town of Swansy, with my debts,
now due, or hereafter may be due unto me or my Estate, whom I make my
iole' e:ixcecul;ox' to pay my debts to see this my will performed and my body

uried.

“In witness my hand and seal, this twenty five of July in ye yeer of oe Lord
One thousand six hundred and Eighty.

“Signed and Sealed in ye

presence of The mark of
“John Peck T [sEAL]
““John Ormsby THoMAS CHAFFE.”

[Plymouth Colony Record of Wills, Vol. IV, p. 36.]

“The Inventory of Thomas Chaffe, lately deceased, taken by ye subscribers
hereof ye 15 day of May 1683. q
£-8-

Imps his wearing apparel, both ]ine;l & woolen, hat shoes, stockings at 03-00-00
It A bed, bolster, pillow, blankets, rug coverlids and bedsted at 03-10-00

a gun sword & bandeleers at 00-15-00
a great bible [See Appendix A] and two other books at 00-11-06
a looking glass at 00-01-00
Half a crosscut saw & 4 old axes at 00-10-00
a logchaine 00-10-00
a draught chaine, & peice of whiple tree chaine at 00-06-00
3 old boxiers 00-01-00
an old hand saw and drawing knife 00-01-00
an ads at 00-02-00
4 wedges at 00-04-00
a bill hook at 00-02-08
a sickel and 3 Iitchforks & a prow at 00-04-08
a iron pott and 2 little old kittles at 00-10-00
a pair of bellowes and old bags at 00-01-08
a pair of stock cards at 00-05-00
Trays, dishes and an old Tubb & a pair of sheep sheers 00-04-00

For old iron and other old lumber at 00-02-00
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a Horse at 30-00-00
a yew and lamb at 00-08-00

t chaire at : 00-01-08
4 iron Hoops, 2 axlepins and 2 linch pins at 00-08-00

Total sum 14-19-06

30 acres of land on &1 e houselott, a great lott of 60 acres of land
10 acres of land in Kites Neck
10 acres of salt meadow more or less.

“JONATHAN BoswWORTH, Senr.

‘“JonN PECK,
, “WiLLiaM CARPENTER, Senr.
““On ye oath of Joseph Chaffey.”

[Plymouth Colony Record of Wills, Vol. IV, p. 36.]

Just what the date of Thomas Chaffe’s death was we do not know, but probably
not long before the filing of his will. He was doubtless buried in the ancient
Chaffe Burying Ground on his own farm, a picture of which is here given, though
no stone to his memory remains. From information gathered and handed
down by the older people, we learn that the house stood but a few rods from the
burial ground. This property, located on the west bank of what is now the Bar-
rington River, though in Thomas Chaffe’s time it was called the Sowams River, is
about two miles northwest of the present town of Barrington Centre, R. I., and
is owned by Mr. L. R. Peck.

Children, probably born in Nantasket (now called Hull):

2 i Nathaﬂ:;l Chaffe, probably born between 1638 and 1642; married Experience
\; ii Joseph Chaffe, probably born between 1639 and 1646; married Annis

2 Nathaniel 2 Ohafle (Thomas!) was probably born in Nantasket, Mass. (later
called Hull), between 1638 and 1642, and died in Rehoboth, Mass., in September,
1721. He married in Swansea, Mass., August 19, 1669, Experience, daughter
of Jonathan and Miriam (Harmon) Bliss of Rehoboth. She also died in September,
1721.

Nathaniel Chaffe doubtless moved from Hull to Rehoboth between 1657 and
1660 with his parents and brother Joseph. In 1667 the part of Rehoboth where
he lived, known as Wannamoisett, was set off as a separate town and called Swansea.
Here we find the first mention of him, his marriage, and the following Spring he
is mentioned again in the town records as follows:

“ At a Town meeting Lawfully warned ye 19th of May 1670 . . . Nathaniel
Chafy [was chosen] Constable.” [Swansea Town Records.] His duty was to
assist in keeping the peace and to make arrests of disorderly persons. About
the same time it is recorded that:

‘““Nathaniel Chafy his ear mark for all sorts of cattell is an half ring in the top
of each ear.”

On page 155 of The Book of the Attleborough Records of the North Purchased
Lande belonging to Rehoboth, under the date 1672, we find that

“The bounds of the Lands of Nathaniell Chaffe are Sixty acres of land purchased
of Obediah Bowen, Sur., Also Twelve and a half. Ten acres More purchased of
John Martin.” This land was later in the town of Attleboro.
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The deeds of these purchases of land by Nathaniel Chaffe are not on file in the
Plymouth County Registry of Deeds.

“At a Town Meeting Lawfully warned ye 5th of Febr. 1672 [3]. Imp Whereas
it was agreed upon at a Town Meeting Lawfully warned on ye 3d of Janr 1672
That Nicholas Tanner Hugh Cole Samuel Luther, should treat with ye owners
of meadows in ye great neck Concerning ye fence there to be made as is above
specefeid. It was therefore upon ye 31 of Janr 1672 agreed upon by and between
ye sd Nicholas Tanner Hugh Cole & Samuel Luther & ye sd owners of meadows
that there shall be made a three rail fence from ye meadow of Jonathan Bliss
to Hugh Coles & It was further granted upon yt ye owners of ye meadows should
make two fifths of the fence & ye sd fence to be made four foot and a half high
& to be set up by ye 20th of April next & every man that is defective in this agree-
ment shall forfeit one shilling a rod.

“‘Signed by
“NicHOLAS TANNER PeTER HUNT
“HuceH CoLE JOHN ALLEN, Senr
“SAMUEL LUTHER JAMES BROwWN
“THOoMAS WILLETT NataL PECK
“STEPHEN PaAIN, Senr NaTHL CHAFY

JoserH CHAFY.”
“An a%:eement under ten of the Proprietors Hands Jan. 22:1673 [4).
““We whose names are hereunder written doe agree and conclude that all Moable
Ea.se aJoyning to any of our Medows Belongs to the said Meadow and onely for
e use of ye proprietors of the said Meadow and that noe other person shall

. intrenth upon the said priviledge witness our hands this twenty-second day of

January one thousand six hundred seaventy three.

“THOMAS WILLET JaMES BrROWN
‘“STEPHEN PAIN JOHN ALLEN
“PeETER HUNT JoHN BrowN

‘“ NATHANIEL PECK IsrAEL PECK

““ NATHANIEL CHAFEY JosEpH CHAFEY.”

{Proprietors’ Records, Ancient Swansea, pp. 16, 17.] .

Nathaniel Chaffe was evidently a valued citizen, for in 1674-5 he was in-
vited by the town of Rehoboth, in which he had formerly lived, to return and
again become an inhabitant, land being offered him as an inducement:

‘“ At a Town meeting lawfully warned the Eighth of February 1674 (5] . . .

“It was also voted and agreed upon by the Town for the encouragement of
Nathaniel Chaffee to come and dwell in the Town, he should have Ten acres in
some convenient place for planting land if he tarry for seven years to be his own
for ever, but if he remove out of Town before seven years end he is to leave
it to the Town.” [Rehoboth Records.] Just about this time is recorded “a list of
li;;s as it was cast to stand in ye second division . . . Nathan Chaffee 5
r .l’

Four months after this invitation to return to Rehoboth,

“Nathaniel Chaffe of the Township of Rehobeth, in the Government of New
Plymouth, in New England, smith, . . . foragood and valuable consideration
[not named] . . . payed by Samuel Butterworth of Rehoboth aforesaid,
. . . have freely and absolutely bargained and sold . . . a certain
tract of Bastard Meddow lying and being in the Great Neck, lying upon Sowams
river, in Swansey, in the Government aforesaid, being four acres be it more or
less, bounded to the North with Joseph Chaffe’s Meddow, to the East a Swamp,
to the West Sowams River, to the South as far as the Meddow goeth . . .
In witness whereof, the said Nathaniel Chaffe hath set to his hand and seal this
sixteenth day of June in the year of our Lord, one thousand six hundred seventy
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and five. Mem. the said Samuel Butterworth doth engage him to clear the said
Nathaniel Chaffe from the fence in the Great Neck.

‘‘Signed, sealed and delivered Nathaniel Chaffe and his Seal
in the prsence of

‘‘William Carpenter

““John Carpenter. This deed was acknowledged

the 29 of May, before mee,
J86.17nes Brown, Assistant in year
1 .1’

[Plymouth Colony Registry of Deeds, Vol. V, p. 308.

As this deed shows, Nathaniel Chaffe was a blacksmith. In those early days,
when a horse was one of the most valued and necessary possessions of his owner,
the blacksmith’s trade was a most important one. In addition to shoeing horses,
he was a worker in iron and other metals, making rude farming implements, house-
hold utensils and even casting bells. Small wonder that Rehoboth was anxious
to have so valuable a citizen as Nathaniel Chaffe return to her!

Only a week after the sale of this land, June 24, 1675, King Philip’s War began,
which lasted until the last of August, 1676.

“Of the misiries of this war, Rehoboth, from its proximity to Mount Hope
the residence of Philip or Pometacom, the prime mover of the war, was destined
to suffer its full share. The first blood was spilled within the original jurisdiction
of Rehoboth; and the last of Philip’s generals, the stern and intrepid old warrior
and councillor, Annawon, was captured within the present limits of the same
town. During this war, which lasted nearly two years, the inhabitants of Reho-
both were kept in almost constant alarm; a number of them were, at different
times slain; and the whole town, the garrison-houses excepted, was at one time
laid in ashes. The events of this war, so far as connected with Rehoboth. . . .
occupy a prominent Plaoe in the hardships, dangers and sufferings of the early
settlers of this town.”

(Bliss’s History of Rehoboth.)

‘What must have been the anxiety of Nathaniel Chaffe during this time of horror!
At the outbreak of this war he had a wife and three small children, and during
its progress his second son, Nathaniel, Jr., was born. Some time during the war,
he contributed £3 16s. 6d. to the war fund.

February 11, 1675-6, ““ A committee was chosen to view what land is between
John Titus, Jr. & Nathaniel Chaffee and divide it to John Fuller & Obadiah Bowen,”
[Rehoboth Records.] December 12, 1676, another committee being chosen for the
same purpose. [I/bid.] On the same date mention is made “In Refforence to a
former grant of land for General purposes to be built upon by Nathaniel Chaffey.”
(1bid.] '

“1680 1 June. Propounded to be Freemen the next Year, if approuved . . .
Nathaniell Chaffey.” [Plymouth Colony Records.}

‘1681 Freemen admitted this Court . . . Nathaniel Chaffey.” [Ibid.]

This implies that he was a church member, that being one of the requirements
of admission as freeman.

“Mar. 26th 1681 The Town met being lawfully warned . . . Chose Nathan-
iel Chaffee Constable,” [Rehoboth Records] his second term in that office.

“The towne drew lots for the laying out of the division and they file as follow-
eth . . . Nathaniel Chaffee Estate 50 acres.” This was April 9, 1685, and the
lot was number seventy-six. [/bid.]
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October 12, 1686, *“ Nathaniel Chaffee’” made a proposition to the town relating
to the maintenance of George the First. February 8, 16867, he bought of Stephen
Paine two acres of ‘“‘upland, swampe and meadow ground.”

“Mar. 22nd 1693. The town met being lawfully warned and chose Nathaniel
Chaffe tytheing man,” [Ibid.] his duties being to preserve order in the meeting-
house and to collect the moneys due for the support of the minister of the
town.

September 22, 1694, Nathaniel went to the home in Swansea of his brother
Joseph, who being ill, made his will and probably wished his only brother to witness
it. Joseph died soon after and November 13, 1694, Nathaniel went to the county
seat, Bristol, with the other two witnesses, to swear to his brother’s signature.
At the same time he became one of the sureties in the sum of £200 for his sister-
in-law, Annis (Martin) Chaffe and her sons, John and Joseph, Jr., all executors
of the will.

“May 24th 1695. Nathaniel Chaffe & John Hunt settled the bounds of ther
meadow & swampe upon the west side of palmers river between them from a red
oake tree marked upon three sides neare the cart way straight to a forked ellme
in the meadow & goes straight upon that line to the river.” [Ibid.]

“March 10, 16956, Nathaniel was chosen juryman.” [Ibid.]

“June 16th 1697. The towne met being lawfully warned and drew lots for
the division of lands before agreed upon and they are drawn up as follow-
eth . . . Nathaniel Chaffe,” lot number 17. [/bid.]

“Knowe all men by these presents. That I John Thompson of the towne of
Rehoboth in the County of Bristol Husbandman doe acknowledge that I have
sold unto Nathaniel Chaffee of the same towne Blacksmith. two accers of land
and a halfe be it more or less that was to me by my right of Commons in the
Thousand accer division, being ten rod wide & forty three rod long at the westerly
end, bounded southerly Nathaniel Chaffee his owne land. Notherly a two rod
highway, bounded westerly the undivided land, Easterly the highway Likewise
I do acknowledge I have received full satisfaction for said land & I dso these presents
make over & assign the said lands to the said Nathaniel Chaffee his heirs executors
administrators & assigns forever witness my hand this seventeenth day of Janu-
ary 1698-9 & in the tenth year of his majesties reign.

‘“Signed in the presence of JorN THOMPSON

“Daniel Smit

“Ebenezer Bullock

“John Thompson did on
the day and year above
written sign the writing
as is attested by me
William Carpenter
Towne Clerk.”

[Ibid.]
November 7, 1699. “The proprietors drew their lots for the laying out of the
division. . . . Nathaniel Chaffee, h-sh.” [Ibid.]

February 10, 1701-2 “ Nathaniel Chaffe, Blacksmith of Rehoboth” gave to his
son Jonathan of Rehoboth four and a half acres of land there, near a place called
“Broken Cross.” .

March 29, 1702-3, “Drew lots for the divisions of lands before agreed upon
and Lotts drawn are as followeth . . . Nathll Chaffee sen,” lot number
one hundred and forty-three. [Ibid.]

November 24, 1703, he sold to Daniel Perrin of Rehoboth for £10, some upland
and meadow on Ten Mile River in that town.
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“At a Town Meeting lawfully warned the 19th day of March, 1704 [1703—4)
then met and assembled together and chose officers as followeth. . . Nathaniel
Chaffee, tytheing-man.” [Ibid.)

‘“At a Town Meeting lawfully warned and met together at the meeting house
in Rehoboth Mar. 24,1706 . . . Chose . . . Nathll Chaffee, Grand jury-
man.” [Ibid.)

“At a Town Meeting lawfully warned and met together by adjournment from
the 29th of December 1707, until the 9th day of February 1708 [1707-8.] Then
met and the town proceeded to draw lotts which are as followeth. . . Nathaniel
Chaffee” lot number one hundred and twenty-eight. [Ibid.]

“At a Propriators meeting lawfully warned and continued by adjournment
from the 8th day of January 1712 [1712-13] to the 12th day of Feb. 1712. Then
met together and the propriators of lands in Rehoboth cast lotts for their farms
& each propriator’s lott fell as followeth. . . Nathaniel Chaffee §0,” lot number
one hundred and twenty-eight. [Ibid.]

This is the last mention made in the Rehoboth Records of Nathaniel Chaffe,
in regard to town affairs or the granting of land.

His next recorded act is the sale of the land drawn in 1712-13, the original
deed being in the possession of a Chaffee descendant:

“To all Peog})e Before whom these Prsents shall Come Nathaniell Chaffe of the
Town of Rehoboth In the County of Bristoll In the Province of the Massachusetts
Bay In New England (yeoman) Sendeth Greetin%—Know ye that I the sd Nathan-
iell have for and In Consideration of the Sum of Three pounds Currant money of
Sd Province To me In hand Received Before the Ensealing hereof Well & Truly
paid by Ruth Riply of the Town & province above Sd (%pinster) the Receipt
whereof I do hereby acknowledge & myself therewith fully satisfied & Contented
thereof & of every part & parcell thereof do Exonerate, acquit & discharge the
Sd Ruth Riply, her heirs, Executors, administrators forever by these PrSents
Have given, granted, Bargained, Sold, alioned, Conveyed & Confirmed, And
by these PrSents Have & do fully, freely & absolutely give, grant, Bargain, Sell,
Alione, Convey & Confirm unto her the Sd Ruth Ripley, her heirs, Executors,
administrators & assigns forever A certain lott of land due To me the Sd Nathaniell
Chaffe To be surveyed & laid out by vertue of my Commonage Rights In sd Reho-
both undevided lands & by vertue of a grant of the four Thousand acre division
i‘ranted & agreed upon by the propriators of Sd Rehoboth the Second day of

ebruary Anno Domini one Thousand seven Hundred Twelve or Thirteen, And
that the Sd Ruth Riply, her heirs, Executors, & Assigns Shall have by these
Prsents full power & good & Lawful authority To cause the Sd lott of land Con-
taining Twenty acres To be surveyed & Bounded out by the Surveyor & Com-
mittee thereunto Appointed & Improved by the Sd Propriators according to
that privilege & Liberty granted by Sd Propriators as appears of Record And
Record or cause The Sd lott of land To be Recorded (when surveyed & Bounded
out as aforesd) In sd Rehoboth Land Records To her the Sd Ruth Riply, her
heirs, Executors, administrators & asigns forever To have & To Hold the aforesd
lott of land containing Twenty acres as before Mentioned & exprest with all &
singular the appurtenances, privileges & Commodities To the same Belonging or
In any wise appertaining to her the sd Ruth Riply, her heirs, Executors, ad-
ministrators & assigns forever To her & their only proper use Benefit & Behoofe
forever, And I the sd Nathaniell Chaffe for me, my heirs, Executors, administra-
tors do by these Covenant, promise, & grant to and with the sd Ruth Riply, her
heirs, & assigns that at the Time of this Bargain & untill the delivery of these
Prsents I am the True, Sole & Lawfull owner of the above granted & Bargained
Premises & am Lawfully seized & possessed of the same In mine own proper Right
a8 a good, perfect, & absolute Inheritance In fee simplee. And have In myself good
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Right, full power, & Lawful authority To grant, Bargain, sell, Convey & confirm
the so granted & Bargained Premises in manner as Abovesd. And that the sd
Ruth Riply, her heirs, Executors, administrators & assigns shall & may from
time to time & at all Times for ever hereafter by force & vertue of these PrSents;
Lawfully, Peacefully & Quietly Have, hold, use, occupie, possess, & Injoy the sd
demised & Bargained Premises with the appurtenances free & Clear & freely
Clearly ac?uitte , Exonerated & discharged of & from all & all manner of former
& other gifts, grants, Bargains, Sales, Leases, Mo es, wills, Entaills Joynters,
dowries, Judgments, Executions, Incumbrances torn off]. Furthermore I
the Sd Nathaniell Chaffe for myself, my heirs, Executors, & Administrators do
covenant & Ingage the above demised Premises unto her the sd Ruth Riply, her
heirs & assigns against the Lawful Claims or demands of any person or persons
whatsoever forever hereafter. To warrant, secure & defend In witness whereof
I the sd Nathaniell Chaffe hath hereunto sett my hand & seal this fourth day of
January, Anno Domini one Thousand seven Hundred & Thirteen or fourteen &
In the Twelfth year of her Majesty’s reign &c.
“Signed, sealed & delivered NATHANIELL CHAFFE [SEAL]
In the Prsence of us
“Thomas Perry Jr.
his mark
““Benjamin x Willson.” Experenc  Chaffe
mark her

The date of the following entry in the Proprietors Land Records is not mentioned,
but it is evidently after the division made February 12, 1712-13, and after the
sale to Ruth Ripley January 4, 1713-14, but before the gifts to his son Noah, May

3, 1715.
The bounds of the Lands of Nathaniel Chaffee:

“Imp. His house lot containing six akers, be it more or less. Being bounded
to the North the Lane. To the South William Bowen to the East a Highway
that goes to the mill. To the West the Highway.

“2§ly. Six akers of land (wch was formerly the land of John Lutten) be it
more or less, being bounded : To the East the River: to the West the land of William
Carpenter, to the North the common lands, to the South the High way.

“3dly. One plaine lot on the west side of the great plaine, containing two akers,
be it more or less, bounded to the East the Highway lying between Wiﬁ.iam Sabins
and [illegible] Walkers.

“4thly. One lot on the East side of the great plaine containing two akers, be
it more or less, Bounded to the West the Highway, lying between the lands of
William Sabins and [illegible] Walkers.

“5thly. Half a hundred pound estate in Commenage in the Towne of Rehoboth.

“6ly. Ten akers of land be it more or less lying on the eastward end of his
Father Bliss Lands on the west side of Palmers river, being bounded, Westerly
Jonathan Bliss lands Northerly a Highway southerly ang easterly the com-
tsnonhland, lying forty rod square the line running East and West North and

outh.

“7ly. A parcel of upland, swampe and meadow ground on the southerly side
of the ten mile river. Lying between the meadow ground of the [illegible] of
Ensign Henry Smith and Nicholas. do Sen: The upland being about the quantity
of two accers lying between the swampe and meadow and the great hill. Being
bounded Northerly the river, southerly the Hill. This was purchased of Stephen
Paine as apears by a deed of sale bearing date the 8th of February 1686 or 87.
Likewise Ten accers of land be it more or less being his lot in the last division.
part of it adjoining to the westerly side of Captain Peck’s lying in the great plaine

oing to Kewicks run. the first corner being a white oake marked Capt. Pecks
ine & running four & twenty rod N. W. 6 W. to a great pine marked for a corner
by the cartway & along by the cart way, within a rod of the cart way being sixty-
one rod long to a red oake marked for a corner & from thence S. E. 6 E. twenty-
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eight rod to a stake for a corner & from thence to Cap’t Peck’s corner & from
thence to the white oake which was the first corner. [This tract of land given
to his son David, see 9.] Likewise five accers of land be it more or less, being a
lot in the thousand accer division, bounded by a highway between this land &
the perens land of two rods wide, bounded southerly & Easterly his owne land.
El;wo acres of this tract given to his son David.]  Likewise six accers of Land

it more or less purchased of Joshua Smith, being the first lot in the Thousand
accer division adjoining to Mr. Sweetings land, being a stake by the North east
corner of Mr. Sweetings land along by the said Sweetings land, west by south
twenty eight rod to a stake by Sweetings line: from thence N. 6 W. Seventy-
eight rod to a;xs»ine sapling for a corner in the half mile swamp: & from thence
twenty-nine rod East & by North to a sapling tree & from thence twenty-eight
rod by marked trees to the first corner.

“ Likewise five acres & a quarter of an acre more or less, laid out to his own
land & adjoining to Daniel Reads land upon the plain near Nathaniel Reads house
being part of his first lot in the divisions granted Anno Domini 1702-8. The first
corner is a pine tree, being the N. W. corner of his old lot, thence bounding with
a highway of four rods wide 47 rods to a stake for a corner thence S. W. B. 8. half
a point South 14 rods to a Stake for a corner, standing in said Reads line of his
lot. Thence bounding with said Reads & Capt. Pecks lot & his own land to the
first corner.” [This tract of land given to his son David Chaffe.]

[Proprietors Land Records, Rehoboth, Vol. 11, pp. 218, 219.]

May 3, 1715, he gave “for and in Consideration of the good Will and affection
which I have and do bear toward my Youngest Son, Noah Chaffe, Yeoman,”
twenty-four acres of land at “half Mile Swamp” in Rehoboth, being “a Certain
Tract of Upland and Meadow ground.” On the same date he also gave him othe
property by the following interesting deed: )

“To all people before whom these Presents shall Come, Nathaniel Chaffe of ye
Town of Rehoboth in the County of Bristol in the province of the Massachusetts
Bay in Newengland Yeoman Sendeth Greetin%NKnow Yee that I the said Nathel
Chaffe for and in Consideration of Love i?d ill & Affection which I have and
do bear toward my youngest son Noah Chaffe of ye Town aforesd who is yet with
me and is to Dwell with me and to take Care of me and my wife and to provide
for each all. Now in our old Age all my children are gone frome me & I have
bestowed upon each of them their portion already of what I am able to do for
them out of that estate as god has been pleased to Bless me with and my Youngest
Son sd Noah Chaffe has not as yet had any Portion of my Estate therefore for
Divers other good Considerations with what I have already above mentioned have
given granteg made over Alienated Infeoffed Conveyed and Confirmed unto my
8d son Noah Chaffe his heirs executors admrs and assigns forever all my House-
ing & Lands and Meadows Scituate, lying and being in sd Rehoboth and in the
Township of Swansey in ye County Aforesd both Divided & Undevided (Excepting
what I have given to ye Rest of my Children either by Deed or Record as may
appear) the sd houseing & Land hereby given & granted to my sd son Noah Chaffe
are as followeth Imprms My House & Barn & home Lott Containing about Six
acres be it more or less as it is butted and bounded Notherly and westerly High
wayes Southerly the Home Lott of Richard Bowen junr easterly with Land of

John Hunt junr and likewise a plain Lott lying upon ye plaine Containing about

five acres be it more or Less being bounded as may appear upon Record & like-
wise fifty pounds estate of Commonage Rights in sd Rehoboth & likewise all my
salt meadow scituate in sd Swansey Lying adjoining to ye meadow I sold to my
son Thomas Chaffee by ye Meadow of Joseph Chaffe near his house said tract of
salt meadow Containing about one acre & half an acre be it more or less as it is
butted and bounded as may appear by Record.

- - - - - L4 - * *

In Witness whereof I the said Nathaniel Chaffe hath hereunto Set my hand

~

~

i
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and Seal this third Day of May anno Domini Seventeen hundred and fifteen and

in the first of his majesties Reign &c

“Signed Sealed & Delivered NATHANIEL CHAFFE (SEAL)
in the presence of us

“Francis Stevens

“Danel Carpenter

“Received october 10th 1721, and Recorded by S8amel Howland Register.”
[Bristol County, Mass., Registry of Deeds, Northern District, at Taunton, Vol. XIII,

pp- 552, 553.] "

With this son, Nathaniel and Experience spent their last days, doubtless receiv-
ing loving care from Noah and his wife. Both Nathaniel and his wife died in
September, 1721, and a tradition from Rehoboth tells us that so devoted was he
to his wife that he died of grief a few hours after her death.

No will, inventory, distribution, or other papers relating to Nathaniel Chaffe’s
estate are to be found. The old burying ground surrounding the Congregational
church, formerly in Rehoboth, later in Seekonk, Mass., and now in the village
of Rumford, East Providence, R. I., is supposed to be the burial place of Nathaniel
and Experience, though no stones to their memory remain.

Children, the first three born in Swansea, the others in Rehoboth:

+ 4 i Dorothy 2 Chaffe, married Nathaniel Paine.

4+ 5 ii Thomas Chaffe, born October 19, 1672; married Margaret Carpenter.

6 i Rachgll Oghaﬁe, born September 7, 1673; died in Rehoboth, February 28,
1703.

7  iv Nathaniel Chaffe, Jr., born January 4, 1675-6; married Mercy .

g v Jonathan Chaffe, born April 7, 1678; married Hannah Carpenter.

0

1

vi David Chaffe, born August 22, 1680; married (1) Patience Atherton; (2)
Mrs. Hannah Pidge.
vii Engrience Chaffe, born March 24, 1682-3; married Timothy Carpenter.
ehitable Chaffe, born June 10,1685; died in Rehoboth, August 6,
1699,
+12 ix Daniel Chaffe, born October 30, 1687 ; married (1) Alice (or Alse) Millerd ;
(2) Mrs. Perces Ormsby.
13  x Noah Chaffe, born January 19, 1690-1; died in Rehoboth, July 9, 1691.
+14 xi Noah Chafte, born December 17, 1692; married (1) Sarah éa.rpenber; 2)
Hepsibah Daggett.

8 Joseph 2 Ohafle (Thomas!) was probably born in Nantasket, Mass. (later
called Hull), some time between 1639 and 1646, and died in Swansea, Mass., October
28, 1694. He married there, December 8, 1670, Annis, daughter of Richard Martin
of Rehoboth, Mass. She died in Barrington, Mass. (formerly Swansea), probably
early in March, 1729-30.

Joseph Chaffe probably moved with his parents and brother from Hull to Reho-
both between 1657 and 1660. In 1667 that part of Rehoboth where they lived,
called Wannamoisett, was formed into a separate town and called Swansea. So
it is in the Swansea records that we find the first mention of Joseph Chaffe, about
1670:

“Joseph Chafy his ear mark for all sorts of cattell is a slit in the upper side of
the left ear and a slit in the under side of the right ear.”

February 5, 1672, an agreement made in regard to the building of a fence was
signed by ‘‘ Joseph Chafy” and his brother Nathaniel among others. [Ibid.]

January 22, 1673, it was agreed by the Proprietors, of whom * Joseph Chafey ”
and his brother were two, that ‘“all Moable grase aJoyning to any of our Medows
Belongs to the said Meadow.” [Ibid.]

viii M
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‘At a town meeting lawfully warned on ye 12th of May 1673, . . . Joseph

Chafy ” and two other men were chosen ‘““surveyors of ye highways’’ [Ibid.] their
duty being to view and repair the highways as directed by the town.

““At a Town meeting Lawfully warned May ye 22d 1674 In obedience to a
warrant sent from Our Hond Govr for ye chusing of officers. . . . These
Persons underwritten being Inhabitants of this Town ye day & year above written
took ye oath of Fidelity before Mr. James Brown, Assistant.”

“Joseph Chafy” was one of the twenty-five who signed this. [Ibid.] About
1675-6 he contributed £1, 8s. for the carrying on of King Philip’s War, the brunt
of which fell on Swansea, “ the most exposed and the greatest sufferer by Philip’s
War of any of the New England settlements.” [Bicknell’s History of Barrington.)

April 11, 1679, the Proprietors agreed on laying out ‘““the home lots butting
upon the river,” ‘“the great lots extending from the large beach that buts upon
the bay or great river,” and run to a highway through the Dead Swamp, also,
‘““that lower part of the neck at the front of the said great lots that shall but upon
the said lyne from the long beach, together with the little neck of land lying upon
the river near Mr. Allen’s meadow shall at present remain in Common.” [Ibid.]

‘“ At a Town meeting being mett upon Legal warning May ye 24th 1681 for ye
choice of officers . . . Joseph Chafy” was chosen as one of three Surveyors
of Highways. [Ibid.] October 3, 1682, seventeen of the Proprietors signed an
agreement in confirmation of the action of the committee, “ Joseph Chaffey ”’ being
one. [Ibid.] “Sixt of March Anno Dominie 1683 [1682-3] Joseph Chaffe,” as
executor of his father’s will presented that document, made July 25, 1680, for
probate. The inventory, taken May 15, 1683, was sworn to by him, “on ye oath
of Joseph Chaffey.” His brother Nathaniel received thirty-nine acres of land
and Joseph all the rest of his father’s *‘lands, meadows orchards, gardens, dwelling
house, barn, outhouses, living stock, neat cattle, sheep, horse kine, swine, poltery
and thirty-five acres of land lately purchased upon the neck commonly called
Phebes Neck” also all money due his father. He also became the owner of the
family Bible [see Appendix A), probably taking it as part of his share in the
division of the personal estate. In book two of the Rehoboth Land Records
we find, that March 17, 1683—4, Richard Martin acknowledged having given to
his son-in-law, Joseph Chaffee, *ffourteen pounds estate in commonage,” in
Rehoboth, which was given him by the will of his brother, Robert Martin. April
9, 1685, in a division of lands ordered by the town of Rehoboth, Richard and John
Martin and Joseph Chaffee drew lot number forty-five, being one hundred and
fourteen pounds commonage estate, and they were allowed twenty acres to the

hundred pounds.
“At a Town Meeting Legally warned & ye Town being mett together Septemr
9th, 1685. . . . After this a vote passed by some particular Persons was

voted that y place of all Publick meetings should be between Mr. Myles’ house
& y great Bridge, & a house be there built for that end by a free Contribution.”
Against this protested fifteen men of whom ‘‘Joseph Chafy” was one. [Swansea
Records.)

“At a Town Meeting May ye 24: 1687 The Town being mett together made
choice of officers for ye year ensuing as followeth . . . Joseph Chaffie ” and
one other were chosen Constables, [Ibid.] their duty being to assist in keeping
the peace and to make arrests of disorderly persons. September 12, 1688, “ Joseph

1
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Chaffee”” sold to Thomas Barnes an acre of salt meadow, the original deed being
in possession of the author:

“TO ALL PEOPLE TO WHOME theise prsents shall come Joseph Chaffe of
the Towne of Swansye, in the Countye of Bristoll in his Majestys Teritorry and
dommion of New England yeoman. Sendeth greet KNOWE YEE that I the
said Joseph Chaffe have for the full sume of Five pounds in currant Silver of New
England in hand Receaved and paid by Thomas Barnes of the same Towne Wwaver:
wherewith the said Josegh Chaffe accknowledgeth him self satisfied contented
and full paid and thereof and every part and prsell thereof exonereth and dis-

hargeth the said Thomas Barnes his heires excecutors administrators and asignes.
HA&E FREELY and absollutly given granted Bargained Sould and in Feoffed
and confirmed and doe by thies presents give grant Bargan Sell in Feoff and con-
firme from me the said Joseph Chaffe and my heires to him the said Thomas Barnes
his heires excecutors administrators and asignes. All that one acer of Salt meadow
be it more or less situate in Swansye. ing Bounded to the west of Joseph
Chaffes meadow from a rocke by the river side straight to a white oake stump
upon the upland Southerly: and westerly the upland of the said Thomas Barnes:

ortherly and Easterly the River. unto the said Thomas Barnes his heires exce-
cutors administratrs an asignes [TO HAVE AND TO HOLD] the aforesaid acer
of Salt meadow be it more or lese with all And Singullar the right. members.

rivilledges proffits grase feedings rents herediments immunities and apurtenances
gellonging or appertaining unto the said acer of meadow with the reversion and
reversions Remainder and Remainders unto the said Thomas Barnes as a good
sure absollut indefezable in heritance To the onely proper use and Behoufie of
the said Thomas Barnes his heires excecutors administratrs and assignes for ever
AND I the said Joseph Chaffe doth by theise prsents for my Selfe and my heires
with the said Thomas Barnes his heires and asignes Covenant promise and grant
to and with him that I the said Joseph Chaffe is the true and onely owner of the
above bal"faned premisses at the time of this Bargan and hath full power good
Right and Lawfull authoritaye to give grant Bargan sell infeoffe confirme and
asure the same unto the said Thomas Barnes his heires and assigns for ever as a
good sure and absolute estate of inheritance in ffee Simplle according to the free
tenure of his Majestys maner of East Grenwich in the County of Kent within the
Realme of England in free and common soccage and not in Capity and Knight
Servise. but without any maner of Condition or Reversion Titill of Dower or
limettation of usses soe as to after chang or defeate or make voide the same AND
that the said Thomas Barnes his heires and asignes shall and may by force and
vertue of theise prsents from time to time and at all times, hereafter Lawefully
peaceablye quietly hould use occupy injoy and possess the afore said prmisses
without any Let Suite trouble deneyall in teruption and contradiction of the said
Joseph Chaffe or any of his heires AND free and cleare and clearly aquitted and
fully discharged of and from all and all maner of former gifts grantes Bargans
sales leases morgayes Jointers dowers thirds Judgments executions exstents and
of and from all maner of in cumbrance whatsoever had made don commited or
sefferd to be don by the said Joseph Chaffe or by his privity or procurement. In
Witness hereof the said Joseph Chaffe hath hereunto set his Hand and Seale this
twelth day of September. In the yeare of or Lord one thousand six Hundred
eighty and eight. And in the ffourth yeare of the Reigne of or Soveraigne Lord
James the Second of England Scotland France and Ireland King: ec. '

“Signed Sealed and dellivered [sEAL]

“‘in the prsence of vs.

“Jethniel Peck. ““The day and yeer aboue written then person-
“William Carpenter J. ally appeered Joseph Chafee whose hand and seal

is heerunto sett & affixed; and owned and ac-
knowleged this Instrament to be his volluntary
act & deed Before one of the Council of his
Majesties Territory and Dominion of New Eng-
land. “DANIEL SMITH.”
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“At a Town Meeting Warned and mett together according to ye order of ye
Counsel at Plymouth May 28th 1689 . . . Viewers of fences Tho: Barnes
Joseph Chafy for Wannamoset,” [Swansea Records] their duty being to adjust all
matters of difference between contiguous owners, as to proper fences, location of
boundary lines, and other matters of like nature. This year he is on record as a
Proprietor, though not an inhabitant of Rehoboth. March 28, 1693, and March 27,
1694, he was again chosen for the office of Fence Viewer, the last which he held.
[Itnd.] He made his will, “being Sick & weake in Body’’ September 22, 1694,
five weeks before his death. It was filed with his inventory, November 13, 1694,
by his widow and two sons, and the same day they gave bond for the faithful
performance of their duties in administrating the estate, their sureties being
Nathaniel Chaffee, Joseph’s brother, and John Ormsby, probably Annis Chaffe’s
brother-in-law, husband of her sister Eleanor (or Elvara) or else his son John.

WILL OF JOSEPH CHAFFE

“In the Name of God Amen I Joseph Chaffee of the town of Swanzey in the
County of Bristol in the Province of the Masachusetts in New England being
Sick & weake in Body But of sound & perfect mind & memory Prased be god Doe
make and ordaine this my last Will and Testament In manner & forme following:

“First and principally I commend my sowle into the Hands of Almighty God
And Unto Jesus Christ my Dear Redeemer and my Body I commit to the Earth
to be Decently Buried at the Discretion of my Executrix. ‘

“And as Touching the Disposission of all such temporall Estate as God Hath
been pleased to bestow Upon me I give & bestow as followeth:

“Imps. My Will is that all my Just & lawfull Debts be Discharged.

“Item—I give and Bequeath to my Beloved Wife all my House hold goods
for her to Dispose of them too her selfe or to her Children at her Discretion.

“1 give & bequeath Unto my said Wiffe my Dwelling House and one halph of
my Upland and meadow ground Lyeing & being in Swanzey to Have the whole
Benifitt & Improvement During her Naturall Life. And she shall have her halfe
of ye house lot on ye North Side of the lott, and her half of the meadow ground
to be that which is Cald the Swamp Meadow and at my wifes decease it is my
will that my two sons John and Joseph Chaffee shall have it to be equally divided
between them (that is to say all the upland and meadow ground that I have in
Swansey and Joseph shall have the North side of the Home lott as his part after
my wifes decease

“Ittem—I give and Bequeath Unto my Wife all my Rights of lands and Com-
monage in Rehoboth to be Wholly at her Dispose.

“Jttem—I give and bequeath Unto my sons John & Joseph Chaffee the other
halfe of my Upland & Meadow Ground in Swanzey when they come to the age
of Twenty-one Years to them their heirs and Assigns for Ever to be Equally and
Alike Divided between them—Likewise I give Unto my two Sons all my Tooles
&m —

“ I};t%tl;n—l give Unto my Son [John] a Heyfor of three year old

“Ittem—I give Unto my Son Joseph the Great Bible that was my fathers &
my Sword & [ﬁllegible] & a heifer that I had of Joseph

“Ittem—It is my will after my wifes Decease when my two Sons Come to

the Upland and Meadow ground that I have given to my wife Dureing
er Life Shall pay or Cause to be paid three pounds a peice to my Daughters as
a Legan [legacy] which I give to them

“Ittem—It is my will yt all my other Estate as Stock & Debts Due to me I
give to my wife for her Use & Improvements; and for her to give to my Daughter
according as She Shall in her Descretion See

“Jttem—I Doe ordane & Constitute my beloved wife my Executrix & my two
Sons John & Joseph Chaffee to be Executs of this my last will & Testament
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“And I Doe hereby Disannull & make Voyde all former Wills & Testaments
heretofore made

“In wittness whereof I the said Joseph Chaffee to this my Last Will and
Testament Have Sett my hand & Seale this Twenty second Day of September
In the year of our Lord one Thousand Six Hundred Ninety four

“Signed, Sealed & Declared by Joseph Chaffee JosEPH CHAFFEE [SEALE]
“yt this was his Last will & Testament in the Presence of Us

“John Martin

“Bamfield Capron

“Nathaell Chaffee

“Memorandum that on the thirteenth Day of Novembr 1694 att Bristoll then
Did John Martin Bamfield Capron & Nathll Chaffee above named make oath they
Did see Joseph Chaffee late of Swansey Deceased Sign Seale and Declare this
Instrument to be his last will & testament and that he was of a Sound Disposing
mind when he so Did, to the best of their apprehension.

‘“ Coram me JNO SAFFIN ProbaE

“Thiss Entered & Engrossed Novembr thirteenth 1694 by Jno Carey Registr ”

[Bristol County, Mass., Registry of Wills, at Taunton, Vol. V11, p. 105.]

“Know all men by these presents that wee Ann Chaffee & Jno & Joseph Chaffee
all of Swansey in their majesties province of the Massachusetts Bay in New England
and Nathaniel Chaffee & Jno Almsbee of Rehoboth in ye County aforesaid Doe
Stand & are firmly bound and obliged Unto John Saffin Esq in the Sum of two
hundred & Seventy gounds Currant money of New England payd to him the
said John Saffin {illegible] in the office of Probaite of wills & [illegible] well & truly
to be made wee bind ourselves & either of us by himself Joyntly & Severally for
and in the whole Our & Every and Either of our heires Executors and Administra-
tors and every of them firmly by these presents—Sealed with our seals

“Dated in Bristoll aforesaid the thirteenth day of November Annoqu Domini
1694 in the Sixth year of their Majesties reign

“The condition of this obligation is Such that whereas the above bound Ann
Chaffee is made Executrix & Jno. & Joseph Chaffee is made Executors of the
Last Will & Testament of Joseph Chaffee Late of Swansey deceased Being the
date the twenty second day of September 1694 and hath now proved the
same Iff therefore the said Executors shall with all convenient S bring into
the Registrys Office for the County of Bristol A true and perfect Inventory of the
estate of the said Decd. And shall well & truly administer Upon & Duly [illegible]
all & Singular the Goods Chattells, Creditts & Estate Left by Him According to
the Tenor & true meaning of his said will as the Law directs. And shall render
& exhibit a true & Just account of their said Administration & of their Doings
therein to this Office att or before the thirteenth Day of November 1695 without
firaud or farther Delay. Then this obligation to be Voyde & of none Effect or
Els. to Stand & Remain in full force Standing and Virtue.

“Sealed & Delivered Signum ANN CHAFEY [sEAL]
‘“in presence of JoHN CHAFE SEAL]
‘““Banfield Capron JosEPH CHAFFEE [SEAL]
“Thomas Sanford NATHANIEL CHAFFEE [smn}
JoHN ORMSBEE [sEAL)”

INVENTORY OF THE ESTATE OF JOSEPH CHAFFEE

An Inventory of the Estate of Joseph Chaffee Deceased of Swanzey in the
County of Bristoll Taken the 9th of Novembr 1694 By the subscribers hereof—

£ 8 d
Imprs his wearing apparell Linen & woollen at 07-03-00
one Bed with furniture att 07-00-00
one Bed with appurtenances belonging theretoo 04-00-00

two Beds on the Chamber at 08-10-00
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£ 8 d
In wooll & Smale Slfinning wheel 00-16-00
In Salt Beans & tallow at 00-07-00
In Sheets & Pillow Bears 02-00-00
In three Chests & a Box at 01-00-00
In Puter Potts, Platters Stone Juges glass bottles at 02-14-00
two Iron Kettles & three Iron Potts at 01-10-00
A Spit pot hooks tramills frying pan Gridjron 00-14-00
warming Pan Skillett at 00-10-00
wooden Dishes Strainers Spoones 00-14-00
In a Bible [see Appendix A] & other Bookes 01-00-00
Chairs & Table 00-08-00
In meat with the tubb that its in 01-00-00
Pailes & other things 00-12-00
In Sider, Keleers and old Barrills 02-00-00
one Gun Sword Ammunision with other
Implements thereto belonging 01-16-00
two oxen at 06-00-00
Six Cowes—five young cattle & three Calves 18-00-00
Fifteen Swine at 6pd 18 2 Steers at 4pd 10-18-00
two Horses one mare & one coalt at 05-00-00
In Rye & flax 03-05-00
In Indian Corn at 07-00-00
In hay at 06-00-00
In a Carte Yoaks & Chaines 03-00-00
In a Thwart Saw tooles & other Utensils 01-19-00

the sum totall 105-01-00
The House housing with all the lands & meadow belonging
theretoo at . 101-00-00
moreover a Certaine Tract of Land Lyeing between Decon
John Butterworth & the land yt. was Jno mead berys

A highway on the East & West end at 30-00-00
more fourteen pounds Common at Rehoboth 01-00-00
£237-01-00
““John Peck
“Israel Peck
““John Ormsby

‘“Novembr the 13th 1694 the Executrix to the last & Testament of Joseph Chaffee
Deceased made oath to the truth of this Inventory according to ye Ussuall florme
“Corame me
“JNo SAFFIN Proba:e

“John Carey Registem
“This Entered Novembr 13th 1694 By John Carey Registem.”

[Bristol County, Mass., Registry of Wills, at Taunton, Vol. VII, p. 106.]

Annis Chaffee had no sooner recovered from the shock of her husband’s death
than she was called upon to bear another of a like nature, the death of her father.
He died in the Spring of 1695, the signature to his will being sworn to by the
witnesses thereto May 7th. By this instrument, made June 2, 1686, he left to
daughter Annis one-fourth of his household goods, and after his debts had been
discharged, one-third of his cattle.

“June 16th 1697. The towne [Rehoboth] met being lawfully warned and drew
lots for the division of lands before agreed upon and they are drawn up as follow-
eth. . . . John & Widow Chaffee” drawing lot number one hundred and
twenty. [Rehoboth Records.] ‘‘Mar. 29th 1703. . . . Drew lots for the divi-
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sions of lands before agreed upon and Lotts drawn are as followeth. . . .
Widow and John Chaffee.” [Ibid.] December 27, 1703, Annis Chaffee sold to
John Whitaker two lots of land in Rehoboth, as is evidenced by the following deed:

“To all Christian People to whom these presents shall Come Annis Chaffe of
the Town of Swansey in the County of Bristol in the Province of the Massachusetts
Bay in Newengland Spinster Sendeth Greeting Know ye that I said Annis Chaffe
have for a good & valluable Consideration by me in hand Received and B})aid by
John Whiteker of the Town of Rehoboth in the County and province aforesaid
wherewith I the said Annis Chaffe acknowledge my self satisfyed contented and
fully paid and thereof and every part and parcell thereof exonerateth acquitteth
and fully dischargeth the said John Whitaker his heirs execrs adminisrs and a,ssigtx;s
forever Have freely and absolutely given granted bargained & sold and do by
these presents bargain sell enfeoffe and Confirm from me the sd Annis Chaffe &
my heirs to him the said John Whitaker his heirs execrs adminisrs and assigns
forever Two Certain Lotts of Land in Rehoboth dew to me to be surveyed and laid
forth by virtue of fourteen pounds of Estate of Commonage in Rehoboth given
to me by my father Richard Martin deceased which two Lottments was ordered
by the Town of Rehoboth the nineteenth of May anno 1697 to be surveyed and
laid fourth the whole of both allotments amounting to four acres and a quarter
of Land hereby u%iving the said John Whitaker his heirs and assigns full power &
good and Lawfull authority to Chuse the said Lotts according to the priviledge
ordered by the sd Town and survey and lay them out or Cause them to be layed
and surveyed:{v the surveyor & Committe appointed by the said Town thereunto
and that the sd John Whitaker or his assigns shall have full power to Record or
Cause the sd Lotts to be Recorded to himself his heirs and assigns forever when
surveyed & laid out To have and to Hold the said four acres and a quarter of
Land be it more or less when it is laid forth with all and singular the Timber Tree
underwood mines moneralls waters grass feedings rents profits priviledges Im-
munities and appurtenances thereunto belonging or appertaining to the sd Lands
to the only proper use & Behoof of the said John Whitaker his heirs execrs admrs
& assigns forever so that neither I the said Annis Chaffe nor my heirs nor any
person from me or them or any of us shall Challenge any right Title or Interest In -
said Lands but shall be forever by these presentsie barred and I the said Annis
Chaffe do hereby Promise and Ingage to the sd John Whitaker that I have of my
self good right and Lawfull authority to bargain sell & make over the said Lott-
ments aforementioned as the true and only owner of the same In Witness hereof
I the said Annis Chaffe hath hereunto set my hand and seal this Twenty Seven
day of December in the year of our Lord one thousand Seven hundred and three
and in the second year of the Reign of our sovereign Lady Anne of England Scot-
land France & Ireland Queen Defender of the faith &ec.

“Signed Sealed & Delivered the mark of Anies Chafee [SEAL]
“In the presence of us
Daniel Allen
“ Witnesses{ Nathaniel Peck
John Pain
“Memorandum
‘““that Anies Chafee personally appeared before me ye subscriber one of her majesties
of ye peace for ye County of Bristol on ye 21th Day of march 1703 or 4 and ac-
knowledged this Instrument to be her free & Voluntary act and Deed

Nicoras Peck
“Recd Septer 15, 1731
“Recorded by Samel Howland, Register.”
[Bristol County, Mass., Registry of Deeds, Northern District, at Taunton, Vol. XXI,

p. 51.]

‘At a Town Meeting Lawfully warned and met together by adjournment from
the 29th of December 1707, until the 9th day of February 1708 [1707-8.] Then
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met and the town proceeded to draw lotts which are as followeth . . . Wid.
& John Chaffee” drawing lot number fifty-eight. [Rehoboth Records.]

“At a Propriators meeting lawfully warned and continued by adjournment
from the 8th day of January 1712 [13] to the 12th day of Feb. 1712, Then met
together and the propriators of lands in Rehoboth cast lotts for their farms &
each propriator’s lott fell as followeth . . . Widow Ann Chaffee Estate 14s”
drawing lot number nineteen. [Ibid.]

April 25, 1721, Annis Chaffe made her will, which was offered for probate March
17, 1729-30, probably soon after her death.

WILL OF ANNIS CHAFFE

“In the Name of God Amen I Annis Chaffee Relict Widdow mr Joseph Chaffee
Late of Swansey now Barrington in the County of Bristol in his majesties Province
of the Massachusets Bay in New England Deceased being aged and Crasey of
Body But of Sound and perfect memory praised be God Therefore Do make and
ordain this my last will and Testament in form and manner and following

“First and Principally I Recommend my soul into the hands of God that gave
it and my Body to the Earth to be buried in Christian Burial at the Discretion of
my Executor hereafter Named Nothing Doubting but that I shall Receive the
same again by the mighty power of God and as touching Such Temporall things
as is left me by my late husband in his last will and which God has other wise
bestowed upon me 1 %ive devise and dispose of them in the following manner
Di“ Ils;pg.eg)y will is that my Lawful Debtes and funeral charges be first paid &

schar,

Item—I Give and bequeath unto my daughter mary Whittaker as an Addition
to what I have given her Eighteen Pounds to be paid to her or to her Legall Repre-
sentatives.

“Item—I give and bequeath to my Daughter Anne Chaffee Seventy Pounds.

“Item—I g;ve and Bequeath unto my daughter Elisabeth Paine Twenty Pounds

“Item—I give and Bequeath unto my f)aughter Abigail Chaffee Eaighteen
Pounds and half my wearing Apairel of all sorts and my Red broadcloath Blanket

“Item—I give and Bequeath unto my Daughter Sarah Luther fifteen Pounds
to be paid to her or to her legal Representatives and the other half of my said
appairel I give to her the said Sarah Luther my aforesaid daughter

“Item—My will further is that if Either or {oth of my two daughters that are
unmarried Dye before they receive their Proportion that then the rest of my
Daughters surviving to have it equally divided amongst them they leaving no
issue behind them

“Item—all the Rest and Residue of my Estate I give and Bequeath unto my
two sons Equelly viz John Chaffee & Joseph Chaffee whome I make the Executors
of this my last Will and Testament to Payinﬁ my Debts and Legacies and Receive
What is due hereby Revocking all other wills by me heretofore made in word or
writing Raty fieng & Confirming thiss and no other to be my last will and Testa-
ment in Wittnes whereof I have heareunto Set my hand and Seal this Twenty
fifth Day of April in the seventh year of his majesties Reign Annoque Dom 1721

‘“ ANN18 CHAFEE
*“ Signed Sealed Pronounced Published and Declared in
““Presence of us
‘‘Nathaniel Carpenter
““Daniel Smith

‘“ Abiel Smith .
‘ Bristol march ye 17th 1729-30
“Then Before the Honod Nathaniell Blagrove, Esq. Judge of the Probate of
Wills & within the County of Bristol Came Nathaniell Carpenter the only surviving
Wittness to the Last Will & Testament of Annis Chaffee Late of Swansey now
Barrington Deceased: and made oath that he saw the said Deceased Signe Seal



28 THE CHAFFEE GENEALOGY

publish and Declare the same to be her last will and Testament and that she was
of a sound Disposing mind when she So did and that Daniel Smith and Abiel
Smith Signed as a wittness at the same time and that they all Signed in the presence
of ye Testator
‘“‘Stephen Paine Regist Coram NATHANIEL BLAGROVE
“ Bristol march ye 19 1729-30

‘““ Entered per Stephen Paine Rei'str."

“Bond of John Chaffe and Joseph Chaffe Executors of the Will of their Mother
Annis Chaffe

“Bound unto Nathl Blagrove Esq. J udge of Probate in his Majesties Province
of the Massachusetts Bay in New England in the sum of Three Hundred Pounds
Current Money in New England

“ Sureties Samuel Mason

‘ Jabez Bosworth
“Signed March 17th 1729-30
JoBN CHAFFE [8EAL)
“‘John Chaffe Woodstock Suffolk Co. JosePH CHAFFE [BEAL]
‘“‘ Joseph Chaffe Barrington SAMUEL MAsSON [BEAL]
““ Annis Chaffe Swansey.” JABEZ BOSWORTH [SEAL]

INVENTORY OF THE ESTATE OF ANNIS CHAFFE

‘““Barinton
““ A True Inventory of the Estate of Mrs. Annis Chaffee Widow Late of Barin-
ton Deceased Taken by us the subscribers The 18th Day of this Instant march

1730 as followeth £ s d.
money Due upon Bond 37-18-08
silver money att 15 penney weight 01-05-00
Bills or paper money : 03-06-09
Books 01-04-00
Best Bed and furniture 14-07-00
one bed more 2 Blancets sheets and coverlid 13-03-00
Ticking and feathers 02-10-00
Two B%ankets Coverlids with sundry old cloathes 02-05-01
pillion wheel and sundry old lumber 00-15-00
sheetts 04-15-00
pillobears and table linnen 03-13-00
Glasse Bottles and Juggs 00-07-00
warming pan Skillet and scimmer 01-04-00
Tramels scales gridiron Boxiron and heaters 01-08-00
Iron potts kitles and frying pan 03-06-00
puter and earthern ware 01-17-06

ails and Trays 01-03-00

our chairs Table Chest and Reel 01-03-00

meat tub sive and earthern potts 00-10-00

three Bags Churn and several other things 01-01-06

Chest and 2 Boxes 01-16-00

Two cowes 14-00-00
112-18-5

“SAMUEL MasoN
“SAMUEL CARNS
“JABEZ BOozZWORTH
““The apprasers were sworn Coram
“N. Bragrove.”
“The Accompt of John Chaffe & Joseph Chaffee Executors to the Last Will and
Testament of their Mother Annis Chaffee Late of Barrington Deceased
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“The Accomptants Charge themselves with the Inventory Amounting to the
£

Sum of
112-18-05
“The Accomptants Prays allowance for the payment of severall Debtes &
Legacies as followeth

£
Imp—To funerall Cbmigee 4-02-0
Item—To a Legacy Paid Mary Whiterker the Wife of Daniel
Whitiker as per will 8-00-0
Item—To a Legacy Paid Anne Chaffee as per will 20-00-0

To a Legacy Paid Elisabeth Paine the wife of Josiah Paine as per will 15-00-0
To a Legacy Paid Sarah Luther the wife of Samuel Luther as per will  15-00-0

To a Legacy Paid Abigail Chaffe as Her will 18-00-0
the wittness coming to prove the wi 00-08-0
To a Letter Administration 00-10-0
proving ye will 66 Recording ye will 4 00-10-6
allowing and Recording the Invento 00-06-0
To the Appriasers for appraising ye %tate 01-07-0
To Allowing and Registering this Account 00-10-0
To Drawing the Act 00-01-0

83-14-0

“JouN CHAFFE
“JosEPH CHAFFE.”

Joseph and Annis Chaffe are thought to be buried in the Ancient Chaffee Burying
Ground, which lies on what was once their own farm, but no memorials to them
of any kind remain.

Children, born in Swansea:
15 i MaryM' Ch;ﬂ‘eﬁ 7(4Cba.fy), born February 21, 1671-2; died in Swanses,
ay 7, 1674.
+16  ii John Chaffe, born December 16, 1673; married (1) Sarah Hills; (2)
Elizabeth Hayward.
+17  iii Mary Chaffe, born October 23, 1675; married Daniel Whitaker.
+18 iv Joseph Chaffe, born February 6, 1677; married (1) Abigail Hills; (2)
Jemima Chadwick.

19 v Annis (Ann, Anne, Anna) Chaffe, died; married in Barrington, October
15, 1743, Daniel Allen of that place; mentioned in her mother’s
will, April 7, 1721, and on her mother’s death received the legacy
in 1730; baptized in and united with the First Congregational
Church of Rehoboth, June 6, 1736; January 31, 1744, was dis-
missed from that church to the one in Barrinﬁfon.

20 vi Dorothy Chaffe (Chafey), born September 4, 1682; died August 27, 1698.

21 vii Elizall))eth Chaffe (Chafee), born March 18, 1685 ; married Josiah (Joseph)

aine.

22 viii Sarah Chaffe (Chafey), born March 18, 1687; married in Swansea,
March 26, 1713, Samuel, son of Samuel Luther, Jr., and grandson
of Elder Luther; mentioned in her mother’s will, April 7, 1721, and
on her mother’s death received the legacy in 1730.

23  ix Abigail Chaffe, probably married in Providence, R. I., April 28, 1737,
Thomas Field; mentioned in her mother’s will, April 7, 1721, and
on he;d mother’s death received the legacy in 1730, being then un-
married.
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4 Dorothy 3 Ohaffe (Ohafey) (Nathaniel,? Thomas 1) was born in Swansea,
Mass., and died in Rehoboth, Mass., May 16, 1718. She married there, May 1,
1694, Nathaniel, son of Stephen and Ann (Chickering) Paine. He was born in
Rehoboth, November 20, 1667, where he lived and was an extensive landowner.
He died March 25, 1718, his wife surviving his loss only two months. His estate
was administered by his son, Nathaniel, Jr.

Children :

24 i Dorothy * Paine, born February 3, 1694-5; died in Rehoboth, April, 1725.
25  ii Nathaniel Paine, Jr., born May 24, 1697; married Abigail Smith.

26  iii Abigail Paine, born July 28, 1699; died in Rehoboth, August 31, 1699.
27  iv Jonathan Paine, born July 2, 1701; married Rebecca Peck.

28 v Rachel Paine, born July 13, 1705; married Timothy Borden.

29 vi Elizabeth Paine, born April 15, 1712; married Joshua Lyon.

For further descendants see Paine Genealogy, by H. D. Paine.

5 Thomas 3 Chaffe (Ohafey) (Nathaniel,2 Thomas 1) was born in Swansea, Mass.,
October 19, 1672, and died in Rehoboth, Mass., February 21, 1754. He married
there, June 4, 1695, Margaret, daughter of Joseph and Margaret (Sutton) Car-
penter. She was born May 4, 1675, and died in Rehoboth, May 6, 1751. July
4, 1731, she was admitted to membership in the First Congregational Church,
Rehoboth.

At the time of his marriage Thomas Chaffe lived in Rehoboth, where he is
called “yeoman.” On November 9, 1703, he sold to his brother Nathaniel (7)
of Rehoboth, twelve acres of land in that town. In the record of this transaction
Thomas is called ‘“weaver” and Nathaniel, ‘‘blacksmith.” On July 1, 1706,
Thomas Chaffe was chosen to serve on the Jury of Trials at Bristol, Mass., “on
the second Tuesday of July inst.”” On October 17, 1711, a petition was presented .
to the General Court asking that the town of Rehoboth be divided into two pre-
cincts for the support of the ministry, as some of the petitioners were living from
four to seven miles from meeting. Among the names signed are those of Thomas
Chaffe and his brother Jonathan (8). On January 10, 1718, Thomas bought for
£15 of Joseph Russ of Ashford, Conn., one hundred acres of land in the western
part of that town. At that time and in all later records he is spoken of as
“of Rehoboth”; apparently he never lived in Ashford, nor, so far as is known,
did any of his children. At a town meeting held in Rehoboth in the West Meeting
House on Monday, March 29, 1721, he was chosen Surveyor of the Highway, and
on March 25, 1723, Constable. May 4, 1730, he sold for £30, a few acres of land
in Barrington, Mass. (formerly Swansea), to Joseph Chaffe, Sr. (18), his cousin,
who lived there. January 9, 1731, Thomas Chaffe was baptized in the First Con-
gregational Church in Rehoboth, prior to becoming a church member, March 5,
1732.

He administered the estate of his brother Noah (14), August 17, 1736.

“Thomas Chaffe yeoman of Rehoboth” for “love, good-will and affection”
sold (or rather gave) on May 28, 1737, sixteen acres of land in Rehoboth, “being
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part of the Grantor’s Homelot,” to the heirs of his son Amos (33), ¢ Freelove, (111)
Lilis (114), and Unis (115) Chaffe.” For the same reasons he ‘“sold’’ to his son
Thomas, Jr., of Rehoboth, May 30, 1737, forty acres in that town, being also part
of the home lot.
Children, born in Rehoboth:
30 i Margaret ¢ Chaffe, born September 10, 1696; died; married in Rehoboth,
arch 30, 1719, Joseph Baker of Barrington.
+31 ii Rachel Chaffe, born November 1, 1698; married John Sweeting.
+32 iii Mehitable Chaffe, born November 23, 1700; married Dan Bowen.
+33 iv Amos Chaffe, born July 17, 1702; married Freelove Carpenter.
+34 v Experience Chaffe, born July 1, 1705; married Jonathan Ormsbee.
+35 vi Tabitha Chaffe, born September 11, 1709; married Aaron Read.
436 vii Thomas Chaffe, Jr., born December 10, 1712; married Rebecca Hunt.

7 Nathaniel 2 Ohafle, Jr. (Nathaniel,? Thomas 1) was born in Rehoboth, Mass.,
February 8, 1675, and died February 28, 1703—4. He married about 1701-2,
Mercy . She married (2) in Rehoboth, April 24, 1708, James Read, a tanner.

Nathaniel Chaffe, Jr., ‘blacksmith”’ bought twelve acres of land in Rehoboth,
from his brother Thomas, November 9, 1703, but he did not long live to enjoy
his property, dying less than four months after its purchase. May 17, 1704, his
wife and Moses Read were appointed in Rehoboth administrators of his estate.
In 1708 Mercy Chaffe was appointed guardian of her daughter Dorothey, and
January 5, 1708-9, she and her second husband were appointed the child’s joint
guardians.

Child:

37 i Dorothey ¢ Chaffe, born in Rehoboth, March 17, 1702-3; died in Swansea,
Mass., June 25, 1759; married, April 25, 1723, James Cole of Swansea,
?7%1-9andson of Hugh Cole, Sr.; she was baptized in Rehoboth, April 17,

8 Jonathan 2 Ohaffe (Nathaniel,? Thomas 1) was born in Rehoboth, Mass., April
7, 1678, and died there, December 31, 1766. He married in Rehoboth, November
23, 1703, Hannah, daughter of William and Miriam (Searles) Carpenter. She
was born April 10, 1684 (1685), and in 1767 was appointed executrix of her hus-
band’s estate.

February 10, 1701-2, Jonathan Chaffe’s father gave him, “for love and affec-
tion,” four and a half acres of land in Rehoboth near “ Broken Cross.” March 19,
1704, he was chosen in Rehoboth to act as Field Driver. November 21, 1715, he
and one hundred and ten others agreed to pay for the building of a new meeting-
house in the following installments: ““One hundred pounds this year 1715, & 100
£ in the year 1716, and what more shall be needful for the finishing of the Meeting
House in 1717.” In 1718 he bought for £8 of Joseph Russ, one hundred acres
of land in Ashford, Conn. December 11, 1818, he was chosen in Rehoboth to
serve on the Jury of Trials. In 1819 he bought of Jeremiah Allen one hundred
acres more of land in Ashford. March 28, 1720, he was chosen in Rehoboth for the
office of ““Tything Man.” He, with his wife and son Jonathan, Jr., was admitted
to membership in the First Congregational Church in Rehoboth, June 6, 1725. -
He gave one hundred acres of his Ashford property, in 1726, to his eldest son,
Jonathan, who settled there. January 15, 1727, the town meeting * chose Jonathan
Chaffee to project & prepair a method how schools shall be kept in the severall
parts of the town, and how many may be proper for the Towne to have.” March
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30, 1730, he was again chosen to serve on “the Jury of Triale at Bristol the next
Superior Court.” April 10, 1731, he gave to his second son, Nathaniel, *for love
and affection,” ten acres of land in Rehoboth, being the easterly side of his home
lot. In 1734 he sold the remainder of his Ashford property to his brother David,
apparently having never lived in that town. November 3, 1736, he was chosen
Selectman of Rehoboth. He was appointed one of the administrators of his
brother Noah’s estate, August 19, 1737, on the same day the year previous having
been appointed guardian to Noah’s two orphan sons, Christopher (74) and Shubael
(75). He and Edward Glover and Samuel Mason, as his sureties, were bound in
the sum of £500 for the faithful performance of this trust. July 29, 1739, he gave
. to his son “Dan Chaffe of Rehoboth, Husbandman,” for “love and affection,”
fifteen acres of land, part of his home lot. October 15, 1739, Jonathan Chaffe
was chosen Grand Juryman, and May 21, 1744, ‘“the town meeting being met
Chose Jonathan Chaffee to be oversear of the workhouse this present year. He
being present and accepted the said trust and did then declare to the Town that
he would not Charge the Town for his Trouble and Labour in that affair, and
would be content with a Reasonable alowance out of the earnings of the persons
committed to the said house.” In October, 1745, he was again chosen as Grand
Juryman, this being his last town office. In 1746, ‘Jonathan Chaffe yeoman,”
with his son Dan, bought of Peter Walker of Rehoboth for £57, one-hulf of nine
and a half acres of meadow land there on both sides of Mill Run. May 15, 1749,
he gave to his grandson, William Chaffe (158), two acres of land in Re-
hoboth, “in consequence of love, good will and affection I do bare to my
dutifull grandchild Wm. Chaffe, son of Dan.” October 21, 1751, he was a member
of the “Jury of Inquest,” which met in Rehoboth to investigate the death of
John Hunt. April 28, 1752, “Jonathan Chaffe, husbandman’’ bought of James
Kent for £8, three acres on Mill Run. He made his will May 5, 1754, making his
wife sole executrix, and leaving to each one of his sons and daughters six shillings.
February 7, 1760, Jonathan Chaffe, mason, sold to his grandson, ““ William Chalffe,
cordwainer” (shoemaker), for £100, twenty-four acres of land in Rehoboth,
being part of his homestead. In the old burying ground, formerly in Rehoboth,
but now in the village of Rumford, in East Providence, R. 1., we read on a moss-
encrusted stone this inscription:

“Jonathan Chaffe
Departed this life
December 31, 1766
in the 89th year of
his age.”

Children, born in Rehoboth:

+38 i Jonathan ¢ Chaffe, Jr., born June 25, 1704; married Abigail Lyon.

439 ii Nathaniel Chaffe, born October 20, 1705; married (1) Rebecca Mason;
(2) Lydia Peck.

+40 iii Hannah Chaffe, born October 3, 1707; married Joseph Armington.

+41 iv Dan Chaffe, born February 6, 1710-11; married Mary Robinson.

42 v Miriam Chaffe, born August 22, 1712; died unmarried about 1787; was

admitted to the First Congregational Church of Rehoboth, August
1, 1736; May 8, 1767, she bought of Comfort Peck for £10, 10s.,
two acres of land in Rehoboth; her will, made October 21, 1773,
makes her nephew William Chaffe (158) executor and leaves her
property to his son Josiah (453).
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43 vi Susarsma ggaﬁe, born September 22, 1714; died in Rehoboth, December
, 1715,
+44 vii Ephraim Chaffe, born January 25, 1715-6; married (1) Patience Butter-
worth; (2) Hannah Butterworth.
45 viii William Chaffe, born about 1717; died in Rehoboth, April 26, 1730.
46 ix Susanna Chaffe, born June 10, 1720; died young.
47  x Deliverence Chaffe, born September 4, 1721 ; died in Rehoboth, May 10,
1736; baptized in the First Congregational Church in Rehoboth,
October 22, 1721; buried in the old burying ground there (now in
the village of Rumford, East Providence, R. ?.-).
48 xi Josiah Chaffe, born May 2, 1723; died in Rehoboth, April 7, 1725;
ll);g;ized in the First Congregational Church, Rehoboth, June 23,
49 xii Susanna Chaffe, born August 28, 1728; died in Rehoboth, May 20, 1736;
gapt’}iggd in the First Congregational Church, Rehoboth, September
, 1728,

9 David? Chaffe (Nathaniel 2 Thomas!) was born in Rehoboth, Mass., Au-
gust 22, 1680, and died there, February 25,1750-1. He married (1) in Rehoboth,
April 7, 1708, Patience, daughter of Watching Atherton (see Appendix C). She died
there, January 28, 1731-2, in her fiftieth year. There being some property coming
to them from their great-grandfather, Humphrey Atherton, the three children
of an age to choose their own guardian, Atherton, Mary and Margaret, asked to
have their uncle Samuel Atherton appointed, their father * David Chafey” con-
senting, and asking also to have a guardian appointed for Experience, who was
under fourteen. Samuel Atherton was also made her guardian, these records
being dated December 5, 1733, and May 25, 1734.

David Chaffe married (2) about May, 1733, Mrs. Hannah Pidge of Attleboro,
Mass., their intention of marriage being published there and in Rehoboth, April
28, 1733. She married after David’s death, Captain John Hoyle of Providence,
R. I, their intention of marriage being entered in Attleboro, April 18, 1752.

The date of the following entry is not known, but it is thought to have been
made between 1713 and 1715.

The record of the bounds of the land of Nathaniel Chaffee given to his son David
Chaffee.

“Twenty acres of Land be it more.or less being his first and second lots in the
Divisions granted Anno Domini 1707-8 Lying in three parts, ye first part con-
taining five acres and a quarter, lying on the Southerly side of Capt Pecks lot.
and on the Easterly side of his own land. Bounded said Pecks land. Westerly
his own land Southerly a 4 rod highway.

“2nd. Another part containing Two acres be it more or less. LyinE on the
Easterly end of said Pecks land, Bounded South easterly a four rod highway,
Northerly Danll Reads land, Westerly a two rod way for Danll Perrin to come to
his land purchased of Timothy Gye that was said Pecks.

“3d. The last part being Twelve acres & Three quarters, be it more or less,
Lying near Rocky meadow, adjoining to Daniel Reads land and to land of Nathll

the first corner is a stake, Standing in said Nathll Reads line. thence 8.8, W.
36 rods to a stake for a corner thence S. E. B. E. 47 rods to Daniel Reads land
then bounding in said line 46 rods to a stake for a corner, standing in his line.
Thence upon a straight line to Nathll Reads South East corner then bounding
with said Nathll Reaﬁs land to the first corner

“DANLL CARPENTER
‘ Surveyor.
“ A true copy from the 3d Book of Records, Solon Carpenter.”
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David Chaffe is spoken of in the records as ‘“husbandman” and “yeoman.”
He was chosen Surveyor of the Highway in Rehoboth, March 25, 1723, and again
in 1726. February 13, 1724-5, he, his brother Daniel and John Stevens, obtained
of Nathaniel Read leave to build a dam on Ten Mile River, and to build a good
saw-mill and a corn-mill. This was in Attleboro, and was called Chaffe’s Dam
and Chaffe’s Mill. David and Daniel, together with Nathaniel Read, sold three-
sixteenths of this mill privilege to Daniel Read, May 8, 1725. July 3, 1727, David
Chaffe of Rehoboth, Daniel Chaffe of Attleboro, Captain Daniel Read, Samuel
Robinson and Nathaniel Read, “all of them Millers,” bought of Silas Titus,
Rehoboth, land in Attleboro for £15. David Chaffe was chosen Constable of
Rehoboth, March 29, 1731. October 9, 1734, he sold to Daniel Perrin, *Cord-
wainer,” seven and a quarter acres of land in that town for £14, 10s. In the same
year he bought of his brother Jonathan for £60, one hundred acres of land in
Ashford, Conn. To this he added in 1737, twenty-six and a half acres bought of
Nathaniel Fuller for £150, the property including a house. April 12, 1737,
he sold to Daniel Perrin of Rehoboth for £55, eleven acres of his home lot in
Rehoboth, and January 23d following for £300, twenty-eight acres more of the
same property. In these deeds he is spoken of as “of Rehoboth.” In 1739, he
bought of Ichabod Ward for £150, one hundred acres more of land in Ashford,
of which town he was at that time a resident. September 12, 1743, he gave to
his son Atherton, one-half of all his lands, buildings, fences, orchards and im-
provements on his farm in Ashford on which he was then living. In 1746 he
bought of Increase Sumner of Roxbury, twenty-four acres of land in Ashford,
the price being £80 “old tenor bills credit.” October 3, 1750, he gave to his son
David, Jr., in consideration of love, good will and fatherly affection, thirty acres
of land in Ashford. November 16, 1750, he sold for £100 to his son Atherton,
three tracts of land there near Lead Mine Hill, containing about eighty-five acres,
a house and buildings. Three months after this he died in Rehoboth. He and
his wife Patience were buried in the western part of Rehoboth, now Seekonk.

Children, by first wife, born in Rehoboth:

+50 i David * Chaffe, Jr., born February 27, 1708-9; married Martha Walker.
+51 ii Elizabeth Chaffe, born March 21, 1710-11; married Ichabod Read.
+52 iii Patience Chaffe, born April 14, 1713; married Samuel Read.
+53 iv Atherton Chaffe, born April 7, 1715; married (1) Abigail Squire; (2)
Rachel Fuller.
454 v Mary Chaffe, born June 15, 1717; married Gideon Franklin.
55 vi Margaret Chaffe, born September 13, 1719; died after 1777; admitted
to the First Church in Attleboro, October 25, 1741; living there in
1753 and 1777, in the latter year being mentioned in the will of
her niece “Betty Chafee’” (201) as “my beloved Aunt Margaret
Chaffe of Attleborough,” and receiving a bequest.
56 vii Experience Chaffe, born June 20, 1722; died ; residence, 1753, Attleboro.

10 Experience 3 Ohaffe (Nathaniel,2 Thomas 1) was born in Rehoboth, Mass.,
March 24, 1782-3, and died there April 19, 1754. She married in Rehoboth,
July 21, 1714, Timothy, son of Samuel and Patience (Ide) Carpenter of that place.

Children, born in Rehoboth:

57 i Allethea ¢ Carpenter.
58 ii Amos Carpenter, born February 12, 1715-8; married (1) Polly Gould; (2)
Phebe Gould.
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59 iii Experience Carpenter, born June 2, 1718; married Samuel Smith.

60 iv Dorothy Carpenter, born April 20, 1720.

61 v Timothy Carpenter, Jr., born October 24, 1721 ; married his cousin, Molly
Sweeting (100) (Rachel* Chaffe, Thomas,® Nathaniel,2 Thomas?),
born in %ehoboth, October 24, 1721.

62 vi Samuel Carpenter, born April 8, 1725; died August 7, 1725.

63 vii Patience Carpenter, a twin, born April 8, 1725; married David Thurston.

For further descendants see Carpenter Genealogy.

12 Daniel 3 Ohaffe (Nathaniel,? Thomas !) was born in Rehoboth, Mass., Octo-
ber 30, 1687, and died in Attleboro, Mass., before February 13, 1768. He married
(1) in Rehoboth, March 26, 1713, Alice (or Alse) Millerd. She died, and he married
(2) in Attleboro, November 3, 1757, Mrs. Perces Ormsby.

Daniel Chaffe’s first recorded land transaction was June 13, 1712, when he sold
to John French of Attleboro, two and a half acres of land in that town, formerly
a part of the town of Rehoboth. December 17, 1722, he bought of Nicholas Bragg
for £130, one hundred and thirty acres in Attleboro, adjoining the land of his
brother David. February 13, 1724-5, Daniel and David Chaffe and John Stevens
obtained leave of Nathaniel Read of Rehoboth, to build a dam on Ten Mile River
in Attleboro, and a good saw-mill and a corn-mill. In the foregoing deeds Daniel
was “of Rehoboth.” May 8, 1725, David Chaffe, ““ Daniel Chaffe of Attleborough,
mason,” and Nathaniel Read sold one-sixteenth of this mill privilege. July 3,
1727, these three, and with them Captain Daniel Read and Samuel Robinson,
‘“All of them Millers,” bought of Silas Titus for £15, land in Attleboro. January
14, 1727-8, Daniel Chaffe “mason,” bought of him three acres of land there for
£3, 158. December 31, 1733, he bought three acres more there for £4 10s., and
March 30, 1734, three and a half acres more for £6. February 22, 1737-8, he
bought of Samuel Robinson for £30, ten acres of land bounding on the line betwcen
Attleboro and Rehoboth. January 4, 1740-2, for £96, he added to this thirty
acres more, and January 18, 1742, bought six acres of land on Ten Mile River from
Ephraim Hall for £45. October 22, 1742, Daniel Chaffe, * husbandman,” bought
of John Kent and wife Rachel of Rehoboth, land in Swansea, Mass., for £47.
November 9th following he sold to Samuel Robinson for £6, the ““swamp or meadow
flowed with ye Dam that was erected across Ten Mile River, called Chaffee’s Dam
& Mill.,” Daniel Chaffe, “yeoman,” sold sixteen acres of land in Attleboro to
Joshua Parmenter, for £100, December 26, 1744. February 3, 1745, Daniel Chaffe,
“miller,” sold to Henry Tolman, Jr., for £30, thirty acres of land there, and July
26, 1746, to Joseph Welman, twenty acres of land there for £80. October 30, 1747,
with his son Daniel, Jr., he bought of Silas Titus thirty acres of land there for £350.
November 2, 1747, he bought three acres more there for £30. August 15th follow-
ing, Daniel, Sr., sold to Daniel Jr., for £400, sixty acres of land in the same town.
March 15, 1758, he sold to Jonathan Titus, gunsmith, for £5, land near Chaffe’s
mill. March 1, 1758, he bought for £5, land in Attleboro. June 19, 1758, “ Perces
Chaffe, formerly Ormsby, wife of Daniel Chaffe,” sold to Shubael Peck of Rehoboth,
seventy-five acres of land there for £67, 10s. September 23, 1760, Daniel sold to
Zachariah Carpenter of Rehoboth, one-quarter part of the saw-mill and one-quarter
part of the corn-mill on Ten Mile River and one-quarter part of ‘““Stream and
Dam,” etc., for £13, 6s. His final land transaction was the purchase, April 16, 1765,
for £16, 7s. of land in Attleboro. His will, dated May 21, 1763, was witnessed by
“Zeckariah Carpenter, Jonathan Titos, Samuel Atherton, and Peter Thacher.” It
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made Daniel’s son-in-law, Alexander Moore, executor. Daniel died some time
before February 13, 1768, as under that date we find in the T'aunton Probate Records
the following item:

“ Attleborough. These lines inform the Hon’d Judge the widder has no
objection. . a
or

“PERSE x CAFFE.”
mark

The inventory was taken March 14, 1768, by Moses Wilmarth and Samuel
Atherton.
The will contains the following bequests:

“Item—I give to my beloved wife, Perces, the use etc., of the West half of my
Dwelling House.

“Item—I give unto my eldest daughter, Allice, and to my four Grandchildren
viz. the children of my son Daniel Chaffe, and to my Grandchild viz. the child of
my Daughter Esther, and to their Respective heirs and assigns [and § part thereof
my wife] My daughter Alice to have 4 part thereof. And } part therof to be equally
divided between my four Grand children, children of Daniel Chaffee viz. Abner,
Daniel, Samuel, and Mary.

““And the remaining 3rd part I give to my Grandson Joel son of my daughter,
Esther Martin.”

The executor filed his account April 3, 1769.

Children, by first wife, the first five born in Rehoboth, the last three in Attleboro:

64 i Samuel ¢ Chaffe, born December 1, 1714; probably died before 1763,
as he is not mentioned in his father’s will.

65 ii Elizabeth Chaffe (birth entered in Providence, R. I., and Rehoboth),
born June 12, 1716; probably died before 1763, as she is not
mentioned in her father’s will.

66 iii Alice (Alse) Chaffe, born (birth entered in Providence, R. 1., and Reho-
both) June 18, 1718; died; married in Attleboro, July 23, 1741,
Alexander Moore, their intention of marriage being published
there, May 9, 1741.

67 iv Daniel Chaffe, Jr., born April 26, 1720; died in infancy.

+68 v Daniel Chaffe, Jr., born December 14, 1721 ; married Dorcas Ormsby.
+69 vi Esther Chaffe, born March 10, 172—; married Amos Martin.

70 vii Millerd Chaffe, probably died before 1763, as he is not mentioned in
his father’s will.

71 viii Abner Chaffe, born July 18, 17—; probably died before 1763, as he is
not mentioned in his father’s will. .

14 Noah 3 Ohaffe (Nathaniel,? Thomas 1) was born in Rehoboth, Mass., Decem-
ber 17, 1692, and died there October 5,1732. He married (1) in Rehoboth, May 5,
1720, Sarah, daughter of Abiah and Mehitable (Reed) Carpenter. She was born
in Rehoboth, March 3, 1796-7, and died there, September 10, 1722. He married
(2) in Rehoboth, December 16, 1725, Hepzibah Daggett, who died there, August
12, 1736, in her thirty-fifth year. Her estate was administered by her brother,
Israel Daggett, who was appointed August 26, 1736, an inventory of her possessions
being taken August 30, 1736.

The town records make no mention of Noah Chaffe, but his various land trans-
actions are on record. On May 3, 1715, his father gave him six acres of land in
Rehoboth, being the house lot, and also twenty-four acres in Half Mile swamp.
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February 14, 1720-1, Noah Chaffe, “ yeoman,” bought for £18, 1s., eleven and
three-quarters acres of land in Rehoboth of Hannah, widow of Josiah Turner of that
place. February 5, 1724, he sold to his cousin Joseph Chaffe (18) of Barrington,
Mass., one and a half acres of ‘‘Salt Marsh” in that place, ‘‘the other half being
my brother Thomas Chaffe’s.” This deed was witnessed by John Chaffe (16) and
Ebenezer Chaffe (78). He sold two acres in Rehoboth for £2, December 20, 1726,
to Joseph Bucklin, Sr., of that place. Between this date and January 20, 1731-2,
he became an inn-holder, as we find him so called in a deed of the latter date, when
he sold to James Walker, a fellow-townsman ‘“a right of commonage” in
Rehoboth for £3, 5s. The next day he sold to Richard Bowen for £185, the
twenty-four acres in Half Mile swamp given him in 1715 by his father. Three
months later, April 25, 1732, he bought for £15, four acres in Rehoboth from John
Sweetland of Attleboro, Mass. This was his last land transaction, as he died the
following October. There is no record that Noah Chaffe ever became a member
of any church, though his wife, Hepzibah, joined the First Congregational Church
of Rehoboth, December 18, 1726. She was appointed administratrix of his estate
on November 9, 1732, but dying before it was settled, her husband’s brothers,
Jonathan (8) and Thomas (5), were appointed to complete the administration.
Sarah, Noah’s daughter by his first wife, chose as her guardian, August 25, 1736,
her uncle Abiah Carpenter. Jonathan Chaffe (8) was appointed guardian of the
minor children, Shubael and Christopher. October 30, 1738, Noah Chaffe’s heirs
drew lot number thirty-eight in Rehoboth.

Noah Chaffe and his second wife were buried in the old burying-ground, Reho-
both (now in the village of Rumford, East Providence, R. 1.), where their tomb-
stones bear the following inscriptions:

‘“Here lies ye body of
Mr. N oag Chaffe
Deceased
Oct’ ye 5th 1732.
in ye 40th year of his age.”

‘““Here lies inter’d ye
body of Hephzibah Chaffe
widow & relict of
Mr. Noah Chaffe
Dec’d Aug. 12th 1736 in
ye 35th year of her age.”

Child, by first wife:
472 i Sarah* Chaffe, born August 20, 1722; married William Blanden.

Children, by second wife, born in Rehoboth:

73 ii Isaiah Chaffe, born November 4, 1727; died in Rehoboth, February 17,
1727-8.

474 iii Shubael Chaffe, born March 23, 1729-30; married Elizabeth Crawford.

75 iv Christopher Chaffe, born August 7, 1731; died in Woodstock, Conn.,

December 31, 1755; was baptized in the First Congregational Church

of Rehoboth, September 26, 1731; losing both his parents in early

childhood, he probably lived with his uncle and guardian, Jonathan

Chaffe (8); when he moved to Woodstock, we do not know, but it

is on record under the date November 10, 1752, that ‘‘ Christopher
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Chaffe, husbandman, of Woodstock, Conn.,” sold for £60 to
“Shubael Chaffe husbandman of Rehoboth” his interest in the
estate of their father, being one-fourth part. He served in the
French and Indian War, enlisting from Rehoboth, which is given
as his residence, September 8, 1755, and serving in the exw«filtion
against Crown Point under the command of General William
Johnson, in Captain Aaron Kingsley’s company. [Massachusetls
Colonial Records, Vol. XCIII, p. 199.] Soon after this he died;
whether from the effects of his service or not, we do not know;
his tombstone in the West Woodstock cemetery reads:

“Here lies the body of Mr. Christopher Chaffee who died Dec.

ye 31 1755 in ye 25 year of his age.”

The inventory of his real estate taken January 24, 1756, gives the
amount as £759, 12s.; apparently he gave, either by will or by gift,
before his death, a sum of money to the New Roxbury Society,
as on December 13, 1756, at a meeting of the inhabitants:- *“It
was proposed whether or no they would lay out that money that
was given to the society by Christopher Chaffe late of Woodstock
deceased for the finishing of the meeting house in said society
toward the finishing of the pulpit & galleries, and it was voted in
the affirmative by polling’’; that his generosity was, though tardily,
appreciated, is proved by the following:

“At a regular meeting of the society in Woodstock on the 10th
day of December A. D. 1764, voted that the society committee
should procure a decent pair of grave-stones for a memoriam of
Christopher Chaffe late of Woodstock deceased. Upon the account
of his generous and (i)ious gift or donation to said society”’; these
stones were procured through Shubael Child, and December 15,
1766, he acknowledged the receipt of £1, 12s. in payment for them.

16 John 3 Chaffe (Joseph,? Thomas!) was born in Swansea, Mass., December 16,
1673 [Plymouth Colony Records] and died in Woodstock, Conn., December 2, 1757,
He married (1) in Swansea, July 17, 1700, Sarah, daughter of Gershom and Elizabeth
(Chadwick) Hills of Malden, Mass., [see Appendix B] and sister of his brother
Joseph’s wife. She was of Malden and died, probably in Woodstock, April 7, 1735.
John Chaffe married (2) in Ashford, Conn., November 4, 1735, Elizabeth Hay-
ward of that place, who died in Woodstock, February 5, 1760, aged eighty-seven.
October 28, 1694, just before John Chaffe’s twenty-first birthday, his father died
and he, together with his mother and younger brother, was made an executor of
the estate. According to the terms of his father’s will he received a ‘“heifor,” one-
half of his father’s “tooles” and gun, and, on attaining the age of twenty-one,
one-fourth part of his “Upland and Meadow ground in Swanzey.” (See 1.)
He and his mother drew lot number one hundred and twenty in a division of land
in Rehoboth, June 16, 1697. Rehoboth Records.)

“At a Town meeting Legally warned as by ye Constables return & the Town
being together March 23, 1697-8 for choice of Town officers for ye year ensuin,
did proceed viz: . . . Surveyors of Highways . . . John Chaffy” a.ng
four others. [Swansea Records.)

March 25, 1701, “John Chafey ” was chosen one of two Constables. [/bid.]

March 29, 1703, he and his mother again received a share in a division of land
in Rehoboth. [Rehoboth Records.)

The next day, March 30, 1703, “John Chaffy” and two others were chosen
Tithingmen. [Swansea Records.]

On the “2d Tuesday in March 17034 . . . Field Drivers Chose for Wanne-
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mosset [up to 1667 part of Rehoboth, but at this time the western part of Swansea]
John Chafie’’ and one other. [Ibid.]

June 6, 1704, John Chaffe of Swansea, bought of John Hall of Rehoboth ten
acres of land there for £1, 10s.

June 30, 1704, “John Chafie”” and two others were chosen ‘““to serve on the
Petty Jury at ye Court of Quarter Sessions to be holden at Bristol for ye County
of Bristol on y 2 Tuesday of July next ensuing.” [Ibid.]

February 9, 1707-8 “ John Chaffee” and his mother again shared in a division
of land in Rehoboth, drawing lot number fifty-eight. [Rehoboth Records.]

June 16, 1708, ‘“John Chaffee of Swanzey yeoman” sold to Thomas Allen of
the same town, six acres of land there for £9.

‘“Aprel the ninth one thousen seaven hundred and eleavene” an agreement
in regard to a driftway on the west side of Hide’s Hole, the hanging of two gates
therein, etc., was signed by seventeen Proprietors of Swansea, two of whom were
John Chafe” and * Joseph Chaffe,” his brother.

About this time was agitated the question of forming a new town from that
western part of Swansea called New Meadow Neck and Phebe’s Neck, where John
and Joseph Chaffe lived. The matter seems to have arisen from the fact that the
meetinghouse was at such a distance from the dwellers in the western part of
Swansea as to be of little use to them, though they were forced to pay tithes for
the support of the minister and the maintenance of the meetinghouse. There
seemed to be no other way than to form a new town and a new meeting-
house, so the following petition was drawn up and sent to the Governor and
Council.

A PETITION

“To His Ezcellency Joseph Dudley, Esq., Captain-General and Governor-in-chief
in and over His Majesty’s Province of the Massachusetts Bay in N. E., the Honorable
C}otilncd ¢[mg Ri‘presmtatives in General Court assembled at Boston this thirtieth day
of May:[1711.] -

““The petition of us the subscribers, inhabitants on the westward end of Swansea,
most humbly sheweth, that among all the outward and external blessings with
which the God of all mercy blesseth any i)eople with all in this world, that of the
House of God is among them; the Gospe Eurely reached and the ordinances of
Christ’s kingdom duly administered and fathers and children settled under pastoral
watch care and government, under pious learned orthodox ministers being in
our esteem the greatest.

“And we, your petitioners, being under the deplorable privations thereof, do
most humbly and earnestly petition this Honorable Court that some methods
may be taken (as in wisdom may be thought best) for our relief, we being assured
of this Honorable General Court’s power and good will to help in such cases, from
their repeated acts of the like nature, do the more freely open our malady which be-
speaks pity and cur. Not to mention the ill circumstances, which our different
opinions (in matters of religion from our neighbors) bring our estates under, in
whose power they are in all taxes (though bad enough of itself) is yet little and
light compared with the bitterness we feel at present, and fear for the future for
the very mention of no settled minister, learned and orthodox, no Church of Christ
settled in order, no pastor to feed Christ’s lambs among us; this as we believe is
an uncomfortable thought unto all the holy and reverend ministers of Christ that
know our state. So it is a heart-breaking thought to us to think, that when we
are called out of this world to consider in what state we leave our posterity exposed
to a ruinating enticement from pure gospel and gospel ordinances. All which
sorrow and misery either felt or feared, if the Honorable General Court do in mercy
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and pity prevent by granting us a township according to the limits of Capt. Samuel
Low’s military company in Swansea, thereby enabling us to settle and maintain
a pious, learned and orthodox minister for the good o% us and our posterity, God
will be glorified, Christ’s kingdom enlarged and will oblige your most humble
petitioners ever to pray.

Sign
“SaMUEL Low, JoHN CHAFFEE,
““ DANIEL ALLEN, JosiAH TICKNOR,
“BENJ. VIALL, DANIEL ALLEN, JR.,
“IsRAEL PECK, OBADIAH PETTIS,
“SaMUEL HUMPHREY, EvrisHA May,
“ZACHARIAH BICKNELL, WiLLiam CORBETT,
“ NATHANIEL PECK, JonN Toocoop,
“JAMES SMITH, SAMUEL JAY,
‘“BENJ. CAREY, JoHN ROGERS,
“SiMoN Davis, JosHUA PHINNEY,
“THoMAS TURNER, ‘ WM. SALISBURY,
::%osmrn C'Il-‘{IAFFEE, }VM. SALIS];}JRY, JR.,
HoMAS TIFFANY, ONATHAN PHINNEY,
“JONATHAN VAILL, EBENEZER PHINNEY.”

‘“ EBENEZER ALLEN,

The other inhabitants of Swansea protested vigorously against this proposed
separation, and the petition was denied, but the Council recommended to them
‘“‘the Establishment & Support of a learned orthodox minister of good conversation
and to Endeavor a subscription for his comfortable and honorable maintenance.”
The next year a similar petition was presented, with a like result.

At a town meeting on March 25, 1712, John Chaffe and one other were chosen
Field Drivers. [Swansea Records.] ‘

“At a Propriators meeting lawfully warned and met together by adjournment
from the 8th day of January 1712 [1712-13] to the 12th day of Feb., 1712. Then
met together and the proYriators of lands in Rehoboth cast lotts for their farms
& each propriator’s lott fell as followeth . . . John Chaffee’” drawing number
fifty-five. [Rehoboth Records.]

“At a Town Meeting in Swansey: by Lawful warning on ye 25th of March
1713 for the choice of Town officers for the year ensuing . . . also by virtue
of a warrant from the Clerk of Quarter sessions To chues 3 grand Jury men for
the Insuing year and 3 men to on the Jury of Tryels at April Court 1713 proceeded
to choice and chous vizt: . . . John Chafee [and two others] Petty Jurors.”
[Swansea Records.] He was also chosen, with two others, to serve on the “Jury
of tryels at October Court 1715.” [Ibid.)

March 27, 1716, John Chaffe and five others were chosen Fence Viewers. [/bid.]

The question of the division of the town continuing to occupy the minds of the
people of old Swansea, the third petition to the General Court, in 1717, was heard
and answered by the formation of a new town, and Phebe’s Neck and New Meadow
Neck were ‘“erected into a township by the name of Barrington,” on November
18, 1717. In 1718-19, in the new town of Barrington, *“ John Chaffey’” was chosen
one of two Fence Viewers for Phebe’s Neck, New Meadow Neck also having two.
[Barrington Records.] February 15, 1721, John Chaffe and Sarah (Hills) Chaffe,
his wife, joined with other heirs of Gershom Hills in a quit claim deed to Ebenezer
Hills of Malden, of two parcels of land in that place, one being eight or ten acres
of land, the other two acres of salt marsh. This land was given to Gershom Hills
by his father, Joseph Hills of Newbury, Mass., September 10, 1677. John Chaffe
swore to his signature to this document before a Justice of the Peace, November
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24, 1726. In 1725, with two others, John Chaffee was Surveyor of Highways
[Ib1d.]) and in 1728 he was Grand Juror and Fence Viewer. [Ibid.] These are the
last entries regarding him in the Barrington town records, for soon after this he
moved to Woodstock. March 13, 1728-9, he bought of Ebenezer Morris of Wood-
stock, for £700, ‘“a certain Messuage or Tenement and Land situated in the Town
of Woodstock aforesd Lying in Sundry parcels. One piece contains by estimation
fourty acres of Land a Mansion House and barn where said Morris now Dwells”
bounded by the land of Benjamin Marcy, Isaiah Tiffany and the highways. Another
piece contained fifty-eight acres and was bounded by the highways and the land
of Benjamin Marcy and Captain Jonathan Payson. The third piece “‘called ye
orchard”’ contained two acres.

Two weeks later, March 27, 1729, “ John Chaffee yeoman’’ and Sarah, his wife,
sold to Peleg Heath of Barrington, thirty acres of upland, meadow and salt marsh
there, for £510.

May 9, 1729, John Chaffe and Sarah, his wife, sold to Joseph Chaffe, Sr., their
brother, for £43, two acres of salt marsh bounded by the land of “Joseph Chafee
Senr. & Joseph Chaffe Junr " the river, the creek and the pond. May 17, 1729,
John Chaffe sold another piece of salt marsh, as the following deed, the original
of which is in the possession of the writer, shows:

“To all People to Whome these Presents Shall Com Greeting &c. Know yee
that I John Chaffe of Barington in ye Coum('iy of Bristol in ye province of ye massa-
chusetts bay in new england yeoman for and in Consideration of ye sum of Seuenty

ounds Currant mony of ye province aforesd to me in hand before ye ensealin
earof well and Truly ﬁaid by Samuel Barns of Barington in i{e County afore

yeoman the Receipt whereof I do hearby acknowledge my self there with fully
sattisfied and Contented and of Euery part and persel thereof do Exonerate acquit
and Discharge ye sd Samuel Barns his heirs execurs adminisrs and assign for
Euer: a Certain pice of saltmarsh Scittuate Lying anf being in Barington aforsd
Containing Three ACres and one halfe on aCre more or Less and is buted and
Bounded Southerly on a Salt pond and Salt meadow belonging to Joseph Chaffee
westwardly on a Crike of Runi:‘f water and on ye high way northerly on ye Land
and meadow belonging to ye sd Samuel Barns Eastwardly on ye salt water: To
Have and To Hold ye sd pice of Salt marsh or meadow: buted and bounded as
aforesd with all ye appurtenance priulidges and Commodities to the same belong-
ing or in any wise appertaining to him ye sd Samuel Barns his heirs and assigns
for Euer to his and their only proper Vse benifitt and Behoof for Euer: and the sd
John Chaffee for me my heirs Executers adminisrs do Couenant promise and grant
to and with ye sd Samuel Barns his heirs executors adminisrs and assigns for Euer
that before ye Ensealing and Deliuery hearof I am ye True Sole and Lawfull owner
of all ye aboue granted and bargained premises and am Lawfully Seized and
of ye same in mine own proper Right as a good perfect and absolute

te of Inheritance in Fee Simple and haue in myself good Right full power and
Lawfull authority to grant bargain Sell and Conuey and Confirm s Bargained
premises in manner as aboue sd and that the sd Samuel Barns his heirs and assigns
shall and may fromtime to time and at all times for Euer hearafter by force and
Vertue of these prsents Lawfully Peacably & Quiatly haue hold use occupie posses
and Enjoy ye sd Devuised and Bargained premises with their appurtenances free
and freely and Clearly acquited and Discharged of and from all manner of former
or other gifts grants Bargains Sales Leases mortgages will Entails Joyntors Dower
Judgments Executions Incumbrances and Extents and the s John Chaffee do by
these presents for myself my heirs Executors adminisrs do Covenant and Ingage
y aboue Devuised Premises to him ye sd Samuel Barns his heirs and as Signs
against all ye Lawfull Claimes and Demands of all person or persons whome So
Euer for Euer to warrant Secure and Defend: In Witness Whereof I the sd John
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Chaffee Haue hear unto Sett to my hand and Seal this Seuenteenth day of May in

ye Second year of his Majties Anno Domini 1729—

“Signed Sealed and Deliuered

“in the presence of

“James Hix

“Joseph Chaffe
‘ Bristol ss June 5 1729 Personally appeared
John Chaffe the subscriber to ye aboue
written Instrument and acknowlleged the
same to be his free voluntary act and deed

Before me
“ Bristol ss Recd: June 28th: 1729 SaMLL BROWN
and this Deed is Recorded in ye ) Justice of the Peace.”
19th Book folio (4) by Samll
Howland Regr.”

Between June 5, 1729, and February 12, 1729-30, John Chaffe had moved to
Woodstock, as is evidenced by the following abstract of a deed of the latter
date:

‘‘John Chaffee of Woodstock, County of Suffolk, Province of Massachusets Bay,
in New England, yeoman . . . to Samuel Humphrey, Barrington, County of
Bristol & province aforesaid, yeoman. . . .

All that the said John Chaffe his house & land messuage or Tenement situate
lying and being within the Township of Barrington in the County of Bristol in
the province aforesd, Containing fifty acres of land be the same more or less as
it now lyeth butted and Bounded (viz) Easterly and westerly upon the highway,
southerly on the land of Joseph Chaffe, Northerly on the land of Nathaniel Peck
Jur., with all and singular the Rights, members and appurtenances wayes waters
water courses wood underwood timber, Trees stones mines mineralls, easements,
emoluments, Hereditaments, Immunities, profits, priviledges and advantages to
the said bargained premises belonging, or in any wise appertaining or therewith
used occupied or enjoyed and also all the Housing and Buildings of any sort or
kind thereon erected with all fences orchards, gardens & improvements whatsoever
as also all the estate, right, title Inheritance property claim & demand whatsoever
of the said John Chaffe his heirs, excrs, adminisrs & assigns of in or unto the said
Bargained Premises or and part thereof. . . .

““Signed, sealed and delivered

in the presence of us ) JoHN CHAFFE [S8EAL]
“Isaiah Tiffany her
¢ Benjamin Marcy. 1 consent. SARAH G CHAFFE [sEAL]
mark

“Dated February 12, 1729-30.”

This deed was made in Woodstock, as is apparent from the names of the witnesses.
Late in February or early in March, 1729-30, John Chaffe’s mother died and, as
he was one of the executors, he was obliged to go back to Barrington. At the
probate court in Bristol, March 17th, he and his brother offered their mother’s
will for probate and gave bonds, their account being filed soon after. After all
debts and legacies were paid, John must have received about £15 worth of personal
property, as his half of the personal estate, and half of the land which by his
father’s will was to revert to him and his brother at his mother’s death.

There is no record of his having sold this land. For fifteen years we find no
further mention of him in the records, but we know that during this time he lost
the wife of his youth and married again.

February 9, 1744-5, “John Chaffee, husbandman, of Woodstock,” bought of
his son Joel, for £287, fifty acres of land in the southern part of Woodstock. Prob-
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ably this was the land which he sold April 2, 1747, to Ebenezer Smith for £100.
as that is also described as fifty acres of land in the southern part of Woodstock,
The deed also mentions a dwelling house on the property, and is signed by John
and Elizabeth Chaffe.

August 29, 1754, John Chaffe made his will, and the same day, doubtless in
accordance with the custom of the day, he gave to his heirs part of their inheritance.
The deeds state that the property was “sold” for stated sums; but no money
passed between grantor and grantee, the sum being named and the value of the
property fixed so that no dispute might afterwards arise regarding each heir having
had his or her equal share. The children of his deceased son Hezekiah, namely,
John (268) and Hezekiah, Jr. (269), received eight acres of land in Woodstock,
valued at £20. The children of his deceased son Joel, namely, Joel, Jr. (251),
Joshua (250), Abigail (253), Lucy (255), and Ruth (256) received the two acres
of orchard in Woodstock which was one of the three parcels of land bought of
Ebenezer Morris in 1728-9. This also was valued at £20. John Chaffe, Jr.,
received fifty acres of land in Woodstock, valued at £70, and Ebenezer a tenement
and forty acres of land in Woodstock valued at £100. The eldest son, Joseph,
received nothing at this time, but on his father’s death in 1757, became his resid-

uary legatee.

WILL OF JOHN CHAFFE

 In the Name of God Amen I John Chaffee of Woodstock in the County of Wind-
ham Being infirm of Body but of sound Disposing mind and memory thanks be
given to God therefor Calling to mind the mortality of my Body and knowing that
it is appointed for all men once to die So make and ordain this my last Will and
Testament that is to say Principally and first of all I give and Reccommend m
soul into the hands of God that gave it and my Body I recommend it to the Eart
to be Buried in‘a Christian like and decent manner at the charge of my three sons
Joseph Ebenezer and John in Equal Cost and at their discretion nothing doubting
but at the General Ressurection I shall Receive the same again by the Almighty
Power of God into whose Kingdom I hope and Desire to be received as a true
Penitent notwithstanding my unworthiness therefor by ye alone merits of Jesus
Christ And as touching such Worldly Estates as it hath pleased God to Bless me
with in this life not yet Disposed of I give Devise and Dispose thereof in the follow-
ing manner and form. .

‘Imprimis It is my will and I do order that in the first Place all my Just debts
be first paid (my funeral charges to be paid by my Three Sons they each of them
having Recd of my Estate Enough for that) and satisfied by my Executor here-
after named. : .

“Item I give and Bequeath unto Elizabeth my beloved wife the sum of five
Shillings olt:fI tenor Common Currency by my Executor as Soon after Probate
hereof as can be which with a maintenance that I have secured by Two Bonds
one from my son Ebenezer ye other from my son John haveing even date Here-
with which 1Judge to be in full of her dower and Dower of her Thirds of my
Estate.

“Ttem I give and Bequeath unto my Loving Son Ebenezer Chaffee ye sum
of five shillings old Tenor Common bills of Credit which together with about forty
acres of land more or less which I Purchased of Ebenezer Morriss with a mansion
House & Barn that I this day conveyed to him by deed which I Judge to be his
full part and portion of my Estate and in full for his living with me since he has
been of age all which I have given to him his heirs & assigns forever.

“Item I give and Bequeath unto my loving son John Chaffe the sum of five
shillings like bills which with what I have given him by deed bearing date here-
with of about Fifty acres of land being part of what I Purchased of said Moriss
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and the same I have given to him his heirs and assigns forever all which I Judge
to be his full part and Portion of my Estate and for what he had done for me since
he has been of age.

“Item I give & Bequeath unto my Grand Children John Chaffe and Hezikiah
Chaffe Sons of my late son Hezikiah Desd the sum of five shillings Each and 1
have given to them my said Grand Children by deed about eight acres of land
which is all my Pasture by deed having even date herewith I have given to them
in Equal Right to them Their Heirs & assigns forever and that together with what
I have done %or their Father and for them I Judge to be full parts out of my Estate.

“Item I give & bequeath unto the Children of my late Desd son Joel Chaffee
the sum of Twenty shillings like bills of Credit Share and I have * alike or to
their legal Representatives or the survivors of them which with what I have given
to them by deed bearing Date herewith of my orchard lying south of where I now
live being about two acres more or less which is given to them their Heirs & Assigns
foever in Equal Shares and what I gave to their Father formerly I Judge to be
their full {)art of my Estate.

“Item I give unto my eldest son Joseph Chaffe and to his heirs & assigns
forever my two cows that are in the hands of my son Ebenezer Chaffe or two that
is obliged to deliver after my Decease as good with all the rest and residue of my
Estate whatsoever and Wheresoever he paying my Just Debts and ye abovesaid
Small Legacies (above given to my wife Children and Grandchildren) which with
what I have already advanced to him as per a receipt that he gave to me Dated

e 23rd Day of February 1729 and recorded in Woodstock Town book of Records

iber B page 60 will appear and before and since I Judge to be his full part Portion
and Proportion of my Estate And finally I do Constitute make & ordain my said
Son Joseph Chaffe Sole Executor to°this my last will & Testament Chearfully
confiding in his Faithfullness to fulfill this my last will hereby Revokeing all other
or former wills Testaments Legacys Bequests and Executors before this time
willed Bequeathed or Named Confirming this and no other to be and contain my
last will and Testament.

“In witness whereof I have hereunto put my hand and seal this 29th Day of
Auguss Anno Dom 1754 and in the 25th year of his majesties Reign George ye
Second. '

“Signed Sealed Published Pronounced JoHN CHAFFE
and declared by ye S John Chaffe to be

and contain his last will and Testament
“In Presence of ye Subscribers
“‘Samuel] Mascraft
“Jacob Lyon
“Thos Chandler.”

Children, by first wife, all but the second known to have been born in Swansea:

+76 i Joseph* Chaffe, born January 17, 1701; married Hannah May.

477 ii Joel Chaffe, born in 1702; married Elizabeth Bicknell.

+78 iii Ebenezer Chaffe, born September 22, 1704; married (1) Mary Scar-
borough; (2) Mary Bacon; (3) Mrs. Sarah (Adams) Durand.

+79 iv Hezekia.hu(%haffe, born April 19, 1706; married Mary Toogood.

+80 v John Chaffe, Jr., born February 10, 1706-7; married Mehitable Mascraft.

17 Mary 3 Ohafee (Joseph,2 Thomas!) was born in Swansea, Mass., October 23,
1675, and died. She married in Rehoboth, Mass., April 16, 1703, Daniel Whitaker.
Children, born in Rehoboth:

81 i Ephraim ¢ Whitaker, born February 8, 1703—4; died in Rehoboth, April
12, 1704.
82  ii Hannah Whitaker, born March 28, 1705.

* 8o in original.
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iii Mary Whitaker, born August 24, 1706.
iv Daniel Whitaker, Jr., born February 11, 1707.
v Dorothy Whitaker, born August 27, 1709.
vi Seth Whitaker, born April 11, 1711.
vii Ebenezer Whitaker, born April 29, 1713.
viii Joseph4Whitaker, born February 3, 1715-16; died in Swansea, July 25,
1744.
89 ix Anne Whitaker, born October 30, 1717.

18 Joseph 3 Ohafle, Jr. (Joseph,? Thomas!) was born in Swansea, Mass., Febru-
ary 6, 1677 [Plymouth Colony Records], and died, probably in Woodstock, Conn.,
not long before August 10, 1759. He was married in Malden, Mass., December
1, 1709, by Mr. Parsons, to Abigail, daughter of Gershom and Elizabeth (Chadwick)
Hills [Malden Records, see Appendix B], and sister of his brother John’s wife.

" Abigail (Hills) Chaffe died in Swansea, October 2, 1710, when her only child was
three weeks old. Joseph Chaffe was married (2) in Falmouth, Mass., October 16,
1712, by Joseph Metcalf, to Jemima Chadwick of that place. She died before
her husband, as she was not mentioned as one of his heirs in the settlement of
his estate.

Joseph Chaffe lost his father in November, 1694, when he was only sixteen years
old. He was, with his mother and brother, executor of his father’s estate and
under his father’s will received the family Bible which had belonged to his father
and his grandfather Chaffe, his father’s sword and a heifer, also half his father’s
‘““tooles” and gun, and, on reaching the age of twenty-one, half his upland and
meadow ground in Swansea.

There is no further reference to him in any kind of record until 1701 when “ At
a Town meeting . . . ye 25th of March 1701, . . . for field Drivers
Chosen . . . Joseph Chaffy” and two others. [Swansea Records.]

Hereafter his name appears frequently in these records, as follows: March
27,1702. “Joseph Chafy’’ was chosen one of two Field Drivers for  wannamosset
Neck.” March 30, 1703, he was chosen Petty Juryman. March 25, 1707, with
three others, he was chosen again as a Field Driver, and March 23, 1707-8, for
the same office, with four others. August 30, 1710, “Joseph Chafe’’ was one of
a committee of nine, “of febe’s neck In swansea,” which met and chose Benjamin
Viall as clerk to keep the records of the community. April 9, 1711, he and his
brother John were two of seventeen Proprietors of Swansea who signed an agree-
ment in regard to a driftway on the west side of Hide’s Hole, the hanging of two
gates therein, etc. The petition, presented in May of this year, for the separation
of the western end of Swansea into a separate township was also signed by the
two brothers. (See 16.) The last mention of Joseph Chaffe in the Swansea records
is dated March 30, 1714, when he was one of two Constables chosen. In 1717,
the desire of the dwellers on Phebe’s Neck and New Meadow Neck to be set off
into a separate town was finally granted, and November 18th the Township of
Barrington was formed. In 1718, Joseph Chaffe was chosen as guardian: by
Jonathan Paine (27), the son of his cousin Dorothy (Chaffe) Paine (4). The Bar-
rington records show that he continued to occupy the same prominent place in
the affairs of the new town as he did in the old. In 1720 he was one of two Tything-
men, and in 1721 Fence Viewer for Phebe’s Neck. February 15, 1721, as heir
of his first wife, Abigail (Hills) Chaffe, he signed a quit claim deed to Ebenezer
Hills of Malden, on property to which she been one of the heirs. (See 16.) He

BRERRES
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swore to his signature to this document, November 24, 1726. November 22, 1721,
“ Joseph Chaffee, of Barrington, in the County of Bristol, in his Majesty’s Province,
in the Massachusetts bay in New England, husbandman, the son of Joseph Chaffee
deceased”” bought of Thomas Tiffany, Sr., of Ashford, Conn., for £42, 10s., one
hundred acres of land there, adjoining the land of Daniel Fuller. In 1722 Joseph
Chaffe was Hog Reeve of Barrington [Barrington Records], his duty being to im-
pound hogs running at large and to execute ordinances as to swine. February
5, 1724, Noah Chaffe of Rehoboth “yeoman” sold to his cousin, Joseph of Bar-
rington, for £22, one-half of three acres of salt marsh in Barrington, *the other
half being my brother Thos. Chaffe’s,” the deed being witnessed by John (16) and
Ebenezer Chaffe (78). Joseph bought the remaining half of this property of
Thomas, May 4, 1730, for £30. In 1725 Joseph Chaffe was again Hog Reeve and
also Constable, and the town allowed him ‘15 shillings” ‘“‘for a house to keep
school in ” [bid.], some building owned by him being used for that purpose. May
9, 1729, he bought of his brother John and Sarah, his wife, for £43, two acres of
salt marsh bounded by the land of “Joseph Chafee Senr. & Joseph Chaffe Junr,”
the river, the creek, the pond and the creek flowing out of it. In this year his
brother John moved to Woodstock, Joseph remaining behind on the homestead,
his aged mother living with him. She did not long survive her elder son’s departure
for his new home, dying the latter part of February, or early in March, 1729-30.
John and Joseph were her executors and they offered the will for probate and gave
bonds March 17, 1729-30, filing their account soon after. By her will Joseph
received about £15 worth of personal estate and half of her share of her husband’s
property, which reverted to their sons at her death. Joseph'’s share of the home-
stead being the ‘‘ North side of the Home lott”” according to the provisions of his
father’s will.

December 18, 1730, he sold to Samuel Allen for £197, 3s., eight and three-quarters
acres and two square rods of upland and salt marsh in Barrington at a place called
Rice’s Neck. December 22, 1730, he bought of Jonathan Hayward of Ashford,
for £250, two hundred acres of land in that place bounded by the land of Jacob
Boutell, James Corbin, Benjamin Read, Robert Serls and the common.

In 1733 appears the last mention of Joseph Chaffe in the Barrington records,
in that year he being Surveyor of Highways. In April, 1733, he was in Woodstock,
probably visiting his brother John, preparatory to settling there himself. On the
5th of that month he bought of John Scarborough of Woodstock for £1,150
four tracts of land; one containing seventy acres, a dwelling house and barn;
the second thirty acres of meadow or mowing land; the third fifteen acres, and the
fourth three acres; ‘“ Always reserving a way through the land for the watering of
flax by the neighbors as there may be occassion with as little disadvantage as may
be.” The same day Joseph Chaffe sold to John Scarborough land in Barrington,
as the following deed shows:

“To all People to whom these Presents shall come, Greeting. Know ye, That
I Joseph Chaffe of Barrington in the County of Bristol in his majesties province
of the Massachusetts Bay in Newengland Husbandman For and in Consideration
of the Sum of Twelve Hundred Pounds Currant money to me in hand before the
Ensealing hereof, well and truly paid by John Scarbrough of Woodstock in the
County of Worcester & province aforesd Husbandman the Receipt whereof I do
hereby acknowledge and my self therewith fully satisfied and contented, and
thereof, and of every Part and Parcel thereof, do exhonerate, acquit and discharge
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him the said John Scarborough his Heirs, Executors and Administrators, for ever
by these Presents: Have given, granted, bargained, sold, aliened, conveyed and
confirmed, and by these Presents do freely, fully, and absolutely given grant,
bargain, sell, aliene, convey and confirm, unto him the said John Scarbro and
unto his Heirs and Assigns for ever, Three Certain Tracts or parcells o':ig Land
situate lying and being in Barrington aforesaid one Tract whereof Contains a
Dwelling house a Barn an out house and by Estimation thirty acres of Land &
saltmarsh be it more or less as it is abutted & bounded viz Northerly & Westerly
on highwayes southerly of land of mr Peleg Heath about 40 Rod from ye highway
to a stake then westerly sd Heaths Land till it meets with the Land of Samuel
Allen then bounds on sd Allens Land till it meets with ye River then Easterly
on sd River to a Pond and then on a Creek to the highway on ye north foremen-
tioned. Also Ten acres more or less of Land Lying west of and adjoyning to the
west mentioned highway bounds south on land on mr Heath aforesd and on
highwayes north & west: Also one other Tract Containing by Estimation fifty
acres be it more or less bounded North on Land of Josiah %-Iumphreys East and
west on highwagoes southerly on Land of Mathew Allen or however otherwise the
said Tracts are bounded or Reputed to be bounded [Reserving four Rod of ground
being a BuryingA%lace in {f first mentioned Tract not to beﬁ)efaced.]

“TO HAVE AND TO HOLD the said granted and bargained Premisses, with
all the Appurtenances, Priviledges and Commodities to tie same belonging, or
in any wise appertaining to him the said John Scarbrough and unto his Heirs and
Assigs for ever, to his and their only proper Use, Benefit and Behoof for ever.

“And I the said Joseph Chaffe for me my Heirs, Executors and Administrators,
do covenant, promise and grant to and with the said John Scarbrough his Heirs
and Assigns, that at and E:afore the Ensealing hereof, I am the true, sole and
lawful Owner of the above bargained Premisses, and am lawfully seized and

ossessed of the same, in my own proper Right, as a good, perfect, and absolute

tate of Inheritance in Fee Simple: And have in myself good Right, full Power,
and lawful Authority, to grant, bargain, sell convey and confirm said bargained
Premisses, in manner as abovesaid. And that the sd John Scarbrough his Heirs
and Assigns, shall and may from Time to Time, and at all Times for ever hereafter
by Force and Virtue of these Presents, lawfully, peaceably and quietly, have,
hold, use occupy, possess and enjoy the said demised and bargained Premisses
with the Appurtenances, free and clear, and freely and clearly acquitted, ex-
onerated and discharged from all and all manner of former or other Gifts, Grants,
Bargains, 'Sales, Leases, Mortgages, Wills, Entails, Joyntures, Dowries, Judg-
ments, Executions, or Incumbrances, of what Name or Nature soever, that might
in any Measure or Degree obstruct or make void this present Deed. Further-
more, I the said Joseph Chaffe for myself my Heirs, Executors, and Administra-
tors, do covenant and engage the above demised Premisses to him the said John
Scarbrough his Heirs and Assigns, against the lawfull Claims or Demands of any
Person or Persons whatsoever, for ever to warrant, secure and defend these Presents.
In witness where of I the sd Joseph Chaffe have hereunto put my hand and seal
the fifth Day of Aprill anno Domini 1733.
“Signd Seald & Delivered
‘ In presence of JosEPH CHAFFE [SEAL]
“Timothy Manning.
“Samll Chandler.
“Worcester ss. Woodstock aprill 5th 1733 Joseph Chaffe ye above named Granter
freely acknowledged this Instrument to be his act & Deed before me.
‘* JoHN CHANDLER Just Pacs

“Recd May 2d 1733 Recorded by Samll Howland Regr.”

[Recorded in Vol. XXIT, p. 15 of the Bristol County, Mass., Land Records, North-
ern District, Taunton, Mass.] : '

Thus the Chaffe homestead, which had been owned by the Chaffes for seventy-
three years, and on which four generations of Chaffes had lived, passed out of the

family, into the hands of strangers; with it also passed what was probably the last
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resting place of Thoma:; Chaffe, the emigrant, of Joseph and Annis, and their
children, Dorothy and Mary, of Abigail (Hills) Chaffe, of Doctor Hezekiah Chaffe
and doubtless others. But the deed contained a proviso that this ‘“ Ancient Chaffe
Burying Ground,” should not be defaced. John Scarborough sold thirty acres
of this property to Samuel Barnes, September 19, 1733. The deed contains the
following:

“The said John Scarborough did reserve out of the above mentioned land
fdo%r czgd”of ground being a burying place in the first mentioned tract not to be

efaced.

Between April 5, and August 5, 1733, Joseph Chaffe settled in Ashford, as on
the latter date his wife, Jemima, was admitted to membership in the First Con-
gregational Church in Woodstock, having been dismissed from the church in
Barrington. Joseph was also an active member of this church.

Some few facts regarding the new home of Joseph Chaffe may be of interest.
The town of Woodstock or, as it was first called, New Roxbury, was settled in the
summer of 1686 by men from Roxbury, Mass., and was a part of the Massachusetts
Bay Colony until 1749, when it became a part of Connecticut. The name was
changed from New Roxbury to Woodstock in the spring of 1690. Joseph Chaffe
settled in the western part of the town.

In 1733 the town arranged to have a schoolhouse built in this part of the town,
and the settlers increasing, West Parish desired to have religious services of its
own for four months of the year at the expense of the whole town. This request,
it was argued, was only fair inasmuch as the western half was obliged to contribute
to the support of the Church on the Hill (in the central part of Woodstock). But
the town refused to assume any of the charges. After trying the experiment for
two winters, the West Parish people found the expense of supporting both ministers
to be too great a burden, and they therefore again asked the help of the town, and
were refused. They still persisted and petitioned that the western half might be
formed into a distinct township. Town meetings were held, and at last permission
was given them to address the General Court in Boston on the subject. But their
petition to the General Court was dismissed. The West Woodstock people insisted
on the formation of a parish where they could worship God in their own fashion,
and not be obliged to aid any church outside of their parish. They were willing
to give up all ideas of & town of their own. This modified request was made to
the town, and to the General Court. The General Court complied by passing an
act in 1743, incorporating the district as “ The West Parish of Woodstock.” The
West Parish was now called by the old name of New Roxbury.. It was also called
the Second Precinct of Woodstock. Thus we see that the same trouble which
caused part of Swansea to be formed into the separate town of Barrington caused
the establishment of West Parish or New Roxbury, and as Joseph Chaffe was
active in demanding his rights in one town, so he was in therother.

This first petition, dated November 2, 1736, was signed by thirty men, of whom
‘Joseph Chaffee” was one. [Larned’s History of Windham County.] April 5, 1743,
another petition was presented and also a further memorial from Joseph Chaffee
and Samuel Chandler. [/bid.] September 15th of that year “the west half part
of Woodstock”” was incorporated into a separate parish and held their first meet-
ing in the schoolhouse, September 27th. [/bid.] At this meeting, Joseph Chaffee
was chosen one of three Assessors and also one of a committee of three for calling
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precinct meetings, in which capacity he signed warrants, November 26, 1743, Feb-
ruary 4, 1743-4, September 10, 1744, and August 18, 1746, for meetings in re-
gard to a minister and a meetinghouse. [Records of the Second Ecclesiastical So-
ciety of Woodstock.] March 12, 1743—4, he was chosen Moderator [1bid.), and it
was voted “To petition the Court to lay a tax for building meeting-house, on un-
improved land—five shillings per acre for five years—Joseph Chaffee to present
petition.” [History of Windham County.] This necessitated a trip to Boston on
the part of Joseph Chaffee. April 13, 1744, he was one of three chosen to secure
supplies for the pulpit. It was found difficult to decide on a spot for the meeting-
house which should be satisfactory to all the inhabitants, so three men from out-
side of the new precinct were asked to pick out a spot. They met March 18, 1744-5,
and Joseph was one of a committee of six chosen to wait on them. The site se-
lected was that of the present Congregational church in West Woodstock. [Hvs-
tory of Windham County.] November 18, 1746, it was agreed to pay Joseph Chaffe
ten shillings a day for work on the meetinghouse. [Records of the Second Ecclestasti-
cal Society of Woodstock.] May 15, 1747, he was again chosen Moderator. [Ibid.]
August 24, 1748, he was chosen one of a committee of two to seek a suitable spot
for a burial-place, he representing the southern part of the town. [Ibid.] March 13,
1749, he was chosen as Assessor and also one of a committee of three to build a
pulpit and “body seats” in the meetinghouse. [/bid.] November 1, 1750, he and
one other were appointed a committee to procure a schoolmaster [/bid.], and
August 30, 1753, one of a similar committee “to take care of setting up a school
in the southeast district of the society. [/bid.]

The first recorded act in Woodstock of Joseph Chaffe was the purchase from
his nephew Joel (77) for £85, of one hundred acres of land in Ashford, March 12,
1733-4. This was his last purchase of land of which we have record, but soon
thereafter he began to give to his sons for their “advancement and settlement
in the world” part of their shares of his estate. The first gift was made to his
eldest son, March 12, 17356, “in Consideration of Love and Goodwill and Effec-
tion which I have and do have towards my loving son Benjamin Chaffee of Ash-
ford.” The property was that which he had bought two years previous of Joel
Chaffee. The next gift was December 31, 1743, to ‘“Joseph Chaffee Jun of Ash-
ford,” one hundred acres of land there, the southerly part of the tract which the
grantor bought in 1730 of Jonathan Hayward. The next son to receive his share
was “Thomas Chaffe of Woodstock Weaver” who received, January 13, 1745-6,
twenty-three acres of land, in Woodstock, valued at £230, on which land he had
already built a dwelling-house. ‘Samuel Chaffe of Woodstock ” received the other
half of the Hayward tract in Ashford, adjoining Joseph, Jr., May 24, 1750. Sep-
tember 26th of the same year James Chaffe received a house and twenty-five acres
of land in the south half of Woodstock, for a nominal consideration of ten shillings,
the property being really a gift. Stephen received sixteen acres of land, also in
the south half of Woodstock, February 17, 1758, and July 4, 1758, Josiah re-
ceived three-fourths of an acre of land in Woodstock, the value being stated as £3.
Whether this was also a nominal consideration or whether the transaction was a
bona fide sale is not clear. Perhaps it was a wedding gift, as Josiah was married
nine days later.

Joseph Chaffe left no will, but the following inventory of his estate was filed,
August 30, 1759, probably soon after his death:
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INVENTORY OF THE ESTATE OF JOSEPH CHAFFE

“An Inventory of the estate of Mr. Joseph Chaffe Late of Woodstock in the
County of Windham Desd Shown to us the Subscribers Appraisers under oath
by Mr. James Chaffe Administrator on said estate, August 30th 1759. Which is
as follows viz. £s8d

The orchard computed to be Two acres and half of Land 20- 0-0

About 20 acres adjoining to ye orchard 90- 0-0

About 12 acres of woodland &c. 48- 0-0

Two acres of medow land by the grate Pond 25— 0-0

A Peace of Land on ye west side of ye way about 24 acres 10- 0-0

* * * * * * * * * *
Mare sheep and cattle '
[Other items, wearing apparel, household and farm utensils etc.]

sum total £233- 6-0
“THoM CHANDLER
‘“ ABEL MaY
“NATHL CHILDS.”

The following agreement of the heirs was signed two months later:

“We the subscribers Children and descendants of Mr. Joseph Chaffe Late of
Woodstock in the County of Windham Desd vizt Benjamin Chafie of Ashford
Eldest son of ye Said Desd, James Chaffe of Woodstock, Joseph Chaffe aforesaid
Samuel Chaffee Josiah Chaffe Stephen Chaffe Joseph Wright & Abigail his Wife
all of Woodstock and all in ye County of Windham and being all desirous to settle
the Real Estate that ye said Desd Left to us in Love and peace and notwithstand-
ing our Late Brother Thomas Chaffe Late of said Woodstock Desd haveing in his
lifetime Recd of our Said Father about six pounds Lawful money more than any
of us Recd of our Said Father in his life time Yet we are hereby willing & Desirous
ye Real Estate Left by our said Father Desd to be Settled to and amongst us in
the following manner and from vizt So Benjamin Chaffe aforesaid one share and
half in leiw of his Double Portion of what is left and no more And to the Heirs
of our Late Thomas Chaffe Desd one single share of what Notwithstanding what
he in his Life Received of said Estate more than any of us And to the said James
Joseph Samuel Stephen and Josiah one single share and to Joseph Wright and
Abigail his wife one single Share making Eight single Shares and in all in all
and as Ebenezer Williams Esq Judge of ye Court of Probate for ye District of
Pomfret has given a Comn To mess Thos Chandler Nathanl Child and Theophilus
Chandler to divide the Estate Left by ye said Joseph Chaffe Desd to us the sub-
scribers and to and amongst us according to the Instructions therein Set Yet we
Dessire ye Said Distributors te Divide ye same according to our minds herein Set
to all which Instructions and Directions herein by us given we bind and oblige us
the Subscribers and Each of us our and Each of our Several & respective heirs in
the Penal sum of Thousand pounds Lawfull money to stand to and abide by ye
aforesaid agreement in witness Whereof we have hereunto set our hands and seals
this Tenth day of October Anno Dom 1759

“Signed Sealed and Delivered JosEPH CHAFFE  [L. 8.]
‘“ In Presence of BENJAMIN CHAFFE [L. 8.]
“Nathel Child JAMES CHAFFE [L. 8.]
“Thos Chandler SAMUEL CHAFFE [L. 8.]

STEPHEN CHAFFE [L. 8.]
JosiaH CHAFFE  [L.8.]
“Windham SS Woodstock Oct. 10th 1759
“Benjamin Chaffe James Chaffe Joseph Chaffe Samuel Chaffe Stephen Chaffe
Josiah Chaffe Joseph Wright and Abigail his wife all Personally appearing freely
acknowledged this Instrument to be their respective act and Deed.
“Coram Thos Chandler Justice Peace.



THIRD GENERATION 51

¢ January ye 1st 1765 then this deed was recd for record and by the Judge ordered
to be recorded and kept on file.”

At a meeting of the Second Precinct, December 11, 1760, it was voted that
‘‘the person who had been the highest or most on the Grand List for the five years
past (except those who have pews) shall have the pew that was Mr. Joseph Chaffe’s,
late of Woodstock deceased. He paying or satisfying the heirs of said Chaffe
therefore.” [Records of the Second Ecclestastical Society.] This is the last mention
in the records of him.

Child, by first wife, born in Swansea:

+90 i Benjamin ¢ Chaffe, born September 11, 1710; married (1) Hannah
Chapman; (2) Priscilla Green.
Children, by second wife:
+91 i Jameé a(‘:{'lha.ﬁe, born about 1713; married (1) Beriah Hayden; (2) Rhoda
y.
+92 iii Abigail Chaffe, born March 5, 1714-15; married Joseph Wright.
+93 iv Thomas Chaffe, born October 18, 1716; married Dorcas Abbot.
+94 v Joseph Chaffe, Jr., married Hannah Gould.
+95 wvi Satmﬁel Clhaﬂ'e, born about 1722; married (1) Susanna Lyon; (2) Mary
owlett.

96 vii Stephen Chaffe, born about 1726; died in Woodstock, February 13
1800, in his seventy-fourth year [entered in an old Bible found
in North Windham, Conn., given by him in 1798 to Chloe Chaffe
(331)]. February 17, 1758, his father gave him thirteen and one-
half acres of land (see above); April 19, 1762, “ Stephen Chaffee of
Woodstock”” sold to his brother Josiah of the same place land
there for £20; February 20, 1767, * Stephen Chaffee yeoman " sold
to Josiah Hammond four acres of land in Woodstock for £3; the
records of the Baptist Church, the First Society of Woodstock,
December 12, 1785, show that a vote was passed that Stephen
Chaffee dig the graves for the Society for the ensuing year; July
7, 1797, he sold to his niece, Chloe Chaffee, two acres of land in
Woodstock for £6; he sold other pieces of land there; his will, here
given, indicates that he was unmarried.

“In the name of God Amen I Stephen Chaffe of Woodstock in
Windham County on this 16th Day of October 1799 beinf advanced
in age & under ily infirmity but have reason to bless God, I
enjoy my reason & a sound, g(i:rosin mind & memory & calhtgg
to mind the mortality of my body & knowing that it is appoin
for all men once to die.

“J do now make & ordain this my last will & testament &

rencepally & first of all I give and recommend my soul into the
gn.nds of Almighty God, who gave it & as for my body I recommend
it to the eartﬁ to be buried in a christian like and decent burial

- whenever it shall please God to put an end to my life in this world
wholly trusting in the rich mercy of God thro, Christ, that at the
Gen’l resurcetion, when my soul and body shall be reunited I
shall have a remembrance among the just And as touching such
worldly estate as it hath pleased God to bless me with in this life
1 give devise & dispose there of in the following manner and form
viz It is my will that in the first place all my Just debts & funeral
cha.rfes be paid & satisfied out of my estate.

“Item I give and bequeath to Corbin [Calvin] Chaffe son to
my brother James Chaffe ten pounds to be paid to him by my
Execrs after my decease.

“Item I give and bequeath to Saml Chaffe son to my brother
8amuel Chaffe decd my bed and furniture, also my great coat.
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“Ttem I give and bequeath unto my neice Chloe Chaffe daughter
to my brotiler Josiah Chaffe ten pounds to be paid her by my
Exer out of my estate also the exclusive right of my pair trees.

*“And all the rest and remainder of my estate it is my will that
it be divided in equal shares (viz) to my sister Abagail, my brother
Josiah, the surviving children of my brother James decd which he
had by his first wife, The heirs of my brother Thomas Decc & the
heirs of my brother Josh decd & the heirs of my brother Saml deed
making Six Shares.

“And I do hereby make, ordain & constitute Dr. Jesse Bolles
of Woodstock sole Executor to this my last will & testament, who
is also hereby fully empowered and directed to make sale of my
estate, real & personal to the best advantage for my heirs, & give
a good title to the purchaser or purchasers, cheerfully confiding
in%lis care and faithfulness to fulfill & execute the same in every
part hereby disallowing & disannulling all other or former wills,
testaments & legacies, ratifying this and no other to be and contain
my last will & testament

“Signed, sealed, published, pronounced & declared by the sd
Stephen Chaffe to be and contain his last will & testament
““in presence of us STEPHEN CHAFFE [L. 8.]
“Wm Hammond
“JIsaac Hibbard
“Christina Smith ”’

May 5, 1801 the executor reports, “I sold the whole of the real &
personal estate of Stephen Chaffa at the Inventory prices at private
sale (except bed & coverlid & sheets given to Saml Chaffa) to
his brother Josiah Chaffee & to Chloe Chaffee,” for $250, May 4,
1801; Josiah was the principal creditor of the estate.

+97 viii Josiah Chaffe, born September 1, 1731; married Sarah Cady.
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31 Rachel  Ohaffe (Thomas,’ Nathaniel,? Thomas!) was born in Rehoboth,
Mass., November 1, 1698, and died there February 8, 1762. She married in Re-
hoboth, May 12, 1726, John Sweeting, who died January 25, 1762.

Children, born in Rehoboth:

98 i John ® Sweeting, Jr., born February 16, 1726-7.

99 ii Lewis Sweeting, born January 27, 1727-8.

100 iii Molly Sweeting, born April 24, 1729; married her cousin, Timothy ¢
Carpenter, Jr., (61) (Experience 3 Chaffe, Nathaniel,> Thomas1),
gom in ReGhoboth, October 24, 1721. [For further descendants, see

enter .

101 iv Rachel Sweeting, a twin, born April 24, 1729; married Charles Peck.
[For further descendants see 428 and Peck Genealogy.]

102 v Thomas Sweeting, born November 9, 1732.

103 vi Susannah Sweeting, born April 15, 1735; married Joseph Bliss.

32 Mehitabel  Chaffe (Thomas,® Nathaniel,? Thomas 1) was born in Rehoboth,
Mass., November 23, 1700, and died. She married there, December 31, 1724,
Dan, son of Richard and Patience Bowen. He was born in Rehoboth, November 26,
1694.

Children, born in Rehoboth:

104 i Mehiéabel ¢ Bowen, born August 22, 1725; married, March 28, 1755, Caleb

arT.

105 ii Charles Bowen, born November 18, 1728.

106 iii Esther Bowen, born September 14, 1730 (?).

107  iv Huldah Bowen, born February 21, 1733-4; married September 24, 1756,
Nathaniel Green.

108 v Zerviah Bowen, born May 16, 1736; died June 10, 1736.

109 vi Amos Bowen, a twin, born May 16, 1736; died June 6, 1736.

110 vii Ruth Bowen, born August 20, 1737; died August 22, 1737.

33 Amos ¢ Chafle (Thomas,® Nathaniel,? Thomas!) was born in Rehoboth,
Mass., July 17, 1702, and died there, May 11, 1736. He married in ‘Rehoboth,
May 12, 1726, Freelove, daughter of Samuel and Patience (Ide) Carpenter. She
was born there, December 31, 1706, and married (2) in Rehoboth, January 27,
1742, Samuel Mason. She united with the First Congregational Church there,
January 9, 1731-2.

No mention of Amos is found in the records regarding transfers of land or ac-
tivity in town affairs. He died intestate, and his widow was appointed adminis-
tratrix, August 17, 1736, her bond being signed by Samuel Mason and Noah New-
man; the inventory had been taken the previous day, and the estate amounted to
£149, 11s8. 9d. July 7, 1747, Samuel Mason was appointed guardian to his step-
daughters, Lillis and “Unis” Chaffe. February 14, 1757, Samuel and Freelove
Mason sold for £5, to ““ Lillis Chaffe, Unis Chaffe and Freelove, wife of Eliphalet
Carpenter, all right in the dower set off to Freelove Mason from the estate of her
late husband, Amos Chaffe, also one-quarter part of the share of her daughter
Experience in the same estate, also all right in the land given to Lillis, Unis and
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Freelove, May 27, 1737, by their grandfather, Thomas Chaffe (5), part of it near
Broken Cross in Rehoboth, and part salt marsh at a place called the “Tounge”
in Warren, R. I. Experience must have died after her father, as she received a
share of his estate, and before her grandfather’s gift, as she was not mentioned
in his deed to “my grandchildren the heirs of my son Amos Chaffe.” Nicholas
must also have died young, as he was not baptized July 2, 1732, as were all the
other children of Amos then living. :
Amos Chaffe was buried in the old burying-ground in Rehoboth (now in the
village of Rumford, East Providence, R. I.).
Children, the first three known to have been born in Rehoboth:
+111 i Freelove ® Chaffe, married Eliphalet Carpenter.
112 ii Nicholas Chaffe, born November 13, 1728; died before July 2, 1732.
113 iii Experience Chaffe, born January 25, 1729-30; died between May 11,
1736, and May 15, 1737; baptized in the First Congregational
Church in Rehoboth, July 2, 1732.
114 iv Lillis Chaffe, born early in 1732; died November 24, 1762, in her thirty-
first year; unmarried; baptized in the First Congregational Church
of Rehoboth, July 2, 1732.
115 v Eunice (Unis) Chaffe, born probably about 1734; died; married in
Rehoboth, March 3, 1764, Nathaniel Humphrey of Warren; she

was baptized in the First Congregational Church in Rehoboth,
June 22, 1735.

84 Experience ¢ Chaffe (Thomas,’ Nathaniel,? Thomas!) was born in Reho-
both, Mass., July 1, 1705, and died there in August, 1729. She married in Reho-
both, November 7, 1728, Jonathan Ormsbee.

Child:

116 i Jonathan® Ormsbee, Jr., born in Rehoboth, August 21, 1729; died there
February 5, 1729-30.

35 Tabitha ¢ Ohaffe (Thomas,® Nathaniel,2 Thomas 1) was born in Rehoboth,
Mass., September 11, 1709, and died. She married there, December 20, 1733,
Aaron, son of James and Mercy (Cooper) Read. He was born in Rehoboth,
April 10, 1710.

Children, born in Rehoboth:

117 i Aaron® Read, Jr., born November 14, 1734; married Hannah Carpenter.
118 ii Susanna Read, born October 29, 1737.

119 iii Jonathan Read, born August 23, 1739.

120 iv Simeon Read, born June 7, 1743; married Elizabeth
121 v Amos Read, born April 27, 1745.

For further descendants, see The History of the Reed Family by Jacob W. Reed.

36 Thomas * Chaffe, Jr. (Thomas,3 Nathaniel,? Thomas!) was born in Reho-
both, Mass., December 10, 1712, and died before March 27, 1792. He married
there, April 19, 1739, Rebecca, daughter of Nathaniel Hunt, their intention of
marriage, entered in Rehoboth, being dated May 27, 1738.

Thomas Chaffe, Jr., was baptized and admitted to the First Congregational
Church in Rehoboth, June 13, 1736. He lived in that town, where he was chosen
“Hogg Driver” March 30, 1741, and June 5, 1749, Constable. August 9, 1748,
Rebecca, wife of Thomas Chaffe, Jr., husbandman, of Rehoboth, and others, sold
to Simeon Horton a quitclaim on real estate of Stephen Hunt of Rehoboth, for
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£93, 68. 8d. October 14, 1754, Thomas and Rebecca sold to Allen Jacob, ten acres

of land in Rehoboth, adjoining the land of Amos Chaffe’s heirs, for £20. At a

town meeting, May 18, 1757, Thomas was chosen to serve as Petit Juryman.

““ A Muster Role of the Company in his Majestie’s Service under the Command
of Obediah Read, Captain, that marched from Rehoboth on the Late Alarm for
the Relieff of Fort William Henry the Seventeenth Day of August 1757 and marched
to Worcester where they ware Dismised which is at Least fourty five miles from
their Habitations and according to their Orders Caryed with them Ten Days
Provision for their Subsistance and Took up nothing upon the Province charge
of any Tavernour or other person.”

In this muster roll, appears the name of “Thomas Chaffe, Quality, Private
Soldier, Time of Entering the service Aug. 16th. Whole time of service by mils,
travil, etc. 7 days, wages and subsistance due to each man 0£ 18s 8d.”

December 28, 1762, Thomas Chaffe bought of his cousin, Timothy Carpenter
(61), for £200, all his title in the estate of John Sweeten [Sweeting], late of Reho-
both. An account of the subscriptions in the first military company in Rehoboth,
taken in October, 1774, for the poor in Boston, shows that Thomas Chaffe con-
tributed one sheep. He served in the Revolution as follows: ‘“Chaffee, Thomas.
Private, Capt. Nathaniel Carpenter’s co., Col. Thomas Carpenter’s regt.; service
from July 20, 1777, 1 mo. 5 days, at Rhode Island, including travel on march to
camp at Bristol and from Providence to Rehoboth.” [Massachusetts Soldiers and
Sailors in the War of the Revolution.]

October 21, 1779, “Thomas Chaffe, husbandman, of Rehoboth,” bought of
Benjamin Pearce, innholder, of Swansea, Mass., ninety-six and three-fourths acres
and twenty rods of land there, at the same time selling, with the consent of his
wife, to Benjamin Pearce, eighty acres of land in Rehoboth. The next mention
of him in the records, May 5, 1783, shows him to be then living in Swansea and
insane.

His sons, Amos Chafee and Thomas Chafee, Jr., were “empowered to Act as
Guardians for there Honoured Father . . . the said Thomas Chafee of Swan-
sey non compus mentus.” December 9, 1784, in their capacity as guardians,
they sold the land their father purchased in Swansea in 1779, to Nathan Monroe,
Esq., of Rehoboth, for £261, 11s. 3d. October 21, 1793, Rebecca Chaffe, “spin-
ster,” [in those days the word meant either a single woman or a widow] of Swansea,
sold to Allen Jacob of Rehoboth, for £15, all right in the land divided to her from
the estate of her father Nathaniel Hunt. April 4, 1795, “Rebeckah’ Chaffe,
widow of Thomas Chaffe of Swansea, sold to Nathaniel Wheaton of Rehoboth,
for £15, fifteen acres of land there.

Children, born in Rehoboth:

122 i Amos® Chaffe, died young.

123  ii Anne (Ame) Chaffe, baptized in the First Congregational Church,

Rehoboth, May 10, 1741.
124 iii Archibald Chaffe, born April 11, 1743; baptized in the First Congre-
ational Church, Rehoboth, April 17, 1743.
4125  iv Charles Chaffe, born June 5, 1744; married Mrs. Mary (Peck) Jacob.
126 v Rhoda Chaffe, born May 11, 1746; died in Rehoboth, May 31, 1746.
127  vi Joel Chaffe, born April 11, 1747; baptized in the First Congregational
Church, Rehoboth, May 31, 1747. '

128 vii Rhoda Chaffe, born January 6, 1748-9; died in Providence, R. 1.,
February 11, 1786; baptized in the First Congregational Church,
Rehoboth, May 21, 1749.
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+129 viii Amos Chaffe, born December 11, 1750; married Sarah Munroe.

4130 ix Joseph Chaffe, born September 17, 1752; married (1) Lois Barney;
(2) Huldah Walker.

+131 x Thomas Chaffe, Jr., born March 9, 1755; married Hannah Munroe.

4132 xi Stephen Chaffe, probably born about 1757; married Patience Mason.

88 Jonathan 4 Chaffe, Jr. (Jonathan,® Nathaniel,? Thomas!) was born in Re-
hoboth, Mass., June 25, 1704, and died February 9, 1785. He was married in
Ashford, Conn., June 1, 1727, by Reverend James Hale, to Abigail Lyon, who
died January 9, 1773. She was admitted to full communion with the First Congre-
gational Church of Ashford, August 5, 1733.

Jonathan Chaffee, Jr., was baptized and admitted to the First Congregational
Church of Rehoboth, June 6, 1725. In 1726, his father gave him ‘‘for love, good
will and affection”” one hundred acres of land in Ashford, where he settled. The
following entry regarding him is from the records of the First Congregational
Church there, under the date, February 23, 1729:

“And said Jonathan Chaffe was sometime or other recommended to us by a
letter from the Rev. Mr. Greenhood pastor of The Church of Christ in Rehoboth,
and is of this church in full communion with us.”

Children, born in Ashford:

133 i Jonathan ® Chaffe, Jr., born April 21, 1728; died in Ashford, April 21,

1728.
4134  ii Josiah Chaffe, born February 10, 1728-9; married Elizabeth Dimmock.
+135 iii Thomas Chaffe, born April 8, 1731; married Hannah Reed.
+136 iv Hannah Chaffe, born November 28, 1733 ; married Shubael Reed.
+137 v William Chaffe, born July 30, 1736; married Anna Bibbins.
138  vi Susannah Chaffe, born Segt.ember 10, 1738; died; baptized in the
First Congregational Church, Ashford, October 22, 1738.
139 vii Abigail Chaffe, born December 17, 1740; died.
140 viii Deliverance Chaffe, born February 7, 1742-3; died; baptized in the
First Congregational Church, Ashford, May 22, 1743.
+141 ix Jonathan Chaffe, Jr., born May 11, 1746; married Lucy Allen.
4142  x Carpenter Chaffe, born January 25, 1749-50; died April 20, 1776;
served in the Revolution as follows:
“Chafee, Carpenter, Stockbridge. Private, Capt. Thomas
Williams’s co. of Minutemen, Col. John Paterson’s regt., which
marched April 22, 1775, in response to the alarm of April 19,
1775, from Stockbridge and West Stockbridge to Cambridge;
service, 13 days.” [Massachusetts Soldiers and Sailors in the War
of the Revolution.)

39 Nathaniel 4 Ohaffe (Jonathan, Nathaniel,? Thomas!) was born in Reho-
both, Mass., October 20, 1705, and died there, June 12, 1759. He married (1) in
Rehoboth, December 12, 1734, Rebecca Mason, who died April 22, 1746, in her
thirty-sixth year. He married (2) there, February 25, 1747, Lydia Peck, who
survived him, and married (2) January 13, 1763, Thomas Wilmarth of Rehoboth.

Nathaniel Chaffe was a mason. April 30, 1731, his father gave him “in consider-
ation of love, good will & affection” ten acres of land “being the Easterly side of
my farm or home lott.”” December 21, 1733, he bought of Samuel Mason, three
acres of salt marsh in Barrington, Mass. At a town meeting in Rehoboth, March 31,
1740, he was chosen Surveyor of Timber, and March 29, 1742, a “ Hogg Driver.”
April 28, 1751, he was admitted to the First Congregational Church of Rehoboth
and had his children baptized. June 18, 1759, his widow, Lydia, surrendered her
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right of administration of his estate to her son, Nathaniel, and June 25, 1759, the
real and personal estate was divided among the heirs, the widow and sons, Na-
thaniel, John, Levi and Noah. The eldest son, Nathaniel, was appointed guardian
to his two youngest brothers, Levi and Noah.

Children, by first wife, born in Rehoboth:

+143 i Nathaniel * Chaffe, born October 6, 1735; married (1) Ruth Mans-
field; (2) Susanna Carpenter.
+144 ii John Chaffe, born June 20, 1737; married Ruth Jones.
145 iii NoaliSCh%gg'- E§>om February 2, 1738-9; died in Rehoboth, February
, 1 .
4146 iv Levi Chaffe, born September 10, 1742; married Anna Pierce.
147 v Ezra Chaffe, born October 20, 1744; died September 2, 1746.
+148 vi Noah Chaffe, born February 22, 1745-6; married Susanna Esterbrook.

40 Hannah * Ohaffe (Jonathan,® Nathaniel,2 Thomas 1) was born in Rehoboth,
Mass., October 3, 1707, and died. She married there, May 27, 1729, Joseph As-
mington, who came from the Island of Guernsey, England, arriving in Boston in
1718, and later settling in Seekonk, where he made brick. Hannah Chaffe was
baptized in the First Congregational Church of Rehoboth, April 17, 1709.

Children, born in Rehoboth:

149 i Nicholas® Armington, born January 12, 1729-30; died in Rehoboth,
January 28, 1729-30 (1730-31).

150 i Jou;;l; ?;Tgngton, Jr., born June 4, 1731; died in Rehoboth, August

151  iii Josiah Armington, born July 28, 1733; died in Rehoboth, May 13, 1736.

152  iv John Armington, born June 12, 1735.

153 v Deliverance Armington, born October 24, 1737; died in Rehoboth,
August 28, 1746.

154 vi Susagml\m%rmington, born January 9, 1739; died in Rehoboth, January

155 vii Hannah Armington, born April 20, 1742.

156 viii Josiah Armington, born April 4, 1744.

157 ix William Armington, born November 22, 1746.

41 Dan* Ohaffe (Jonathan,® Nathaniel,? Thomas!) was born in Rehoboth,
Mass., February 6, 1710-11, and died probably in the autumn of 1796. He married
in Rehoboth, November 9, 1736, Mary, daughter of John Robinson. She died
before December 10, 1790, as in her husband’s will of that date she is not mentioned.

Dan Chaffe was baptized in the First Congregational Church of Rehoboth in
infancy, and was admitted to membership in the same church, October 8, 1727,
July 29, 1739, his father gave him fifteen acres of land in Rehoboth. At a town
meeting in Rehoboth, May 19, 1747, * Dan Chaffe was drawn out of the Box to
serve on the petition Jury Next Inferiour Court for the County of Bristol to be
holden at Taunton on the Second Tuesday of June next.” December 31, 1747,
he bought of Timothy Carpenter for £50, two acres of land in Rehoboth. Jan-
uary 3, 1753, Mary (Robinson) Chaffe and others, sold to Daniel Carpenter, for
£100, thirty acres of land in Rehoboth, being the homestead of John Robinson,
late father of the grantors. January 5, 1753, Dan Chaffe, ‘ husbandman,”” bought
of Charles Peck for £31, two acres of land in Rehoboth. January 15, 1753, he
bought of John Whitaker, Jr., for £5, two acres more there at the same time,
selling for the same amount to said Whitaker, a like quantity of land. December 2,
1755, he was chosen to serve on the Petit Jury. December 4, 1760, Dan Chaffe,
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“yeoman” sold for £50, to John Thurber, Jr., ten acres of land in Rehoboth.
The same day, he bought for £90, of John Bowen, Jr., thirty-eight and one-half
acres there. January 1, 1761, Dan and his wife sold to Amos Allen, housewright,
of Providence, R. I., eighteen acres of land in Rehoboth for £40, 10s. Novem-
ber 10, 1766, he was again chosen Petit Juryman. August 18, 1769 he bought
of Silvanus Martin, ten acres of land in Rehoboth, for £6, 12s.

The will of Dan Chaffe, dated December 10, 1790, leaves to his three sons,
William, Jonathan and Braddock, all his lands, buildings, etc. Also to ““Rachel
Chaffee, widow of my son Robinson deceased’ beside other bequests, 5s., “to
be paid by my three sons,” who were also to pay £9 to Sylvester, son of Robinson,
when he reached the age of twenty-one. The son Jonathan was made executor
of the will, which was probated November 1, 1796.

Children, born in Rehoboth:

+158 i William ® Chaffe, born August 15, 1737; married Catherine Thomas.
159  ii Dan Chaffe, Jr., born March 16, 1739-40; died in Rehoboth, August
24, 1746; baptized in the First Congregational Church, Rehoboth,
March 23, 1739.
+160 iii Jonathan Chaffe, born October 16, 1742; married Mary Coomer.
161 iv Robinson Chaffe, born February 16, 1744-5; died August 29, 1746;
baptized in the First Congregational Church, Rehoboth, February
17, 1745.
162 v Dan Chaffe, Jr., born September 17, 1747; probably died before 1790;
baptized in the First Congregational Church, Rehoboth, Sep-
tember 20, 1747.
+163 vi Robinson Chaffe, born April 13, 1750; married Rachel Peck.
164 vii Judith Chaffe, born October 30, 1753; probably died before 1790;
bgpti;;;i in the First Congregational Church, Rehoboth, January
13, 1754.
+165 viii Braddock Chaffe, born November 1, 1756; married Sarah Brown.

44 Ephraim ¢ Chaffe (Jonathan,® Nathaniel,? Thomas!) was born in Reho-
both, Mass., January 25, 1715-16, and died there, June 9, 1790. He married (1)
December 15, 1742, Patience, daughter of Samuel and Patience Butterworth of
Rehoboth. She died May 16, 1743, aged twenty years, and he married (2) in
Rehoboth, June 2, 1750, her sister Hannah Butterworth, who died September 5,
1807, aged seventy-eight. The ancestor of Patience and Hannah, Deacon John
Butterworth, was expelled from Rehoboth in the early days of that town because
of his Baptist proclivities. In his house was held the first Baptist service held in
the Massachusetts Bay Colony. He owned all that part of Rehoboth, known .as
Chestnut Hill, later called Seekonk.

Ephraim Chaffe was a farmer in Rehoboth. He is designated in the records as
“yeoman” and ‘“husbandman.” He was admitted to membership in the First
Congregational Church of Rehoboth, June 13, 1736. March 21, 1742-3, he was
appointed guardian of his wife, Patience, her father having recently died and she
being a minor. The bond for £400, for the faithful performance of his duties was
signed by Ephraim, Jonathan (8) and Nathaniel Chaffe (39), and witnessed by
Stephen Paine and Josiah Howland. December 5, 1747, he was chosen by his
cousin, Shubael Chaffe (74), as his guardian, and April 4, 1751, he sold to him for
£26, 13s. 4d., five parcels of land in Rehoboth, containing twenty acres. Oc-
tober 28, 1731, he and his wife Hannah sold to Daniel Bliss of Rehoboth, for £150,
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one hundred acres of land “belonging to said Hannah, the only surviving issue of
Samuel Butterworth.” L

Ephraim Chaffe was chosen for his first town office, that of Constable, March 25,
1754. He was chosen for the same office, March 29, 1756, and March 28, 1757.
January 18, 1762, he bought of Edward Carpenter of Rehoboth, four acres of land
there, for £9. August 3, 1762, his nephew, Noah Chaffe (148), chose him to be his
guardian. May 4, 1765, Ephraim and his wife sold for £200, forty-four acres on
Chestnut Hill in Rehoboth, to ‘ Patience Butterworth, our mother, widow of Sam-
uel Butterworth, of Rehoboth.” December 15, 1766, Ephraim and his sons,
Samuel B. and Ephraim, Jr., bought of Joseph Wheaton of New Milford, Conn.,
for £36, 15s., twelve acres of land in Rehoboth near Chestnut Hill. March 27,
1769, he was chosen Surveyor of Highways. March 29, 1770, he bought of Ed-
ward Martin, Jr., six and one-fourth acres of land with buildings, on the east side
of Chestnut Hill, for £33. April 3, 1771, he bought four and one-half acres more
on Chestnut Hill, from Ezekiel Carpenter for £21. June 7, 1773, he bought for
£30, 1s., from Rachel Goff of Johnston, R. 1., seven and three-fourths acres of
land in Rehoboth. This ends his recorded purchases of land. March 24, 1778, he
sold to ‘“Salvanus’ Martin, for £135, ten acres of wood and pasture land on the
easterly side of Chestnut Hill. May 21, 1781, he sold six acres for £54. Four days
later, May 25th he made his will, which was probated September 6, 1790. The
legatees were his wife, Hannah (Butterworth) Chaffe, who was made executrix and
received the largest part of the estate, and his children, Patience, wife of Samuel
Bowen, Samuel Butterworth Chaffe, Ephraim, Jr., Hannah, Sarah and Rachel,
who received twenty shillings each. The document was witnessed by Barzilla
and Lydia Bowen and Jesse Perrin.

Children, by second wife, born in Rehoboth:
+166 i Patience ® Chaffe, born November 9, 1752; married Samuel Bowen.
+167 ii Samuel Butterworth Chaffe, born December 19, 1756; married Mrs.

Nancy (Peirce) Peck.

+168 iii Ephraim Chaffe, Jr., born April 25, 1760; married Elizabeth Whitaker.

169 iv Hannah Chaffe, born December 14, 1762; died after 1781.

170 v Sarah Chaffe, born May 19, 1765; died after 1781.

171 vi Rachel Chaffe, born August 25, 1768; died; probably married in Re-
hoboth, January 6, 1788, Benjamin Ormsbee of that place.

60 David ¢ Chaffe, Jr. (David,® Nathaniel,? Thomas !) was born in Rehoboth,
Mass., February 27, 1708-9, and died in Westford, Ashford Township, Conn.,
February 19, 1784. He married in Rehoboth, April 4, 1733—4, Martha, daughter
of Ebenezer Walker of that place. She was born July 20, 1714, and died in West-
ford, September 20, 1820.

David Chafee, Jr., was baptized and admitted to membership in the First Con-
gregational Church in Rehoboth, September 3, 1732, and May 2, 1736, his wife
also joined the church. They lived in Attleboro, Mass., where their first six chil-
dren were born. January 5, 1736, “David Chaffe, yeoman” and wife Martha of
Attleboro, for £85, sold to Ebenezer Walker, blacksmith, “Our brother” sixteen
acres of land in Rehoboth, being the said Martha’s share in the estate of her father,
Ebenezer Walker. November 21, 1736, they sold to Jonathan Robinson, for £14,
one acre of salt marsh in Barrington, Mass., being ‘“ye } part of ye meadow of our
father Ebenezer Walker.” December 28, 1747, “David Chaffe, husbandman, of
Attleborough” sold to Alexander More of that place for £640, old tenor bills,
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sixty acres of land in “the township of Attleborough.” 1In 1748 he was still living
in Attleboro, when he bought of Joseph Byles one hundred acres of land in Ashford.
Between this date and the winter of 1749-50, he moved there with his family,
and in 1750 received from his father “for love good will and fatherly affection”
thirty acres more there. He was elected Lister in 1763, and also twice in 1764.
January 8, 1769, David Chafee and his wife were dismissed to the Second Church
in Ashford, in which town he was buried.
His will made in 1783 was probated the following year:

WILL OF DAVID CHAFEE

“In the name of God, amen.

“The 19th Day of May, in the year of our Lord Anno Dom. 1783.

“T David Chafee of Ashford in the county of Windham, and State of Connecticut
in Newengland, being weak in body, but of sound mind and memory thanks be

iven to God for the same, and calling to mind the mortality of my body and
owing that it is appointed for all men once to die, do make and ordain this my
last Will & Tesstament, that is to say, Principally and first of All,

“I ﬁive and reccomend my Soul into the hand of God who gave it, and for my
Body I reccomend it to the earth to be buried in Christian-like & decent Manner
at the discresion of my executor to be hereafter named, nothing doubting but at
tGh:d general Resurrection I shall receive the same again by the mighty power of

“ And as touching such worldly estate as it hath pleased God to bless me in this
life, I give devise & dispose of the same in manner and form following, that is to
say—I give and bequeath to my well-beloved wife Martha Chafee, the use and
improvement of all the lands that I have not disposed of by deed, together with
the use and improvement of forty-three acres of land I have this day conveyed
by deed of bargain and sale to my Son David Chafee Junr which land is leases to
me the said David Chafee, by the said David Chafee Junr during my natural life,
and the natural life of the said Martha. I also give to my said wife Martha Chafee,
the use and improvement of my dwelling house and all my household furniture,
together with the lands above mentioned during the natural life of the said Martha.
I also give to my said wife Martha the use and improvement of one cow and a
suitable horse to ride when and so often as she the said Martha shall want or
require the same to be furnished by my said Executor.

“Item I give and bequeath to my beloved Son David Chafee Jun all the lands
1 shall die seized, of an buildin%s1 thereon standing, to him his heirs and assigns
after the decd of my said wife Martha.

“Item I give and bequeath to my well-beloved daughter Martha Tyler twenty-
four Shillings Silver Money, to be paid to the said Martha, within one year after
my dece by my Executor.

“Item I give and ueath to my well-beloved daughter Patience Amidon
twenty shillings Silver Money, to be paid to the said Patience, within one year
after my decee by my Executor.

“Item I give and bequeath to my well-beloved daughter Joanna Whiton
twelve shillings Silver Money, to be paid to the said Joanna within one year after
my decee by my Executor.

“Item I give and bequeath to my well-beloved daughter Elizabeth Brown
twelve Shillings Silver Money, to be paid to the said Elizabeth within one year
after my dece by my Executor.

“Item I give and bequeath to my well-beloved daughter Dorathy Knox twelve
Shillings Silver Money, to be paid to the said Dorathy within one year after my
decee by my Executor.

“Item I give and bequeath to my well-beloved daughter Ama Smith twelve
Shillings Silver Money, to be paid to the Said Ama within one year after my decee
by my Executors.
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“I give and bequeath to my sd daughters above mentioned all my household
furniture that may or shall be left and remaining after the death of my Said wife
hlil:srtiha’ to be equally divided and distributed to each of them respectively. And

tly,

“I do hereby make, ordain constitute, and appoint my said Son David Chafee
Junr my only and sole Executor to this my last will and testament, and if any
of my estate is not hereby disposed of I give and bequeath the same to my said
Executor—Ratifying and confirming this and no other to be my last will and
testament. In Witness whereof I have hereunto set my hand and Seal the day
and year first above written
“‘Signed Sealed published and
¢ pronounced by Davip CHAFEE [SEAL]

“‘ the said David Chafee to be
““his last will & testament
““in presence of us the Subscribers

“N. B. The words&buildings standing thereon between the 24 & 25 lines from
the top & the Word Patience between the 28th & 29th lines from the top were
interlined before signing
‘ Ebenezer Walker
“Timothy Perin
‘‘Simeon Smith
“Windham County S. S. Ashford 25th Feb A. D. 1784.

“ Personally appeared Capt Ebenezer Walker & Capt Simeon Smith two of the
witnesses of t{e above within and foregoing will and testament of Mr. David Chafee
late of Ashford decee and made solemn oath that they saw and heard the above
sd testator sign and seal publish pronounce and declare, the same to be his last
will and testament, and that they then took the testator to be of sound and dis-
posing mind and memory, that they each of them signed as witnesses, in the
presence of the sd testator, and that Capt Timothy Perin the other witness signed
as a witness at the same time in their presence and in the presence of the testator.

‘“ Sworn before me
“ ELLiAH WHITON
‘ Justice of the peace.

““At a Probate Court holden at Pomfret in the district of Promfret on the 9th
day of March A. D. 1784. present Charles Church Chandler Esqr Judge the within
wﬂ’; was presented by the executor David Chafee accepted the trust therein r:é)osed
in him & gave bonds according to law, & the sd will is by this Court proved, ap-
proved, and allowed of, & ordered to be recorded and kept on file—

“ Attest Lem. Grosvenor Clerk Probate.”

[Pomfret, Conn., Probate Records, Book V, p. 44.]

Children, the first six born in Attleboro, the rest in Ashford:

+172 i David ® Chafee, Jr., born October 28, 1733; married Priscilla Robbins.
173  ii Martha Chafee, born about 1735, died in infancy; baptized by “Mr.
Welde [minister of the First Church of Rehoboth] at the house
of Isriel Perry.”
174  iii Martha Chafee, born April 27, 1737; died; married in 1757, Job Tyler;
she was baptized in the First Congregational Church, Rehoboth,
June 12, 1737.
175 iv Dorothy Chafee, born January 22, 1739-40; died in Ashford, October
10, 1755; baptized in the First Congregational Church, Rehoboth,
March 23, 1739-40.
4176 v Patience Chafee, born January 16, 1742-3; married Joseph Amidon.
177  vi Abner Chafee, born Scptember 14, 1746; died in Ashford, September
18, 1755; baptized in the First Congregational Church, Rehoboth,
November 24, 1746.
178 vii Johanna Chafee, born January 3, 1749-50; died; married in Ashford,
October 4, 1770, Joseph Whiton, Jr.; she was baptized there
May 23, 1750.
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179 viii Elizabeth Chafee, born April 11, 1753; died ; married Brown.

180 ix Dorothy Chafee, born January 11, 1756; died; married in Ashford,
Il‘égvember 27, 1777, by Reverend James Messinger, to Adam

0X.

181 x Ama (Anna) Chafee, born September 2, 1759; died; married
Smith; she was baptized at her father’s house in Ashford, by Mr.
Allns, November 23, 1759.

182 xi Sarah Chafee, born July 10, 1763; probably died before 1783, as her
father’s will, made that year, makes no mention of her.

51 Elizabeth * Ohaffe (David,® Nathaniel,? Thomas!) was born in Rehoboth,
Mass., March 21, 1710-11, and died January 15, 1761. She married, February 28,
1733-4, Ichabod, son of David and Elizabeth (Bosworth) Read of Rehoboth.
He was born there, October 8, 1708. After Elizabeth Chaffe’s death, he married
(2) Elizabeth Robinson, by whom he had four children. Elizabeth Chaffee was
baptized and admitted to the First Congregational Church of Rehoboth, May 14,
1732. After her marriage, she lived in Attleboro, Mass., where she was buried.

Children, born in Attleboro:

183 i Ichabod ® Read, Jr., born January 15, 1735; died young.

184 ii Patience Read, born August 2, 1737. '

185 iii Amos Read, born May 1, 1739; married Mary Ide.

186 iv Daniel Read. born August 12, 1743,

187 v Olive Read, born April 11, 1746.

188 vi Ichabod Read, Jr., born March 2, 1750.

189 vii Jonathan Read, born August 8, 1752; married Dorothy Blake.

For further descendants see History of the Reed Family, by Jacob W. Reed.

62 Patience * Ohaffe (David,® Nathaniel,? Thomas!) was born in Rehoboth,
Mass., April 14, 1713, and died there, August 20, 1756. She married, February 28,
1733-4, Samuel, son of Nathaniel and Elizabeth (French) Read. He was born in
Rehoboth, August 12, 1710, and lived there. Patience Chaffe was baptized in the
First Congregational Church of Rehoboth, August 12, 1733. She continued to
live in that town after her marriage.

Children, born in Rehoboth:

190 i Nathaniel ®* Read, born May 31, 1735; married Huldah Carpenter.

191 ii Samuel Read, Jr., born October 11, 1736.
192  iii Mary Read, born February 13, 1738.

193 iv David Read, born October 5, 1742; married
194 v Jesse Read, born July 8, 1744; married Esther Puffer.

195 vi Zacharia Read, born September 8, 1746; married Lois Mann.

196 vii Patience Read, born January 22, 1748.

197 viii Experience Read, born April 19, 1755; died in Rehoboth, May 22, 1755.

For further descendants see History of the Reed Family, by Jacob W. Reed.

83 Atherton ¢ Chaffe (David,® Nathaniel,? Thomas!) was born in Rehoboth,
Mass., April 7, 1715, and died in Westminster, Vt., March 4, 1778. He married
(1) in Ashford, Conn., Abigail Squire (?), who died there, February 12, 1755.
He married (2) in Ashford, March 25, 1756, Rachel Fuller, who died in West-
minster, July 29, 1803, where she was buried. She spent her last days with her son
Constant.

In 1738, Atherton Chaffe of Ashford, bought of Moses Fuller of that place, one
hundred acres of land there. September 12, 1743, his father gave him one-half of
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all his lands, buildings, fences, orchards and improvements on the farm in Ash-
ford, where he, David, then lived. November 16, 1750, Atherton Chaffe, *“yeo-
man,” bought of his father for £500, three tracts of land in Ashford, near a place
called Lead Mine Hill, containing about eighty-five acres, a house and buildings.
History says that in 1751 Atherton went with a party to Westminster, N. H.
His last real estate transaction showing him to be a resident of Ashford, was
February 8, 1758, when he bought for £18, twenty-six acres of land there, of
Jonathan Pidge. In 1759, he is spoken of as of Westminster. The town was in
what was then known as “the New Hampshire Grants.” What is now Vermont
was claimed by both New York and New Hampshire and was the subject of a
long and bitter dispute, which lasted until after the Revolution. Vermont was not
recognized as a state and admitted to the Union until 1791. Atherton Chaffe is
said to have helped build a blockhouse in Vermont, and to have lived in it with
twenty other families for four years. He was a Private from 1768 to 1770 in a
volunteer company in Westminster, which was organized about that time, to pre-
pare the men for defensive purposes when necessary. The following church doc-
ument will be of interest to the descendants of Atherton Chaffe:

“We the subscribers being desirous of having a steeple built to the meeting
house that is about to be built in the town of Westminster present this our humble
petition to the proprietors that have undertaken to build said house for liberty
to build said steeple and for encouragement therefore we promise and bind our-
selves to pay the sum or sums set to each of our names in order to pay the cost of
said building provided the proprietors of said house shall see fit to grant us liberty
and will allow us an equal share in the house with them according to the terms
which we subscribe, in witness whereof we have hereunto set our hands and seals
this 8th day of March in the year of our Lord Christ 1769.

“SaMUEL PHIPPEN  Five Dollers
“BiLeY WILLARD 3 Dollers
“JosEPH WILLARD 3 Dollers
“SamMuEL AVERELL 2 Dollers -
‘“JoH. AVERELL 3 Dollers
““JosepH PHIPPEN 3 Dollers
“THoMAS AVERILL 3 Dollers
‘“SoLomMoN Burk 3 Dollers
““ ATHERTON CHAFE 2 Dollors
“BiLeY CARPENTER 2 Dollors
‘“ ABIEL CARPENTER 2 Dolers
“TroMAs CROOK 1 Doler”

Atherton Chaffe is said to have been a man of fine, unblemished character and
habits. He is said to have had twenty-one children, the youngest, Crean Bush,
being posthumous. His estate was administered by his widow. June 6, 1789, she
applied for Commissioners to sell out her “thirds.” At her death, her estate was
settled by her son Constant. Her tombstone in the graveyard in Westminster
bears the following inscription:

“In memory of Mrs. Rachel widow of Mr. Atherton Chaffe, who died July 29,
1803, in the 67th year of her age.

“To you my children and my friends
Which I have left behind
Come view this solemn monument
And here instruction find.”
Children, by first wife, born in Ashford:
198 i Mary Chaffe, born February 15, 1739-40; died.
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199 ii Experience Chaffe, born April 2, 1745; probably married Ephraim
Hunt of Wrentham, Mass., August 5, 1762, and had a daughter
Betty, mentioned in the will of Betty Chaffe (201). ’
4200 iii Squire Chaffe, born July 18, 1747; marrie(f’ .
201 iv Betty Chaffe (Chafee), born May 9, 1749; died in 1778; the will of
“Betty Chafee of Rehoboth’” made August 20, 1777, mentions
Betty, daughter of Ephraim Hunt, Huldah, daughter of Na-
thaniel Read, Betty, wife of Daniel Read, Patience Read, and
“my beloved Aunt Margaret Chaffe’” (55), Nathaniel Read being
maXe executor; inventory taken December 5, 1778.
+202 v Atherton Chaffe, Jr., born March 15, 1752; married Phoebe Brockway.
203 vi Margaret Chaffe, born April 18, 1754; died in Ashford, March 17, 1755.
Four other children, names unknown.
Children, by second wife, the first two born in Ashford, the rest in Westmin-
ster:
+204 xi Clifford Chaffe, born January 20, 1757; married Anna Burke.
205  xii Chloe Chaffe, born September 21, 1758; died in Ashford, April 21,

1760.

206 xiii Calvin Chaffe, died about 1784; he served as a Private during the
Revolution, in Captain Elkanah Day’s Comdpany from West-
minster in 1776, and his name is also found on “A Pay Ab-
stract for Capt. Jesse Burk’e and Capt. Michael Gilson’s com-
panies, officers and soldiers included, which marched in the
Alarm [at Newbury] March 1781. . . . Calvin Chaffy,”
credited with three days’ service, thirty miles’ travel, wages per
day, 1s. 4d., pay per mile, 4d., total sum received 14s.

+207 xiv Constant Chaffe, born about 1761 or 1762; married Anna Lovejoy.
+208  xv Alpha Chaffe, married Mary Abby.
+209 xvi Otis Chaffe, married Abigail Abby.
+210 xvii Rachel Chaffe, born December 16 1772; married Samuel Wires.

211 xviii Jarville Chaffe, born about 1774; died unmarried.
+212 xix Nancy Chaffe, born about 1776; married Amos Abby.
+213  xx Crean Bush Chaffe, born 1778; married Polly Bennett.

Another child, name unknown.

654 Mary ¢ Ohaffe (David,® Nathaniel,? Thomas 1) was born in Rehoboth, Mass.,
June 15, 1717, and died. She married, November 1, 1735, Gideon Franklin of Re-
hoboth, where they lived.

Children, born in Rehoboth:

214 i Daniel ® Franklin, born June 25, 1736.
215 ii David Franklin, born April 13, 1738.

216 iii Asa Franklin, born January 28, 1739-40.
217 iv Molly Franklin, born October 3, 1741.
218 v Hannah Franklin, born July 29, 1743.
219 vi Gideon Franklin, Jr., born April 25, 1745.
220 vii Oliver Franklin, born December 14, 1748.

68 Daniel 4 Chaffe, Jr. (Daniel,® Nathaniel,? Thomas 1) was born in Rehoboth,
Mass., December 14, 1721, and died between March 4, and May 26, 1760. He
married Dorcas Ormsby, both at that time being of Attleboro. She married (2)
Noah Read of Attleboro, their intention of marriage being published there, No-
vember 7, 1761. Daniel Chaffe, Jr., was admitted to communion in the First Con-
gregational Church of Attleboro, February 28, 1741. He owned land in Attle-
boro.

“ April ye 9-1757
“ A Lest of Training Soldiers in ye first Company in Attleborough under ye Com-
mand of Capt Samll Tyler . . . Daniel Chaffee Jn.”
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March 4, 1760. ‘“Children of Daniel Chaffe and Dorcas his wife were Baptized
a;, ?}lgd house, by reason of his being sick and unable to come with them to ye House
o ."

May 26, 1760, Dorcas, widow of Daniel Chaffe, Jr., was made administratrix
of his estate, and the same year was appointed guardian of her children, Abner,
Daniel, Samuel and Mary Chaffe. April 16, 1765, she bought in their behalf for
£31, 10s. from John Starkey, land in Attleboro.

Children, born in Attleboro:

221 i Abner® Chaffe, born September 19, 1749; died after 1780; January 25,
1771, “ Abner Chaffe yeoman of New Stanford, N. Y.,”” sold for £50,
6s., to Noah Reed of Attleboro land there “formerly belonging to
my father Daniel Chaffe and to my grandfather Daniel Chaffe, form-
erly of Attleboro’’; the Vermont Revolutionary Records show that
he was Corporal in “Capt. Gideon Brownson’s Company for the
defence of the frontiers of the New Hampshire Grants June 29, 1776 "
service twenty-seven days; he also served with the Massachusetts
troops:

“8hafee, Abner. Private, Capt. William Douglas’s co., Col. Benja-
min Simonds’s detachment of Berkshire Co. militia; enlisted Dec. 16,
1776; discharged March 22, 1777; service, 96 days; marched to
Ticonderoga.” [Massachusetts Soldiers and Sailors in the War of
Revolution.] August 13, 1780, “Abner Chafee formerly of Danby,
Vt.,” bought of David Brydia for £200 land in Manchester, Vt.;
‘““Abner Chaffe yeoman of Belchertown,” Mass., sold to Samuel
Atherton of Attleboro, all his interest in the estate of his cousin,
Joel Martin (225), for one hundred Spanish milled dollars; he was
still living in Belchertown, June 8, 1782, when he sold fifty acres of
land in Manchester, probably that which he bought in 1780, for
£115; he was a farmer.

222 ii Daniel Chaffe (Chaffy), born January 10, 1750-1; died before November,
1773; his estate, amounting to £7, 10d., was administered by his
employer, Richard Tutt, and was settled November 7, 1774, the
heirs being his mother, Dorcas Read, his brothers, Abner and Samuel
aﬁld his sister Mary; he was a mariner and lived in Marblehead,

ass.

223 iii Samuel Chaffe, born February 4, 1753; died after 1786; February 10,
1774, he was of Attleboro, when with his mother and stepfather,
he sold to Ezra Carpenter, for £163, 8s. 6d., one hundred acres of
land there formerly owned by his father and grandfather Chaffe;
July 16, 1776, he was living in Dorset, Albany County, N. Y., when
he sold for £4, 4s., all his interest in “ my grandmother Percy Chaffe’s
dower from the estate of her husband Daniel Chaffe of Attleborough”’;
in 1776 “Samuel Chaffey of Charlotte County, N. Y.,” sold one
hundred and four and a half acres of land in Dorset, Vt., for £133,
6s. 8d.; August 8, 1780, he was living in New Marlborough, Mass.,
when he sold one-sixth of twenty-eight acres in Attleboro for $100;
he was still living there, March 14, 1786, when he sold for £140,
one-half the iron works, with land and buildings situated near
them.

224 iv Mary Chaffe, born August 20, 1758; may have married in Attleboro,
October 26, 1780, Solomon Willis; unmarried and living in Attleboro,
August 16, 1780, when she sold for £15, her interest in the estate
of E:: grandfather, Daniel Chaffe.

69 Esther * Chaffe (Daniel,® Nathaniel,? Thomas!) was born in Attleboro,
Mass., March 10, 172-, and died before March 21, 1763. She married, April 27,
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1757, Amos Martin of Attleboro, where she also lived. She was admitted into

communion in the First Congregational Church of Attleboro, December 17,

1743.

Child:

225 i Joel ® Martin, born before March 21, 1763 ; died before November 20, 1780;
unmarried ; his grandfather, Daniel Chaffe (12), in his will dated March
21, 1763, leaves to his grandson Joel, son of his daughter Esther (who
must at that time have been dead), his mother’s share; this property
he received April 3, 1769, when the estate was settled; November 20,
1780, his cousin, Abner Chaffe (221), sold for one hundred Spanish
milled dollars, “all my interest in estate of Joel Martin of Attleborough
set off to him from the estate of my grandfather Daniel Chaffe of
Attleborough,” indicating that Joel was dead.

72 8arah ¢ Ohaffe (Noah, Nathaniel,? Thomas !) was born in Rehoboth, Mass.,
August 20, 1722, and died there August 7, 1768. She married in Rehoboth, De-
cember 25, 1740, William Blanden of that place, where they lived.

Children, born in Rehoboth:

226 i Lois® Blanden, born February 1, 1741-2; married Amos Love.

227 ii Ebenezer Blanden, born August 2, 1744; died eXoung.

228 iii Lucee Blanden, born March 8, 1745-6; married Jonathan Wilson.

229 iv Shubael Blanden, born September 17, 1750; married Roxalina Sheldon.
230 v Ebenezer Blanden, born February 26, 1754; married Nancy Wheeler.
231 vi Christopher Blanden, born October 1, 1756; married Martha Martin.

74 Shubael ¢ Ohaffe (Noah,® Nathaniel? Thomas!) was born in Rehoboth,
Mass., March 23, 1729-30, and died February 8, 1802. He married in Rehoboth,
December 13, 1753, Elizabeth Crawford, who died May 14, 1815.

Shubael Chaffe was baptized in the First Congregational Church of Rehoboth,
May 3, 1730. His father died when he was three years old, and his uncle Jon-
athan Chaffe (8) was appointed his guardian. December 5, 1747, having reached
an age when he was allowed to choose his own guardian, he made choice of his
cousin, Ephraim Chaffe (44) from whom he bought for £26, 13s. 4d, April 4,
1751, twenty acres of land in Rehoboth. At this time Shubael Chaffe was a laborer
in Rehoboth, and later a farmer and innholder there. November 10, 1752, he
bought for £60, of his brother, Christopher, who had moved to Woodstock, Conn.,
his share of their father’s estate, being one-fourth part. March 12, 1754, Shubael
and wife Elizabeth sold for £38 to Ebenezer Fuller eleven and three-fourths acres
in Rehoboth, being land which his father, Noah, had bought of Hannah Turner.
November 20, 1754, Shubael Chaffe, innholder, and his wife sold to Solomon Brad-
ford, six acres of land in Rehoboth for £55. Ten days later, November 30th,
Shubael sold to Noah Newman a triangular piece of land containing one and one-
half acres for £1, 10s. March 11, 1755, he again sold to Solomon Bradford, this
time four or five acres of land, being a ““Lott laid out upon ye right of my father
Noah Chaffe,” for £125. March 31, 1766, he was chosen Fence Viewer in Reho-
both. He served in the Revolution both with the Massachusetts and Rhode Island
troops:

“Chaffe, Shubael, Rehoboth. Capt. John Perry’s co., Col. Timothy Walker’s
(22d) regt.; muster roll dated Aug. 1, 1775; service, 3 mos. 1 week, 1 day; also,
company return dated Oct. 6, 1775; also order for bounty coat or its equivalent

in money dated Camp at Roxbury, Oct. 26, 1775.” [Massachusetts Soldiers and
Sailors in the War of the Revolution.] ‘
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Shubael Chaffe also enlisted in Olney’s Rhode Island Battallion for the war
in Providence, R. 1., February 1, 1777, and served until June 15, 1783. He is
described as a laborer, born and of Rehoboth, age fifty-three, gray hair, light com-
plexion, size, five feet, three inches. He was appointed Corporal soon after his en-
listment, February 24, 1877. His name is found on the muster rolls of the 2d
Rhode Island Regiment, Israel Angell, Colonel, for November, 1778, January,
February and April, 1779, August, September, October, November and December,
1780; his name is also on a broadside, dated Champlain, N. Y., 1779-80. His
name is also on the account of clothing supplied for 1780, 1781 and 1782. He was
on extra service in 1780 and 1781; Orderly for Field Officers, September 8-22,
1780, Orderly Major for Colonel Angell, September 29, Waiter to Field Officers,
October 6 and 13, taking care of horses in the country, November 3, and 17,
December 4-21, January 25 and February 2, 1781. He signed a receipt for pay to
Daniel S. Dexter, Paymaster of the Rhode Island Regiment, in Rhode Island
Village, June 11, 1781. In September, his regiment was stationed in Verplank’s
Point, N. Y. Lieutenant Commander Olney granted him a furlough from Sara-
toga, N. Y., from December 22, 1782, to February 20, 1783. February 1, 1783,
he is reported as entitled to two badges. June 15, 1783, he was granted another
furlough. July 11, 1783, he received a note for the pay due him from January 1,
1782, with six per cent interest. April 20, 1784, he received of J. S. Dexter in
final settlement of his account with the United States, three certificates for $212,
being balance due him for arrears of pay, etc. His service was in the 5th, 6th and
8th Companies of the 2nd Rhode Island Regiment. [Rhode Island Archives, State
House, Providence, R. 1.]

Children, born in Rehoboth:

232 i Miriam Chaffe, born October 26, 1755; died; probably married a Burke
and had a son Frederick; during the Revolution she was a hospital
nurse, and received pay from November 1, 1778, for seventy-t!
days. [Ibid.)

233 ii Noah Chaffe, born August 22, 1757; died about June 23, 1780; enlisted
in Rhode Island in the same company and regiment with his father
and was also appointed Corporal, February 24, 1777, for the war;
called “Noah Chafey of Providence;”’ his name is on the muster
rolls for November, 1778, and January, 1779; mustered, Warren,
February 7, 1779; on furlough in Providence, March, 1779; on muster
roll for April, 1779; his name is also on a broadside for 1779-80, Dated
Champlain, N. Y.; his name appears as having received clothing in
1780; “Serg’t Noah Chaffee’” was reported killed, June 23, 1780;
certificate for £64 due the heirs of Noah Chaffee, accepted by the
General Assembly, in January, 1781. [Rhode Island Archives, State
House, Providence, R. 1.)

234 iii Hannah Chaffe, born October 9, 1759; died April 27, 1841; married in

’ Rehoboth, July 27, 1781, Allen, son of Samuel and Ruth Viall of
that place; he was born there, December 23, 1756; drowned Sep-
tember 23, 1815.

235 iv Billie Chaffe, born September 21, 1765; died.

236 v Bette Chaffe, born March 10, 1769; died.

237 vi John Chaffe, born March 19, 1774; died.

76 Joseph ¢ Chafle (John,® Joseph,? Thomas!) was born in Swansea, Mass.,
January 17, 1701-2, and died March 15, 1760. He married Hannah, daughter of
Ephraim May of Rehoboth, Mass. She was born in Swansea, October 1, 1704,
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and was baptized there, February 12, 1706-7. After Joseph Chaffe’s death, she
married (2) Ensign Joseph Sexton.

Joseph Chaffe was Constable and Town Sealer of weights and measures in Bar-
rington in 1729.

January 21, 1729-30, “Joseph Chaffe Junr. of Barrington, boatman,” bought
of Benjamin Marcy of Woodstock, husbandman, a ‘“ Mansion house”” and seventy-
five acres of land in Woodstock, bounded by the land of Isaiah Tiffany and John
Chaffe, for £300.

February 23, 1729-30, “Joseph Chaffee Junr. of Barrington in the County of
Bristol in the Province of the Massachusetts Bay In New England Boatman, for
and in consideration of the sum of two hundred pounds to me paid by my Hon-
oured Father, John Chaffee of Woodstock, in the County of Suffolk and Province
aforesaid, yeoman, being part of my Portion or Patrimony of my said Father’s
Estate do by these presents Remit, Release and forever Quit Claim . . .
unto my Father John Chaffee . . . all my right title interest Claim & Demand
unto all of Housing & Lands of my said Father being & lying in Woodstock Afore-
said, belonging . . . to me as a son or heir.”” This document was witnessed
by his uncle Joseph Chaffe (18) and Samuel Luther. [Woodstock Land Records.]
In those days a man was called “Junior” if there was another man in his family
of the same Christian name, whether he was his father or not. Between the date
of the above release and July 5, 1730, Joseph and his family removed to Woodstock,
Mass. (now Conn.), as on the latter date his wife was admitted to the First Con-
gregational Church of Woodstock by a letter of dismission and recommendation
from the Church of Christ in Barrington. He settled in what is now West Wood-
stock, and which was set off from Woodstock as the Second Precinct of Woodstock,
or New Roxbury.

September 29, 1730, “Joseph Chaffe of Woodstock in the County of Suffolk,
in the Province of Massachusetts Bay in New England, Husbandman, & Hannah
Chaffee wife of said Joseph” sold to ‘“Samuel Millard of Swansey in the County of
Bristol, in said Province, shipwright’’ for £110 “a certain Lott or Tract of Land
acituate lying and being in the Township of Rehoboth and in that part thereof
called by the name of the Four Thousand Acre Division and was originally granted
to be laid out to mr: Ephraim May late of Rehoboth aforesd Deceased vizt In
February 1712-13 lying adjoyning to Israel Peck’s Land at the great meadow Hill
the first Corner is the southeast Corner of said Peck’s Land being a Stake and
heap of Stones thence South by a way of four perch wide between this Lott &
the Bounds of the Town Eighty Rods to a Black Oak for a Corner thence west to
the said Peck’s Land then bounding with said Peck’s Land till it Come to the first
corner; the south west corner is a Beach Tree in said Peck’s Line and way laid out
November 9th 1713 as may fully appear by the Records of the proprietors of
Rehoboth, Reference thereto being had.” This was signed by Joseph Chaffe and
Hannah Chaffe and witnessed by Samuel and Sarah Pain.

[Bristol County Registry of Deeds.)

On the same date Joseph Chaffe bought of Isaiah Tiffany seventy acres of land
in Woodstock for £171. January 3, 1742-3, “Joseph Chaffe, yeoman,” bought
of John Bartholomew, weaver, of Woodstock, forty-two acres of land in the south
half of that place for £85. May 12, 1747, he bought of James Bowdoin, Esq., of
Boston, one hundred and twenty acres of land in Woodstock for £592. He was a
voter in Woodstock, September 12, 1749, when he was made a Freeman. Decem-
ber 5, 1751, he bought one hundred and ninety-one acres of land in Wales, a dis-
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trict of Springfield, Mass., for £600, ““old Tenor bills,”’of Peter, Moses and Aaron
Tufts, Francis Pierce and wife Deborah, John Boon and wife, Elizabeth, all of
Ashford, Conn., Jonathan Whitcomb, blacksmith, and wife, Sarah, of Littleton,
Mass., Uriah Gleason and wife, Abigail of Oxford, Mass.

January 1, 1753, he bought of Thomas Allen, for £220, forty acres of land in
the south half of Woodstock. May 17th of the same year, he gave a mortgage
on one hundred and sixty acres of land in Woodstock, to James Bowdoin of Bos-
ton, for “two hundred & ninety Spanish mill dollars” the mortgage to run for a
year with interest at six per cent, a forfeiture of five hundred and eighty Spanish
mill dollars being the penalty of failure to meet the obligation. This was signed
by Joseph and Hannah Chaffe. September 3, 1754, Joseph Chaffe sold to Elijah
Hurlburt of Woodstock, for £3,200, a dwelling house, barn, stable and one hun-
dred and sixty acres of land in Woodstock. September 20, 1754, “ Joseph Chaffee
of New Roxbury in Woodstock,” bought of Ebenezer Jones of Wales, for £110,
14s., one hundred and fifty acres of land adjoining what he had already bought
in 1751, lying partly in Wales and partly in the adjoining town, Somers, Conn.
June 4, 1755, Joseph and wife, Hannah of Woodstock, sold to Abraham Skinner
of Malden, Mass,, for £300, one hundred and ten acres of land with a house, barn,
corn-barn and one-half a saw-mill, all in Woodstock. The next mention of Joseph
shows him to have moved to Wales, between June 4, 1755, and January 30, 1756,
as on the latter date he sold to Stephen Williams of Springfield, land in Wales, for
£4,108. February 9th following, buying of him onc hundred and fifty-four acres
and forty-four rods of land in the same place, for £13. The land where he settled
reached from the top of Ball Mountain to Monson Line. March 30, 1757, he and
his wife sold to James Bowdoin, for £67, one hundred and thirteen acres of the
tract bought in 1754, partly in Wales, and partly in Somers. December 2, 1757,
John Chaffe (16) died and Joseph, the eldest son, was executor of his will, and was
his residuary legatee. May 8, 1758, he sold to his son, Joseph, Jr., for £55, fifty-
six acres of land in Wales. February 5, 1760, he gave two rods of land “for the
use and benefit of a public highway.” February 25th following, he sold to his
second son, Benjamin, seventy-five acres of land in Wales for £45, and to his
son, Asa, land there for £35, 8. The same day he sold to his son, Isaiah, ‘“the use
and advantage” of a certain stream of water. One month after these transac-
tions he died, and power of administration was granted to the widow, Hannah
and son, Joseph, April 1, 1760. April 10th following, Stephen Stebbins, William
King and John Bliss were appointed by the Judge of Probate to appraise the es-
tate, and they met June 4th at the house of ““the widow Mrs. Hannah Chaffey ”
and appraised the estate ““as it was shewed them by Mrs. Hannah and Mr. Joseph
Chaffee.”” In this inventory, the home lot was valued at £225, the total value
of the estate being £423, 28. 9d. Mention is made of horses, oxen, cows, thirteen
goats (valued at 34s.) pigs, farming utensils, household furniture, clothing, Bibles
and various religious books, pamphlets, etc. The debts, including bills to Doc-
tors Terry and Morse for services during Joseph Chaffe’s last illness, amounted to
£246, 14s. August 18th, the widow and Joseph, as administrators, sold to John
Firman, cordwainer of Springfield, for £116, one hundred acres of land partly in
Wales, and partly in Somers, with a dwelling house and barn thereon, including
eight rods “near the old goat pasture,” the land adjoining that of Ephraim Chaffe
(241). On this date, they also sold thirty-two and one-half acres of land in Wales
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to Isaiah Chaffe (247) of that place, he being the highest bidder and paying £9,
158.

Joseph Chaffe died of smallpox, and one of the items in the account of the ad-
ministrators against the estate is 5s. ‘‘for brimstone & rum to cleanse the infec-
tion out of the house.” He lies buried in the cemetery in Hampden, Mass. (for-
merly South Wilbraham), where the inscription on his tombstone reads:

“In mﬁmory of

|
Joseph Chaffe
who died of
the Small Pox
March 15, 1760
in the 59th
year of his age.”
That of his wife is also in the same cemetery and is inscribed :
“In Memory of -
Mrs. Hannah
formerly wife of
Mr. Joseph Chaffee
late wife of
Ens Joseph Sexton
who died
May 26, 1787
in the 80th year of her age.
Aged and young alike must lie
In this cold bed of clay.”
Children, the eldest born in Barrington, the rest in Woodstock:
+238 i Sarah ® Chaffe, born January 18, 1729; married (1) Isaac Morris; (2)
Honorable John Bliss.
+239  ii Joseph Chaffe, Jr., born January 9, 1730-31; married Esther Chaffe.
+240 iii Benjamin Chaffe, born July 10, 1732; married Hannah Skinner.
4241 iv Ephraim Chaffe, born about 1733; married Anna (or Anne) Torrey.
+242 v Asa Chaﬂ'%ee born June 5, 1734; married (1) Mary Howlett; (2) Sarah

243 vi Jonathan Chaffe, born March 16, 1735-6; died.
+244 vii Comfort Chaffe, born March 20, 1737-8; married (1) Mary Bliss; (2)
Mrs. Hepzibah (Green) Chaffee.
245 viii Hannah Chaffe, born June 17, 1742; died; baptized in the First Con-
greéationsl Church, Woodstock, June 27, 1742.
248 ix Darius Chaffe, born March 22, 1743—4; died after 1775; baptized in
the First Conﬁregationa.l Church, Woodstock, May 13, 1744;
removed to Wilbraham; on a pay roll dated December 5, 1775,
of Captain Warriner’s company of Wilbraham, Mass., “who
marched in defense of Ammerican Liberty on ye Alarm last
April occassioned by th Lexington Fight with ye number of
officers & soldiers,” appears the name of Darius Chaffe, private,
service ten days, distance travelled one hundred and eighty miles
from and to home, payment £1, 9s. 2d.
+247  x Isaiah Chaffe, married Betty Manning.
248 xi Joel Chaffe, born November 19, 1745; died; baptized in the First
Congregational Church, Woodstock, February 11, 1746.

77 Joel * Chafte (John,® Joseph,? Thomas!) was born probably in Swansea,
Mass., in 1702, and died in Woodstock, Conn., June 20, 1745. He married Eliza-

beth, daughter of Thomas Bicknell of Middleboro, Mass. She died before Feb-
ruary 2, 1757, when her estate was divided.
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April 24, 1725, “Joel Chaffe, cordwainer [shoemaker] of Barrington, Mass.,”
bought of Joseph Bosworth of Rehoboth, Mass., thirteen acres of land there for
£109. Barrington was set off from the western part of Swansea in 1717, and
Joel’s father and family lived in that part. April 15, 1729, Joel Chaffe of Rehoboth,
bought of Joseph Allen of Barrington, four and three-fourths acres of land in Re-
hoboth for £40. April 3, 1730, Joel and his wife, Elizabeth of Rehoboth, gave a
quitclaim deed to Benjamin White of Middleboro, on a piece of land there which
had formerly belonged to Elizabeth’s father, Thomas Bicknell. January 9, 1730-1,
Joel bought of James and Constant Viall of Barrington, twenty-eight acres of land
in Rehoboth for £95. December 28, 1732, he and his wife sold to Stephen Fry
of Woodstock for £500, eighteen acres and one rood of land in Rehoboth, the same
day buying of him twenty-two acres and two roods of land with a house, a barn
and a shop situated thereon, in Woodstock, for £550. Both men were shoemakers.
January 1, 1732-3, he sold to Nathaniel Peck for £100, twenty-eight acres of land
in Rehoboth, probably the property bought two years before of the Vialls. At
this time he was still of Rehoboth, but during the year 1733, he moved to Wood-
stock, whither his father had preceded him. Soon after his arrival there, in 1733,
he bought of Jeremiah Robinson of Rehoboth, one hundred acres of land in Ash-
ford, Conn., for £60, selling it March 12, 17334, to his uncle, Joseph Chaffe (18),
for £85. In 1734, he bought two more tracts of land in Ashford, one of one hun-
dred and fifty acres of Nathaniel Peck, for £135, and one of forty acres of John
Bugbee of Ashford, for £40. September 8, 1735, he bought of Eliphalet Carpenter,
and Eliphalet Carpenter, Jr., of Woodstock, several pieces of land in the south
half of that town, amounting to one hundred and fifty-five acres, and containing a
mansion house. The price of this was £600. To this he added, March 18th fol-
lowing, more land bought of Nathaniel Davenport, for £41, “good bills of credit.”
April 3, 1738, he sold to Benjamin Bugbee of Woodstock, twenty-five acres in the
south half of the town for £50.

May 26, 1742, Joel Chaffe and others petitioned the General Court in Boston
(Woodstock at this time being part of the Massachusetts Bay Colony) to be made
a separate town with religious privileges, the petitioners living very distant from
the First Congregational Church in Woodstock, and that church being so small
that it could not accommodate all those in the parish. [See 18.] Joel Chaffe lived
four and a quarter miles from this church. December 11, 1742, Joel sold to Sam-
uel Barnes of Barrington, for £75, seven acres and twenty rods of land in Wood-
stock. February 9, 1744-5, he sold to his father, for £287, fifty acres of land in
the south half of Woodstock, with a dwelling house on it. February 16, 1744-5,
he sold to Thomas Allen for £366, another piece of land there. This was his last
land transaction, as he died the following summer. His brother Joseph, being
appointed October 21, 1745, as administrator of his estate, sold the entire real
estate, consisting of seventy-five acres of land, to their brother, John (80), April 1,
1747. The children received their father’s share in their grandfather’s estate,
August 29, 1754. The estate of their mother was divided among the children in
Woodstock, February 2, 1757. Joel Chaffe is thought to have been buried in
Woodstock.

Children, first two born in Rehoboth, the last five in Woodstock:

249 i Elizabeth ® Chaffe, born January 2, 1729-30; died before A
1754; married in Thompson, Conn. . March 28, 1748-9, Jo! Lee
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their intention of marriage being published in Woodstock, March
11, 1748-9.
+250 ii Joshua Chaffe, born May 26, 1731; married Mary St. John.

251 iii Joel Chaffe, Jr., born probably about 1732 or before May 6, 1733; died
in Wilbraham, Mass., August 25, 1802, in his seventieth year;
he married in Springfield, Mass., December 3, 1755, Hepzibah
Green, born in Wales, Springfield Township, died December 19,
1828, aged ninety-three; she married (2) Comfort Chaffe [see
244]. Joel Chaffe, Jr., was baptized in the First Congregational
Church of Woodstock, May 6, 1733; he was a blacksmith, farmer
and miller, in 1801 owning a fulling mill; as early as 1764 he owned
pro&rty in Wilbraham; March 8, 1768, ““Joel Chaffee blacksmith
of Wilbraham” sold to his cousin, Doctor Hezekiah Chaffe (79),
of Windsor, Conn., for £30, ninety acres of land with the dwelling
house, barn and shop thereon, June 2d following leasing this

- same property from Doctor Chaffe at a yearly rental of twenty
shillings, the lease being for the term of Joel’s life and after his
death to be continued while his wife Hepzibah remained his
widow; March 11, 1769, Joel Chaffe was chosen Constable of the
town of Wilbraham; May 30, 1770, he owned with his wife and
others, pew number three in the Congregational Church there,
but July 3d of the same year, he and his wife, with five others,
occupied &ew number fourteen there; May 11, 1772, he was chosen
Juror in Wilbraham, and that year bought of Philip Lyon of that
place property there for £22; his was one of the one hundred and
twenty-five signatures to an agreement made in South Wilbraham
in 1774, not to b&;' English-made goods; in 1776 he was chosen
Fence Viewer in Wilbraham, and in December of that year, was
one of those elected to the office of ‘“deerreaves”’; October 18,
1779, he received $7 as bounty and mileage money for soldiers;
March 22, 1786, he was chosen Surveyor; in the fall of that year,
during Shays’s Rebellion, he served as a Private in Lieutenant
Lewis Langdon’s Company, Colonel Gideon Burt’s Regiment of
Militia, Fourth Division, who marched to Springfield in support
of the Government, service from September 22 to 28, 1786; he
bought land in Wilbraham from 1785 to 1799; his will, dated
October 5, 1802, gave all his property to his wife, as they had no
children; February 8, 1805, she sold land to Comfort Chaffe
(244), and May 10, 1808, another piece of land to Doctor Hezekiah
Chaffe; both Joel and Hepzibah are buried in the old burying-

ound, Hami:\den (formerly South Wilbraham), his tombstone
ring the following inscription :
“Go home my friends,
Dry up your tears,
I must lie here
Till Christ appears.’

252  iv Abigail Chaffe, born January 16, 1734-5; died June 23, 1737; baptized
in the First Congregational Church, Woodstock, in January, 1734-5.

253 v Abigail Chaffe, born July 2, 1737; died ; married in Woodstock, May 29,
1767, Nathaniel Goodell; she was baptized in the First Congrega-
tional Church, Woodstock, August 7, 1737,

254  vi Daniel Chaffe, born August 4, 1739; died December 23, 1740; baptized
ix;3the First Congregational Church, Woodstock, September 30,
1739.

vii Lucy Chaffe, born May 8, 1742; died; married in Woodstock, January
1, 1761, John Call; she was baptized in the First Congregational

Church, Woodstock, June 20, 1742.

256 viii Ruth Chaffe, born March 20, 1743-4; died November 17, 1796; baptized
in the First Congregational Church, Woodstock, May 13, 1744;
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July 3, 1770, with five others, she occupied pew number thirty in
the gallery, women’s side; buried in the old burying-ground, South
Wilbraham (now Hampden) ; unmarried.

78 Ebenezer 4 Ohafle (John,® Joseph,? Thomast) was born in Swansea, Mass.,
September 22, 1704, and died in Woodstock, Conn., April 11, 1784. He married
(1), there, April 22, 1730, Mary, daughter of John and Abigail Scarborough. She
was born July 25, 1708, and died in Woodstock, January 21, 1746-7. Ebenezer
Chaffe married (2), February 2, 1747-8, Mary, daughter of Joseph and Margaret
Bacon, their intention of marriage being published January 9, 1747-8. She was
born November 24, 1696, and died December 29, 1753. He married (3), about
1755, Mrs. Sarah (Adams) Durand, who died in Woodstock, August 5, 1782, in
her sixty-third year. She was admitted to membership in the First Congregational
Church there, April 16, 1780.

Ebenezer Chaffe was baptized in the First Congregational Church of Woodstock,
October 3, 1731, and owned the covenant, October 10th following. He was still a
communicant in that church July 3, 1737-8. December 21, 1733, *Ebenezer
Chafee husbandman of Woodstock” bought land there for £96 of Nathaniel and
Smith Johnson. May 19, 1755, he sold to Thomas Chapman, probably his son-in-
law, for £200, ten acres there. April 3, 1760, he bought of Benjamin Skinner of
Springfield, land in that township for £15. November 17, 1764, he sold to his son
Ezra for £60, twenty-five acres of land in the south half of Woodstock. February
11, 1765, * Ebenezer Chaffee yeoman’’ sold to his brother, “John Chaffee of Wil-
braham”’ (which town had just been set off from Springfield as a separate town),
thirty-eight and three-fourths acres of land there, the price being £6, 16s.

Children, by first wife, born in Woodstock:

257 i Samuel ® Chaffe, born July 1, 1731; died September 5, 1758; inventory
of his estate filed in Woodstock, May 1, 1759; baptized in the
First Congregational Church, Woodstock, October 3, 1731.
+258  ii Mary Chaffe, born Auﬁust 27, 1733; married Thomas Chapman.
+259 iii Rebecca Chaffe, born July 28, 1735; married John Howlett.
4260 iv Tabitha Chaffe, born July 14, 1739; married Ephraim Carpenter.
+261 v Ezra Chaffe, born April 9, 1742; married Jerusha Hurlburt.
4262 vi Ebenezer Chaffe, Jr., born September 27, 1744; married Alice Fassett.
263 vii Olive Chaffe, born December 9, 1746; died January 22, 1746-7.

Children, by third wife, born in Woodstock :

4264 viii Olive Chaffe, bor(rlx March 24, 1756; married (1) Nathaniel Sanger;
10 Adams.

4265 ix Samuel Chaffe, born June 9, 1760; married Azubah Sanger.

4266  x Elizabeth Chaffe, born January 3, 1763, married Jonathan Paul.

79 Hesekiah 4 Ohaffe (John,® Joseph,? Thomas!) was born in Swansea, Mass.,
April 19, 1706, and died October 18, 1731. He married Mary, daughter of John
Toogood of Swansea. He was a physician. April 7, 1730, he sold to Deacon
Nathaniel Peck of Barrington, Mass., where he also lived, a road or way eight rods
wide in that town, for £47.

April 11, 1730, “Nathaniel Peck of Rehoboth, County of Bristol, Province of
Massachusetts Bay in New England, Boatman,”” and his wife “Allice ”’ who released
her dowry and power of thirtfs, sold to “ Hezekiah Chaffe of Barrington, County
aforesaid, Physician . . . for £300 . . . A tract or messuage of Land
Containing by estimation Twenty-five acres be it more or less situate, lying and
Being in Rehoboth butted & Bounded as followeth viz—Begin-ing at the North
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east corner by a Rock, from thence Running by the Land of Nath’l Pain; thence
up to a stake by a highway from thence bounded by the highway till it comes to
a black oak tree; thence by the land of Nath’l Pain down to the River being all
the land belonging to the s’d peck in that place.

“Signed, Sealed & Delivered

““in presence of

““Joseph Allin NATHANIEL PECK [8EAL]

‘“Nathaniel Paine her

““Joel Chaffe ALCE v PECK” [8EAL]
mark

The next mention of him is the appointment of his widow Mary, as administra-
trix of his estate, November 16, 1731.
“November 18, 1731. A true copy of the estate of Hezekiah Chaffe, lately

e .
‘“The Person te £185 14 10
“Mary Chaffe, the widow Signed by ?AM‘UIIL gm
OSEPH ALLEN.
JoserPH CHAFFE.”

On March 21, 1731-2, an inventory was taken of the estate of Hezekiah Chaffe
consisting of drugs, medicine, bottles and ‘Chirurgeon Tools’”’ amounting to
£320, 14s. 10d. This was signed by the *appriseiers” Samuel Hills, Joseph Allen
and Joseph Chaffe.

‘““September 12, 1732. Charges against above Estate

Im Primis

To Timothy Barden for a coffin

“ Digging the grave

rugs.
“ Gloves.
“J okn Too‘good for Grave Stones

[ « “

‘ Nathaniel Paine
“ Benjamin Chaffe
“ Ann Chaffe

 Joseph Chaffe 10 3”

November 16, 1732, bonds were given by Mary Chaffe, Samuel Hills, cooper,
and Joel Chaffe, cordwainer (77), all of Rehoboth, and the administration of the
estate was closed. January 22, 1732-3, Mary Chaffe sold to John Toogood, boat-
man of Barrington, twenty-five acres of land in Rehoboth, with a dwelling house
and barn on it for £265, buying back this property June 11th following for the
same sum. October 18, 1734, she, with others, sold to John Toogood, for £80, a
quitclaim deed of all interest on the estate of her father, John Toogood, in Swansea.

In the ancient Chaffe burying-ground near Barrington, R. I (formerly within
the limits of Barrington, Mass., and before that of Swansea), on the Asa Peck farm,
formerly the property of Thomas Chaffe the emigrant, then of Joseph, his son,
and then of Joseph, his grandson (by whom it was sold to strangers), is found an
old tombstone bearing the following inscription:

“Here Lieth the body of Hezekiah Chaffe, died Octo.t ye 18th 1731 in ye 26th
of his age.”

Children:

267 i Mary ® Chaffe, born in Rehoboth, July 29, 1728; probably died young.

268 ii John Chaffe, born in Swansea; died after 1754; Nathaniel Peck ap-
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pointed lgmrdiam to him and his brother Hezekiah, Jr., June 7,
1748. ceived land in Woodstock from his grandfather in
1754.

+269 iii Hezekiah Chaffe, Jr., born December 6, 1731; married Mrs. Lydia
(Griswold) Phelps.

80 John 4 Ohaffe, Jr. (John,® Joseph,? Thomas !) was born in Swansea, Mass.,
February 10, 1706-7, and died January 2, 1796. He married in Woodstock, Mass.
(now Conn.), December 17, 1730, Mehitable Mascraft, who died in South Wilbra-
ham, June (January) 29, 1803, aged ninety-six years and twenty-six days. Their
intention of marriage was entered in Woodstock, April 24, 1730.

John Chaffe probably moved with his parents from Swansea to Woodstock,
about 1729 or 1730, and was living there at the time of his marriage. He was
baptized and owned the covenant in the First Congregational Church there, July
29, 1733, the same day his wife being admitted to full communion with the same
church. His name is found on the membership list February 24, 1740, and in
March, 1753. July 15, 1745, he bought of John Bartholomew for £25, twenty
acres and twenty perches of land in the south half of Woodstock. April 1, 1747,
Joseph Chaffe (76), administrator of the estate of Joel Chaffe (77), sold to John
Chaffe all the real estate of the said Joel, being seventy-five acres; January 14th
following John Chaffe sold to Samuel Mascraft for £250, 75 acres of land there,
probably that formerly belonging to Joel. John was a voter in Woodstock, when
made a Freeman, September 12, 1749. September 25, 1752, “ John Chaffe, husband-
man,” sold to James Franklin of Attleboro, Mass., sixty acres of land in Wood-
stock for £450. August 29, 1754, he received from his father fifty acres of land
valued at £70. December 24, 1754, he bought back from James Franklin the land
he sold him in 1752, paying an advance price of £40. The land received from his
father in 1754, “ John Chaffe, yeoman "’ he sold April, 6, 1764, to Benjamin Skinner
of Wilbraham for £255, the same day buying of Skinner three tracts of land in
Wilbraham, one of thirteen acres with buildings thereon for £296, one of thirty-
five acres for £30, and one of sixty-one acres for £18. June 30, 1765, he and his
wife were dismissed from the church in Woodstock to the Second Congregational
Church in Stafford, Conn. In 1768 they were members of the South Wilbraham
Congregational Church. October 20th of that year, “John Chaffe and Mehitable
his wife of South Wilbraham”’ sold to William Martin, Jr., of Woodstock, twenty
eight acres of land and a mansion house there for £70. September 3, 1769, he
gave to his son-in-law, Phineas Stebbins, “in consideration of that love and good-
will which I do bear to son-in-law Phineas Stebbins, husbandman of Wilbraham "
certain lots of land in that place. Three days later he sold to his son Simeon for
£6, land there. May 30, 1770, a list of sittings in the Wilbraham Congregational
Church states that “ John Chaffee and wife,” with six others, occupied pew number
twenty-six. March 14, 1772, he sold to his son Amos, land in Wilbraham for £20.
An agreement made in Wilbraham in 1774, not to purchase English-made goods,
was signed by John Chaffee and one hundred and twenty-four other men. The
farm on which John Chaffe lived in Wilbraham was inherited by his son Simeon,
and from him, by his son Emery.

In the old burying-ground in Hampden (formerly South Wilbraham) lie the
remains of John Chaffe and his wife, their gravestones bearing the following in-
scriptions:
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“In memory of
Mr John Chaffe
who departed this life
Janry 2nd 1796
aged 89 years 11 mos
and 12 days
My flesh shall slumber in the ground
Till the last trumpets joyful sound
Then burst the chains with sweet surprise
And in my Saviours image rise.”

“In memory of
Mrs. Mehitabel wife of
Mr John Chaffe
who departed this life
E.ng; [or Jan] 22th61§03
96 years & 26 days
I shall behold the face Y
Of my forgiving God
And stand complete in righteousness
Washed in my Saviours blood.”

Children, born in Woodstock:
270 i Mehitable ® Chaffe, born February 24, 1732-3; died November 22, 1815;
baptized in the First Congregational Church, Woodstock, July 29,
1733; with six others occupied pew number four in the Congre-
ational Church, Wilbraham, July 3, 1770; buried in South Wil-
Eraham (now Hampden) ; unmarried.
271 i Esth.(eé Chaffe, born January 14, 1734-5; married Joseph Chaffe.
ee 239.)
+272 iii Simeon Chaffe, born January 22, 1736-7; married Love Davis.
273 iv Anna Chaffe, born May 1, 1739; died young; baptized in the First
Congregational Church, Woodstock, May 6, 1739.
274 v Amy Chaffe, born March 2, 1740; with five others, occupied pew
number thirty in the gallery, women'’s side, in the Congregational
Church, Wilbraham.
4275 vi Amos Chaffe, born August 9, 1744; married Anna Brown.
4276 vii Anna Chaffe, probably born about 1747-8; married Phineas Stebbins.

80 Benjamin ¢ Chaffe (Joseph,® Joseph,? Thomas!) was born in Swansea, Mass.,
September 11, 1710, and died after 1774. He married (1) in Ashford, Conn.,
November 2, 1738, Hannah Chapman, who died there, January 18, 1739-40. He
married (2) in Ashford, February 25, 1741, Priscilla Green of Mansfield, Conn.,
who died in Ashford, September 6, 1768. The following is from the records of the
First Congregational Church in Ashford, having been entered by its first minister,
Reverend James Hall:

“April 1742. Then was also Priscilla Chaffee the wife of Benjamin Chaffee,
accepted by the Brethern voting, as Dismissed or Recommended to us to be
received into our communion. ghe having for several years been in full com-
munion in the Church of Christ in Mansfield as the Rev. Mr. Williams his Pastoral
letter declares.”

Benjamin Chaffe was baptized in the First Congregational Church of Woodstock,
Conn., July 16, 1732. March 12, 1735-6, he was living in Woodstock when his
father “sold”” him “for Love and Goodwill & Effection” one hundred acres of
land in Ashford. Here he was living November 10, 1767, when he sold to Elijah
Lyon, eight acres of land in Woodstock for £16, 15s., being part of his share of
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his father’s estate. The last mentions of him in the records show him to have
been living in Ashford in 1773 and 1774, when he sold there two pieces of property
to his son Francis Green Chaffe, one for £30, 5s., the other for £50. How long
after this he lived is not known.

Child, by first wife:

277 i Benjamin ® Chaffe, Jr., born in Ashford, January 18, 1739—40; died in
Ashford, September 13, 1740.

Children, by second wife, born in Ashford:

278 ii Hannah Chaffe, died in infancy.

279 iii Abigail Chaffe, born March 26, 1743 ; died ; probably married in Ashford,
January 1, 1771, Jacob Orcutt; she was baptized in the First
Congregational Church, Ashford, September 11, 1743.

+280 iv Frangs2§}reen Chaffe, born April 6, 1745; married Dorcas Chaffee
12).

91 James 4 Chaffee (Joseph,3 Joseph,? Thomas !) was born probably in Swanses,
Mass., about 1713, and died in Monson, Mass., May 22, 1799. He was married (1) in
Woodstock, Conn., June 16, 1737, by John Chandler, Esq., Justice of the Peace,
to Beriah Hayden of Woodstock, born February 10, 1715-16, died June 24, 1758,
Her name is found on a list of the members of the Woodstock Congregational
Church as early as October 30, 1743. He married (2) in Killingly, Conn., August
8, 1759, Rhoda Cady of that place. At this time he was living in Woodstock.
She died May 22, 1799, and was buried in the same grave with her husband.
November 4, 1747, Beriah Chaffe, an heir of Reverend John Child of Woodstock,
and James Chaffee, her husband, of the same town, with other heirs of John Child,
sold land to Jacob Child of Woodstock for £415. James Chaffee, a voter of Wood-
stock, was made a Freeman, September 12, 1749. The records of the First Con-
gregational Church of Woodstock, where he lived, show that December 12, 1763,
James “Chaffe” did a day’s work for the church for which he was paid 3s. 6d.
He was drafted during the Revolution, but said that he could not leave such a
large family. His son Abial, aged fifteen, stepped forward and, offering to take
his father’s place, was accepted. James Chaffee was a farmer.

Children, by first wife, born in Woodstock:

281 i Nathan ® Chaffee, died October 8, 1750; baptized in the First Con-

regational Church, Woodstock, September 23, 1739.
+282 il Zebe%iiaﬁ Chaffee, born April 11, 1741; married Mehetabel Preston.
283 iii Dorothy Chaffee, born May 6, 1743; died October 27, 1823; baptized
in the First Congregational Church, Woodstock, May 22, 1743.

284 iv Sarah Chaffee, born April 27,1746 ; married Samuel Chaffee (See 320.)
+285 v James Chaffee, Jr., born March 22, 1748; married Sarah Howlett.

+ 286 vi Nathan Chaffee, born November 17, 1750; married Priscilla Wedge.

287  vii Abigail Chaffee, born January 2, 1753; died; baptized in the First

Congregational Church, Woodstock, March 11, 1753.
+288  viii Chester Chaffee, born April 6, 1755; married Caroline Walker.
289 ix Calvin Chaffee, born May 12, 1757; died April 25, 1758; baptized
in the First Congregational Church, Woodstock, May 29, 1757.

Children, by second wife, born in Woodstock:
+290 x Calvin Chaffee, born February 3, 1760; married Ruth Evidon.
+2901 xi Abial Chaffee, born August 13, 1761; married Hannah Seargent.
4292 xii Charles Chaffee, born June 14, 1763; married Deborah .

293 xiii Lucy Chaffee, born August 18, 1765; died; baptized in the First

Congregational Church, Woodstock, October 20, 1765.
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294 xiv Martha Chaffee, born June 22, 1768; died April 13, 1772; baptized
in the First Congregational Church, Woodstock, July 3, 1768.
4295  xv Chadwick Chaffee, born March 16, 1771; married Abigail Moulton.
4296 xvi Stephe:od Chaffee, born September 25, 1773; married Ruth Under-

wood.
297 xvii Patty Chaffee, born April 17, 1776, died in 1845.
298 xviii Jemima Chaffee, born May 30, 1778; died.
+299 xix Joseph Chaffee, born June 30, 1780; married Clarissa Dunham.
4300 xx Leonard Chaffee, born April 11, 1782; married Betsey Needham.

92 Abigail 4 Chaffe (Joseph,® Joseph,? Thomas!) was born in Swansea, Mass.,
March 15, 1714-5, and died. She was married in Woodstock, Conn., May 22, 1735,
by John Chandler, Justice of the Peace, to Joseph Wright, Jr., born in Andover,
Mass,, in 1713. Their intention of marriage was entered in Woodstock, March 1,
1734-5, and they are known to have lived there until 1759. June 28, 1746, Joseph
Wright of Woodstock sold to Thomas Chaffee of the same place, seventeen acres
of land there for £35. )

Children, born in Woodstock, and baptized in the First Congregational Church
there:
301 i Huldah ® Wright, baptized July 9, 1738.
302 i Sarah Wright, baptized July 9, 1738.
303 iii Abiel Wright, baptized October 13, 1739.
304 iv Abigail Wright, baptized Se%tember 27, 1741; died young.
305 v Samuel Wright, baptized February 17, 1745.
306 vi Hannah Wnight, baptized November 10, 1748.
307 vii Abigail Wright, baggized April 8, 1750.
308 viii Benjamin Wright, baptized February 25, 1753.
309 ix Lemuel Wright, baptized May 15, 1757.

98 Thomas ¢ Ohaffee (Joseph,? Joseph,? Thomas!) was born in Swansea, Mass.,
October 18, 1716, and died in Woodstock, Conn., May 3, 1753. He was married
there, September 11, 1740, by John Chandler, Esq., Justice of the Peace, to Dorcas
Abbot, their intention of marriage being entered in Woodstock, August 6, 1740.
She was born December 16, 1713, and died in Woodstock, August 22, 1798. ““ Widow
Dorcas Chaffee” was admitted to the First Congregational Church there, January
13, 1763. “Thomas Chaffe, weaver, of Woodstock” received from his father,
January 13, 1745-6, twenty-three acres of land in Woodstock worth £230 as part
of his portion of his father’s estate “towards his advancement and settlement in
the world”’; on this land he had already “erected a dwelling house.” June 28,
1746, he added to this, seventeen acres of land in Woodstock which he bought
of Joseph Wright, Jr., for £35. He lived all his life in Woodstock. On his death
one-half of his estate went to his widow, together with the use of the house during
her life; the other half of the estate going to his children, Jemima, Dorcas and
Rhoda.

Children, born in Woodstock:

4310 i Jemima 5 Chaffee, born May 12, 1741; married Hodges.
311 ii Dorcas Chaffee, born May 17, 1744; died August 31, 1746; baptized
in the First Congregational Church, Woodstock, May 27, 1744.
312 iii Dorcas Chaffee, born June 12, 1747; married Francis Green Chaffee.
(See 280.)
+313 iv Rhoda Chaffee, married Corbin.
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94 Joseph ¢ Chaffee, Jr., (Joseph,® Joseph,? Thomas!) died about 1797. He
was married in Woodstock, Conn., December 20, 1741, by John Chandler, Esq.,
Justice of the Peace, to Hannah, daughter of Thomas and Rebecca Gould. Their
intention of marriage was published December 9, 1741. She was born February
19, 1719. Joseph Chaffee moved from Woodstock to Ashford, Conn., where,
September 3, 1744, his wife was admitted to the First Congregational Church,
by a letter of dismissal from the First Congregational Church of Woodstock, on
whose membership list her name appears in 1740 and 1741. December 31, 1743,
““Joseph Chaffee Jun. of Ashford” received one hundred acres of land in the
southern part of that town as a gift from his father. January 16, 1756, Joseph
and Hannah Chaffee of Ashford quitclaimed for £100, all their right and title in
the estate of Thomas and Rebecca Gould, their parents, to Daniel Marscraft
[Mascraft] of Woodstock. March 13, 1761, * Joseph Chaffe, yeoman, of Ashford”
sold to Nathan Bishop of Woodstock, six acres of land in the south half of that
town for £24,

October 3, 1797, in Ashford, Joseph Briggs, as administrator of the estate of
Joseph Chaffee late of Ashford, appointed men to divide the estate among the
widow and children, Rebecca Griggs, Sarah Powers, Hannah Broughton and
Jemima Chapman. No mention is made of the son Thomas, so it is presumed
that he was dead, or he would have been one of the heirs-at-law.

Children, all but the fourth known to have been born in Ashford:

314 i Rebecca® Chaffee, married Griggs; died after 1797; baptized in
the First Congregational Church, Ashford, September 3, 1749.

315 ii Sarah Chaffee, died after 1797; married in Woodstock, November 25,
1773, Nathan Powers; baptized in the First Congregational Church,
Woodstock, November 17, 1751.

316 iii Thomas Chaffee, died probably before 1797; baptized in the First Con-
gregational Church, Ashford, September 26, 1752.

317 iv Hannah Chaffee, died after 1797 ; married Broughton.

318 v Jemima Chaffee, died after 1797; married Chapman ; baptized in

_the First Congregational Church, Ashford, October 16, 1757.

96 Samuel ¢ Chaffe (Joseph,® Joseph,? Thomas !) was born probably in Wood-
stock, Conn., about 1723, and died there, December 14, 1782, in his sixtieth year.
He married (1) in Woodstock, August 6, 1746, Susanna Lyon, their intention of
marriage being published May 29, 1746, both being of Woodstock. She died June
9, 1768, and he married (2) Mary Howlett, who died in Woodstock, October 5,
1798. Samuel Chaffe and wife Susanna were members of the First Congregational
Church of Woodstock, November 8, 1746. April 25, 1773, Mary, wife of Samuel
Chaffe, was admitted to membership in the same church. He was living in Wood-
stock, April 28, 1766, when he bought for £138, of Nathaniel Daniels of Killingly,
Conn., one hundred and twenty-eight acres of land in that place, where in 1769
he was living. The inventory of his estate was taken February 10, 1783, and
December 8, 1783, Mary Chaffe, widow, was made administratrix. January 19,
1784, she was authorized to dispose of the property and a distribution of it was
made April 6, 1784, the heirs being the widow, and five children, Henry, Caleb,
Isaac, Parker and Walker, the sons Samuel and Thomas and daughters Molly
Hutchings and Theda Afton (or Alton) having already received more than their
share of the estate.
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Children, by first wife, born in Woodstock:

+319
+320

321
+322
323
+324
325

326

327

iv Thomas Chaffe, born February 22, 1756; married Mary .
v Molly Chaffe, born August 1, 1758; married in Woodstock, February

ix Isaac Chaffe,

i Henry ® Chaffe, born June 6, 1747; married Rachel Plank.
ii Samuel Chaffe, Jr., born September 15, 1749; married Sarah Chaffee

(284).

iii Molly Chaffe, born April 26, 1753; died young; baptized in the First

Congregational Church, Woodstock, July 1, 1753.

27, 1783, John Hutchins; baptized in the First Congregational
Church there September 17, 1758.

vi Caleb Chaffe, born July 25, 1761 ; married Naomi Aldrich.
vii Isaac Chaffe, born April 10, 1763; died young; baptized in the First

Congregational Church, Woodstock, August 4, 1763.

viii Theda (Rhoda) Chaffe, born June 19, 1765; married in Woodstock,

December 7, 1781, Joseph Alton (or Afton); baptized in the
First Con{egationa.l Church there September 1, 1765.

aptized in the First Congregational Church, Wood-
stock, June 13, 1768; the following Revolutionary War record
is possibly that of this Isaac, though he would have been less
than twelve years of age at the time of enlistment:

“Chaffee, Isaac. Private, Capt. John Carpenter’s co. of guards
stationed at Springfield; enlisted Jan. 22, 1780 discharge«f‘:: ril
22, 1780; service, 3 mos.; enlistment, 3 months; also pay roll of
a number of men hired by Capt. John Carpenter to serve as
guards at Springfield to fill the deficiency caused by the dischar
of those whose term expired in April, 1780; hired April 22, 1780;
discharged May 31, 1780; also Captain Carpenter’s co. of guards
stationed at Springfield; enlisted June 8, 1780; enlistment, 8
months; reported enlisted into Continental service Aug. 20, 1780.”
[M assachusetts Soldiers and Sarlors in the War of the Revolution.]

Children, by second wife, born in Woodstock:

328

329

x Parker Chaffe, born July 31, 1773; baptized in the First Congregational

Church, Woodstock, August 8, 1773; lived in Woodstock, but
was living in Canaan, N. H., July 23, 1799, when he joined his
brother Walter in selling for $233.34 to Rebecca Newell of Wood-
stock, land there formerly belonging to their parents, Samuel and
Mary Chaffee.

xi Walter Chaffe, born April 29, 1777; baptized in the First Congrega-

tional Church, Woodstock, in 1777; lived in Canaan in 1799,
when he joined his brother Parker, in a sale of land, as given
above; moved to New York state about 1823; was a tailor and
had a wooden leg, with a handle on it; supposed to have married
and had children.

97 Josiah ¢ Ohaffee (Joseph,® Joseph,? Thomas!) was born September 1, 1731,
and died in Woodstock, Conn., October 10, 1802. He married in Killingly, Conn.,
July 13, 1758, Sarah Cady of that place, born July 4, 1737, died in Woodstock,
October 27, 1818, and was buried there.

Nine days before his marriage, July 4, 1758, Josiah Chaffee of Woodstock,
received from his father three-quarters of an acre of land there, valued at £3.
Whether he bought this, whether it was given him as part of his inheritance, or
as a wedding gift, is not certain. April 17, 1762, “Josiah Chaffee husbandman”
sold to Asa Chaffee (242) land in Woodstock for £29. April 19, 1762, he bought of
his brother Stephen for £20 land there. November 11, 1772, Sarah, wife of Josiah,
was admitted to the First Congregational Church of Woodstock by letter from the
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church in North Woodstock. She was executrix and sole legatee of his estate.
Her estate was administered by her daughter Chloe, she being appointed by the
Court, July 27, 1819, in Woodstock. The estate was divided there September 8,
1820, among eight living children. :

Children, born in Woodstock:

+330
331

332

+333
334

335

+336
+337

+339

vi Sarah Cady Chaffee, born

i Jonathan Cady ® Chaffee, born October 19, 1759; married Ruth Wells.
ii Chloe Chaffee, born April 17, 1761; died in Woodstock, January 31,

1830, unmarried; July 7, 1797, she bought of her uncle, Stephen
Chaffee (96), two acres of land in Woodstock where she lived;
he gave her in 1798, a Testament, now in the possession of the
writer, containing a family record; by his will she received £10 -
and the exclusive rights to his “ pair trees '’; she administered her
mother’s estate.

iii Cyrus Chaffee, born July 18, 1762; died at sea, June 10, 1780, of a

wound received during a sea fight; he was baptized in the First
Congregational Church, Woodstock, August 22, 1762; while a
resident of Rhode Island he enlisted there, April 21, 1777, for
fifteen months in the Continental Service, as a Private in Colonel
Stanton’s regiment, Captain Hammitt’s company ; he also appears
as a Private in Captain Daniel Tilden’s company of Lebanon,
New London County, Conn., formed March 7, 1778, and arrived
in camp July 1, 1778.

iv Anna Chaffee, born February 3, 1764; married Perley Sanger.
v Candace Chaffee, born August 27, 1766; died after 1820; married

Barber; she was baptized in the First Congregational
Church, Woodstock, Auiust 27, 1775; died suddenly.

pril 20, 1768; died Januari: 19, 1856;
married in Woodstock, July 22, 1804, by Reverend Eliphalet L.
Clerk, to John Sanger, a widower; he was eighty-two years old
and father of Perley Sanger, husband of Anna Chaffee and of
Azubah Sanger, the wife of Samuel Chaffee (265); they had no
children; she was baptized in the First Congregational Church,
Woodstock, August 27, 1775.

vii Josiah Willard Chaffee, born May 22, 1770; married Ruth Robbins.
viii Molly Chaffee, born December 14, 1771 ; married Samuel Lyon.
ix Betsey Chaffee, born July 14, 1773; died; married Samuel ® Howlett

(649) (Rebecca ® Chaffee, Ebenezer,* John,? Joseph,? Thomas?),
born in Woodstock, February 29, 1764 (?); they had no children;
she was b;pt:xzzed in the First Congregational Church, Woodstock,
August 27, 1775.

x David Chaffee, born September 16, 1776; married (1) Abigail Paul;

(2) Almira Freeman.

340 xi Rhoda Chaffee, born January 24, 1779; died in Woodstock, June 30,

1780; baptized in the First Congregational Church of Woodstock,
October 31, 1779.
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111 Freelove * Chaffe (Amos,* Thomas,® Nathaniel,? Thomas!) was born in
Rehoboth, Mass., and died. She married there, November 27, 1746, Eliphalet,
son of Ephraim and Martha (Ide) Carpenter. He was born in Rehoboth, May 26,
1721, and died June 22, 1801. He served in the Revolution. Freelove Chaffe was
baptized in the First Congregational Church in Rehoboth, July 2, 1732. She and
her husband lived there for many years after their marriage, about 1790 moving
to Randolph, Vt., and from there in 1799 to Barre, Vt.

Children, born in Rehoboth:

341 i Amos® Carpenter, born February 7, 1747 ; married Sarah Ide.

342 ii Hannah Carpenter, born June 1, 1751; died August 19, 1854. :

343 iii Ephraim Carpenter, born December 7, 1753 ; married Sarah Titus.

344 iv Eﬂphalet Carpenter, Jr., born April 13, 1757; married Judith Robinson.
345 v Remember Carpenter, born January 13, 1762; married Phebe Smith.

346 vi Hannah Carpenter, born May 20, 1765; died November 11, 1777.

347 vii Comfort Carpenter, born April 13, 1771.

For further descendants see Carpenter Genealogy, by Amos B. Carpenter.

125 Oharles ® Ohaffee (Thomas,* Thomas,® Nathaniel,? Thomas !) was born in
Rehoboth, Mass., June 5, 1744, and died. He married, April 17, 1771, Mrs. Mary
(Peck) Jacob, daughter of Nathaniel and Alice (Fish) Peck, and widow of Allen
Jacob. She was born December 11, 1782. Charles Chaffee was baptized in the
First Congregational Church of Rehoboth, June 17, 1744. He served in the Revo-
lution as follows:

“Chafee, Charles, Rehoboth. Private, Capt. Phanuel Bishop’s co., which
marched on the alarm of April 19, 1775; service 8 days.

“Chaffee, Charles. Sergeant, Capt. Joseph Franklin’s co., Col. Thomas Car-
penter’s regt.; marched from Rehoboth to Bristol on the alarm at Rhode Island
of December 8, 1776; service, 16 days.” [Massachuselts Soldiers and Sailors in
the War of the Revolution.)

Children, born in Rehoboth:

348 i Lucy ® Chaffee.

349 ii Jacob Chaffee, born September 3, 1773.

350 iii Russell Chaffee, born January 15, 1776; ““Russell Chaffee, yeoman,” sold
land in Rehoboth and Seekonk, Mass., from 1810 to 1817.

120 Amos 3> Ohaffe (Thomas,* Thomas,® Nathaniel,? Thomas!) was born in
Rehoboth, Mass., December 11, 1750, and died at sea, March 9, 1793. He married
in Rehoboth, February 22, 1775, Sarah, daughter of Major Nathan Munroe of
that place. She was born May 15, 1754, and died in Providence, R. 1., July 12,
1800.

Amos Chaffe was baptized in the First Congregational Church of Rehoboth,
March 17, 1750. He was a stone-mason and lived in Providence, having moved
there soon after his marriage. The Providence Town Records contain the following
entries in regard to him:
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“The Town of Providence debt to carting a load of the Records of Imps Court,
and the Records of this town, from the Town to Colonel John Wartemans in John-
stone about six or seven miles £1 sh16 d0.

“Providence R. I. Dec. ye 9th Ad 1776.

“At a Town meeting of the Town of Providence R. I. held on the 16th day of
May Ad 1777. It was voted and asked that twelve shillings lawful money be paid
to Amos Chaffee of Providence, R. I. out of the Town Treasury for removing the
Town Records to Johnston by warrant from the Governor upon the Alarm in
December last.

“Witness Theodore Foster Town Clerk
“To Mr. James Arnold Town Treasurer.”

May 4, 1789, Amos Chaffe and several others addressed a petition to the Town
Council, asking them to allow inoculation for smallpox, and to open a hospital
for the treatment of that disease. That year also he was appointed administrator

of the estate of his brother Thomas.

Children, born in Providence:

351 i Amos Chaffe (Chafee), Jr., born November 24, 1775; died in Prov-
idence, November 21, 1803; lived in Baltimore, Md., unmarried;
he died intestate and his sister Sarah was made administratrix
of his estate, and the inventory taken February 13, 1804; he had
a pew in the Beneficent Congregational Society Meeting House,
in 1803.

4352 ii Otis Chaffe, born November 13, 1777; married Amy Underwood.

353 iii Sarah Chaffe, born September 7, 1779; died; married, July 5, 1801,

Pardon Bosworth.
4354 iv Nathan M. Chaffe, married Matilda Griffith.
4355 v Zechariah Chaffe, born December 21, 1785; married Mary Eddy.

356 wvi Haméah Chaffe, born May 10, 1788; died June 7, 1857; married William

rapon.
+357 wii Sophli;a. Munroe Chaffe, born November 25, 1792; married Nathaniel
arstow.

358 viii Nancy Chaffe, died; lived with her brother Nathan, unmarried.

130 Joseph 5 Ohaflee (Thomas,* Thomas,® Nathaniel,? Thomas!) was born in
Rehoboth, Mass., September 17, 1752, and died in Seekonk, Mass, (formerly Re-
hoboth), February 5, 1842. He was married (1) in Rehoboth, October 26, 1775,
by Elder Samuel Peck, to Lois Barney of that place, their intention of marriage
being entered there, September 5, 1775. She died in 1790, and was buried in Re- -
hoboth. He was married (2) there June 12, 1791, by Reverend John Ellis, to
Huldah, daughter of Colonel Timothy Walker of that place. She was born April
29 (May 22), 1755. April 26, 1797, she sold her share of her father’s estate, being
the south half of nineteen acres in Rehoboth.

Joseph Chaffee served as a Private and Corporal in the Revolution, as follows:

“Chaffe, Joseph, Rehoboth. Corporal, Capt. Isaac Hodges’s co.; receipt dated
Dorchester, for wages for service from Aug. 12, 1776, to Oct. 1, 1776; also, Capt.
Hodges’s co., Col. Ebenezer Francis's regt.; receipts for wages for Oct. and Nov.,

1776, dated Dorchester; also, same co. and regt.; credited with 2 days travel
allowance; roll dated Nov. 29, 1776 ; company drafted from various towns in Bristol
Co

“ AM0OS CHAFFE

“Chaffe, Joseph. Private, ng)t. Sylvanus Martin’s co., Col. Williams’s .3
service from Sept. 29, 1777, to Oct. 30, 1777, at Tiverton, R. I. Roll dated
hoboth, Jan. 13, 1778.

“Chaffe, Joseph, Swanzey. Private, Capt. Peleg Peck’s co., Col. Thomas Car-
penter’s regt.; enlisted Aug. 4, 1780; discharged Aug. 9, 1780; service, 6 days, on
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an alarm at Tiverton, R. I.; by order of Col. Slead all the men in Swanzey were
joined in one company under Capt. Peck, the other officers refusing to serve.
Roll sworn to at Rehoboth.” [Massachusetts Soldiers and Sailors in the War of
the Revolution.]

* March 9, 1796, Joseph Chaffee bought for £18 of Noah Chaffe (148) land in

Rehoboth.
Children, by first wife, born in Rehoboth:

359 i Lucy ¢ Chaffee, born December 5, 1776; married Joseph Smith.
360 ii Barney Chaffee, born October 7, 1778; died at sea; probably married
‘ Nancy , who died in Bristol, R. I., June 14, 1812, aged
twenty-one. )
361 iii Joseph Chaffee, Jr., born June 28, 1780; left home and was never heard

of .
362 iv Martha %haﬁ'ee, born July 10, 1784; married Joseph Mason.
+363 v William Chaffee, born February 4, 1786; married Martha Bowen.

Children, by second wife, born in Rehoboth:

364 vi Charlotte Chaffee, born October 10, 1791; married in Seekonk, Sep-
tember 13, 1812, John Arnold.
+365 vii Walker Chaffee, born September 10, 1793; married Patience Bowen.
+366 viii Wilder Chaffee, born March 31, 1796; married Sabrina Bowen.
4367 ix Huldah Chaffee, born May 19, 1798; married Benjamin Peck.

131 Thomas 5 Chaffe, Jr. (Thomas,* Thomas,® Nathaniel,? Thomas !), was born
in Rehoboth, Mass., March 9, 1755, and died in Providence, R. 1., November 26,
1788. He married in Rehoboth, December 7, 1780, Hannah, daughter of Nathan
Munroe of that place. She died in Providence, March 9, 1785, aged thirty-two.
Thomas Chaffe, Jr., was baptized in the First Congregational Church, Rehoboth,
May 11, 1755. He served in the Revolution with the Rhode Island troops as
follows:

“Chafee Thomas. Private, Col. John Topsham’s Reg’t. raised for 3 yrs. Dec.
26, 1776, as per list of balances reported due by the committee, Oct. 17, 1785.”
[Manuscript, Rhode Island Historical Society.]

“Chaffee, Thomas. Paid his money by town council for one month military
service from Oct. 1, 1777, in place of a person who refused to serve.” [Providence
Town Papers.]

“Thomas Chaaffee,” probably this man, a gunner, was one of the American
prisoners on the Island of Rhode Island, April 29, 1778. He was taken prisoner
on board the ship Reprisal when she was captured by the British ship Unicorn.
[Rhode Island Archives, State House, Providence, R. 1.]

““Chafey, Thomas. In Carlile’s Co., Artillery, under Lt-Col. Josiah Flagg.
Did service on Rhode Island 11 days from July 29-Aug. 7, 1780.”

He was a blacksmith in Providence, December 14, 1784, when he bought of
Nathan Munroe, ninety-six and three-quarters acres and twenty rods of. land in
Swansea, Mass., for £261, 7s. 13d. His brother Amos was appointed adminis-
trator of his estate in 1789.

Children:

368 i Thomas*® Chaffe (Chaffee), Jr., born about 1781 ; died; sold land in Swan-
sea ir}'1806, when he owned land in Rehoboth, where he lived; “yeo-

369 ii David Chaffe (Chaffee), born August 15, 1783; died August 24, 1784,
tf)ged%leven months and nine days; buried in North Burying-Ground,
ovidence.
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132 Stephens Ohaffe (Thomas,¢ Thomas, Nathaniel,? Thomas!) was born
probably in Rehoboth, Mass., about 1757, and died in Springville, N. Y., January
23, 1819, in his sixty-third year. He was married in Swansea, Mass., December
14, 1783, by Elder Russell Mason of that place, to Patience Mason, who died April
15, 1838, in her seventy-fourth year, and was buried with her husband in Spring-
ville.

Stephen Chaffe served in the Revolution as follows:

“Chaffee Stephen, Rehoboth. Private, Capt. James Hill’s co., Col. Williams’s

regt.; service from Sept. 29, 1777, to Oct. 30, 1777, at Tiverton, R. I.; also, Capt.
Pe;f Peck’s co., Col. John D tt’s regt.; enlisted Jan. 16, 1778; discharged
April 1, 1778; service 2 mos. 15 days; company stationed at Warwick, R. I.; en-
listment, 3 months; roll sworn to at Swanzey ; also, descriptive list of men mustered
by James Leonard, Muster Master, dated Taunton, June 1, 1778; Capt. Joseph
Franklin’s (10th) co., Col. Thomas Carpenter’s (1st Bristol Co.) regt.; age, 20 yrs.;
stature, 5 ft. 10 in.; complexion, dark; hair, brown ; eyes, blue ; residence, Rehoboth;
enlistment, 9 months from time of arrival at Fishkill.
‘Chaffey, Stephen, Rehoboth Descriptive list of men enlisted from Bristol Co.
for the term of 9 months from the time of their arrival at Fishkill, June 16, 1778;
10th co., 1st regt.; age, 20 yrs.; stature, 5 ft. 10 in.; complexion, dark; residence
Rehoboth; also, list of men returned as received of Jonathan Warner, Commis-
sioner, by Col. R. Putnam, July 20, 1778.” [Massachusetts Soldiers and Sailors
in the War of the Revolution.]

Stephen Chaffe was a carpenter and farmer. In 1796 he lived in Pittsford, Vt.,
and in 1800 in Chittenden, Vt., between 1796 and 1801 buying and selling land in
those towns. He is also said to have lived in New Hampshire. About 1817 or
1818 he moved from Wallingford, Vt., to Springville.

Children:

+370 i Charles ¢ Chaffe, married Polly Miles.
+371 ii Jonathan Chaffe, born in November, 1785; married Nancy Aldrich.
4372 iii Stephen Harrison (?) Chaffe, married Salome Starkey.
373  iv Phoebe Chaffe.
43714 v Rhodl\?_ %oi)hronia Chaffe, born July 11, 1792; married Timothy S.
ichols.
375 vi Amy Chaffe.
376 vii Pati%weYChaﬁe, married Alanson Lovelace, and lived in Rochester,
377 viii Rebecca Chaffe.
378 ix Mary Chaffe, lived with her sister Mrs. Nichols in Vermont; later
moved to New York state.
379  x Sally Chaffe. .

134 Josiah 5 Chaffe (Jonathan,t Jonathan,® Nathaniel,? Thomas!) was born
in Ashford, Conn., February 10, 1728-9, and died there, April 24, 1800. He married
in Ashford, April 10, 1760, Elizabeth Dimmock, who died April 26, 1814, aged
seventy-seven, and was buried in Ashford.

Josiah Chaffe was baptized in the First Congregational Church of Ashford,
February 23, 1728-9. He bought land in Ashford as early as 1753, and later made
several other purchases there. He was admitted to the new freeman’s oath in
Ashford, April 13, 1778. Under the date of May 5, 1787, we find that his ear-
mark for cattle was ‘“‘a half penny cut out of each side of the left ear.” April 4,
1815, in Ashford, Carpenter Chaffe, one of the heirs of Josiah Chaffe, moved for a
division of the property that belonged to the widow, Elizabeth, “ now deceased,”
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the same to be divided equally among the seven surviving children, Frederick,
Josiah, Fidelia, Susanna, Israel D., Carpenter and Elihu.

The tombstone of Elizabeth (Dimmock) Chaffee in the graveyard in the present
town of Warrenville, Conn., bears the following inscription:

“Mrs. Elizabeth Consort of Josiah Chaffee
Died April 26 1814 aged 77 years
What heavenly voice is that
Which calls my soul away
I leave this dark abode
And see immortal day.”

Children, born in Ashford:

380 i Fidelia ¢ Chaffe, born March 16, 1761; died after 1815; she was bap-
tized in the First Congregational Church of Ashford, March 22,
1761.

381  ii Elizabeth Chaffe, born July 29, 1762; died after January 9, 1802,
when her will, made in Ashford, mentions as heirs, her mother,
her brothers Carpenter, Israel D., Elihu and Frederick, sisters
Fidelia and Susanna, and niece Nancy Carpenter Chaffe, ap-

ointing as executor Carpenter Chaffe; she was baptized in the
irst Congregational Church, Ashford, August 15, 1762,

+382 iii Josiah Chaffe, born April 26, 1765; married Joanna Parker.

+383 iv Frederick Chaffe, born March 6, 1767; married Elizabeth Knowlton.

384 v Susanna Chaffe, born May 19, 1769; died after 1815.

385 vi Abigail Chaffe, born March 4, 1771; probably died before 1802, as she
is not mentioned in the will of her sister Elizabeth.

390 vii Israel Dimmock Chaffe, born July 7, 1772; died after 1815; married
Esther, daughter of Benjamin Walker of Ashford, where she died
June 3, 1807; aged thirty-eight; she was buried in Warrenville,
Conn.; no children; in 1803 he sold land in Becket, Mass.

4391 viii Carpenter Chaffe, born February 7, 1774; married Lois Lyon.

392 ix William Chaffe, born October 27, 1775; died August 21, 1776.

4393  x Elihu Chaffe, born May 6, 1777; married Alice d.
394 xi Ephraim Chaffe, born May 9, 1779; died September 25, 1779.

136 Thomas ¢ Chaffee (Jonathan,* Jonathan,’ Nathaniel,? Thomas!) was born
in Ashford, Conn., April 8, 1731, and died in Becket, Mass., December 5, 1810.
He married in Willington, Conn., March 26, 1761, Hannah, daughter of John and
Elizabeth Reed. She was born there October 3, 1742, and died in Becket, May 5,
1836. Thomas Chaffee was baptized in the First Congregational Church of Ash-
ford, May 16, 1731. He was of that town in 1758, when he bought of James Bick-
nell, a fellow townsman, for £75, fifty acres of land, partly in Ashford and partly
in Willington. He probably moved to Willington about the time of his marriage,
as all but the youngest of his children were born there, and he was of that place
September 17, 1783, when he bought of Elijah Carpenter of Becket for £100, one
hundred and six acres of land in the latter town, lying east of a pond called “Yo-
akem Pond,” being lot number forty-two in the second division. Soon after he
moved with his family to Becket, where on April 3, 1784, he and his wife were
admitted to membership in the First Congregational Church by letter from the
church in Willington. March 1, 1793, he was chosen with two others to super-
intend the records of the church. He was a farmer and was known as a kind and
Christian neighbor. It is said to have been his custom to take a neighbor’s little
daughter behind him on his horse, as he and his wife rode to church. Administra-
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tion was granted on his estate, January 8, 1811, his widow and twelve children
being mentioned as his heirs,

Children, all but the youngest born in Willington:

+395 i Benjamin ¢ Chaffee, born November 16, 1762; married (1) Mercy
Ellis; (2) Mrs. Cornelius Seabung.
4396  ii Deliverence Chaffee, born October 26, 1764; married Anthony Church.
397  iii Joshua Chaffee, born May 5, 1766; died in Aurelius, N. Y., where he
lived; unmarried.
+398 iv Thomas Chaffee, Jr., born March 15, 1768; married Abigail Knowlton.
4399 v Jonathan Chaffee, born March 4, 1771; married Rebekah Wadsworth.
+400 vi Lois Chaffee, born March 12, 1773; married Joshua Ames.
4401 vii Nathan Chaffee, born February 24, 1775; married Polly Eaton.
4402 viii Hannah Chaffee, born May 22, 1777; married David Putnam.
+403 ix Zephaniah Chaffee, born October 11, 1779; married Phebe Carpenter.
+404  x Caleb Chaffee, born July 9, 1781; married (1) Martha Fletcher; (2)
Elizabeth Davenport.
405 xi Calvin Chaffee, born June 9, 1783; died after 1811; lived in Scipio, N. Y.
+406 xii Abigail Chaffee, born April 23, 1785; married Amos Watkins.

136 Hannah 5 Chaffee (Jonathan,* Jonathan,® Nathaniel,? Thomas !) was born
in Ashford, Conn., November 28, 1733, and died in Tolland, Conn., June 29, 1804.
She married there, March 3, 1768, Shubael, son of John and Elizabeth Reed. He
was a widower with six children, one of these was Samuel, one of whose descendants
married William Chaffee (3501). [See Appendix H.] Shubael Reed was born in
Willington, Conn., September 27, 1729, and died in Tolland, September 22, 1790.
He was a farmer in Tolland, where he and Hannah (Chaffe) Reed were buried.
His estate, consisting of a farm in Tolland and personal effects, was distributed
among his widow and ten children, April 25, 1791. Hannah Chaffee was baptized
in the First Congregational Church of Ashford, March 17, 1733-4. The inventory
of her estate was taken June 8, 1805, her son William being appointed adminis-
trator.

Children, born in Tolland:

407 i Mary ° Reed, born January 1, 1769.

408 ii John Reed, born June 1, 1770.

409 iii Shubael Reed, Jr., born September 3, 1771.

4410 iv William Reed, born May 20, 1773; married (1) Eunice Fields; (2)
Polly White.
411 v Hannah Reed, born May 1, 1775.

187 William 5 Chaffee (Jonathan,* Jonathan,® Nathaniel,? Thomas !) was born
in Ashford, Conn., July 30, 1736, and died there June 9, 1770. He married in
Ashford, July 21, 1762, Anna Bibbins, who after his death married (2)
Robinson. William Chaffee was baptized in the First Congregational Church
of Ashford, September 12, 1736. He was a farmer, and lived in his native town,
where in 1769 he bought seven and a half acres of land of Elisha Lathrop of Nor-
wich, Conn., for 46s. June 18, 1771, his estate, amounting to £71, 5s. was ad-
ministered in Ashford, by his widow.

Children, born in Ashford:

412 i Eunice ¢ Chaffee, born February 28, 1763 ; married Beers.
+413 ii Jonathan Chaffee, born February 11, 1765; married Sally Farnham,
414 iii Triphena Chaffee, born March 16, 1767; died December 16, 1773.
4415 iv Amos Chaffee, born September 12, 1769; married Harmony Crary.
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141 Jonathan 5 Chaffee, Jr. (Jonathan,¢ Jonathan,? Nathaniel,? Thomas 1), was
born in Ashford, Conn., May 11, 1746, and died March 8, 1826. He married there,
May 2 (1), 1776, Lucy Allen, born July 2, 1748, died March 14, 1823, of fever, and
was buried in the old cemetery in Ashford. She was admitted to membership in
the First Congregational Church, Ashford, November 25, 1798. Jonathan Chaffee
was baptized in the same church, June 14, 1746. He is thought to have owned
land in Luzerne County, Pa., as early as 1773. At the outbreak of the Revolution,
he enlisted in Ashford in April, 1775, in response to the Lexington Alarm, serving
sixteen days under Captain Thomas Knowlton. He also fought in the Battle of
Bunker Hill. March 16, 1826, Samuel Whipple of Ashford was appointed ad-
ministrator of his estate.

Children, born in Ashford:

416 i James ¢ Chaffee, born May 21, 1777; died in Ashford, May 14, 1778.
+417 ii Molly Chaffee, born February 25, 1779; married Samuel a’hip le.
+418 iii Jonathan Chaffee, Jr., born November 26, 1780; married (1) Elizabeth

James; (2) Nancy Mitchell.

419 iv Persis Chaffee, born July 29, 1782; died; married Rice, and
had three or four children; her descendants live in Ohio and Iowa;
she was baptized in the First Congregational Church of Ashford,

and admitted to its membership, January 27, 1799.
+420 v Reuben Chaffee, born March 5, 1784; married Martha W. Bound.

143 Nathaniel 5 Ohaffee, Jr. (Nathaniel,¢ Jonathan,® Nathaniel,2 Thomas 1), was
born in Rehoboth, Mass., October 6, 1735, and died in 1822, He married (1) in
Rehoboth, October 15, 1755, Ruth Mansfield, who died in Rehoboth, January 3,
1760. He married (2), July 17, 1760, Susanna, daughter of Daniel Carpenter.
She died before December 22, 1818, as she is not mentioned in her husband’s will
made on that date.

Nathaniel Chaffee, Jr., was baptized in the First Congregational Church of
Rehoboth, in the spring of 1751. He was a blacksmith, and lived the greater part
of his life in Rehoboth. When he made his will in 1818 he called himself of Seekonk,
but as the records do not show that he sold his land in Rehoboth, and all the
property mentioned in the will was in Seekonk, the probability is that his Rehoboth
property was in the western part of the town, which in 1812 was set off as a separate
town, and called Seekonk. In 1759, Nathaniel Chaffe, Jr., was appointed admin-
istrator of his father’s estate. November 9, 1761, ““ Nathaniel Chaffe, blacksmith ”
bought for £126, of David Thuston of Rehoboth, also a blacksmith, twenty acres
of land there, being Thuston’s homestead. June 18, 1764, he sold to Josiah Cush-
ing for £9, one acre of salt marsh in Swansea, Mass., *formerly belonging to my
father.” July 1, 1765, he sold for £8, 10s. to Abner Allyn, another acre of salt
marsh in Swansea. At a town meeting in Rehoboth, August 29, 1774, he was
chosen to serve on the petit jury. The next year the Revolution broke out and
Nathaniel Chaffee enlisted immediately on receipt of the news of the Battle of
Lexington:

“Chafee, Nathaniel, Rehoboth. Private, Capt. John Lyon’s or Capt. Jesse
Perrin’s co., which marched on the alarm of April 19, 1775; service 7 days [the
two Rehoboth alarm companies under Capt. Lyon and Capt. Perrin returned
upon one roll].

“Chaffee, Nathaniel. Private, Capt. Nathaniel Carpenter’s co., Col. Thomas

Carpenter’s regt. marched from Rehoboth to Bristol, R. I., on the alarm of Dec.
8, 1776; service 16 days.

I
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“Choffe, Nathaniel, Rehoboth. Private, Capt. Jacob Fuller’s co., Col. John
Jacobs’ regt.; enlisted May 27, 1778; service, 7 mos 6 days at Rhode Island; en-
listment to expire Jan. 1, 1779,

“Chaffey, Nathaniel. Private, Capt. Jacob Haskins’s co., Lieut. Col. Samuel
Pierce’s regt.; enlisted May 20, 1779; discharged July 1, 1779; service, 1 mo. 14
Idiaysi at T}verbon, R. 1.” [Massachusetts Soldiers and Satlors in the War of the

evolution.

At a town meeting in Rehoboth, March 31, 1777, Nathaniel Chaffee was chosen
Surveyor of Highways. March 31, 1784, he bought for £26, 2s. 6d., of Samuel
Newman of Rehoboth, four and three-quarters acres of land there, being the east-
erly part of the grantor’s homestead.

His will, recorded in Taunton, follows:

“In the name of God Amen, I Nathaniel Chaffee of Seekonk in the County of
Bristol and commonwealth of Massachusetts being of a sound disposeing mind
and memory for which I blless God calling to mind the mortality of my body
knowing tis appointed for all men to die do make this my last Will and Testa-
ment principaly I Give my soul unto God who gave it hopeing Through the merits
of Christ my only Redeemer to receive the full pardon of all my sins and to inherit
eternal life let my body be decently buried at the discretion of my Executor here-
after named And as touching such worldly estate as God was pleased to bless me
with I Give and dispose of the same as follows Viz.—Imprimis, I give unto my
four sons Viz—Comfort Chaffee Nathaniel Chaffee Benjamin Chaffee and Simeon
Chaffee Five dollars each in adition to what I had Before given them to be paid
by my executor thereafter named Then, I give unto my son Ezra Chaffee and
to his heirs and assigns my lot of land adjoining his home place in Seekonk—In
consideration of what I have given him I order him to pay to my daughter Hannah
Chaffee twelve dollars in Lﬂney Then,—I give to my Grandchildren—Viz—
Children of my Son Daniel Chaffee deceased two acres of woodland adjoining their
own land their Mother to have privilede to cut wood thereon while she remains
my sons widow. Item I give to my daughter Rebecca Peck and to her heirs One
bed and furniture one large round table and flax hatchel in addition to what I
Before gave her—Item,—I, Give to my daughter Hannah Chaffee and to her heirs
and assigns forever the westerly end of my dwelling house A room and bedroom
and chamber over it and one half the cellar and right in the well for water also
a sufficient yard room for laying her wood and the north half of the garden by the
well my son Aaron to keep it ?enced I also give six acres of woodland adjoining
to two acres I Gave my grandchildren also that six acre lot adjoining Noah Fullers
meadow—also about three acres of my lot on the east side of the road being the
northeast part to extend Southwesterly as far as Corn crib Also A privilege in the
Crib to put her corn also a privilege in the hay barn to put her hay and stable for
her cow I also give her one Cow And also all my indoor moveables Excepting
what I have Given my other children in particular and also one half of my salt
marsh next to the ditch. I also Give her all my provision I have on hand and
swine not killed also to have a horse provided for her to ride to metting also a seat
in my pew in the meeting house also to have her Cow pastured the summer season
Also to have three cords of wood cut fit and brought up to her door yearly by my
own son Aaron Chaffee I also give my daughter Hannah Chaffee Twenty Five
dollars in money to be paid her by my own son Aaron Chaffee In One year
after my decease, N. B. It is my will that the privilege to my daughter
Hannah in the barn crib and garden when she has done with them to revert
to my son Aaron Chaffee.—Item—I give unto my son Aaron Chaffee and
unto his heirs and assigns forever all the residue and the remainder of my estate
both real and personal laying in Seekonk or elsewhere that I have not in this my
Will given to my other children and grandchildren in particular. And I do consti-
tute ordain and appoint him my saiﬁrson Aaron Chafiee sole executor of this my
last will and Testament excepting only what my son Ezra Chaffee is to pay to his
sister Hannah Chaffee,—And I do hereby oblige my son Aaron Chaffee as executor
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to pay and discharge all my lawful debts and funeral charges and the legacies in
this my Will given to my other children excepting what my son Ezra Chaffee is
to pay his sister—And I do hereby order my son Aaron Chaffee to pay to his sister
Hannah Chaffee twenty Five dollars in money in one year after my discease—
Als to cut fit for her fire three cords of her fire wood and brought up to her door
{early and every year while she liveth in the house and take care of her cow in

ad weather in winter and to pasture her Cow in the summer season Aand I do
hereby disannul all former Wills by me here tofore made Ratifying and Confineing
what is before and above written in this Instrument to be my mt Will and Testa-
ment.—In witnes whereof I have here unto set my hand and seal this twenty
seclc:nd day of december in the of oure Lord one thousand eight hundred and
eighteen

£ “NATHL CHAFFEE [L. 8.]
‘Signed sealed published and pronounced by the said Nathaniel Chaffee in presence
of us subscribers this instrument to be his Last will and Testament
‘“ Joseph Chaffe
“David Cole
“Danl Carpenter Witnesses”

Children, by first wife, born in Rehoboth:

+421 i Comiigrt' Chaffe, born March 9, 1756; married Mrs. Lucy (Stowe)
0

yt.
+422  ii Nathaniel Chaffee, Jr., born March 7, 1757 ; married (1) Huldah ;
(2) Mrs. Doolittle.
423 iii Ruth Chaffee, born December 10, 1758; probably died before 1818,
as she is not mentioned in her father’s will.
Children, by second wife, born in Rehoboth:

424  iv Susanna Chaffee, born March 1, 1763; probably died before 1818, as
she is not mentioned in her father’s will.
425 v Hannah Chaffee, born December 19, 1764; died before 1824; unmar-
ried ; lived in Seekonk, where she owned land in 1815.
+426 vi Daniel Chaffee, born July 27, 1766; married Sarah Newman.
+427 vii Benjamin Chaffee, born August 17 (7), 1768; married Judith Fuller.
+428 viii Rebecca Chaffee, born June 8, 1770; married Thomas Peck.
4429 ix Simeon Chaffee, born February 5, 1772; married (1) Martha Morse-
man; (2) Mrs. Fanny (Pearson) Thornton.
+430 x Ezra Chaffee, born October 29, 1773 ; married Patience Brown.
+431 xi Aaron Chaffee, born July 25, 1775; married Lydia French.
432 xii Huldah Chaffee, born June 28, 1777; probably died before 1818, as
she is not mentioned in her father’s will.

144 John & Chaffee (Nathaniel,¢ Jonathan,® Nathaniel,? Thomas !) was born in
Rehoboth, Mass., June 20, 1737, and died January 21, 1811. He married, about
1759-60, Ruth Jones of Rehoboth, their intention of marriage being published
October 6, 1759. She died February 26, 1808, in her sixty-ninth year.

John Chaffee was baptized in the First Congregational Church of Rehoboth in
the spring of 1751. At the time of his marriage he lived in North Providence, and
probably soon after moved to Newport, R. I., as from 1762 to 1768 he had children
born there. He served in the Revolution in a Massachusetts regiment:

‘ Chaffe, John, Private, Capt. Thomas Crandon’s co., Col. John Hathaway’s regt.;

enlisted Aug. 2, 1780; discharged Aug. 8, 1780; service, 6 days, on an alarm at
Rhode Island.” [Massachusetts Soldiers and Sailors in the War of the Revolution.]

In March, 1781, John Chaffee, yeoman of Dartmouth, bought of John Cannon
for £120, several parcels of land. December 10, 1781, as administrator of the
estate of Henry Wrightman of Dartmouth, he sold land to Nathaniel Spooner.
December 18, 1781, he bought for £49, 10s., thirteen and a quarter acres of land
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in Dartmouth to which he added, September 5, 1785, four more acres, costing £7,
4s. December 26, 1791, he bought for £7, 10s., two acres of land in New Bedford,
Mass., where he was living December 8, 1794, when he bought of Gamaliel Bryant
twenty-two acres of land there, and four and a half acres in Poneganset Great
Cedar Swamp, for £90. August 24, 1795, he bought of John Smith of Roxbury,
Mass., for £36, thirty acres of land in New Bedford. March 10, 1797, he sold to
Simpson Spooner for $25, a quitclaim on two acres of salt meadow in New Bedford.

The following is thought to refer to John Chaffee:

“Previous to the Revolutionary War a candle house the first in the place [New
Bedford] was built by Joseph Russell and Capt. Chafee, who had been engaged
in manufacturing spermaceti in Lisbon, was employed by Mr. Russell at the :ﬁen
large salary of $500 per year. This building stood near the corner of Centre and
Front Streets and was burnt by the British during the general conflagration of
the place.” [Ricketson’s History of New Bedford.]

Children, born in Newport:

433 i John ¢ Chaffee, Jr., born September 20, 1762; married, November 17,

1808, Nancy McLane, both being of New Bedford.
+434 ii Ezra Chaffee, born December 15, 1764; married Deborah Hathaway.

435 iii Ruth Chahf}'ee, born April 22, 1768; died June 26, 1787; buried in Acush-

net, Mass.

146 Levi 5 Ohaffee (Nathaniel,¢ Jonathan,3 Nathaniel,? Thomas!) was born in
Rehoboth, Mass., September 10, 1742, and died. He married there, February 24,
1765, Anna Pierce, born June 10, 1746. She married (2) Horton.

Levi Chaffe was baptized in the First Congregational Church of Rehoboth in
the spring of 1751. His father dying in 1759, his brother Nathaniel was appointed
his guardian.

Levi “Chaffe” of Rehoboth, served in the Colonial Wars as Private in Captain
Jabez Snow’s company from July 6 to December 10, 1761, according to a roll dated
Boston, Mass., April 14, 1762. [Massachusetts Archives, Muster Rolls, Vol. XCIX,
p. 131].

He was a blacksmith and seems to have been fond of change, as in the five years
from 1775 to 1780, we find that he lived in five towns, Wrentham, Rehoboth,
Mendon, Bellingham and Attleboro, all in Massachusetts; but he did not go far
from his native town, as all these towns adjoined each other, Attleboro lying north
of Rehoboth, Wrentham north of Attleboro, Bellingham west of Wrentham, and
Mendon west of Bellingham. He was of Rehoboth, October 5, 1763, when he sold
to William Chaffee (158) for £14, three and one-half acres of land there, which
had formerly belonged to his father, Nathaniel. He was living in Wrentham in
1772 and 1775, when children were born to him there and he enlisted from there
at the time of the Lexington Alarm:

“Chaffe, Levi, Wrentham. Private, Capt. Asa Fairbanks’s co., which marched
on the alarm of April 19, 1775; service, 3% days.” [Massachusetts Soldiers and
Sailors in the War of the Revolution.)

September 26, 1776, he was again living in Rehoboth, when he and his wife
sold to Joseph Matthews for £195, forty-two acres of land there. February 10,
<1777, they were still of that town when they sold to Eleazer Bliss, fourteen and
three-quarters acres of land for £78. But before the next winter they had again
moved, this time to Mendon, where February 3, 1778, they sold land to Daniel
Wedge for £140. February 16, 1778, they sold land there to Caleb Thompson for
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£480. By the next winter they had moved to Bellingham and were planning
another removal to Attleboro, for on March 8, 1779, “Levi Chaffe yeoman of
Bellingham "’ bought of Oliver Whitaker of Attleboro for £900, sixty-five acres
of land in that place, the next day, March 9th, selling his homestead in Bellingham
containing seventy-five acres of land, buildings and fences, for £1,200, to Ezekiel
Thayer of that town. He moved within a year to Attleboro, as the war records
show:

“Chaffe, Levi, Attleborough. Descriptive list of men raised to reinforce Con-
tinental Army for the term of 6 months, agreeable to resolve of June 5, 1780; age,
36 years [this is erroneous, he was almost 38], stature, 5 ft. 4 in.; complexion, light;
residence, Attleborough; arrived at Springfield July 9, 1780; marched to camp
July 11, 1780, under command of Ensign Bancroft.

“Chaffee, Levi, Attleborough. Pay roll for 6 months men raised by the town
of Attleborough for service in the Continental Army during 1780; marched July
6, 1780; discharged August 22, 1780; service, 1 mo. 16 days.” [Massachuselts
Soldiers and Sailors in the War of the Revolution.)

September 27, 1782, Levi and his wife of Attleboro, sold to Israel Pierce of
Rehoboth thirty acres of land in Attleboro and half the house where they lived
for £90. January 15, 1783, they sold to James Pullen, Jr., for £33, 3s., twelve
and one-half acres of land in Attleboro, being the northwesterly part of the grantor’s
home place. January 29, 1783, they sold to Israel Pierce for £60, four and one-
half acres more in Attleboro. This is the last mention that has been found in the
records, so it is probable that he moved away, perhaps to Vermont, with his
children. It is not known when and where he died.

Children:

4436 i Stephen ¢ Chaffee, born October 10, 1765; married Chloe Pearce.
4437 ii Jonathan Chaffee, born April 18, 1768; married Polly Horton.
438 iii Robey Chaffee, born in Wrentham, February 20, 1772; married in
Rehoboth, September 17, 1793, Reuben Horton; probably living
in Londonderry, Vt., in 1794.
439 iv Rhoda Chaffee, born in Wrentham, April 10, 1775; residence, 1797,
Londonderry ; unmarried.
440 v Joseph Chaffee, born in Attleboro, February 27, 1781.

148 Noah ¢ Ohaffee (Nathaniel,* Jonathan,® Nathaniel,? Thomas!) was born
in Rehoboth, Mass., February 22, 1745-6, and died in Woodstock, Conn., January 3,
1816. He married Susanna Esterbrook, who died there in 1829. Noah Chaffee
was baptized in the First Congregational Church of Rehoboth, in the spring of
1751. He lost his father when thirteen years of age and his brother, Nathaniel,
was appointed his guardian. August 3, 1762, when of an age to choose his own
guardian, he made choice of his uncle Ephraim Chaffe (44). He lived for some
years in Rehoboth, where he was a tailor. November 10, 1769, with William
Chaffe (158) he sold for £18, five acres of land in Rehoboth, to John Bowen.
May 9, 1770, ““ Noah Chaffe tailor of Rehoboth,” sold to the same William Chaffe,
for £9, 18s., two and a half acres of land there. The next record of him is the
birth of his first child in Woodstock in 1776. He probably moved to Pomfret,
Conn., between 1789 and 1792. He was of that place, March 9, 1796, when he
sold to Joseph Chaffe (130) of Rehoboth for £18, one-fifth part of the real estate
of his father, Nathaniel Chaffe, late of Rehoboth. His youngest child was born
in Pomfret in 1801, but both he and his wife died in Woodstock.
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Children, the first five born in Woodstock, the last two in Pomfret:

441 i Rebecca ¢ Chaffee, born March 25, 1776; died.
42 il Samhs%mﬁee, born August 1, 1777; died in Woodstock, February 7,
1820. \
443 iii Nancy Chaffee, born April 5, 1779; died in Woodstock, February 13,
1878; she was a member of the Congreglational Church there;
‘““Aunt Nancy Chaffee’” as she was familiarly called, was uni-
versally respected by old and young, living from her childhood
in the place of her nativity, beloved for her kindly disposition,
and honored for her worth and Christian charity.
+444  iv Martin Chaffee, born:June 4, 1781; married Lucy B. Underwood.
+445 v William Chaffee, born October 8, 1782; married Lucy Vose.
446  vi Child, born about July, 1784; died in Woodstock, January 17, 1786.
447 vii Patience Chaffee, born March 29, 1787; died in Springfield, Mass.;
married December 27, 1807, Calvin Gay of Woodstock.
+448 viii Else Chaffee, born July 25, 1789; married Henry M. Chapin.
+449 ix Reuben Chaffee, born February 1, 1792; married Hannah Heath.
450 x Amos Chaffee, born September 24, 1801; died ; unmarried.

168 William 5 Ohaffee (Dan,* Jonathan,® Nathaniel,? Thomas!) was born in
Rehoboth, Mass., August 15, 1737, and died about 1821. He married in Rehoboth,
March 19, 1761, Catherine, daughter of John Thomas.

William Chaffee was baptized in the First Congregational Church of Rehoboth,
August 21, 1737. He was a cordwainer, or shoemaker. May 15, 1749, his grand-
father, Jonathan Chaffe, gave to him “in consequence of love, goodwill and affec-
tion I do bare to my dutifull grandchild” two acres of land in Rehoboth. Feb-
ruary 7, 1760, he bought of his grandfather Chaffe for £100, twenty-four acres of
land there, being part of the latter’s homestead, and adjoining the land of Amos
and Thomas Chaffe. William Chaffee’s sheep mark was “a round half penny on
the upper and under side of the right ear.” October 22, 1768, “ William Chaffee
yeoman "’ bought of Benjamin Leonard for £8, 1s., four and one-half acres, thirty-
two rods of land in the northerly part of Holmes Swamp in Rehoboth; October 25,
1768, he and his brother Jonathan paid £12 to Benjamin Leonard for a tract of
land. November 10, 1769, William and Noah Chaffe (148) sold for £18, five acres
in Rehoboth, adjoining the land of Dan Chaffe, to John Bowen. April 18, 1770,
“William Chaffe, cordwainer” and his wife, sold the twenty-four acres bought in
1760 of Jonathan Chaffe, for £114, to Ephraim Chaffe (44). May 9, 1770, Wil-
liam bought of Noah Chaffe for £9, 18s., two and a half acres of land in Rehoboth.
January 26, 1775, Jonathan Chaffe and wife Mary sold to William, twenty-two
acres of land in Rehoboth, and three shares of the division of dower of Lydia, wife
of Nathaniel Chaffe, the price being £86, 8s. 11d. During the Revolution William
served as follows:

“Chaffee, William. Private, Capt. Joseph Franklin’s co., Col. Thomas Car-
penter’s regt.; marched from Rehoboth to Bristol, on the alarm at Rhode Island
of Dec. 8, 1776; service 16 days.” [Massachusetts Soldiers and Satlors in the War
of the Revolution.)

In 1787, William was living in Cumberland, R. I. (formerly called Attleboro
Gore, part of the township of Attleboro), when he was executor of the will of his
cousin, Miriam Chaffe (42), and he was still living there May 9, 1794, when he and
his wife, Catherine, sold to David Kingley of Rehoboth, three acres of land there,
being Catherine’s share in that part of the estate of Nicholas Thomas that was set
off to the heirs of John Thomas. In 1796, William was living in Williamstown,
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Orange County, Vt., where his estate was administered, his daughter, Sarah
Thomas (Chaffee) Davenport, being appointed administratrix October 8, 1821,
and the inventory of the real and personal estate being taken November 16th.
William Chaffee and his wife are both buried in Williamstown.

Children, born in Rehoboth:

451 i Betsey ¢ Chaffee, born October 13, 1761; died August 18, 1848; lived
with her sister Sarah Thomas (Chaffee) Paul; unmarried.
4452 ii John Chaffee, born May 23, 1764; married Patty Tubbs.
+453 iii Josiah Chaffee, born July 12, 1766; married Silenda Gould.
454 iv Hannah Carpenter Chaffee, born May 26, 1769.
+455 v William Chaffee, Jr., born April 6, 1772; married (1) Elizabeth Green;
(2) Sarah Sweet.
456 vi Olive Chaffee, born June 4, 1775; married, September 10, 1795, Comfort
Carpenter of Brookfield, Vt.
457 vii Sarah Thomas Chaffee, born February 13, 1779; died in Stockholm,
N. Y., October 12, 1857; married (1) Davenport; (2)
April 10, 1823, James Paul of Northfield, Vt., a widower with
ten children; he was born in Dighton, Mass., April 25, 1768, and
died in Northfield, December 18, 1838; he moved to Williamstown
and later to Northfield, where he bought a farm; he was a black-
smith and later a well-known maker of axes; Sarah Thomas
(Chaffee) Paul was a member of the Universalist church; in 1821
she administered her father’s estate; the following is found in
the front of a Bible, published in 1798:
“Sarah Thomas Chaffee is my name and English is my nation.
Williamstown is my Dwelling place and Christ is my Salvation.
When I am Dead and Buried and all my Bones are Rotten when
this you see Remember me, not let me be forgotten. Williams-
town 7th of September 1802.”

160 Jonathan 5 Chaffe (Dan,t Jonathan,® Nathaniel,2 Thomas1) was born in
Rehoboth, Mass., October 16, 1742, and died August 7, 1800. He married there,
November 27, 1766, Mary Coomer, who died October 14, 1807, aged sixty-five.
She had a light complexion, blue eyes, and was of medium height. She was a
member of the Baptist church in which her husband was a minister.

Jonathan Chaffe was baptized in the First Congregational Church of Rehoboth,
October 17, 1742. He had a light complexion, blue eyes, and was of medium
height. He bought ten acres of land in Rehoboth in 1764, and seven acres in 1765.
June 13, 1768, “Jonathan Chaffe, tailor,” of Rehoboth sold to “Miriam Chaffe,
spinster” (42), for £4, 10s., one and a half acres of land there adjoining the land
of Thomas and William Chaffe. March 12, 1771, he sold to John Ide for £1, 5s.,
three-fourths of an acre of land in Rehoboth, and June 10th of the same year to
Elhanan Winchester “laborer in ye Gospel,” two acres of land there for £3. At
a town meeting held in Rehoboth, March 9, 1773, Jonathan Chaffe was chosen
Constable. January 26, 1775, he and his wife sold to William Chaffe, their brother,
for £36, 8s. 11d., their homestead lot in Rehoboth, consisting of twenty-two acres
of land, and also sold three full shares in ‘‘ye division of dower set off to ye widow
Lydia Chaffe” from the estate of her husband, Nathaniel Chaffe (39). Jonathan
Chaffee was a Baptist minister and in May, 1778, was ordained pastor of a church
in Rehoboth, founded by Reverend Elhanan Winchester in 1771. He having
differed from his flock on the subject of infant and adult baptism, he being a * close
communion Baptist” and they ‘large communion Baptists’’ he was forced to
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leave and “Elder Jonathan Chaffee” was installed in his place which he held un-
til his death. He performed many marriages between 1779 and 1799.
In 1796, Jonathan Chaffe was executor of his father’s will. He and his wife
were buried in the Old burying-ground in Rehoboth where his tombstone reads:
“The Reverend Jonathan Chaffe who was a faithful teacher of Jesus Christ &
died in peace August 7th 1800.”
Children, born in Rehoboth:
+458 i Mary ¢ Chaffe, married James Paine (descendant of 27).
+459  ii Jonathan Chaffe, born February 16, 1769; married Lephe Carpenter.
+460 iii Oliver Chaffe, born February 30, 1771; married Prudence Armington
(probably a descendant of 40).
461 iv Enoch Chaffe, born February 8, 1774; died.
+462 v Abel Chaffe, born September 9, 1776 ; married Sally Bowen.
463 vi Caleb Chaffe, born October 8, 1778; died.
464 vii Jesse Chaffe, born September 9, 1781; died in 1836; had a light com-
plexion and blue eyes; sold land in Rehoboth in 1807; unmarried.

163 Robinson 5 Ohaflee (Dan,* Jonathan,® Nathaniel,? Thomas!) was born in
Rehoboth, Mass., April 13, 1750, and died March 26, 1782. He married there,
February 4, 1779, Rachel,® daughter of Charles and Rachel 8 (Sweeting) (101)
Peck (Rachel ¢ Chaffe, Thomas,3 Nathaniel,? Thomas !). She was born August 15,
1757, and married (2) Ebenezer Short.

“Chaffee, Robinson. Private, Capt. Israel Hix’s co., Col. Josiah Whitney’s

.; enlisted July 30, 1778; discharged Sept. 10, 1778; service, 1 mo. 13 days, at
ode Island; company raised in Bristol Co.” [Massachusetts Soldiers and Sailors
in the War of the Revolution.)

Child:

465 i Sylve%te; ¢ Chaffee, born in Rehoboth, March 8, 1781; died December 186,
1797.

165 Braddock 5 Chaffee (Dan,* Jonathan,® Nathaniel,? Thomas 1) was born in
Rehoboth, Mass.,, November 1, 1756, and died probably in Vermont, between
March 13, and May 10, 1813. He married in Rehoboth, August 23, 1781, Sarah
Brown of that place, who survived him. He was baptized in the First Congrega-
tional Church of Rehoboth, November 7, 1756. He served in the Revolution as

follows:

“Chaffee, Braddock. Private, Capt. Joseph Franklin’s co., Col. Thomas Car-
penter’s regt., marched from Rehoboth to Bristol on the alarm at Rhode Island
of December 8, 1776 ; service, 16 days; also, Capt. Jabez Bullock’s co., Col. Thomas
Carpenter’s .; enlisted July 27, 1780; discharged July 31, 1780; service 5 days,
at Tiverton,r%.t 1., on an alarm; roll sworn to at Rehoboth; also, same co. and
regt.; enlisted August 1, 1780; discharged Aug. 9, 1780; service, 9 days, under
Gen. Heath; marched to Tiverton, R. 1., on an alarm; roll sworn to at Rehoboth.

“Chaffe, Braddock. Sergeant, Capt. Nathaniel Ide’s co., commanded by Capt.

Samuel Fisher, Col. Carpenter’s re%;.; enlisted Auﬁ. 13, 1779; discharged Sept.
12, 1779; service, 1 mo., at Rhode Island; company detached for 4 weeks service.”

[M assachusetts Soldiers and Sailors in the War of the Revolution.]

May 19, 1783, “ Braddock Chaffe yeoman of Rehoboth” and wife Sarah, bought
of John Walker of that place, fifteen and a quarter acres of land there for £63, 3d.
January 17, 1784, they sold to John Thurber for £72, 13s. 8d., sixteen acres of
land in Rehoboth. March 22, 1805, Braddock Chaffee bought of Nathan Peck
and wife Rhoda for £20, six acres of land in Rehoboth, which had formerly be-
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longed to the heirs of Amos Chaffe. He bought more land there in 1792, and in
1801, sold his entire homestead of sixty acres, and moved to Clarendon, Vt., where
.his will made March 13, 1813, was probated May 10th following. It names as
heirs his wife Sarah, his son Asa, and daughters, Sarah, Mary and Henrietta.

Children, born in Rehoboth:

466 i Sarah ¢ Chaffee, born February 28, 1784; died after 1813.

467  ii Mary Chaffee, born May 25, 1786; died after 1813.

468 iii Hannah Chaffee, born November 11, 1788; probably died before 1813,
as she is not mentioned in her father’s will.

469 iv Judith Chaffee, born November 11, 1790; probably died before 1813,
as she is not mentioned in her father’s will.

+470 v Asa Chaffee, born May 20, 1794; married Mrs. Almira M. Colvin.

471 vi Henrietta (Annerette) Chaffee, born January 2, 1797; died after 1813.

472 vii Lephe Chaffee, born A:fust 31, 1798; probably died before 1813, as
she is not mentioned in her father’s will.

166 Patience 5 Chafle (Ephraim,¢ Jonathan,3 Nathaniel,? Thomas!) was born
in Rehoboth, Mass., November 9, 1752, and died. She married there, April 14,
1774, Samuel Bowen.

Children, born in Rehoboth:

473 i Mary ¢ Bowen, born April 14, 1777.
474 ii Susanna Bowen, born May 9, 1778.
475 iii Ephraim Bowen, born July 17, 1782.
476 iv Rachel Bowen, born April 20 1789.
477 v Sally Bowen, born May 17, 1794.

167 Samuel Butterworth 5 Chaffee (Ephraim,¢ Jonathan,’ Nathaniel,2 Thomas 1)
was born in Rehoboth, Mass., December 19, 1756, and died in Seekonk, Mass.
(formerly Rehoboth), September 14, 1836. He married in Rehoboth, October 9,
1809, Mrs. Nancy (Peirce) Peck, daughter of Isaac Peirce of that place, and widow
of Cyrus Peck. She was a descendant of * Fighting Michael Peirce,” killed in
King Philip’s War in the fight that bears his name. She died December 9, 1874,
aged eighty-eight, and was buried in Seekonk.

Samuel B. Chaffee was a Revolutionary soldier, serving as follows:

“Chaffee, Samuel. Private, Capt. Nathaniel Carpenter’s co., Col. Thomas
Carpenter’s regt.; marched from Rehoboth to Bristol, R. I., on the alarm of Dec.
8, 1776; service, 16 days.

“Chaffee, Samuel Butterworth. Private, Lieut. Samuel Brown’s co., Col.
Thomas Carpenter’s regt.; marched from Rehoboth to Tiverton, R. I., on the
alarm of Aug. 1, 1780; discharged Aug. 8, 1780; service, 7 days, under Gen. Heath.”
[M assachusetts Soldiers and Sailors in the War of the Revolution.]

Samuel B. Chaffee owned land in the western part of Rehoboth, which in 1812
was set off into a separate town and called Seekonk. March 1, 1782, with his
" brother Ephraim and the latter’s wife Elizabeth, he sold to Braddock Chaffe
(165) for £180, thirty acres of land in the southwest part of Rehoboth, which land
lay near the house of Dan Chaffe (41) and had lately been purchased of William
Chaffe (158). March 4, 1785, Samuel B. Chaffe * yeoman” bought of Josiah Peck
for £186, thirty-eight acres of land in Rehoboth. April 1, 1788, he bought for £30,
of Ezekiel Carpenter, six and one-half acres of land on the north side of Chestnut
Hill in Rehoboth, adjoining the land of Samuel and Ephraim Chaffe, Jr. He
made other purchases and sales of land in Rehoboth up to 1809.
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Children, all but the first born in Seekonk:

+478 i Hamll:i.h Butterworth ¢ Chaffee, born October 14, 1810; married Lewis
erce.
+479  ii Samuel Chaffee, born April 20, 1812; married Rebecca T. Pierce.
+480 iii Cyrus Chaffee, born January 18, 1814; married Amanda M. Miller.
481 iv A son, born May 17, 1815; died in Seekonk, June 11, 1815.
482 v Susan Chaffee, born December 1, 1817; died January 1, 1845; married
in Seekonk, October 17, 1840, William H. West of that place.
+483 vi William Chaffee, born April 25, 1820; married (1) Sarah W. Miller;
(2) Mary Ann Lord.
484 vii Hosea Ballou Chaffee, born September 28, 1823; died in Seekonk, in
November, 1823.
485 viii Addie Chaffee, lived in Pawtucket in the family of ex-Governor Davis.

168 Ephraim 5 Chaffee, Jr. (Ephraim,* Jonathan,® Nathaniel,2 Thomas 1), was
born in Rehoboth, Mass., April 25, 1760, and died in Seekonk, Mass., August 6,
1825. He married in Rehoboth, November 1, 1779, Elizabeth Whitaker, born
January 30, 1761, died April 21, 1853.

He served in the Revolution as follows:

“Chaffee, Ephraim, Jr. Private, Capt. Jabez Bullock’s co., Col. Thomas Car-
penter’s regt.; enlisted July 27, 1780; discharged July 31, 1780; service, 5 days,
at Tiverton, R. I, on an alarm. Roll sworn to at Rehoboth.” [Massachusetls
Soldiers and Sailors in the War of the Revolution.]

September 10, 1783, “ Ephraim Chaffe yeoman of Rehoboth” bought for £90,
of William Slead, twelve acres of land on the southerly part of Chestnut Hill, in
the western part of that town, and sold it for the same price February 17, 1785, to
Jonathan Peck, Jr. June 11, 1793, he sold to his brother Samuel B., ninety-two
acres of land in Rehoboth, for £120. He sold land in Seekonk, from 1816 to 1820,
that town having been formed in 1812 from the western part of Rehoboth.

Children, born in Rehoboth:
+486 i Noah ¢ Chaffee, married Catherine Draper.

487 ii Lewis Chaflee, born July 29, 1783; died in Warren, Pa., May 28, 1869;
married in Rehoboth, September 2, 1804, Anna (Nancy), daughter
of Perez and Temperance (Smith) Peck; she was born May 18,
1781, and died April 2, 1851; no children; during the War of 1812
he enlisted in Captain Joseph Watson’s Company, Lieutenant
Colonel Lincoln’s Regiment, serving in New Bedford, Mass.,
from September 25 to October 20, 1814. He was a farmer, lived
in Seekonk in 1820, and moved to Bradford County, Pa., in 1850.

488 iii Palmer Chaffee, born April 27, 1786; died June 13, 1796.

489 iv Betsey Chaffee, born December 30, 1788; died September 18, 1796.

490 v Clotilda (Matilda) Chaffee, born August 30, 1791; died July 13, 1860;
married in Seekonk, March 10, 1819, Ira Potter, who died April
8, 1877, aged eighty-one; moved to Bradford County about 1855.

491 vi Nancy Chaffee, born May 22, 1795; died; married in Seekonk, June 5,
1821, George Lake.

492 vii Huldah Chaffee, born November 5, 1798; died October 19, 1821.

172 David 5 Ohaffe, Jr. (David,* David,®> Nathaniel,? Thomas!) was born in
Attleboro, Mass., October 28, 1733, and died in Ashford, Conn., October 3, 1814.
He married there, November 6, 1761, Priscilla, daughter of David Robbins of that
place. She was born June 4, 1741, and died in Ashford, May 14, 1814.

David Chaffe, Jr., was baptized in the First Congregational Church in Rehoboth,
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December 9, 1733. He was a farmer and carpenter, and was six feet in height.
The Revolutionary War records of Connecticut under the date May, 1777, show
that:

“This Assembly do establish David Chaffee Jun. to be Ensign of the 11th Com-
pany or trainband in the 5th regiment in this State.”

April 13, 1778, David Chaffe was admitted to the new freeman’s oath in Ash-
ford. June 19, 1793, he and his son Abner bought for £200 of David Robbins
of Ashford, fifty-eight and one-half acres of land with a gristmill thereon.

He united with the Congregational Church in Ashford, October 25, 1801. Pris-
cilla (Robbins) Chaffe was a member of this church also. Both lie buried in the
Swamp Burial Ground, Ashford, where their tombstones are inscribed as follows:

“David Chaffe,
Died Oct 8th 1814 Aged 81
Behold the saint the pious man
He lies in peace no others can
His days on earth with peace was blest
His work is done he’s gone to rest.”

“Mrs. Priscilla wife of David Chaffe
Died May 18th 1814 Aged 78
Cheerfully bid this world adieu
For future joys I had in view.”

Children, born in Ashford:

+ 493 i Abner ¢ Chaffe, born August 3, 1762; married Judith Walker.
4494 ii Lois Chaffe, born January 16, 1765; married Stephen Wilcox.
4495 iii Esther Chaffe, born November 5, 1767; married Oliver Cummings.
4496 iv David Chaffe, Jr., born July 25, 1772; married Eunice Chapman.
4497 v Amos Chaffe, born June 2, 1774; married Eunice Cummings.

498 vi Daniel Chaffe, born November 10, 1776; died November 15, 1776.
4499 vii Daniel Chaffe, born October 10, 1779; married Huldah Hall.

500 viii Sarallxr Chaffe, born May 19, 1783; died in Granby; married George

raver.
501 ix Ebene7z8eé Chaffe, born October 2, 1784; died in Ashford, August 18,
1 .

176 Patience 5 Chafle (David,® David,® Nathaniel,? Thomas!) was born in
Attleboro, Mass., January 16, 1742-3, and died in 1816. She married in Ashford,
Conn., in 1762, Joseph Amidon, a farmer of that place, born in Oxford, or Reho-
both, Mass., April 20, 1725, died in South Onondaga, N. Y., November 27, 1810.
He had a fair complexion, and blue eyes.

Patience Chaffe was baptized in the First Congregational Church of Rehoboth,
February 27, 1742, and was buried in Navarino, Onondaga County, N. Y.

Children, born in Ashford:

i Eunice ¢ Amidon, born September 13, 1763; died August 9, 1834;

unmarried.

ii Chloe Tﬁmidon, born April 10, 1764; died June 22, 1842; married David

omas.

iii Abel Amidon, born March 14, 1767; died December 20, 1813.

iv Rhoda Amidon, born April 27, 1769; died June 22, 1845; married
Elisha Russel,

v Abner Amidon, born February 9, 1772; died October 24, 1804.

vi Ashael Amidon, born January 17, 1774; died March 25, 1844; married
Sally Tanner.

§8 82 & B
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508 vii Hannah Amidon, born October 5, 1778; died April 14, 1851 ; married
Amasa Chapman.
509 viii Caleli’Axlfidon, born July 12, 1781; died April 16, 1810; married Anna
arker.
+510 ix Cheney Amidon, born September 3, 1783; married Mary Reynolds.
511  x Meletiah Amidon, born March 22, 1789; died in April, 1830; married
Joseph Wing.

200 8quire ¢ Chaffee (Atherton,# David,> Nathaniel,? Thomas!) was born in
Ashford, Conn., July 18, 1747, and died in Venango County, Pa. He married.
The Vermont Revolutionary Records show that he served in Captain Seely’s com-
pany, Colonel Benjamin Wait’s battalion, from July 1 to November 18, 1781.
He also served in Captain Benjamin Whitney’s company, Colonel Bradley’s regi-
ment raised to assist the High Sheriff, September 20, 1782. In 1797, Squire Chaffee
lived in Westminster, Vt., and is said to have moved to Vincennes, Ind. He after-
wards settled in Chautauqua County, N. Y., and later in Venango County.

Children:

512 i Olive ¢ Chaffee, died in Venango County; married Teed; moved
from Indiana to Chautauqua County, thence to Venango County.

513 ii A daughter, died in Venango County; married Teed, brother of
her sister’s husband; moved from Indiana to Chautauqua County,
thence to Venango County.

202 Atherton & Chaffe, Jr. (Atherton,* David,* Nathaniel,? Thomas 1), was born
in Ashford, Conn., March 15, 1752, and died in Westminster, Vt., May 8, 1812.
He married Pheebe Brockway, who died in 1833, and was buried in Kirby, Vt.

The Vermont Revolutionary Records show that Atherton Chaffe served thirty
days in Captain John Petty’s company, Colonel William Williams’ regiment, en-
listing August 29, 1777. He was also a member of Captain Wright’s company of
“Pure Whigs.” Atherton Chaffe was a farmer and his will, probated in Bellows
Falls, Vt., July 1, 1812, names as his heirs, his wife Pheebe and the children,
William, Atherton, Jr., Lynds, Rufus and Phceebe. He was buried in Westminster,
where his gravestone was still standing in 1891.

Children, all but the third born in Westminster:

+514 i William ¢ Chaffe, born in 1776; married Polly Robinson.

+515 ii Atherton Chaffe, Jr., born November 5, 1781; married Olive Sawtell.
4516 iii Lynds Chaffe, married,

+517 iv Pheebe Chaffe, married Russell Carroll.

+518 v Rufus Chaffe, born September 18, 1798; married Malinda Wilder.

204 Olifford ¢ Ohaffee (Atherton,* David,® Nathaniel,? Thomas!) was born in
Ashford, Conn., January 20, 1757, and died August 25, 1802. He married in
Brattleboro, Vt., April 27, 1780, Anna, daughter of Captain Jesse and Leah (Jen-
nings) Burke, a descendant of Richard Burke.

After Clifford Chaffee’s death, she married
hend, Vt., about 1846 or 1847 and was buried there.

Clifford Chaffee moved with his parents to Westminster, Vt., when a child.
At the outbreak of the Revolution he enlisted in Stark’s New Hampshire regiment,
May 15, 1775, and with two of his brothers was in the Battle of Bunker Hill. It
is related that in that fight a cannon ball struck the rail fence near where they
were standing with such force that they were thrown upon it, but were not injured.

Cobb. She died in Towns-
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He served as a Private in 1777 and 1778. In May, 1780, he enlisted in Westminster
in Captain Samuel Wetherbe’s company, Colonel Isaac Wyman’s regiment. His
name appears as Sergeant on the pay roll of Captain Jesse Safford’s company in
July, 1780. In March, 1781, “Cleaford Chaffy’’ served three days and travelled
thirty miles, marching on the Alarm at Newbury, Vt. During the trouble in Guil-
ford, Vt., over the claims of other states to Vermont land, Clifford Chaffee enlisted
a8 Corporal in Captain Benjamin Whitney's company, serving from November 1,
1783, to March 1, 1784. In 1838 his widow, then Mrs. Cobb, applied for a pension.

October 5, 1784, “Clifford Chafe yeoman of Westminster” sold to Constant
Chaffe, his brother, land in that place. Clifford Chaffee died from the effects of a
fall from a horse. He was a farmer and a doctor in Westminster.

Children:

+519 i Calvin ¢ Chaffee, born in Westminster; married Elizabeth Hall.
4520 ii Philander Chaffee, born about 1786; married Cinthia Nichols.

521 iii Zebina Chaffee, living in Westminster in 1819, when he sold land there
to Hubbard Bellows.

522  iv Clifford Chaffee, Jr., died in Putney, Vt., about 1846 or 1847; un-
married; of a nomadic disposition; residence, 1840, Putney.

523 v Miriam Chaffee.

+524 vi Anna Chaffee, born May 8, 1793 ; married Roberts.

525 vii Parmelia Chaffee, born about 1795; married Carpenter; testi-
fied in her mother’s pension claim in 1838; she was then forty-
three years of age, and lived in Rockingham, Vt.

+526 viii Jesse Burke Chaffee, married Susan Hall.

207 Alpha 5 Chaffee (Atherton,¢ David,® Nathaniel,? Thomas!) was born in
Westminster, Vt., and died in Black Lake, St. Lawrence County, N. Y. He mar-
ried Mary, daughter of John Abby of Homer, N. Y., formerly of Vermont. She
was sister of his brother Otis’ wife, of his sister Nancy’s husband. Mary (Abby)
Chaffee died in the summer of 1872, aged one hundred and four years, and was
buried in St. Clair, Mich.

Alpha Chaffee had a fair complexion, and blue eyes. He served as a Private
in the War of 1812. He was a farmer and in 1797 lived in Westminster. Later
he lived in New York state, and was buried in Black Lake.

Children:

527 i Rachel ¢ Chaffee, born in New York state; married John Baldwin;
residence, Ohio.

528  ii Sophia Chaffee, died in St. Clair in 1850; married Hezekiah Haskell,
formerly of New York; moved to St. Clair, where both died.

529 iii Polly Chaffee, born in New York state; died about 1870; married
1) Justines; (2) William Bowman; residence, Michigan.

4530 v Alpha Chaffee, Jr., born August 2, 1800; married Effie Kelch.

531 v Lonson Chaffee, died aged twenty-four; residence, New York state.

532  vi Matilda Chaffee, died young.

533 vii Pheebe Chaffee, died young, drowned.

534 viii John Chaffee, died in Herkimer County, N. Y.; married (1) in Washing-
ton, Mich., Caroline Shaw, who died there; married (2) in New
York state, Mary Clark; married (3) ; lived later in Herki-
mer County; he was of a roving disposition.

208 Constant s Chaffe (Atherton,* David,® Nathaniel,? Thomas!) was born in
Westminster, Vt., in 1761 or 1762, and died in East Westmoreland, N. H., April 29,
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1806. He married in Westminster, Anna, daughter of John Lovejoy. She died
March 23, 1811, aged forty-four.

Constant Chaffe fought in the Revolution. He served under Major Elkanah
Day in a company of Westminster Militia which marched on the Alarm of Octo-
ber 17, 1780, when Royalton, Vt., was burned by the Indians. He served eight
days, travelled one hundred and ten miles and received £2, 7s. 4d. He also served
five days in Captain Benjamin Whitney’s company, Colonel Bradley’s regiment,
“raised to assist the High Sheriff” September 21, 1782.

In 1783 and 1784 there was trouble in Guilford, Vt., over the claims of other
states to Vermont land and Constant Chaffe served from November 7, 1783,
until March 1, 1784, in Captain Benjamin Whitney’s company.

He was a farmer and was living in Westminster at the time of his marriage.
Here he bought land of his brother Clifford, October 5, 1784, for £30. June 10,
1785, he bought there of John Lane thirty acres more for the same price. Feb-
ruary 21, 1787, he bought of John Dickerson another tract of land for £18. He
added to this, October 29, 1796, paying to Patrick Wall £50 for the land. April 15,
1797, he bought of Joseph Wilbore of Westmoreland, N. H., for £300, seventy-
seven acres of land in that place. Here he settled with his mother, wife and son
before the following spring, as on March 27, 1798, ““Constant Chaffe of Westmore-
land ” bought of Job Wilbore more land there. May 27, 1803, he paid to William
Brockway of St. Johnsbury, Vt., $100 for fifty acres more of land in Westmore-
land. In all these deeds he is called ‘“yeoman.” He and his wife are buried in
the graveyard in East Westmoreland, where their tombstones bear the following
inscriptions:

f‘;lil: memory of Mr. Constant Chaffe who died April 29, 1806 in the 45th year
o .
o8 “Death like an overﬂowing stream
Sweeps us away, our life’s a dream

An empty t , & morning flower
Cut down and withered in an hour.”

“In memory of Anna widow of Mr. Constant Chaffe who died March 23, 1811
aged 44 years.

“Diseases sore I long have bore
Physicians were in vain
Tllf'GOd was pleased to give me ease
And free me from my pain.”

Child:
+535 i Amasa ¢ Chaffee, born March 30, 1786; married (1) Anna Adams; (2)

Huldah Britton; (3) Roxana Britton.

209 Otis 8 Chaffee (Atherton,* David,® Nathaniel,? Thomas 1) was born in West-
minster, Vt., and died in Sackett’s Harbor, N. Y., about 1813 or 1814. He mar-
ried Abigail, daughter of John Abby, and sister of his brother Alpha’s wife, and
of his sister Nancy’s husband. She died September 18, 1851, aged eighty-four,
and was buried in Rome, Mich., in the East Rome cemetery. She married after
Otis Chaffe’s death, Francisco, and lived with her daughter, Mrs. Whipple,
in 1845 in Grass Lake, Mich., and in 1846, in Leoni, Mich.

Otis Chaffee fought in the Revolution. He served under Major Elkanah Day
in a company of Westminster Militia which marched on the Alarm of October 17,
1780, when Royalton, Vt., was burned by the Indians. He served three days,
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travelled forty-four miles and received in payment 18s. 8d. His name is also on
the pay roll of Captain Abner Seelye’s company, Colonel Benjamin Wait’s bat-
talion. He served from July 1 to November 20, 1781, travelling eighty miles and
receiving £10, 7. 8d. He also served five days in Captain Benjamin Whitney’s
company, Colonel Bradley’s regiment, “raised to assist the High Sheriff,” Sep-
tember 21, 1782.

Otis Chaffee was a farmer, in 1797 living in Westminster, and later in Rock-
ingham, Vt., where Nathaniel Bennett was appointed administrator on his estate,
February 7, 1814. He is said to have served in the War of 1812 and to have died
in Sackett’s Harbor, so it seems probable that he was killed in the battle at that
place, May 29, 1813.

Children, born in Vermont:
+536 i Otis ¢ Chaffee, Jr., born May 9, 1784; married (1) Grace Whipple; (2)

Lydia Tuttle.
+537  ii Abigail Chaffee, born 1788; married Jeremiah Leland.
+538 iii Lyman Chaffee, born May 1, 1790; married Mary Whipple.

539  iv Jarville Chaffee, died in Illinois; married in Middlesex, Vt., January
9, 1823, Betsey Bryant; he was a farmer; had a light complexion,
and blue eyes; he served in the War of 1812 as a private; he lived
in Middlesex and Lockport, N. Y., after his marriage moving to
Hlinois, where he settled near Peoria, on land granted him by
the Government for his war services; when he moved to Illinois
he had two small children.

4540 v Betsey Chaffee, born June 30, 1792; married Samuel Whipple.

4541 vi Warren Chaffee, born January 22, 1797; married (1) Elizabeth Otto;
(2) Melinda Munn.

+542 vii Warner Faﬁ Chaffee, born July 27, 1799; married Mrs. Hannah
(Goodell) Ferguson.

+543 viii Allen Bennett Chaffee, born in 1802; married Abigail Pratt.

4544 ix Ory Chaffee, born May 23, 1807; married Polly Rowley.

210 Rachel 8 Chaffee (Atherton,* David,® Nathaniel,2 Thomas!) was born in
Westminster, Vt., December 16, 1772, and died in Southville, near Stockholm,
St. Lawrence County, N. Y. She married Samuel Montgomery Wires, a wheel-
wright, born August 4, 1776, died in Southville. He had a sandy complexion,
blue eyes and was six feet, two inches in height. Mr. and Mrs. Wires were Uni-
versalists. They lived in Walpole, N. H., Lyndon, Vt., in 1803 in Herkimer
County, N. Y., and about 1813 moved to Stockholm.

Children:

545 i Carlton ¢ Wires, born March 21, 1796; married Lucinda Dunshee.

546  ii Annatta Wires, born June 28, 1797; died.
+547  iii Hannah Wires, born May 22, 1799; married Wilder Stearns.

548  iv Persis Wires, born March 30, 1801; died; married Henry Gates.
+549 v Samuel Wires, born September 12, 1803; married Isabel Barren.

550 vi Fanny Wires, born November 11, 1806; died ; married Philo Mathews.

551 vii Sivona Wires, born August 4, 1807; died.

562 viii Nancy Wires, born July 5, 1810.

553 ix Hiram Wires, born March 25, 1814.

554  x Mary Melissa Wires, born March 21, 1817; married Reuben Farmer.

212 Nancy 5 Chaffee (Atherton,* David,* Nathaniel,? Thomas!) was born in
Westminster, Vt., about 1776, and died in Cherry Creek, Chautauqua County,
N. Y. She married Amos, son of John Abby, and a brother of the wives of her
brothers, Otis and Alpha.
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Nancy (Chaffee) Abby was very musical. She lived in Cherry Creek.
Children:
555 i Eben ¢ Abby.
556 ii Calvin Abby.
557 iii Amos Abby, Jr.
558 iv John Abby.
559 v Atlanta Abby, died.
4560 vi Olive Abby; married DeWitt Fisher.
561 vii Alvira Abby; married Casper Harvey.

2138 Crean Bush 5 Chaffee (Atherton,* David,® Nathaniel,? Thomas !) was born
in Westminster, Vt., in 1778, and died in Amity, Erie County, Pa., December 24,
1847. He married in Penn Yan, Cayuga County, N. Y., September 8, 1805, Polly,
daughter of Daniel Bennett. She was of Delaware County, N. Y., and her father,
a tailor by trade, had been taken prisoner at the beginning of the Revolution and
held during the entire conflict. She died October 19, 1874, aged eighty-seven, and
was buried in Hatch Hollow, Erie County, Pa.

Crean Bush Chaffee is supposed to have been named for Crean Bush of West-
minster, a friend of his father’s, and whose name appears as witness on a deed of
property from Atherton Chaffe, Sr., to Atherton Chaffe, Jr. -

Crean Bush Chaffee had a dark complexion, black eyes, and was five feet, seven
inches in height. He was a farmer and a teacher. He lived in Westminster in
1796; when he was twenty-one years old “Uncle Jock,” who brought him up, gave
him a horse, saddle and bridle and he left Vermont for Cayuga County, never to
return. He served during the War of 1812 from August, 1812, to March, 1813.
In 1871 his widow, then living in Amity, applied for a pension. In 1805 he was
living in Cayuga County, and between 1810 and 1815 moved to Erie County,
where he lived in Amity and Northeast. At this time that country was almost
a wilderness and many were the dangers and hardships these hardy pioneers had
to undergo. One day when Mrs. Chaffee was alone in the cabin with her daugh-
ter Caroline, then a baby, an Indian holding a large knife in his hand appeared
in the cabin door. Striding over to the cradle, he lifted the child in his arms,
kissed her and, laying her down, stuck his knife into a loaf of bread just taken from
the oven and ran off, to the great relief of the terrified mother, who thought her
child would be killed.

Children, the first three born in Cayuga County, the rest in Erie County:
+562 i Sally 8 Chaffee, born in 1807; married William Hatch.

4563 ii Ira Chaffee, born January 1, 1809; married Hannah Norton.

+564 iii Horace Hill Chaffee, born October 17, 1810; married (1) Louisa King;
(2) Eliza Williams.

565 iv Caroline Polly Chaffee, born October, 1815; died July 10, 1887; married

Frederick Hill.

+566 v Horatio Nelson Chaffee, born March 19, 1818; married Jane N. Mason.

+567 vi Nancy Chaffee, born in June, 1820; married Samuel W. Hayes.

+568 vii John Bennett Chaffee, born in April, 1823 (1825); married (1) Mary
Phelps; (2) Mrs. Eliza Drake.

238 8arah 5 Chaffee (Joseph,* John,? Joseph,? Thomas!) was born in Barring-
ton, Mass., January 18, 1729, and died April 27, 1818. She married (1), about
1748 or 1749, Isaac Morris, their intention of marriage being published in Wood-
stock, October 18, 1748. He died January 10, 1778, and she married (2) Septem-
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ber 10, 1804, Honorable John Bliss, whom she survived. April 30, 1750, she
joined the church in New Roxbury (now West Woodstock), where she lived at
the time of her marriage. In 1761 Isaac Morris removed with his family to Wales,
Mass.

“The part of Springfield to which he removed was then an unorganized district
not belonging to any town, and known as ‘ Wales.” It was a territory lying between
Somers on tﬁe south and Springfield on the north, and after the organization of
Wilbraham, was annexed to that town. The spot where Isaac Morris settled
was in the extreme southeastern part of ‘Wales’ and on the Monson line. The
probable cause of his removal to ‘Wales’ was that his wife might be near her
mother—then a widow—who, with her husband, Joseph Chaffee, had removed
to this section about 1754. [This should be 1755.] Joseph Chaffee died in 1760.
Two deeds from Hannah Chaffee—widow—and Joseph Chaffee, administrators
of the estate of Joseph Chaffee, dated Aug. 18, 1761, convey to Isaac Morris ninety-
two acres of land, sixty of which was within the limits of Monson, then Brimfield.
He subsequently bought other land. His farm contained in all one hundred and
thirty-one acres eighty-five of which were within the Monson limits. The spot
where he located was a romantic one at the base of Rattlesnake and Sheep Moun-
tains, overlooking the Scantic Valley, to Pine Ball and South Mountains on the
west, at the foot of which lay the farm of his father-in-law. A large part of the
cultivated land has grown up to woods, and the house in which he lived, and also
that of his son Darius, have long since disappeared. Nothing remains to indicate
the locality of the habitations but a portion of the walls of the cellars, and a few
nearly dead trees of the orchard.

* * * * * * * * *

“The records of the Probate Court of Hampshire County, state that Sarah
Morris was appointed administratrix on the estate of Isaac Morris, Sept. 1, 1778,
and was also made guardian of Chester, Elizabeth, and Ephraim, minor children.
By the inventory returned to the court, Nov. 1, 1778, the amount of the estate
was £999 7s. 6d., of which £850 was in land. The debts were £130 2s.2d. . .
The distribution of the estate made Nov. 3, 1778, gave Sarah, the widow, one-
third during life, £283 5s. 8d. Darius, two elevenths or a double portion, £103
6s. 7d. Hannah, Davis, Isaac, Edward, Sarah, Eunice, Chester, Ebenezer, Eliza-
beth, and Ephraim, one-eleventh each, £51 10s. 3d. Mrs. Morris, hardly satisfied
with the distribution, petitioned the court that as she was ‘left under something
of Low and Indigence circumstances’ she might be allowed something out of the
personal estate, and was allowed the amount of £22 11s.

* * * * * * * * *
¢ She [Sarah (Chaffee) Morris] was a tall, fine-looking woman, with dark com-
plexion, dark hair and eyes.” [Morris Regtster.]
Children, the first seven born in Woodstock, the last five in Wales:

569 i Hannah ¢ Morris, born January 13, 1750; married John Davis.

570  ii Darius Morris, born September 15, 1751; married (1) Elizabeth Fisher;
(2) Rebecca Chandler.

571 iii Isaac Morris, Jr., born September 10, 1753; married Irene Johnson.

572  iv Joseph Morris, born in March, 1755; died at Lake George, August 10,
1776, in the Revolutionary army.

573 v Edward Morris, born December 12, 1756 ; married Lucy Bliss.

574 vi Elizabeth Morris, born July 10, 1759; died in Wilbraham, March 24,
1764.

575 vii Sarah Morris, born July 23, 1761; married Stephen Pease.

576 viii Eunice Morris, born May 13, 1763; married Joshua Clark.

577  ix Chester Morris, born April 16, 1765; married (1) Betsey Wales ;(2)—.

578  x Ebenezer Morris, born March 15, 1767; married Ryndia May.

579 xi Elizabeth Morris, born February 17, 1769; married David Hume.

580 xii Ephraim Morris, born March 17, 1772; married Pamela Converse.
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For further descendants see The Morris Register, by Jonathan F. Morris, also
3474.

239 Joseph 5 Chaffe, Jr. (Joseph,* John,3 Joseph,? Thomas 1), was born in Wood-
stock, Mass. (now Conn.), January 9, 1730-31, and probably died in Union, Conn.,
in February, 1783. He married Esthers Chaffe (271) (John,* John,® Joseph,?
Thomas !), born in Woodstock, January 14, 1734-5, baptized in the First Con-
gregational Church there the same month. Joseph Chaffe was baptized in the same
church, February 28, 1730-31. He probably moved with his parents in 1755 to
Wales, a district of Springfield, Mass., where he was a farmer. May 8, 1758, he
bought of his father fifty-six acres of land there for £55. In 1760, with his mother,
he administered his father’s estate. October 23, 1772, * Joseph Chaffee husband-
man of Wales” sold to David Burt of the same place, land there for 20s. About
this time Wales was annexed to the newly organized town of Wilbraham, and so
Joseph Chaffe became an inhabitant of that town. In 1774, he was one of one
hundred and twenty-five who signed an agreement, made in South Wilbraham,
not to purchase English-made goods. July 29th of that year he was appointed
with others to assist in collecting the Province rates. January 2, 1775, he was ap-
pointed with others a committee to prevent the killing of deer from January 1st
to August 1st of that year.

His name appears as a Private on a roll of “Capt. James Warrener’s company
of Wilbraham who marched in defense of Ammerican Liberty on ye Alarm last April
occasioned by the Lexington Fight.”” He was in service ten days, travelled one
hundred and eighty miles and received £1, 9s. 2d., in payment. His name also
appears as serving two other enlistments:

“Chaffe, Joseph. Capt. William Fletcher’s co., Col. Benjamin Simond’s regt;
gaelist_ed Aug. 22, 1777; discharged Aug. 29, 1777; marched on an expedition to

nnington.

“Cha%t":, Joseph. Private, Capt. Samuel Burt’s co., Col. Elisha Porter’s (Hamp-
shire Co.) regt; enlisted July 22, 1779; discharged Aug. 25, 1779 service, 1 mo.
7 days, at New London, Conn.” [Massachusetts Soldiers and Sailors in the War
of the Revolution.]

January 30, 1777, Joseph Chaffe, yeoman, of Wilbraham sold to Joel Dean of
Ashford, Conn., for £250, one hundred and forty acres of land in Wilbraham.
This deed was signed by Joseph and Esther Chaffe. Soon after this he moved to
Peru, Berkshire County, Mass., as on July 7th of the same year he was chosen one
of a committee to act in letting out the school lands in that town. He was chosen
First Selectman there February 14, 1780, and Moderator of a town meeting Octo-
ber 30th of the same year. May 16, 1781, Joseph and Esther Chaffe of Partridge-
field (formerly Peru), Mass., sold to Amos Corbin of Woodstock, for £180, one hun-
dred acres of land there, being part of lot number thirty-eight.

WILL OF JOSEPH CHAFFE

“In the name of God Amen I Joseph Chaffe of Union in the County of Windham
& State of Connecticut Being Weak in Body but Blessed Be God 1 am of Sound
Mind & Memory Do this 14th Day of December 1782 Make & Publish this My
Last Will and testament in Manner following that is to say first I give up My Soul
to the Lord Jesus Christ as My Only Saviour trusting in His Merits and Mercies
for the foregiveness of all My Sins & for My Eternal Salvation also I commit My
Body to the Ground to Be Decently Buried at the Descression of My Executrix
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hereafter Mentioned then My Will is that all my honest Debts & funeral Charges
Be paid sd to be paid out of My freehold Estate if it can legally Be Done then I
Give to My Beloved Wife Ester Chaffe one third part of all My personal Estate
which I die posest of for her own forever & My wish is that My sd Wife shall have
liberty to Choose her third at the Inventory price out of the whole & My will is
that My sd Wife shall have the Use & Improvement of one third part of My free-
hold Estate that shall Remain after my sd Debts & Charges areMpaid 80 long as
she Remains My Widow & then to be Equally Divided Among My five Children
(viz) My son Darius Chaffe & My Dauﬁ:ter Ester & Deidamia & Matilda & Sinai
and My will is that all ye Rest of My Estate not yet mentioned or Disposed of as
above shall Be Equally Divided Amongst my sd son Darius Ester Diedamia
Matilda & Sinai & I make and ordain my sd wife Ester Chaffe to Be My Sole
Executrix of the My last Will & testament for the Intents and purposes in this
My will contained in Witness Whereof I ye said Joseph Chaffe have hereunto set
My hand & seal ye Day & year as above sd Signed Sealed & Delivered By ye sd
Joseph Chaffe as his last will & testament in ye presence of us who were present
at ye signing & sealing thereof

“Willm Moor
“Oliver Wales

“‘Josiah Burley
“December ye 31st 1782 then Personally appeared William Moor & Oliver

Wales & Josiah Burley witnesses to ye within will & made Solemn oath that they
were present when ye testator Executed sd will & saw him Execute it & heard
him Declare to be his last will & testament & that he appeared to Be of Sound
Mind & Memory & they all signed as witnesses in ye presence of ye testator & in
the presence of Each Other Sworn Before Me
“SorLomMoN WALEs Justice of peace”

“ JosEPH CHAFFE [SEAL]

THE INVENTORY OF JOSEPH CHAFFE’S ESTATE

“We the Subscribers being appointed and Authorized by honorable Court of
Probate for the District of Stafford to Appraize all such Estate Both Real &
personal of the Late Joseph Chaffe of Union in the County of Windham Deceased
as shown to us by Ester Chaffe Widow & Relic to ye sd Deceast and Executrix
to ye Last Will and testament of ye sd Joseph Chaffe Deceasd Which Serviss we
performed Return make in the following manner

(vis.)

Household Goods & firnature
Best Bed furniture Bedsted and Cord
Next Ditto 45/ Next do 30/ Next do 20/
Low Case Drawers 20/ Low Chest 4/ five Low Chests 8/6
one great Wheel 3/ Eleven Chairs 15/ tea kettle 6/
Two Iron pots 8/6 Brass kettle 10/ flatt Irons 6/ Skillet 2/6
fryin% pan 3/ iron bason 3/ two pales one Nogen 3/ Can—/6
flesh fork & basting spoon 1/ hamer/6 Box Iron & heater 2/
Fire shovel & tongs 6/ tramel 3/ Crane & hooks 10/ puter 20/
Choping knife 1/ Crockery & Earthen ware 4/ meal tub 4 /0 1/
five dry Casks 3/ beer barrel 1/ three tubs 4/ Cheese tub 2/
Wooden boles & plates & salt Morter 2/ glass bottles 1/6
Two Baskets 2/ thirteen sheets 32/6 Eight pillow Cases 3/
Four table Cloaths 5/6 Eleven towels 5} winowing sheet 1/6
one table 6/ one do 4/ one foot wheel 15/

Wearing Apparel
Great Coat 6/ Clarret Coat 12/ Jacoat 3/ linen do 3/
Leather breeches 4/ five pair Stockings 14/ three Shirts 12/
thick Linen Breeches & Chect trowers 4/6 gloves 1/
Two hats 6/ wig 6/ Boots & Shoes 12/ six yd all wool 30/
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Four yd woollen Cloath 10/ two old Coats 2/6 0..12..6

Striped Jacet 2/ fustian Coat 5/ 0..7.0

Mixt Coulered Jacet & breeches 4/ 0.. 4.0
Books

Bible 3/ three bound Books 3/ pamphlets 6/ 0..12..0

Farming Tools

one plough & Irons 8/ horse trasses 6/ Slay 10/ 1.. 4.0

Two Iron Wedges 2/ Chain 3/ Iron bale 1/6 Share 1/6 0.. 8.0

Hatchet 4/ Sadlebags 3/ Sadle 6/ two mealbags 3/ bason 1/ 0..17..0
Stock

one mare £ 10..0..0 one Cow 66/ one yearling 20/ one swine 6/ 14..12..0

one Note against Darius Chaffe 23.. 0..0

two do against Willm Foster £5: 10: 0 due 3.. 0.0

Lands and Buildings
A dwelling House & 95 Acres of land 180.. 0..0

“Union March 3d 1783 the foregoing is a true Inventory Made by us
“SoLomoN WALES ) Aprisors
% under
“JosiaH BurLEY ) Oath.”

DISTRIBUTION OF JOSEPH CHAFFE’S ESTATE

“We the Subscribers being appointed by the Honbl Court of Probate for the
District of Stafford to distribute and divide the Estate of Mr. Joseph Chafey Late
of union Deceased amongst the heirs of said deceased according to his last will
and testament and being freeholders and under oath do set out to Darius Chaffe
son to sd Deceasd £6..10..0 to be reducted out of a Note of hand due from said
i)iarius to sd deceased at the time of his death Inventoried at £23..0..0 Lawful

oney—

“We also set of to Esther walker wife to Capt Robert walker and Daughter
to said Deceased one flat Iron one Chair one bed Tick and feathers one bed quilt
and three sheets all Inventoried at the price of £1-16-5 and also £4-13-7 of sd
£23-0-0 note due from sd Darius

“We Likewise set to Arvine Wales son to Eleazer wales by Deidamia his wife
Lately Deceased and Daughter to said deceased one pot and kittle one Chest one
Chair three Sheets one bed quilt one bason three pillow Cases one Clarret mans
Coat and one pair of Stockings all Inventoried at the price of £3-11-5 and one
plow and Irons and horse traces two Iron wedges one Chair one Iron bale one
share one meat tub one pair of saddle bags and one saddle and two meal bags
one raisor and one fustian Coat & one pair of Leather Breaches all Inventoried at
£2..18..0

“We do set of to Matilda Seldon wife to thomas Seldon Daughter to said Deceasd
one Chest and three yeards of worsted Cloth and one Sheet one wig & white Breeches
and Checkd trowsers all Inventoried at the price of £1-4..6 we also set of to sd
Matilda £5-5-5- to be taken out of said £ 23. due from said Darius

“We also set of to Sinai Chaffe Daughter to sd Deceasd £6-10 to be taken out
of sd £23-0-0 note due from sd Darius

“Union 30th of 1788 we then Distributed and set of to the Heirs of the above
mentioned Joseph Chaffe Deceasd their E(Lual shares out of the Estate of the sd
Joseph as above Described as shown to us by Esther Chaffe Executor to the Last
will and Testament of sd Deceasd according to the orders of said Court Given to us.

e LaosTER | Distribution

“Cost 12/ for Distributing
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“At a Court of Probate at Stafford in the District of Stafford on the 13th day
of April 1784 Isaac Pinney Esqr Judge holding said Court on account of adminis-
tration on the Estate of Mr Joseph Chaffe Late of Union in the County of Windham
Deceasd was now Exhibited in sd Court by the Executor on said Estate whereby
she has paid in Debts and Charges Due from said Estate the sum of £97:0:3%
Lawful money which account this Court accepts and orders to be kept on file

“At the same Court next above sat out and allows bysaid Court to Mrs Esther
Chaffe Widow and Relict of Mr Joseph Chaffe Late of Union in the County of
Windham Deceasd as nessassery for Suport of Self and family in Sundreys which
she shall Charge at Inventory price the Sum of £ 19.6.1

“Test JorN PHELPS Clerk

“At a Court of Probate held at Stafford in the District of Stafford on the 13th
day of April A. D. 1784 Isaac Pinney Esqr Judge holding said Court Solomon
Wales Esqr of Union in the County of Windham was now appointed to be Guardian
to Sina Chaffe Daughter of Mr Joseph Chaffe Late of sd union Deceasd aged about
8 years a minor of the Town of said union and the said Solomon Wales gave a
bond of Two hundred pounds Lawfull money to this Court for the faithful Dis-
charge his afforesaid office of Guardian to said minor

‘At the same Court next above Mr. Darius Chaffe of Union in the County of
Windham was now appointed to be guardian to Matilda Chaffe aged about fifteen

ears Daughter of Mr Joseph Chaffe Late of said Union Dec a minor of the
%‘own of said Union and the said Darius Chaffe gave a bond of two hundred pounds
Lawfull money to this Court for the faithfull Discharge of his afforesaid office
Guardian to said minor”

Children:
+581 i Darius ¢ Chaffe, born about 1751; married Molly Chaffe [604).

582 ii Esther Chaffe, born about April, 1756; died March 23, 1759, aged two

years, eleven months; buried in South Wilbraham (now Hampden).
+583 iii Esther Chaffe, born 1760; married Captain Robert Walker.
+584 iv Deidamia Chaffe, married Eleazer Wales.
585 v Matilda Chaffe, born about 1769; married before 1788, Thomas Sel-

on.
+586 vi Sinai Chaffe, born May 11, 1776; married Amasa Converse.

240 Benjamin 5 Chaftee (Joseph,* John, Joseph,? Thomas !) was born in Wood-
stock, Mass. (now Conn.), July 10, 1732, and probably died in Ashford, Conn.,
in 1811. He married in Woodstock, September 19, 1754, Hannah, daughter of
Abraham Skinner of Malden, Mass. Benjamin Chaffee is said to have lived on
the north part of Rocky or Cranberry Bog Hill, between West Woodstock and
South Woodstock, later in Ashford and still later in Marcellus, N. Y., finally re-
turning to Ashford. He also lived in Wales, Mass., as is evidenced by a deed
dated June 25, 1764, in which “Benjamin Chaffee husbandman of Woodstock
late of Wales,” sold to Benjamin Skinner of Wilbraham, seventy-five acres of land
in Wales together with the buildings thereon for £100. This was land which
Benjamin had bought of his father, February 25, 1760, for £45. He bought and
sold various pieces of land in Woodstock. February 4, 1793, Benjamin ““Chaffe’”
of Woodstock bought of Josiah Eaton of Ashford for £28, 15s., twenty-three acres
of land there, and April 22d of the same year he and his wife, still of Woodstock,
sold to Benjamin Skinner of that place a house and barn there. Apparently this
was about the time of their removal to Ashford. Benjamin Chaffee had palsy in
one arm, which for the last twenty years of his life rendered it useless.

Children:

587 i Sally ¢ Chaffee, married Parker ¢ Chapman (645) (Mary & Chaffee,

Ebenezer,* John,3 Joseph,? Thomas 1).
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588 ii Eunice Chaffee, married Oliver ® Chapman (643) (Mary 5 Chaffee,
Ebenezer,* John,3 Joseph,? Thomas 1).
+589 iii Wea.lth{aChaffee, married Peter Chamberlain,
+590 iv Polly Chaffee, a twin, married William Snell, Jr.
0w °“yh"8ﬁ§§" AR Cla riggs
+5 vi Josep ee, married (1) Clarissa Griggs; (2) Roxy Griggs.
593 vii Harriet Chaffee. ee? i
594 viii Louisa Chaffee, married ——— Skinner.
595 ix Dorcas Chaffee.

241 Ephraim 5 Chaffee (Joseph,* John,3 Joseph,? Thomas!) was born in Wood-
stock, Mass. (now Conn.), about 1733, and died near Glens Falls, N. Y., in 1758.
He married in Woodstock, November 21, 1752 (?) Anna (or Anne) Torrey. They
were both residents of Woodstock. She married (2) William Stacy.

Ephraim Chaffee was a farmer and a joiner. June 19, 1751, he bought of Joseph
Chaffee for £650, forty acres of land with a house in Woodstock. March 22, 1753, he
was appointed to appraise a stray horse. [Killingly, Conn., Records.] Septem-
ber 17, 1753, at a meeting of the inhabitants of the southeast district of the town
of Woodstock he was appointed one of a committee to divide the district into two
schools. September 3, 1754, he sold forty acres of land “a mansion house and a
Dutch barn” for £1,000. This was probably the same property which he bought
in 1751. January 12, 1756, he bought of Benjamin Munn sixty acres of land in
Brimfield, Mass., and March 9th following, forty-seven acres there of Josiah
Montague. Soon after this, he moved from Woodstock to Wales, a district of
Springfield, Mass., as he was of the latter place when he marched in August, 1757,
to the relief of Fort William Henry during the Colonial Wars. Ephraim Chaffee
is said to have been scalped and killed by the Indians, in a place between Sandy
Hill and Glens Falls, N. Y., near Fort Edward, in the same place where Jane
McCrae was scalped during the Revolution. He is said to have been a teamster
and an officer over the baggage train. The records make no mention of his ser-
vice at this time, during the year 1758, but state that he was a Private in Captain
Benjamin Day’s company, South Hampshire County regiment, which marched
on the Alarm for the relief of Fort William Henry in August, 1757. He is spoken
of as “of Springfield,” travelled sixty-four miles, and was in service ten and a half
days. [Massachusetts Archives, Muster Rolls, Vol. XCV, page 444.] February 6,
1758, he sold land in Brimfield to J. Torrey for £20. The estate of Ephraim
Chaffee “late of Wales” was administered by his father, Joseph Chaffe, who was
appointed August 30, 1758. [Northampton Probate Records.] After his death in
1760, Ephraim’s widow took charge of the administration. In January, 1763,
she and her second husband, William Stacy, petitioned the court in Boston for
permission to sell the real estate of Ephraim Chaffee. Permission was evidently
granted, for May 20, 1763, sixty acres of land in Wales were sold for £48, 10s.,
to “Simeon Chaffe of Woodstock yeoman " (272) as the highest bidder.

Ephraim Chaffee and his brother Isaiah are said to have helped drive the wolf
of Israel Putnam fame into the cave where it was captured. It had wrought sad
havoc among the sheep in the neighborhood of Pomfret, Conn.

Children, all but the last born in Woodstock:

596 i John Wilson ¢ Chaffee, born September 9, 1753; died October 26, 1754.
597 ii Anna Chaffee, a twin, born September 9, 1753; probably married in
South Wilbraham, Mass., June 22, 1788, Nathan Hudson of Monson,
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Mass., the intention being published in South Wilbraham, May 2,
1788.
598 iii Comfort Chaffee (a daughter), died October 25, 1754.
+599 iv Comfort Chaffee, born September 2, 1755; married Moses Baxter.
600 v John Wilson Chaffee, born in 1757; probably died in the army near
- Little Falls, N. Y., in 1780; baptized in the First Congregational
Church, Woodstock, March 17, 1765; he served in the Revolution
as follows: “Chaffee, John Wilson, Wilbraham. Private, Capt.
Paul Langdon’s co., Col. Timothy Danielson’s regt.; muster roll
dated Aug. 1, 1775; enlisted May 8, 1775; service, 3 mos. 1 day;
also, company return dated Oct. 8, 1775; also order for bounty
coat or its equivalent in money dated Camp Roxbury, Dec. 25,
1775. [The followin‘g entries probably refer to him also.]
“Chaffee, John, Wilbraham. Corporal, Capt. Charles Colton’s
co., Col. John Greaton’s (2d) regt.; Continental Army pay ac-
counts for service from March 1, 1777, to Dec. 31, 1779; residence,
Wilbraham; enlisted for town of Wilbraham; enlistment, 3 years;
reported mustered by Col. Woodbridge.
‘“Chafee, John, Springfield. Corporal, Lieut. Colonel’s co.,
Col. John Greaton’s regt.; Continental Army pay accounts for
service from Jan 1, 1780, to March 1, 1780. [Massachusetts
Soldiers and Sailors in the War of the Revolution.)
601 vi Sarah Chaffee, born in Wales, March 31, 1758; married Reuben Bliss
of Monson, their intention of marriage being published in South
Wilbraham, December 9, 1775.

242 Asa® Chaflee (Joseph,¢ John,3 Joseph,? Thomas!) was born in Woodstock,
Mass. (now Conn.), June 5, 1734, and died in Wilbraham, Mass., in December,
1810. He married (1) in Woodstock, September 5, 1753, Mary Howlett, who died
March 9, 1783. He married (2) in the same town, February 16, 1785, Sarah Orms-
bee.
Asa Chaffee was baptized in the First Congregational Church of Woodstock,
June 9, 1734. He was a shoemaker and a house-framer. He probably moved to
Wales, Mass., between 1758 and 1760. This place, a precinct of Springfield, Mass.,
was later made a part of Wilbraham. February 25, 1760, he bought of his father
for £35, 8s., land in Wales. ‘‘Asa Chaffe yeoman of Wilbraham and Mary Chaffe
his wife” sold to William Barnes for £30, sixty acres of land there, March 20,
1764. March 22, 1768, he was chosen “Hog Reave’” for Wilbraham. June 10th
following, he sold to Henry Badger land in Wilbraham for £6. In a list of pew
holders in the Congregational church in Wilbraham, dated June 3, 1770, it is stated
that “ Asa Chaffee” and wife with five others and their wives occupied pew num-
ber fourteen. The minister at this time was Reverend Noah Merrick. In South
Wilbraham in 1774, one hundred and twenty-five men, of whom ‘‘ Asa Chaffee”’
was one, signed an agreement not to buy English-made goods.

He was a Private in “Capt. James Warriner’s Company of Wilbraham who
marched in defence of American Liberty on ye Alarm last April occasioned by
the Lexington Fight.” He served ten days, travelled one hundred and eighty
miles, and received £1, 9s. 2d., in payment.

November 21, 1777, he was chosen a Constable for Wilbraham. October 18,
1779, he received $20 as bounty and mileage money for soldiers. January 30,
1784, Asa Chaffee and two others were a committee appointed in behalf of the
South parish of Wilbraham for the purpose of taking a deed of a piece of land on
which to build a meetinghouse. The tract of land purchased was in Wilbraham,
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contained about one hundred and forty rods, was purchased of William King and
cost £6. March 16th following, Asa Chaffee was chosen Surveyor. May 3, 1785,
he sold for £20, to his son, Ephraim, land in Monson, Mass., and March 16, 1786,
land in Wilbraham to his son Cyril, Chaffee of Somers, Conn., blacksmith, for
£10, 10s. Soon after this Shays’ Rebellion broke out and Asa Chaffee served as
a Private from September 22d to 28th, 1786, in Lieutenant Lewis Langdon’s
company, Colonel Gideon Burt’s regiment of militia, which marched to Spring-
field. He also served in Springfield as a Private from January 18th to February 7,
1787, in Captain Joseph Williams Company of Cadets, ordered into service by
Major-General Shepard. September 14, 1808, he sold to his son Ephraim for
$300, land in Wilbraham, and in 1809 to his son Calvin two other tracts there for
$120.

Asa Chaffee died intestate and administration on his estate was granted to his
son Jonathan in Northampton, Mass., February 13, 1811. The inventory, dated
February 21st following, mentions real estate, an interest in a sawmill thereon,
house, barn, cidermill, horses, cows, oxen, household furniture, farming utensils,
etc. This was appraised by Stephen West, Calvin Stebbins and William Clark.
July 17, 1811, the widow was allowed her portion of the estate.

Asa Chaffee is doubtless buried in the Hampden, Mass. (formerly South Wilbra-
ham), burying-ground, but no stone marks his final resting-place. The grave of
his first wife is marked by a stone bearing the following inscription:

“In Memory of
Mrs. Mary wife of
Mr. Asa ffe
who died
March 9, 1783
in her 47th year
Death is a debt
to nature due
Which I have paid
and so must you.”

Children, the first four born in Woodstock, the rest in South Wilbraham:
+602 i Jonathan ¢ Chaffee, born about 1753; married Olive Davis.

4603 ii Asa Chaffee, Jr., born about 1754; married (1) Anna Elmer; (2)
Frances Elmer.

604 il Mollf' Chaffee, born July 3, 1756; married Darius Chaffee. (See 581.)

4605 iv Cyril (Serrel) Chaffee, born May 3, 1758; married (1) Patience Sexton;
(2) Mrs. Submit (Gowdy) McGregory Booth.
4606 v Ephraim Chaffee, born August 12, 1760; married Olive Edgerton.

607 vi Martha Chaffee, born May 18, 1761.

608 vii Patty Chaffee, born May 19, 1762.

609 viii Luther Chaffee, born October 10, 1764; died November 20, 1776;
buried in South Wilbraham.

4610 ix Calvin Chaffee, born June 11, 1768; married Wealthy Edgerton.
+611 x Miriam Chaffee, born September 3, 1768; married Ellis.

612 xi Jemima Chaffee, born September 13, 1770; married in Somers, August
30, 1787, Jiles Jones of that place; she was then living in Wilbra-
ham.

+613 xii Abiather Chaffee, born December 5, 1774; married Miriam Clark.
+614 xiii Walter Chaffee, born August 17, 1775; married Anna Hyde.

615 xiv Huldah Chaffee, married in South Wilbraham, May 25, 1806, her
brother-in-law, Chauncey Stebbins, of that place, their marriage
intention being enter~rd May 10, 1806; residence, 1843, Utica,
N. Y.; later, Hoosic Fall: N.Y. (See 616.)




112 THE CHAFFEE GENEALOGY

4616 xv Nancy Chaffee, married Chauncey Stebbins.
617 xvi Child, died young.

244 Comfort & Chaffee (Joseph,¢ John,® Joseph,? Thomas!) was born in Wood-
stock, Mass. (now Conn.), March 20, 1737-8, and died in South Wilbraham, Mass.,
June 4, 1811. He married (1) January 19, 1758, Mary, daughter of Nathaniel
Bliss, their marriage intention being recorded in Springfield, Mass. She was born
November 21, 1734, and died April 15, 1774. Comfort Chaffee married (2) in
South Wilbraham, June 5, 1808, Mrs. Hepzibah (Green) Chaffee, widow of Joel
Chaffee (251), their intention of marriage being published in South Wilbraham,
February 10, 1805. She died December 19, 1828, aged ninety-three. Comfort
Chaffee was baptized in the First Congregational Church of Woodstock, July 2,
1738. He had a dark complexion, black eyes and hair, was tall and well propor-
tioned. He probably moved to Wales, a district of Springfield, Mass., with his
parents in 1755, and was living there at the time of his marriage in 1758. He was
a farmer. May 26, 1759, “Comfort Chaffee yeoman of Wales” bought seventy-
five acres of land in the township of Springfield, for £75. As Wales was then a
district of Springfield, this land may have been in what was then known as Wales,
and which was shortly afterwards made part of Wilbraham. March 19, 1765,
Comfort Chaffee was chosen ““ Deer Reaves” in Wilbraham. He was chosen *“ Hog
Reaves,” March 13, 1770, in South Wilbraham, and May 13, 1770, the records of
the Congregational church there state that he and his wife, with six others, oc-
cupied pew number eighteen. April 6, 1773, Comfort and Mary (Bliss) Chaffee
sold for £22, 2s., to Nathaniel, David, Jonathan, and Thomas Bliss of Wilbraham,
forty-seven acres of land there, it being part of the estate of the late Nathaniel
Bliss, father of Mary. A committee of which Comfort Chaffee was one appointed
in Wilbraham, January 2, 1775, to prevent the killing of deer from January 1st
to August 1st of that year. His name appears as a Private on the roll of Captain
James Warriner’s company of Wilbraham ¢ who marched in defence of Ammerican
Liberty on ye Alarm last April occasioned by Lexington Fight.” He served ten
days, travelled one hundred and eighty miles, and received £1, 9s. 2d., payment.
His further Revolutionary service is as follows:

“Chaffee, Comfort. Private, Capt. James Shaw’s co., Col. Charles Pynchon’s
regt.; enlisted Sept. 24, 1777; discharged Oct. 18, 1777; service, 32 days, travel
included; company detached to join Gen. Gates’s army.” [Massachusetts Soldiers
and Satlors in the War of the Revolution.)

During his service, Comfort and another man discovered a deserted British
vessel floating near the water’s edge. They boarded it and finding it loaded with
provisions and ammunition, turned it over to the Government. May 25, 1778,
Comfort Chaffee was chosen one of the Constables for Wilbraham. October 18,
1779, he received £20 as bounty and mileage money for soldiers.

During Shays’ Rebellion, he served as a Private from September 22 to Septem-
ber 28, 1786, being in Lieutenant Lewis Langdon’s company, Colonel Gideon
Burt’s regiment of Militia, in the Fourth Division, which marched to Springfield
in support of the Government. He also served in Springfield from January 18 to
February 1, 1787, in Captain Joseph Williams’ company of Cadets, ordered into
service by Major-General Shepard.

The strictness with which the Fourth Commandment was kept in the days of
our forefathers is illustrated by the following incident. Comfort Chaffee preferred
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a charge against a neighbor, of having sown seed on the Sabbath day. He could
not, however, prove the charge, for while he could swear that the man went through
the motions of sowing, he could not prove that he had seed in his hand. Had he
been able to prove his point, the man would have been severely punished, for the
keeping holy of the Sabbath day was strictly adhered to by our ancestors,

After Comfort’s death his widow was supported by her step-sons, and made
her home with the eldest of them, Comfort, Jr.

In the cemetery in Hampden, Mass. (formerly South Wilbraham), rest the bodies
of Comfort Chaffee and his two wives. On his tombstone is the following inscrip-
tion:

“In Memory of
Mr. Comfort Chaffe
who died
June 4, 1811,
Aged 74 years.

Let not the dead forgotten lie

Lest you forget that you must die
Death is a debt to nature due

Which I have paid and so must you.”

The grave of his first wife is marked by a stone bearing the following words:

“In memory
of Mrs. Mary
wife of
Mr. Comfort
Chaffee who died
April 15 1774
in her 40 year.
O Time Supreme
How swift thy wings
On Time depend
Eternal things.”

Children by first wife, born in South Wilbraham:

618 i Mary ¢ Chaffee, born in 1758 (?); died; married about 1780, Ebenezer
Stacy of South Wilbraham, their intention dated January 10,
1780.
619 ii Lucretia Chaffee, born Junc 22, 1760; intention of marriage to Moses
Cadwell of South Wilbraham published there September 23, 1780.
620 iii Bathsheba Chaffee, born June 9, 1762; died in South Wilbraham,
April 22, 1851 ; married there, November 27, 1783, Stephen West,
their intention of marriage being published there October 23,
1783; she was buried in South Wilbraham.
621 iv Mercy Chaffee, born January 27, 1765; died September 16, 1788, her
death being recorded in Springfield.
+622 v Comfort Chaffee, Jr., born July 3, 1767; married Persis Skinner.
623 vi Joel Chaffee, born September 27, 1770; died in South Wilbraham,
August 1, 1806, and was buried there; a blacksmith; unmarried.
+624 vii Nathani«ﬂbBlts Chaffee, born December 14, 1772; married Tabitha
«  Chubbuck.

247 Isaiah 5 Chaffee (Joseph,é John,® Joseph,? Thomas?) was born in Wood-
stock, Mass. (now Conn.), about 1728, and died in Wilbraham, Mass., January 3,
1771, aged forty-two years. He married in Woodstock, March 5, 1751, Betty
Manning. At this time he lived in Woodstock; October 21, 1753, he joined the
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West Woodstock Congregational Church, but before 1758 had moved to Wales,
a district of Springfield, Mass., and later a part of the town of Wilbraham. In
the latter year he served as a Private in the Colonial War, in Colonel William
William's regiment, Captain Jonathan Ball’s company, raised by the province of
Massachusetts Bay for the reduction of Canada. He is spoken of as “of Spring-
field,” served from April 13 to November 4, and travelled seven days. [Massa-
chusetts Archives, Muster Rolls, Vol. XCVI, p. 444.]

In a list of pew holders in the Wilbraham Congregational Church, dated July 3,
1770, we find that Isaiah Chaffee and his wife, with four other men and their
wives occupied pew number five. The land records show that on August 18, 1761,
“Isaiah Chafee husbandman of Wales’” sold to David Burt, 2d, of Springfield,
husbandman, for £90, one hundred and eight acres of land in Wales, formerly
belonging to Isaiah’s ‘“honored father, Joseph Chaffee, deceased.” This deed is
signed by “Isaiah Chafee” and ‘‘Betty Chafee.” "April 10, 1767, ‘“Isaiah Chaffee,
husbandman, of Wilbraham”’ bought land of Henry Badger of that place for £18.
April 2, 1771, in Northampton, Mass., Comfort Chaffee (244), brother of Isaiah,
was appointed administrator of this estate, and at the same time William King
was appointed guardian of the five minor children, Betty, over fourteen, Wil-
liam, Joseph, Isaiah and Hannah under fourteen. Isaiah left almost nothing and
September 14, 1772, Comfort Chaffee obtained the consent of the court to sell
the whole. of the estate, the papers being signed by Comfort and the widow, Betty
Chaffee. This was probably for the purpose of paying Isaiah’s debts and obtain-
ing ready money for the needs of the widow and children. From this time the
family suffered many hardships from extreme poverty; probably no line of the
Chaffee family had a harder life than did the children of Isaiah after his death.

Isaiah and his brother Ephraim are said to have helped drive the wolf of Israel
Putnam fame into the cave where it was captured. It had wrought sad havoc
among the sheep in the neighborhood of Pomfret.

Children:

625 i Hannah ¢ Chaffee, born in Woodstock, October 20, 1752; died December

. 10, 1756; buried in South Wilbraham, Mass.; baptized in the West
Woodstock Congregational Church, October 14, 1753.

626 ii John Chaffee, probably the man to whom the following Revolutionary
record refers:

“Chaffee, John, Private, Capt. William White’s co. (late)
Col. Brown’s (Berkshire Co.) regt.; enlisted July 18, 1780; dis-
charged Oct. 22, 1780; service 3 mos. 1 day, at Stone Arabia,
N. 5‘.3” [Massachusetts Soldiers and Sailors in the War of the
Revolution.] [It is possible that the last two entries accredited
to 600 refer to this man.]

627 iii Elizabeth (Betty) Chaffee, born before 1757, as she was over fourteen
years of age, April 2, 1771; married Gilbert, and at one
time lived in Massachusetts.

+628 iv William Chaffee, born after April 2, 1757; married Mary Whi[)é)le.
e

+629 v Jose%l‘lrh Chaffee, born in Woodstock, October 2, 1761; married Mercy
ite.

630 vi Isaia? li)hai’fee, Jr., born about 1764; he served in the Revolution as
ollows:

“Chaffee, Isaiah, Wilbraham. Descriptive list of men raised
to reinforce Continental Army for the term of 6 months, agreeable
to resolve of June 5, 1780; , 16 yrs.; stature, 5 ft. 5 in.; com-
plexion, light; residence, Wilbraham; arrived at Springfield July
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5, 1780; marched to camp July 6, 1780, under command of Lieut.
Taylor of 2d Mass. Line; also, pay roll for 6 months men raised
by the town of Wilbraham for service in the Continental Army
during 1780; marched July 6, 1780; discharged Dec. 6, 1780;
service, 5 mos., 15 days.

“List of men raised for the 6 months service and returned by
Brig.-Gen. Paterson as having passed muster in a return dated
Cam(g) Totoway, Oct. 25, 1780.

“Chafe, Isaiah. Certificate dated West Point, Dec. 6, 1780,
signed by Capt. Abraham Williams, stating that said Chafe, who
engaged for 6 months for the town of Wil%raham, served 4 mos.
28 days in 12th Mass. regt., was then discharged and given per-
mission to return to Wilbraham.

“Caffee, Isaiah. Private, Capt. John Carpenter’s co. of guards;
enlisted Jan. 24, 1781; discharged April 10, 1781; service, 2 mos.
‘li7lgays; company detached for 8 months and stationed at Spring-

eld.

“Chaffe, Isaiah, Wilbraham. Receipt dated Wilbraham,
March 8, 1781, for bounty paid said Chaffe by Lieut. William
King, Chairman of a class of the town of Wilbraham, to serve in
the Continental Army for the term of 3 years.” [Massachusetts
Soldiers and Sailors in the War of the Revolution.] His name is
also on a “Return of the hire of the three years men” dated
December 26, 1781, and signed by the Selectmen of Wilbraham,
he having received £76, 10s.; it is also found on two warrants to
pay the officers and men of Captain John Carpenter’s company,
dated June 24, 1782, and October 28, 1782,

631 vii Hannah Chaffee.

260 Joshua ¢ Chaffee (Joel,¢ John,3 Joseph,? Thomas!) was born in Rehoboth,
Mass., about 1733, and died in Ellsworth, Conn., October 9, 1789. He married
in Mansfield (Sharon), Conn., July 2, 1755, Mary, daughter of Matthew St. John
of Sharon (Wilton). She was born in Wilton, September 25, 1739, and died
August 28, 1829. Joshua Chaffee was a farmer, and moved to Sharon from Mans-
field, in 1755, shortly after his marriage. April 20, 1757, Matthew St. John of
Sharon sold “for love, good will and affection” to his daughter, Mary, and son-in-
law, Joshua, twelve acres of land in that town, and April 18, 1758, he sold to Joshua
for £75, thirteen acres more there. Joshua sold to Ebenezer Smith, Jr., of Wood-
stock, Conn., for £12, 10s., two acres of orchard land in the latter town, January 7,
1763. He also bought and sold other pieces of land there. His name appears as
one of the company of householders from Sharon, on a roll of Captain Eliphalet
Holmes’ company of minute men of East Haddam, raised in May, 1776, by order
of the “Capt. General.” [Connecticut Men in the Revolution.] He was made a
Freeman in Sharon, October 16, 1777. He made his will February 14, 1787, and
in it names as his heirs, his wife Mary, sons Joel, Matthew and Joshua Bignall,
his daughters Betty, Mary, Lucy, Vinie, Olive, Lettice and Julia, his son Joel
being made executor. He and his wife are buried in Ellsworth, where their tomb-
stones bear the following epitaph:

“ For me to live is Christ and to die is gain.”
Children, born in Sharon:
632 i Elizabeth ¢ (Betty) Chaffee, born May 11, 1757; died October 27, 1844;
married (1) in Sharon, January 2, 1777, Asa Chapman, of New
Concord, Chatham, N. Y.; he died soon after and she married
(2) in Ellsworth, November 11, 1779, Isaiah, son of Ebenezer
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and Lucy (Moulton) Everitt; he was born in Sharon, April 12,
1753, and died in Ellsworth, August 4, 1834; a farmer; both were
buried in Ellsworth. ,
+633 i Joel Israel Chaffee, born July 2, 1759; married (1) Rachel Booth; (2)
Dolly Hyde.
+634 iii Mary Chaffee, born June 10, 1762; married William W. Hyde.
4635 iv Lucy Chaffee, born February 12, 1765; married Stephen Eaton.
636 v Matthew Chaffee, born December 12, 1767; died in Ellsworth, Novem-
ber 13, 1789; buried there; unmarried.
+637 vi Lovina (Vinie) Chaffee, born December 26, 1770; married Elijah Abel.
+638 vii Olive Chaffee, born October 17, 1774; married (1) Joshua Studley,
Jr.; (2) Amos Seymour.
+639 viii Lettice Chaffee, born September 3, 1777; married Nathan Norton.
+640 ix Joshua Bignall Chaffee, born March 8, 1781; married (1) Anna Sey-
mour; (2) Hannah Birdsey.
641  x Julia Chaffee, born March 10, 1786; died in Kent, Conn., January 20,
lgﬁg; married George Bull, a widower of Kent; they had no
children. .

2568 Mary 5 Chafles (Ebenezer,* John,3 Joseph,? Thomas 1) was born in Wood-
stock, Mass. (now Conn.), August 27, 1733, and died. She married there, March 29,
1753, Thomas Chapman. She was baptized in the First Congregational Church
of Woodstock, August 19, 1733.

Children, baptized in the First Congregational Church, Woodstock:

642 i Christopher 8 Chapman, baptized December 21, 1766.

643 ii Oliver Chapman, baptized December 21, 1766; married Eunice 5 Chaffee
(588) (Benjamin,* Joseph,?® Joseph,? Thomas 1).

644 iii Molly Chapman, baptized December 21, 1766.

645 iv Parker Chapman, baptized September 10, 1769; married Sally ¢ Chaffee
(587) (Benjamin,¢ Joseph,3 Joseph,? Thomas 1).

269 Rebecca 8 Ohaffee (Ebenezer,¢ John,3 Joseph,? Thomas 1) was born in Wood-
stock, Mass. (now Conn.), July 28, 1735, and died there December 30, 1819. She
married in Woodstock, October 3, 1754, John Howlett. She was baptized in the
First Congregational Church of Woodstock, August 10, 1735.

Children, born in Woodstock:
+646 i Didymus® Howlett, born April 4, 1760; married (1) Alice Marcy;

(2) Polly Preston.

+647  ii John Howlett, Jr., born October 11, 1762; married Anna Sanger.
+648 iii Ebenezer Howlett, a twin, born February 29, 1764 (?); married Lois

wis.
649 iv Samuel Howlett, a twin, born February 29, 1764 (?) ; married Betsey &
Chaffee (338) (Josiah,* Joseph,® Joseph,? Thomas!), born in
Woodstock, July 14, 1773, baptized there in the First Congre-
gational Church, August 27, 1775; they had no children.
650 v Thomas Howlett.
651 vi William Howlett, died October 15, 1801, unmarried.
+652 vii Tabitha Howlett, married Comfort Clapham.
+653 viii Mary Howlett, married Edmund Tiffany.
+654 ix Rebecca Howlett, married Samuel Lyon.

260 Tabitha s Chaffee (Ebenezer,t John,3 Joseph,> Thomas!) was born in
Woodstock, Mass. (now Conn.), July 14, 1739, and died December 19, 1824. She
married there, May 14, 1761, Ephraim, son of Eliphalet and Mary (Bacon) Car-
penter. He was born in Woodstock July 24, 1735, and died August 21, 1809.
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He served in the Revolution in the 4th Battalion, under Colonel Ely, in Captain
John Ely’s regiment. He was a farmer, and after living for many years in Wood-
stock he and his wife moved to Stafford, Conn., where they lived with their son
Elias. Tabitha Chaffee was baptized in the First Congregational Church in Wood-
stock, July 29, 1739.

Children, born in Woodstock:

655 i Elias ¢ Carpenter, married Sarah Prescott.

656 ii Ephraim Carpenter, Jr., born May 26, 1762 (1763); died in Woodstock,
January 20, 1776.

657 iii Eliphalet Carpenter, born July 9, 1765; married (1) Sybil Vinny; (2)
Matilda Reynolds.

658 iv Williard Carpenter, born April 3, 1767; married Polly Bacon.

658a v Joseph Carpenter, born March 5, 1769; married Sarah (Sally) Prescott.

659 vi Bemsley Carpenter, born April 19, 1771; died October 7, 1775.

660 vii Harvey Carpenter, born December 31, 1775; married (1) Charity; (2)
Esther Sabin.

661 viii Polly Carpenter, born May 12, 1778.

662 ix Ephraim Carpenter, Jr., born June 7, 1780; married (1) Elizabeth
Prescott; (2) Sarah (Sally) N. King.

663 x John Sullivan Carpenter, born June 26, 1782; married Martha ———,

664 xi Nellie Carpenter, born October 9, 1785.

" For further descendants see Carpenter Genealogy, by Amos B. Carpenter.

261 Eszra ® Chaftee (Ebenezer,* John,® Joseph,? Thomas!) was born in Wood-
stock, Mass. (now Conn.), April 9, 1742, and died in Athens, Vt., July 16, 1815.
He married in Woodstock, September 20, 1764, Jerusha Hurlburt of that place,
who died in Athens, December 15, 1822, aged eighty. She was a member of the
West Woodstock Congregational Church, February 3, 1771.

Ezra Chaffee was baptized in the First Congregational Church of Woodstock,
June 6, 1742. He had a light complexion, blue or gray eyes, and was short and
stout. He was a farmer and lived for many years in Woodstock. He served in
the Revolution in Lieutenant Jonathan Morris’s company of that place. He
probably rose to the rank of Captain, as he was always called by that title. Feb-
ruary 24, 1781, he bought of Azel Hooker of Athens, for £60, “hard money,”
one hundred acres of land in the northern part of that town. To this place he
moved between 1782 and 1784. From 1792 to 1798 he was one of the Listers of
Athens and in 1796 Selectman. He and his wife were members of the Methodist
church in that town, and were buried there.

Children, all but two younger born in Woodstock:

4665 i Alfred ® Chaffee, born July 5, 1765; married Hannah Woodward.
+666  ii David Chaffee, a twin, born July 5, 1765; married Anna Johnson.
+667 iii Charles Chaffee, born May 3, 1767; married Lucy Evans.

+668 iv Rufus Chafiee, born March 2, 1769; married Elizabeth Stickney.

4669 v Lydia Chaffee, born March 22, 1771; married John Oak.

670  vi Jerusha Chaffee, born about 1772 or 1773; died in Athens, May 18,
1856, aged eighty-three; married Roswell Evans and had a large
family; she was baptized in the West Woodstock Congregational
Church, March 28, 1773.

671 vii Abigail Chaffee, died Koung; baptized in the West Woodstock Con-
gregational Church, October 29, 1775.

+672 viii Ezra Chaffee, Jr., born August 25, 1777; married Fanny Shipman.
+673 ix Abigail Chafiee, born May 9, 1779; married Reverend Asa Kent.
+674  x Olive Chaffee, born February 20, 1781; married Leonard Ames.
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675 xi Mary (Polly) Chaffee, born September 17, 1782; died in Athens,
November 9, 1833; married Reverend Elijah Davis, a Baptist
minister, who after her death married (2) Mrs. Miriam (Park)
Sherwin, and had a son, Park Davis; Mary Chaffee was baptized
in the West Woodstock Con, tional Church, October 27,
1782; she lived on her father’s homestead in Athens; had no
children.

+676 xii Prudégce (l}haﬂ'ee, a twin, born September 17, 1782; married David
ttrel.
+677 xiii Armi(lla Chaﬂeebblt‘)m March 7, 1784; married (1) Nathan Willard;
2) akes.

678 xiv Azubah Chaffee, born October 8, 1787; married Leonard Brown

Chaffee. (See 721.)

262 Ebenesxer ¢ Chaffee, Jr. (Ebenezer,* John,3 Joseph,? Thomas!), was born
in Woodstock, Mass. (now Conn.), September 27, 1744, and died in Canterbury,
Conn., between 1810 and 1815. He married there, April 18, 1776, Alice, daughter
of Mrs. Lydia (Johnson) Fassett. Alice (Fassett) Chaffee died in 1826, and was
buried in Canterbury. He was baptized in the First Congregational Church of
Woodstock, November 11, 1744. He was a farmer and tanner in Canterbury,
where, October 8, 1791, he bought for £487, 15s., one hundred and thirteen and
three-quarters acres of land.

Children, born in Canterbury:
+679 i Lydia ® Chaffee, born October 8, 1776; married Luther Spaulding.
4680 ii Ethan Chaffee, born October 29, 1780; married Ruby Bacon.

681 iii ?Sl‘i;‘;e6 8(%h)aﬁ'ee, born December 19, 1782; married Ebenezer Sanger.

264 Olive 8 Chaffee (Ebenezer,t John,? Joseph,? Thomas!) was born in Wood-
stock, Conn., March 24, 1756, and died. She married (1) there, October 28, 1783,
Nathaniel Sanger, who died. She married (2) Adams. She was baptized
in the First Congregational Church of Woodstock, May 16, 1756.

Children:

682 i James® Sanger.

4683 ii Ebenezer Sanger, married Olive Chaffee (681).
684 iii Ira Sanger.
685 iv Sally Sanger.

265 8amuel ¢ Chaffee (Ebenezer,¢ John,3 Joseph,2 Thomas !) was born in Wood-
stock, Conn., June 9, 1760, and died there October 20, 1813. He married in Wood-
stock, May 25, 1783, Azubah, daughter of John and Dorothy Sanger of that place,
and sister of Perley Sanger, who married Anna Chaffee (333). Her father John
married (2) Sarah Cady Chaffe (335). Azubah (Sanger) Chaffee was born Septem-
ber 3, 1760, one of a family of eighteen children, and died in Orwell, Pa., Septem-
ber 28, 1834. After her husband’s death she lived with her son Luther, and died
in his home. She was buried in Woodruff’s Corners, near Orwell.

Samuel Chaffee lived in Woodstock, where he was a farmer and teacher. He
entered the Revolutionary army when quite young, as a drummer boy, and was
present at the execution of Major André, the English officer arrested and executed
asaspy. Samuel Chaffee was buried in Woodstock. His widow and his son-in-law,

\\Joseph Deans, were appointed administrators of his estate and the inventory was
taken, November 12, 1813. The estate, amounting to $3,650.15, was divided
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among the heirs November 1, 1814. October 7, 1823, Joseph Deans was appointed
guardian of the minor children, Eliza and Ezra.

Children, born in Woodstock:
+686 i Sarah (Sally)' Adams Chaffee, born July 3, 1784; married Wilkes

+687 i LucK Chaffee, born October 1, 1785; married Joseph Deans.
+688 iii Luther Chaffee, born October 26, 1787 married (1) Amy Browning;
(2) Julia Waterman.
+689 iv Polly Chaffee, born May 3, 1789; married (1) Daniel Browning; (2)
Artemas Johnson.
+690 v Miranda Chaffee, born June 3, 1790; married Theron Wells.
+691  vi Danforth Chaffee, born March 31, 1793; married Edna Luther.
+692 vii Jason Chaffee, born June 9, 1794; married Fanny Gridley.
+693 wviii Lucinda Chaffee, born May 18, 1796; married Walter Tucker, Jr.
+694 ix Ebenezer Chaffee, born Sep tember 18 1797; married Phila Farnum.
+695  x Alice Chaffee, born July 18, 1799 married (1) Joslah Conant; (2)——.
696 xi Abiel Chaffl:ae, born in 1800 died in Woodstock, November 30, 1803,
three years.
+697 xii Eliza Chaffee, bom April 2, 1803 ; married Asa Robinson.
+698 xiii Ezra Chaffee, born April 12 1806 married Sylvia A. Bennett.

266 Elizabeth ¢ Chaftes (Ebenezer,® John,® Joseph,? Thomas!) was born in
Woodstock, Conn., January 3, 1763, and died. She married there, October 17,
1785, Jonathan Paul. She was baptized in the First Congregational Church of
Woodstock, July 10, 1763.

Children:

699 i Ebenezer ® Chaffee Paul.
700 ii Adams Paul.

269 Heszekiah & Chaffes, Jr. (Hezekiah,¢ John,® Joseph,? Thomas 1), was born in
Rehoboth, Mass., December 6, 1731, and died in Windsor, Conn., March 4, 1819.
He married Mrs. Lydia (Griswold) Phelps of Simsbury, Conn., whose gravestone
bears the following inscription:

“In memory of Lydia Chaffee, wife of Doct. Hezekiah Chaffee and daughter
of Samuel Griswold, Esq., who departed this life October 1st 1801 in the 79th
year of her age.” Doctor Chaffee was born seven weeks after his father’s death.
June 7, 1748, Nathaniel Peck, Joseph Bosworth and John Bowen were appointed
his guardians.

‘“Hezekiah Chaffee came to Hartford, Conn., for the purpose of starting a drug
store and pursuing his profession, but by the advice of the first Doctor Isaac Bull
of Hartford, he settled in Windsor, Conn., and held a high rank in his profession.”
[Hinman’s Early Connecticut Settlers.] He settled in Windsor and bought land
there about 1755 or 1756. April 20, 1758, he sold to Jonathan Skinner of Wood-
stock, Conn., eight acres of land there for £27. March 8, 1768, he bought of Joel
Chaffee (251) for £30, ninety acres of land in Wilbraham, Mass., with the buildings
thereon, and June 2d following leased it to him at a yearly rental of twenty
shillings. The lease was for the term of Joel’s life, and after his death to fall to
Hepzibah, his wife, so long as she remained his widow. Doctor Chaffee was a
slave owner as is evidenced by the following from the Hartford records:

“To Henry Allyn, Esq. Town Clerk for the town of Windsor, May it be Re-

membered that I Hezekmh Chaffee of said Windsor, in Hartford County and
State of Connecticut am the Lawful Owner and Posessor of a Negro Woman
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who had a female child Born of her Body on or about the 15th Day of August
Anne Dom. 1791 which said Child is now Living and called by the Name Betty
fSte\:iansqn, which said child now Lives with me the Subscriber as One of my
amily.
Y ‘ HEZEKIAH CHAFFEE.”

Doctor Chaffee made his will March 8, 1817, and it is recorded in Hartford.
In it he leaves his property to his children, Hepsibah, Mary, Hezekiah and John,
naming the latter and Edward Solden as executors. An inventory of his estate
was taken May 4, 1819. His gravestone in the old cemetery in Windsor bears
the following inscription:

“Sacred to the memory of Doctor Hezekiah Chaffee, who died March 4, 1819

AET 88.”

Children:

701 i Hepsibah ® Chaffee, born about 1758; died July 8, 1834, aged seventy-
gix; unmarried, and was buried in Windsor; her will, recorded in
Hartford, in July, 1834, divides her property e(Ll;ally between
her sister Mary Hooker and her brother John Chaffee, naming
both as executors.

4702 ii Mary Chaffee, born about 1760; married Captain James Hooker.
+703 iii Hezekiah Chaffee, Jr., born March 21, 1762; married (1) Charlotte
Bradley; (2) Abby Talcott.

704 iv Esthﬁ' (ﬁl;aﬂ'ee, born 1765; died April 4, 1790; married Captain Hector

cLane.

705 v John Chaffee, born about 1767; died in Windsor, August 1, 1844;
married Mary, daughter of Reverend David S. Rowland; they
lived at one time in Springfield, Mass., where he was paymaster
in the United States Armory; Mrs. Chaffee joined the First Con-

egational Church in Springfield, September 6, 1812, by letter
rom the First Church of Windsor; August 11, 1833, Mr. and Mrs,
Chaffee joined the Congregational Church in Windsor; they had
Itllc: children; she died in Windsor, June 21, 1844; he was buried
ere.

272 8imeon 5 Chaffee (John,* John,3 Joseph,? Thomas 1) was born in Woodstock,
Mass. (now Conn.), January 22, 1736-7, and died in South Wilbraham, Mass.,
September 13, 1824. He married there soon after October 19, 1765 (on which
date their intention of marriage was published in South Wilbraham), Love, daugh-
ter of Cornelius, Jr., and Mehitable (Bartlett) Davis of Stafford, Conn. She was
born April 3, 1744, and died July 8, 1827. Simeon Chaffee was baptized in the
First Congregational Church in Woodstock, August 7, 1737.

He was a farmer and lived in Wilbraham. May 20, 1763, he bought of Anna
Stacy, widow of his cousin Ephraim Chaffee (241), and executrix of his estate,
sixty acres of land in Wales, for £48, 10s. June 3, 1769, he sold to Nathan Ains-
worth for £20, seventy acres of land in Somers, Conn. Three days later, June
6th, he bought from the school committee, forty-four acres of land in Wilbraham.
September 26, 1769, * Simeon Chaffee husbandman of Wilbraham " sold to “ Joseph
Chaffee (239) yeoman of Wilbraham” for £20, two parcels of land partly in Wales,
Mass., and partly in Somers, the adjoining town in Connecticut. July 3, 1770,
a list was made of the sittings in the Congregational church in Wilbraham, and
it gives Simeon Chaffee and four other men, with their wives, as occupying pew
number thirty-one in the gallery, women’s side. In South Wilbraham in 1774
an agreement was made not to purchase English-made goods. To this one hundred
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and twenty-five names were signed, among them being that of Simeon Chaffee.
March 19, 1776, he was elected in Wilbraham, Surveyor and Collector of Tithings,
and March 16, 1784, Constable. He and his wife are buried in South Wilbraham,
and on his gravestone appears the following:
“My children dear

I pray draw near

A father’s grave to see

Not long ago

I was with you

& Soon you’ll be with me.”

Children, born in South Wilbraham:
+706 i Lucinda ® Chaffee, born October 21, 1766 ; married Daniel Murphy, Jr.
707  ii Levi Chaffee, born August 2, 1768; thought to have died in the West
about 1858; intention of marriage with Hannah Sisson of South
Wilbraham published May 12, 1792; had three sons; said by
some of the family to have moved to New York state, by others
to have moved West, where he died aged about ninety.
+708 iii Willard Chaffee, born November 7, 1770; married Lois Fuller.
709 iv Mehitable Chaffee, born October 20, 1772; died young.
710 v Simeon Chaffee, Jr., born October 5, 1774; died in infancy.
4711  vi Simeon Chaffee, Jr., born September 10, 1776; married Fanny Elmer
Chaffee (1570).
712 vii Noah Chaffee, born October 30, 1778; died in infancy.
+713 viii Noah Chaffee, born October 19, 1780; married Freelove Edgerton.
714  ix Mehitable Chaffee, born August 17, 1782,
715  x Henry Chaffee, born October 5, 1785.
+716 xi Emery Chaffee, born October 5, 1786; married (1) Keziah Harwood;
(2) Lura Harwood.

276 Amos & Chaffee (John,* John,? Joseph,? Thomas 1) was born in Woodstock,
Conn., August 9, 1744, and died in Rochester, Vt., February 3, 1815. He mar-
ried in Stafford, Conn., about 1769, Anna Brown of Windsor, Conn., their in-
tention being published in South Wilbraham, where he then lived, November
5, 1769. She died February 22, 1831, and was buried in Rochester.

Amos Chaffee was baptized in the First Congregational Church of Woodstock,
October 7, 1744. He was stout, broad-shouldered, five feet, ten inches in height,
with a sandy complexion and blue eyes. He was a farmer. A list of those occupy-
ing seats in the Congregational church in Wilbraham dated July 3, 1770, shows
that Amos Chaffee and his wife, with seven other persons, occupied pew number
seventeen. He was chosen Deer Reeve in Wilbraham, March 15, 1774, and July
21, 1774, sold to Simeon, his brother, sixty-eight acres of land in that place for
£20. This year also his signature is found attached to the agreement not to buy
English-made goods, signed by one hundred and twenty-five men of South Wil-
braham. August 5, 1775, he bought of Abner Badger land in Wilbraham for
£120, and August 12, 1776, he sold to the same man land there for £100.

He served in the Revolution as follows:

“Chaffee, Amos. Private, Capt. Daniel Cadwell’s co. Col. Timothy Robinson’s
detachment of Hampshire Co. militia; enlisted Dec. 25, 1776; discharged April
2, 1777; service, 3 mos. 9 days at Ticonderoga; enlistment to expire March 25,
1777; roll dated Springfield.”” [Massachusetts Soldiers and Sailors in the War of
the Revolution.)

The powder horn and gun which Amos Chaffee carried in the war are preserved
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by his descendants. The former is inscribed, “ Amos Chaffee’s Horn, made at
Woodstock, Conn. April 17, 1761.”” On it is traced a map of North and South
America.

February 23, 1778, he bought sixty acres of land in Stafford, to which place
he removed the following spring. May 31, 1779, he added to this purchase seventy
acresmore. December 13, 1779, he took the oath in Stafford. A list of the members
of the Second Congregational Church, dated March 13, 1791, contains the name
of Amos Chaffee. In 1797 he moved with his family to Athens, Vt. He and his
wife were granted letters to the church there August 19, 1798. In 1806 they
moved to Rochester, where they spent the remainder of their lives.

Children, the first three born in South Wilbraham, the last two in Stafford:

717 i Eleanor® Chaffee, botrn May 17, 1771; died November 22, 1848; mar-

ried James Thresher.

+718 ii Amos Chaffee, Jr., born May 13, 1773; married (1) Betsey Harwood;
(2) Rachel Gubtil; (3) Mrs. Lydia (Beckwith) Richardson.

719 iii Lucy Chaffee, born April 30, 1776; died November 18, 1826; married

Elias Richmond.

4720 iv John Chaffee, born September 3, 1778; married Sally Evans.

4721 v Leonard Brown Chaffee, born September 2, 1780; married Azubah
Chaflee (678).

276 Anna & Chaffe (John,* John,? Joseph,? Thomas!) was probably born in
Woodstock, Conn., about 1747-8, and died. She married, May 19, 1767, Phineas,
son of Stephen and Sarah (Bliss) Stebbins, their intention of marriage being
posted in South Wilbraham, March 25, 1766. Phineas Stebbins was born May
19, 1739. Anna Chaffe was baptized in the First Congregational Church of Wood-
stock. She probably moved with her parents to Stafford, Conn., about 1765, and
before 1768 to South Wilbraham.

Children:
+722 i Phineas® Stebbins, Jr., born July 13, 1768; married Phebe Dunham.

723 ii Anna Stebbins, born March 7, 1769; died.

4724 iii Walter Stebbins, born December 30, 1770; married Azubah Carpenter.

725 iv Silas Stebbins, born October 30, 1772; died.

726 v Harvey Stebbins, died; removed to New York.

727 vi Lucina Stebbins, born January 29, 1775; died young.
+728 vii Lucina Stebbins, born September 12, 1780; married Luther Stebbins.

280 Francis Green ¢ Chaflee (Benjamin,* Joseph,? Joseph,? Thomas !) was born
in Ashford, Conn., April 6, 1745, and died there July 3, 1786. He married in
Ashford, October 6, 1767, his cousin, Dorcas 5 Chaffee (312) (Thomas,¢ Joseph,?
Joseph,? Thomas !) born in Woodstock, Conn., June 12, 1747. The records of
that place show that at the time of their marriage he lived in Ashford and she in
Woodstock. December 8, 1769, they were living in Ashford, and sold to Stephen
Chaffe (96) of Woodstock for £6, three acres of land “lying in the farm of Joseph
Chaffee (18) deceased.” The Ashford records under the date of May 29, 1775,
state that “ Francis Chaffee’s earmark for his creatures is a slit in the top of the
right ear and a hole in the left ear.”” His name appears in the Revolutionary
records as Private in Captain Thomas Knowlton’s company, which marched from
Ashford for the relief of Boston on the Lexington Alarm, April, 1775. Service,
three days. He also served as Private in Captain Marcy’s company. He made
his will June 15, 1786, and the inventory of his estate was taken in Ashford, July
21, of that year.
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Children, born in Ashford:
729 i Priscilla ® Chaffee, born November 17, 1769.
+730 ii Benjamin Chaffee, born June 28, 1771; married Rebecca Whiting.

731 iii Orrin Chaffee, born June 15, 1773.

732 iv Francis Chaffee, born August 18, 1776; died July 3, 1786.

733 v Dorcas Chaffee, born September 29, 1779.

734 vi Frances Chaffee, born March 18, 1782.

735 vii Perrin Chaffee, born April 20, 1786; died 1813, Samuel Smith bein
appointed administrator of the estate of Perrin Chaffee, late o
Marcellus, N. Y., April 28, 1813; he bought land there February
10, 1810.

282 Zebediah 5 Chaffee (James,* Joseph,? Joseph,? Thomas 1) was born in Wood-
stock, Mass. (now Conn.), April 11, 1741, and died in Rupert or Hebron, Vt.,
February 9, 1816. He married in Woodstock, January 28, 1768, Mehetabel,
daughter of David and Susanna Preston. David Preston was a sea captain. On
one of his voyages he was lowered over the side of his ship and killed a shark with
a hatchet, his crew drawing back to the deck both their captain and his prize.
A picture of this exploit is to be found in London. Mehetabel (Preston) Chaffee
was born April 19, 1748, died February 22, 1836, and was buried in Vermont.
Zebediah Chaffee was a shoemaker. He served in the Colonial War and also in
the Revolution. He moved from Woodstock to Rupert in 1796; later he spent a
few years with his son Zebediah Chaffee, Jr., in Onoquago, N. Y., but returned to
Vermont. :

Children, all but the seventh known to have been born in Woodstock:

736 i Celinda ®- Chaffee, born November 6, 1768; died in Scipio, N. Y.,

March 11, 1840; married Eber Dunham; baptized in the First
Congregational Church, Woodstock, February 19, 1769.
737 i Pamela érhiﬁee, born August 31, 1770; died in Vermont about 1845,
d seventy-five; married Benjamin Harmon; baptized in the
irst Congregational Church, Woodstock, September 1, 1770.
4738 iii Mabel Chaffee, born October 29, 1772; married Benjamin Bliss.
4739 iv Azotus Chaffee, born November 6, 1774; married Sarah Hopkins.
740 v Thirza Chaffee, born April 12, 1777; died in Woodstock, March 28,
};??, baptized in the First Congregational Church there in April,
741  vi Gratis Chaffee, born April 6, 1779; died in Vermont; married David
Brown, and lived in Vermont; baptized in the First Congrega-
tional Church, Woodstock, June 20, 1779.
742 vii Sabra Chaffee, born March 6, 1781; died in Rupert, March 5, 1840;
?Spin_]zgil in the First Congregational Church, Woodstock, June
+743 viii Zebedi;lh Chaffee, Jr., born March 4, 1784; married Patty Knox.

285 James 5 Ohafee, Jr. (James,* Joseph,® Joseph,2 Thomas1), was born in
Woodstock, Mass. (now Conn.), March 22, 1748, and died in Churchville, N. Y.,
May 22, 1827. He married Sarah Howlett, born September 9, 1753. She was a
member of the Free Will Baptist Church. He was baptized in the First Congre-
gational Church of Woodstock, May 1, 1748. He served as a Private in the Revo-
lution, at the time of his enlistment spelling his name ‘“Chaffee,” it is said. Later
he changed the spelling to “Chafee” and when his daughter Elizabeth applied
for a pension, she was refused on that account. He probably moved from Wood-
stock, Conn., to Woodstock, Vt., between 1779 and the spring of 1781, and in
1807 was again living in the latter place, in the interim having spent some years
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in New York state. He and his son James sold land in Riga, N. Y., and also a
distillery and its fittings, excepting the thermometer, July 4, 1824. Mr. Chaffee
was buried in Churchville.

Children:

+744 i Mart(l}m kHowlett ¢ Chafee, born January 10, 1776; married George
ook.

745 i Sarah Cook Chafee, born February 17, 1779; died in Cattaraugus
County, N. Y.; married (1) in Vermont, Griffin, who
died in Canada, as did three of their seven children; she married
2) Williams and moved to Monroe County, N. Y., and
later to Cattaraugus County, where in 1849 they lived in Oran
ville; a son and three daughters by the first husband married
and probably settled in Cattaraugus County.

746  iii Mary Chafee, born in Vermont, April 29, 1781; died in Riga, in 1849,
in the home of her sister Elizabeth; unmarried; moved to New
York state from Vermont two or three years before her death.

4747 iv Elizabeth Chafee, born October 4, 1783; married Jonathan Tupper.
4748 v William Chafee, born September 5, 1784; married Sarah Squires.

749  vi Lucretia Chafee, born in Vermont, December 29, 1785; died in Riga,
N. Y.; married William Bennett, and had a daughter and two
sons; was buried in Riga.

750 vii Dorothy Chafee, born in gayu a County, N. Y., August 18, 1792;
died in Riga and was burieg there; married there Hawks
and had one child.

751 viii James Chafee, Jr., born in Cayuga County, died in Riga; married
there Eliza Dean, and had three children, one of whom died in
infancy; the others, a son and a daughter, after their father’s
death, moved away with their mother, who remarried.

286 Nathan 5 Chaflee (James,* Joseph,® Joseph,? Thomas!) was born in Wood-
stock, Conn., November 17, 1750, and died in Sturbridge, Mass., August 13 (15),
1815. He married Priscilla Wedge, born April 3, 1762. He was baptized in the
First Congregational Church of Woodstock, November 25, 1750. He lived at one
time in Brookfield, Mass., and was a farmer. He is thought to be the Nathan
Chaffee who is on record as having entered the Revolutionary service July 5, 1776,
in Captain David Woodward’s Rangers.

Children, born in Brookfield:
+752 i Mary Abiiail ¢ Chaffee, born March 12, 1784; married Dexter Ludden.

4753 ii William Chaffee, born July 31, 1786; married Rachel Rice.
+754 iii Calvin Chaffee, born July 30, 1788; married Charity Aynesworth.

288 Chester 5 Chaffee (James,* Joseph,3 Joseph,? Thomas !) was born in Wood-
stock, Conn., April 6, 1755, and died in Thompson, Conn., September 17, 1741.
He married in Woodstock, April 25, 1778, Caroline, daughter of Joshua Walker
of that place. She died November 3, 1845, aged eighty-six, and was buried in
East Woodstock, Conn. Chester Chaffee was baptized in the First Congregational
Church of Woodstock, May 18, 1755. He and his wife were both members of the
Congregational church. They lived after their marriage in Thompson, where he
bought land as early as 1785. In the records of Connecticut Revolutionary Service
we find that Chester “ Chafey " served as a Private in the 7th Company, commanded
by Captain Ephraim Manning, formed in Woodstock, enlisting May 9, 1775, and
being discharged December 15, 1775. He enlisted as a Private in the 3d Regiment,
July 1, 1780, and was discharged December 11, 1780. He also served in Captain
Lyon’s company, Colonel Durkee’s regiment, as is mentioned in his pension claim.
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He was a Revolutionary pensioner in 1832, living in Windham County, and also
in 1840, then living in Thompson, aged eighty-five. He was a farmer and tailor,
had a light complexion, and was five feet, four inches in height.
Children:
+755 i Cyril ® Chaffee, born February 11, 1779; married Hannah Grover.
+756  ii Hannah Chaffee, born June 21, 1781; married Hezekiah Frissell.
+757 iii Abigail Chaffee, born July 11, 1783; married Amasa Scott.
+758 iv John Chaffee, born November 30, 1785; married Lydia Elliot.
+759 v Alpheus Cady Chaffee, born April 9, 1789; married Nancy Evidon.
760  vi Caroline Chaffee, born August 2, 1791; died in Thompson, April 12,
1867; unmarried.
+761 vii Sophia Chaffee, born January 22, 1794; married John W. Elliott.
+762 viii Chester Chaffee, Jr., born March 14, 1798; married Mary Barker.
763 ix Mary Ann Chaffee, born March 30, 1800; died May 5, 1871; married
Arad Ugham, and had several children.
764  x Harriet Chaffee, born April 2, 1804; died December 1, 1804.

290 Calvin 5 Chaffee (James,* Joseph,® Joseph,? Thomas !) was born in Wood-
stock, Conn., February 3, 1760, and died in Lexington, N. Y., January 6, 1817
(pension claim) (June 3, 1816, family record). He married, August 31, 1786,
Ruth Evidon of Thompson, Conn., where he lived at that time. He was baptized
in the First Congregational Church of Woodstock, November 2, 1760. He fought
in the Revolution, in 1778 serving under Captain Samuel Chandler. He was
drafted several times and in 1781 enlisted for the remainder of the War, in the
3d Regiment, Connecticut Line, his home was then in Thompson. After his death
his widow applied for a pension. He bought and sold land in Thompson from
1785 to 1795, and later moved from Connecticut to New York state. He prob-
ably lived in Scipio, N. Y., in 1805 and in Ovid, N. Y., in 1807. He was a farmer
and was one of the early settlers of Lexington.

Children:

4765 i Sullivan ® Chaffee, born about 1787; married Catherine Deyoe.
766 ii Dexter Chaffee, lived in Connecticut.
+767 iii Abigail Chaffee, married Calvin Foster.
768 iv George Chaffee.
769 v Festus Chaffee, died before 1891; married Julia Delong, who lived in
Prattsville, N. Y., in 1891.
4770 vi Rhoda Chaffee, married

291 Abial 5 Chaffee (James,* Joseph,3 Joseph,? Thomas!) was born in Wood-
stock, Conn., August 13, 1761, and died there April 26, 1847. He married in
Woodstock or Thompson, Conn., July 24, 1783, Hannah, daughter of William
Seargent of Plymouth, Mass. She is said to have been a Mayflower descendant.
She was a member of the Congregational Church and was noted for her piety.
She died November 22, 1850, and was buried in East Woodstock, Conn. Abial
Chaffee was baptized in the First Congregational Church of Woodstock, August
23, 1761, and at the age of sixty-five joined the Methodist church. He had a light
complexion, blue eyes, and was possessed of an excellent memory. He was an
artisan and lived in Woodstock. At the age of fifteen he went as substitute for
his father, who had been drafted for service in the Revolution. After serving out
his father’s term, he re-enlisted and served until the end of the War. The Connec-
ticut records show that he was a Private in the 3d Regiment, enlisted July 1, 1780,
discharged December 11, 1780. Also in Captain Allen’s company, enlisted February

Hare.
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6, 1781, discharged December 31, 1781. He was present at the surrender of Corn-
wallis and also heard Washington’s farewell address to his troops. He was slightly
wounded in a skirmish by a bayonet wound in the leg. In 1818 he was a Revolu-
tionary pensioner and also in 1840, when he was living in Woodstock, aged seventy-

nine.
Children:
771 i Nancy ® Chaffee, born in Thompson or Woodstock, October 8, 1783;
ied February 14, 1872; had a light complexion, blue eyes, and
was of medium height; she united with the Congregational
Church when quite young; unmarried.
+772  ii Sally Seargent Chaffee, born August 1, 1785; married William Russell.
+773 iii Patty Chaffee, born August 20, 1787; married (1) Thomas Hemmin-
way; (2) Chester Bacon.
+774 v Haméah Sl;s Chaffee, born November 9, 1789; married Rensselaer
oombs.
+775 v Lemuel Seargent Chaffee, born April 3, 1792; married Marilla Johnson.

776  vi Gustavus Barnes Chaffee, born December 3, 1794; died in Woodstock
in July, 1826, of consumption brought on by hardship and ex-
%(')'lsure endured in the regular army, in which he served as a

ivate for five years; had a light complexion, blue eyes, and
was a mason.

777 vii Abial Chaffee, Jr., born April 26, 1797; died in June, 1803.

+778 viii Leonard Chaffee, born September 30, 1803; married (1) Emily Com-
stock; (2) Mrs. Eliza (Chaffee) Johnson (probably 2021).

779 ix Hosea Rich Chaffee, born in Dudley, Mass., gept,ember 21, 1806; died
in Woodstock, October 4, 1893; had a light complexion, blue eyes,
and was six feet in height; his first vote was cast in the Congrega-
tional Church in West Woodstock for the old Liberty party; at
the age of twenty-one he joined the Methodist church, in which
he bgec?ime steward and class leader; was a shoemaker and un-
married.

202 Oharles ¢ Chaflee (James,* Joseph,s Joseph,? Thomas ') was born in Wood-
stock, Conn., June 14, 1763, and died November 29, 1825. He married Deborah
He was baptized in the First Congregational Church of Woodstock,
July 17, 1763. He was the first physician in Alexander, N. Y., where he was living
as early as 1810. He bought land there December 23, 1814, and his widow sold
fifty acres of land there March 16, 1832. He was a very outspoken man. The
pension claim of ‘‘Charles Chafey of Bennington, N. Y.” is thought to refer to
Doctor Chaffee. It states that he enlisted in the War of 1812 in Captain Matteson’s
company, New York Militia, in May, 1812.

Children:

780 i Ruby ¢ Chaffee, married Abel McKane.

781 ii Jerusha Chaffee, married Martin McKane.

782 iii Abigail Chaffee, married J. M. Riddle.

783 iv Polly Chaffee, married Charles Raymond.

784 v Bethia Chaffee, married Riddle.
+785 vi Thomas J. Chaffee, married.

786 vii Jefferson Chaffee.

+ 787 viii James Sullivan Chaffee, born in 1808; married Sarah Jenkins.

788  ix Maria Chaffee, residence, 1828, Alexander..

+789  x Charles Chaffee, Jr., born March 3, 1818; married Naomi Roberts.

206 Ohadwick ¢ Chaffee (James,¢ Joseph,® Joseph,? Thomas!) was born in
Woodstock, Conn., March 16, 1771, and died in Monson, Mass., September 6,
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1848. He married there, Abigail, daughter of Freeborn Moulton of that place.
She was born April 23, 1773, and died in Monson, March 17, 1838, where she was
buried. Chadwick Chaffee was baptized in the First Congregational Church of
Woodstock, March 24, 1771. He had a light complexion and was five feet, eight
inches in height. He lived in Monson, where he was a farmer. He died while
out driving. .

Children, the first ten born in Monson:

+790 i Freeborn Moulton ¢ Chaffee, born August 9, 1794; married Mrs.
Betsey (Leonard) Squire.

+791 ii James Austin Chaffee, born December 7, 1796; married (1) Susan
Thresher; (2) Martha Dunham.

+792 iii Ira Chaffee, born August 2, 1798; married (1) Anna Davis; (2) Anna
Ladd Chaffee (3525); (3) Eunice Butler.

793 iv Lotheta Chaffee, born June 29, 1800; died in Stafford, Conn., No-
vember 24, 1869; married, November 12, 1843, Erasmus Rood
of that place, their marriage intention being published in Monson,
October 13, 1843; they lived in Stafford and had no children;
she was buried in Staffordville, Conn.

4794 v Orinda Chaffee, born February 14, 1802; married Gad Davis.
+795 vi Stephen Chaffee, born January 26, 1804; married Betsey Davis.
+796 vii Annis M. Chaffee, born May 22, 1806; married Heustis.

797 viii Rhoda Cady Chaffee, born May 14, 1808; died June 25, 1844; married
in South Wilbraham, Mass.,, May 27, 1832, Hiram Merrick of
Ellington, Conn., and had two children; the family moved to
Iowa and were all thought to be dead in 1890.

+798 ix Calvin Chaffee, born June 12, 1810; married Betsey A. Morgan.
4799  x Julius Chaffee, born January 13, 1813; married Polly Ellis.

+800 xi Almond Chaffee, born May 29, 1815; married Melissa R. F. Washburn.
+801 xii Abigail Rebecca Chaffee, born June 12, 1817; married Eli M. Smith.

296 Stephen & Chaffee (James,* Joseph,s Joseph,? Thomas 1) was born in Wood-
stock, Conn., September 25, 1773, and died in Springville, N. Y., February 6,
1841. He married in Woodstock, in 1795, Ruth, daughter of Kingsley Under-
wood of Vermont, a relative of Judge Underwood of Virginia. At the time of
their marriage she lived in Woodstock, and he in Brimfield, Mass. She was born
November 17, 1774, and died August 8, 1840, at the home of her daughter, Ruby
(Chaffee) Baker, in Evans, N. Y., where she was buried. Stephen Chaffee was
baptized in the First Congregational Church in Woodstock, November 5, 1773.
He and his wife were both members of the Methodist church. He had a light
complexion, black eyes and was five feet, ten inches in height. February 6, 1795,
he and his wife, being then of Pittsford, Vt., sold for £28, to John Fox of Wood-
stock, all their right and title in the real estate of Daniel Underwood, deceased,
the property being in Woodstock. Between 1798 and 1804 Stephen Chaffee moved
from Vermont to Cazenovia, N. Y., and about 1810 to Attica, N. Y. He was a
farmer. He went to live with his son Ambrose W. Chaffee in Springville after
the death of his wife, but he survived her loss only six months.

Children:

802 i Lucy ® Chaffee, born February 17, 1796; died January 11, 1859;

married John Buck, and lived near Attica.
4803 ii Amasa Ladd Chaffee, born November 28, 1797; married Lydia W.

Nichols.
804 iii David Kingsley Chaffee, born January 18, 1800; died; married and
moved to a place near Warren, O.
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805 iv James Chaffee, born December 26, 1801 ; died July 4, 1803.

+806 v James Cady Chaffee, born February 22, 1804; married Lucy A.
Chaffee (1988).

807  vi Oliver Bugbee Chaffee, born April 20, 1806; died in Attica; married

and had children; residence, Attica.

808 vii Ruby Underwood Chaffee, born April 23, 1808; married Sylvester

Baker; residence in 1840, Evans, later Hudson, Mich.

809 viii Alzina Chaffee, born December 18, 1810; died February 21, 1820.

810 ix Ambrose Worthington Chaffee, born February 23, 1813; married
Fluery; had a light complexion, black eyes, and was six
{eet in height; residence in 1841, Springville, later moved to
owa.

209 Joseph & Chaffee (James,* Joseph,® Joseph,? Thomas !) was born in Wood-
stock, Conn., June 30, 1780, and died in Dale, N. Y., December 19, 1852. He
married in Brimfield, Mass., October 9, 1804, Clarissa Dunham, a member of the
Free Will Baptist Church. He had a light complexion, dark eyes and was five
feet, ten inches in height. He bought land in Attica, N. Y., from the Holland
Land Co. in 1838, and was one of the first settlers of that town. He lived there
until 1844, when he moved to Dale, where he lived until his death. He was a
farmer.

Children:

+811 i Eliza ® Chaffee, married Amos Swan.

812  ii Eloisa Chaffee, married Furdinand Willard.

813 iii Presson Chaffee, married Nancy Herrick.

814 iv Caroline Chaffee, married Warren Smith, and had seven children.

815 v Lucy Ann Chaffee, married Furdinand Willard, and had six children.
+8186 vi William Cady Chaffee, bcm in 1814; married Caroline Swan.

817 vii Harriet Chaffee, married George Stearns, and had one child.

818 viii Annis Chaffee, lived in Wyoming County, N. Y.

800 Leonard & OChaffee (James,* Joseph,3 Joseph,? Thomas !) was born in Wood-
stock, Conn., April 11, 1782, and died in Wethersfield, N. Y., December 25, 1857.
He married in Brimfield, Mass., in November, 1803, Betsey, daughter of Anthony
Needham of Massachusetts. She died September 12, 1858, aged seventy-six, and
was buried in Wethersfield Springs. Leonard Chaffee was a farmer, had a light
complexion, blue eyes, and was five feet, eight inches in height. About 1810 he
went to Western New York with his wife and children, the journey being made
with an ox-team. He settled where the city of Attica, N. Y., now stands and in
1825, 1829, and 1837, bought and sold various pieces of land there and in that
vicinity. In 1849 he was living in Wethersfield. He was a Deacon in the Free
Will Baptist Church, with which he united when about thirty-five years of age,
and of which his wife was also a member. He served as a Private in Captain
Mangus’ company, New York Militia, in the War of 1812, and was wounded in
the shoulder in the Battle of Black Rock, N. Y. He was taken home so weak
that he had to be held on his horse, and the whole family started on an ox-sled
for Fort Hill, Leroy, N. Y., the British and the Indians being expected the next
day. For this injury Leonard Chaffee afterward drew a pension of $8 a month.
January 11, 1858, his widow, aged seventy-five years and living in Wethersfield,
filed a claim for a pension.

Children, the first three born in Massachusetts:
+819 i Hiram ® Chaffee, born July 3, 1806; married Philenda Butler.
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820 ii Mary Ann Chaffee, died in Attica, in 1836; married Simeon Jones.
821 iii Lucy Chafiee, died in Genesee Falls, N. Y., in August, 1880; married
Foster G. Rogers.
+822 iv Leonard Leander %ehaﬂee, born May 21, 1826; married Julia A. Thorpe.

810 Jemima 5 Chaffee (Thomas,* Joseph,® Joseph,? Thomas 1) was born in Wood-
stock, Conn., May 12,1741, and died. She married Hodges, and in 1762 she
was living in Woodstock, where she was a member of the First Congregational
Church.

Child:

823 i Asanath ® Hodges, born in Woodstock, July 22, 1760; baptized there in

the First Congregational Church, February 2, 1762.

313 Rhoda & Chaffee (Thomas,* Joseph,? Joseph,? Thomas 1) was born in Wood-
stock, Conn., baptized there in the First Congregational Church, May 19, 1751,
and died. She married Corbin.

Child:

824 i Anise ® (Anne) Corbin, born in Woodstock, May 18, 1771; baptized in the

First Congregational Church there, October 20, 1771.

319 Henry ¢ Chaffe (Samuel,* Joseph,? Joseph,? Thomas !) was born in Wood-
stock, Mass. (now Conn.), June 6, 1747, and died November 19, 1818. He mar-
ried in Thompson, Conn., December 17, 1767, Rachel Plank, who died January
21, 1807. Henry Chaffe was baptized in the First Congregational Church of
Woodstock, November 22, 1747, and his name, with that of his wife Rachel,
appears on the list of members of the same church, dated December 12, 1773.
He settled in Killingly, Conn., as early as 1768, and lived there for many years.
November 18, 1769, he bought of his father for £23, twenty-eight acres of land
in that town. The Connecticut Revolutionary records show that he was a Private
in Captain Ephraim Manning’s company, which marched from Woodstock to
the relief of Boston on the Lexington Alarm in April, 1775, Service, five days.
He also served in the same company, raised in Woodstock, enlisting May 22, 1775,
and being discharged October 2, 1775; his name also appears on the roster of
Lieutenant Paine Converse’s Company in 1776.

Children, born in Killingly:

825 i Susanna ® Chaffe, born September 29, 1768; married Scott;

baptized in the First Congregational Church, Woodstock, Decem-
ber 12, 1773.
+826 ii Henry Chaffe, Jr., born January 6, 1771; married Mahala Owens.
827  iii Zeruiah Lyon Chaffe, born May 3, 1773; baptized in the First Con-
gregational Church, Woodstock, December 12, 1773.
828 iv Diana Chaffe, born September 24, 1774; baptized in the First Con-
gregational Church, Woodstock, November 27, 1774.
+829 v Rachel Chaffe, born July 27, 1778; married (1) Phillips; (2)
Abraham Hardendorf.
+830 vi Michael Chaffe, born January 30, 1780; married Mary Showerman.
831 vii Lucy Chaffe, born March 16, 1782; married Brooks.
832 viii Lodema Chaffe, married Sherman.

320 8amuel 5 Chaffe, Jr. (Samuel,¢ Joseph,® Joseph,? Thomas 1), was born in
Woodstock, Mass (now Conn.), September 15, 1749, and died in Thompson, Conn.
He married in Woodstock, November 17, 1774, his cousin, Sarah 8 Chaffee (284)
(James,* Joseph,® Joseph,? Thomas 1), born there April 27, 1746, and died in East
Woodstock, Conn., March 26, 1825, where she and Samuel were buried. She
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was baptized in the First Congregational Church of Woodstock, June 1, 1746, and
Samuel was baptized there, September 17,1749, They lived in Thompson, where
they built a two room log house near the edge of Thompson woods. They burned
pine knots for lights. Later they built an addition to this house, which in after
years was the home of their son, Artemus. Samuel Chaffe served as a Private in
the Revolution, enlisting July 5, 1780, and being discharged December 4, 1780.
Children:
4833 i Beriah ® Chaffe, born September 18, 1776; married Reuben Gould.
+834 ii Zelophehad Chaffe, born July 9, 1778; married Betsey Hibbard.
835 iii A daughter, married Hibbard.

836 iv Samuel Chaffe, born in Killingly, Conn., March 15, 1783.
+837 v Artemus Chaffe, born about 1786; married Patty Cummings.

322 Thomas 8 Chaffe (Samuel,* Joseph,’ Joseph,? Thomas !) was born in Wood-
stock, Conn., February 22, 1756, and died in Thompson, Conn., June 28, 1826.
He married there Mary He was baptized in the First Congregational
Church of Woodstock, May 9, 1756. In later life he became a member of the
Universalist church. He had a light complexion, blue eyes, was stocky in build
and of medium height. He probably moved to Killingly, Conn., with his father
when a child, and was living there April 11, 1783, when he bought of Benjamin
Morris of Dudley, Mass., for £154, land there. In 1787 he was of Thompson
when he sold to Benjamin Morris for £198, thirty-eight acres of land in the western
part of Thompson. The Revolutionary records of Connecticut show that he was
a Private in Captain Ephraim Manning’s company of Woodstock, enlisting May
10, 1775, and being discharged December 15, 1775, but in a claim for pension
made in 1818, he testifies that he served from April, 1775, until May, 1776. He
was a farmer and for many years a tavern keeper in Thompson in partnership
with his son Joel. He died in this tavern, and he and his wife were buried in the
Thompson burying-ground where their tombstones read:

“,Sacred to the Memory of Lieut. Thomas Chafee who died June 28, 1826, aged
70.

“In memory of Mrs. Mary Chafee wife of Mr. Thomas Chafee who died March
27, 1814 in her 59th year.”

It will be noted that though Thomas Chaffe’s stone names him * Lieut.” in 1826,
he was “Mr.” in 1814, and as the war and pension records show him to have
fought as a Private in the Revolution, it is to be surmised that between 1814 and
1826 he received the title, perhaps for service in the Connecticut Militia. February
14, 1827, Elijah Crosby was appointed administrator of the estate of ‘‘Lieut.
Thomas Chafee.”

Children, the last four born in Thompson:

838 i Polly ® Chafee, born in Dudley, February 18, 1780; married about 1830,

Hall, whom she met in Union, Conn., while visiting her
sister Rhoda; she was a tailoress by trade and before her marriage
kept house for her father in Thompson.

+839 ii Levi Chafee, born November 23, 1781 ; married Nancy Blackman.

+840 iii Joel Chafee, born September 26, 1786; married Lavinia M. Morse.

841 iv Rhoda Chafee, born November 14, 1737; died in Union ; married Joseph
Towne of Thompson, and moved to Union; had eight or nine sons
and daughters.

842 v Nahum Chafee, born November 2, 1791; died in Thompson, August
7, 1809, and was buried there.




FIFTH GENERATION 131

843 vi Lurana Chafee, born October 8, 1794; died in Thompson, September
4, 1809, and was buried there.

324 Oaleb ¢ Chafey (Samuel,* Joseph,® Joseph,® Thomas!) was born in Wood-
stock, Conn., July 25, 1761, and died in Guilford, N. Y., about 1810. He married
in Woodstock, February 25, 1800, Naomi Aldrich, who died in Preston, N. Y.
He was baptized in the First Congregational Church of Woodstock, August 9,
1761. He was a farmer.

Children, born in Guilford:

844 i Abiel ® Chafey, died in Chautauqua County, N. Y.; unmarried ; a farmer.
845 ii Elisha Chafey, born about 1805; died in Smyrna, N. Y., in 1878; mar-
ried there in 1838; no chlldren a farmer; resxdenee, 1838, Smyrna
+846 iii Sanford Chafey, born in 1807; married Hannah Wooldnidge.
+847 iv Maranda Chafey, married Harvey Roe.

330 Jonathan Oady ® Chaffee (Josiah,¢ Joseph,® Joseph,?> Thomas!) was born
in Woodstock, Conn., October 19, 1759, and died in Brookfield, Vt., in 1816.
He married Ruth Wells. He moved from Connecticut to Tunbridge, Vt., as early
as 1788, and September 30, 1788, and in 1791, bought land there, which he sold
in 1795 and 1801. In the latter year, while still living in Tunbridge, he bought
land in East Brookfield, Vt. In 1794 he bought a pew in the Tunbridge meeting-
house for £9, 10s., and January 23, 1810, sold it for $10.50 to H. Hutchinson.
His estate was administered by his son, John C. Chaffee.

Children, the first five born in Tunbridge:
848 i Cyrus o Chaﬁ‘ee, born September 7, 1792; probably died in early man-

+849 i John C. Chs.ffee, born February 8, 1794; married Clarissa Leslie.
850 iii Belinda Chaffee, born October 28, 1796; died.
+851 iv Hiram Chaffee, born February 5, 1799 ‘married Asenath Kendall.
852 v Orin Chaffee, born October 14 1800 dled unmarried.
853 vi Louisa Chaffee, died; married Reuben Putna.m, who died in Wolcott,
Vt., about 1857.

833 Anna 5 Chaffee (Josiah, Joseph,® Joseph,? Thomas!) was born in Wood-
stock, Conn., February 3, 1764, and died there about 1834. She was married there,
June 8, 1788, by Eliphalet Lyman, town clerk, to Perley Sanger, who died in
Woodstock. She was baptized in the First Congregational Church there, April
8, 1764.

Children, born in Woodstock:

854 i Perley ® Sanger, Jr.

855 i Charles Sanger.

856 iii William Sa.nger

857 iv John

858 v Abial Sanger
+859  vi Anna Sanger, married Amos Abbott.

860 vii Sally Sanger.
861 viii Betsey Sanger.

836 Josiah Williard 5 Ohaflee (Josiah,* Joseph,® Joseph,2 Thomas!) was born
in Woodstock, Conn., May 22, 1770, and died. He married in Woodstock, Conn.,

November 24, 1796, Ruth Robbins, born in Maine, thirty miles up the Kennebec
River. They became acquainted in Thompson, Conn. He was baptized in the
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First Congregational Church in Woodstock, August 27, 1775, and was for a number
of years sexton of the church of that denomination in Woodstock Hill. In 1803
he was a member of the Baptist Church in Woodstock, where he lived. He was
stocky in build.

Children:

862 i Williard ® Chaffee, died before 1884, it is thought unmarried; a sea-

captain.
863 ii Rhoda Chaffee, died before 1884; married in Woodstock, April 9, 1848,
James Dodd of Holden, Mass., who died before 1884; no children;
she lived in Grafton, Mass., in 1848.
864 iii Asa Chaffee, died at sea of yellow fever, unmarried.
+865 iv Josiah Williard Chaffee, Jr., born about 1804; married Sarah A.
Saunders.
4866 v Nancy Chaffee, married John Daniels.
+867 vi Stephen Chaffee, born about 1807; married Fidelia Birch.
+868 vii Eunice Chaffee, born in 1812; married (1) Captain Andrew Smith;
(2) William Hardenberg.

837 Molly ¢ Ohaffee (Josiah,¢ Joseph,® Joseph,? Thomas!) was born in Wood-
stock, Conn., December 14, 1771, and died there, September 10, 1845. She mar-
ried about 1840, Samuel Lyon of Woodstock. She was baptized in the First
Congregational Church of Woodstock, August 27, 1775. She had dark hair, blue
eyes, and was of medium height. She was very industrious, doing much weaving
and spinning. She was buried in Woodstock Hill, Conn.

Child:
4869 i Peter Chaffee, born March 27, 1815; married Harriet Abbott (859).

339 David & Ohaffee (Josiah,¢ Joseph,3 Joseph,? Thomas !) was born in Wood-
stock, Conn., September 16, 1776, and died in Pomfret Factory Village (now
Putnam), Conn., August 16, 1833. He married (1) in Thompson, Conn., November
26, 1800, Abigail, daughter of David and Mary (Evans) Paul of that place. David
Paul was a Revolutionary soldier. Abigail (Paul) Chaffee was born in Thompson,
July 4, 1775, and died in Pomfret Factory Village, April 22, 1828. She was buried
in Woodstock. David Chaffee married (2) there, February 22, 1830, Almira
Freeman. He was baptized in the First Congregational Church of Woodstock,
May 5, 1776. He lived in Woodstock for some time, and in 1803 was a member
of the Baptist church there. In 1832 he was living in Pomfret Factory Village,
where he was buried. He was a farmer.

Children, by first wife, the first five born in Woodstock:

870 i Abig;il ¢ Chaffee, born March 3, 1802; died March 18, 1869; buried in

utnam.

871  ii Lydia Chaffee, born July 29, 1803; died in Putnam, February 20,
1881; married, May 19, 1844, Amherst Robinson of that place;
she was a member of the Baptist Church previous to her mar-
riage, later a member of the Congregational Church; her husband
was a Deacon; she was buried in Putnam.

872  iii Betsey Chaffee, born November 27, 1804; died in Woodstock, Novem-
ber 29, 1804, and was buried there.

873 iv Sarah Cady Chaffee, born March 7, 1806; died February 9, 1814.

+874 v Charles Chafiee, born August 7, 1807; married Betsey C. Spaulding.

875 vi Fannie Chaffee, born February 26, 1809; died August 21, 1860; un-
married ; & member of the Baptist Church.



FIFTH GENERATION 133

876 vii David Chaffee, Jr., born January 1, 1811; died August 11, 1860;
married Susan Rouse of Thompson; he was a member of the
Baptist Church.

877 viii Augustus Chaffee, born Aetagust 26, 1818; died in Woodstock, April
6, 1821, and was buried there

Child, by second wife:

878 ix Sarah Jane Chaffee, born December 27, 1830; married, November 29,
1849, Roger Williams Mowry.
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862 Otis ¢ Chafee (Amos,® Thomas,* Thomas,3 Nathaniel,? Thomas 1) was born
in Providence, R. 1., November 13, 1777, and died in Newport, R. 1., June 21,
1864. He was married there, April 5, 1801, by Reverend William Patten, to Amy
Underwood of Westport, Mass., born August 10, 1782, died in Newport, Decembe